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Preface

Dear readers,

The International Scientific Conference INPROFORUM is a traditional event held by the Faculty of Economics, Univer-
sity of South Bohemia in Ceské Budgjovice. It is focused on the research achievements in the fields of Innovations,
Enterprises, Regions and Organizations. The conference offers the opportunity to discuss relevant topics among academic
and practising economists.

The 12th Anniversary International Conference INPROFORUM 2018 was dedicated to the topic ,,Innovations, Enter-
prises, Regions and Management.“Aim of the conference was to respond to new challenges in innovations, management
and changes in enterprises and regional environment. The conference focus to exchange and discuss scientific new re-
search results in this new context.* Innovations, Enterprises, Regions and Management *“ has been discussed in following
sections:

Regional and Global Aspects of Sustainability, Bioeconomy,

Microeconomic and Macroeconomic Aspects of Social and Economic Development,
Economics of Agriculture,

Economic Impacts of Changes and Policies in the Fields of Finance, Accounting and Taxation,
Market Research and Sustainable Marketing in Trade and Tourism,

Management of Small and Medium Sized Enterprises,

Criminal aspects of entrepreneurship in the European context and Insolvency Proceedings,
Mathematical-statistical Modelling and Optimization in Practice.

The conference was pleasured by many participants in this year and it is our pleasure to offer the INPROFORUM result
in this form of reviewed contributions and hope you will find it useful and interesting for your academic development.

On behalf of organizing committee

Miloslav Lapka
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The International Scientific Conference INPROFORUM 2018, November 1 - 2, 2018, Ceské Budéjovice, 11-24, ISBN 978-80-7394-726-2.

The significance of economic knowledge in the environmental sustaina-
bility discourse

Karl Bruckmeier

Abstract: Environmental sustainability gained significance in the past three decades in science and in politics, in many
countries, indicating increasing problems with environmental pollution and limited availability of natural resources. Yet,
the success of sustainable development in terms of environmental improvements is limited, as the Millennium Ecosystem
Assessment and further global assessments showed. This analysis of the significance of economic knowledge in the sus-
tainability discourse is part of a discussion of potential improvements of the sustainability process. Economics is only
one of many disciplines providing knowledge for the sustainability process, and it is not a paradigmatically unified sci-
ence. Sustainable development depends on broader knowledge from the natural and social sciences and interdisciplinary
syntheses. Interdisciplinary knowledge integration evokes questions of knowledge selection in environmental research
and governance. The search for possible improvements of sustainability governance requires analyses of the main defi-
cits: policy, market and community failures, and failures through inadequate knowledge practices, the latter rather ne-
glected up to now.

Key words: Economic knowledge - Environmental sustainability- Interdisciplinarity - Knowledge synthesis

JEL Classification: Q5

1 Introduction — knowledge for the environmental sustainability discourse

The significance of economic knowledge in the environmental sustainability discourse is discussed here in an interdisci-
plinary perspective, referring to human, social and political ecology, subjects that developed through the interdisciplinary
opening of environmental and social research in the past decades. Such forms and practices of interdisciplinary research,
cooperation and knowledge synthesis need to be developed further for the development and renewal of the sustainability
process that includes economic knowledge as one of several components.

Sustainable development is on national and international policy agendas since more than thirty years, but the success
in terms of environmental improvements and maintenance of the natural resource base of the earth is limited, as the
Millennium Ecosystem Assessment from 2005 and further global assessments showed. Few and small environmental
improvements happened in the past decades, in some countries, for example, through reforestation; but the main trends
of deterioration of the state of the environment and of ecosystem services continue, including industrial and agricultural
pollution of soils and waters and the CO2-pollution of the air, which is the main reason for global climate change.

The lacking success of sustainability policies is not easily explained; many reasons and causes can be given. Policy
failures and vested interests of powerful actors and organisations are among the prominent explanations. Actors that gain
from the present practices of environmental pollution are in a complicated situation; firms, for example can be confronted
with demands to pay for environmental damages, as polluters that have to compensate the environmental damages ac-
cording to principle “the polluter pays”. But industrial firms and international corporations do not always bear the costs
of pollution, they can avoid this also by relocating the production to other countries with less environmental legislation.
The explanations through vested interests and policy failures are not wrong, but insufficient. The consumer behaviour,
for example, evokes the question: who is more responsible for environmental damages — the producing firms or the con-
sumers who buy the products? Other problems, rather neglected in the scientific and political discourses, include the
knowledge practices in sustainability governance. Which knowledge is - or can be - used for sustainable resource man-
agement and governance, and how is it selected? Knowledge selection and interdisciplinary knowledge integration are
discussed here regarding the significance of economic knowledge in different parts of the sustainability process: in re-
search, knowledge synthesis, knowledge transfer, strategies and practices of participatory resource management and sus-
tainability governance, review and assessment of policies and policy instruments.

prof. Karl Bruckmeier, Keynote speaker of the conference INPROFORUM 2018, National Research University — Higher School of Economics,
Moscow, Russia, Germany, e-mail: karlbr@posteo.de
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The nature of the social and economic changes required for strategies of sustainable development became clearer in
recent controversies about sustainability governance. The first condition of more successful policies is the global integra-
tion of the fragmented policy processes at local, regional, national and global levels. This does not require a single, cen-
tralised and top-down approach, rather more of a networking of local and national sustainability processes in the global
policy arena. The intensifying research and discourse of global environmental governance and earth system governance
is seeking for such improvements in the architecture of global governance (Biermann 2007, 2014; Bruckmeier 2019). The
second condition of success is to rethink sustainable development as part of a transformation of the global economic
system, a social-ecological transformation as it is called in the scientific discourses of social and political ecology (Bruck-
meier 2016) or a new “great transformation” of industrial society (WBGU 2011) in the sense of Polanyi (1944).

The economic problems that affect environmental sustainability and need to be discussed in the broader sustainability
discourse include the scarcity and the valorisation of natural resources, economic growth, distribution and redistribution
of resources, property rights and access to resources (and as ideas to solve the problems on the way to sustainability: bio-
economic approaches, or other ideas of the “green economy”). Many of these problems require further knowledge, not
only economic research. Scarcity of natural resources can, for example, be quantified in ecological and economic terms,
as naturally or as socially caused scarcity, or as combination of both. Economic knowledge is not enough to explain
environmental problems, their causes and consequences, and the restructuring of sustainability governance. Economics
can say little about the functioning and the development of ecosystems, the consequences of environmental pollution for
humans and nature, the environmental risks of overuse of natural resources, the coupling and the interaction of ecological
and social systems, the causes and consequences of global climate change, of biodiversity loss, of land use change and
urbanisation, of the limits of natural resource use or the planetary boundaries that cannot be exceeded by humans without
consequences. All these themes require environmental and ecological knowledge which needs then to be combined with
economic and further knowledge in the formulation of sustainability strategies and policy programmes. Furthermore,
many social consequences of natural resource use in industrial and agricultural production and in consumption cannot be
explained and solved with economic knowledge alone, for example, the core problem of redistribution of natural resources
that is called in the sustainability discourse intra- and inter-generational solidarity. Finally, ethical considerations of en-
vironmental justice, fairness or equity are part of the sustainability discourse and governance process (Dover 2018); this
requires a discussion of the social genesis of new normative orders (Forst and Giinther 2011). Regarding solutions, eco-
nomics is challenged through the practices of interdisciplinary and applied environmental research supported by the Eu-
ropean Union searching for “nature based solutions”, for example, in the research and innovation action “Horizon 2020”.

Sustainable development depends on knowledge from the natural and social sciences and requires interdisciplinary
syntheses from several disciplines. But in economics, as in many other disciplines in academic science, interdisciplinary
knowledge exchange and integration is hardly practiced. The nature and forms of interdisciplinary knowledge work, and
solutions in terms of combining specialisation and interdisciplinary integration of scientific knowledge, need to be dis-
cussed further in the sustainability discourse. The expertise provided through specialised research is limited with the
regard to the multifaceted and complex processes that sustainability implies. When knowledge exchange, combination,
integration and synthesis are not done in science, they need to be done in the policy process or in resource management
— under worse conditions; this is a widespread practice. Improvements of the sustainability discourses in science and
policy require, therefore, critical reviews of knowledge use and the development of interdisciplinary knowledge practices.

The environmental and economic problems that require for their solution sustainable development are interconnected
in manifold ways. Three main forms of environmental degradation and functional disturbance of ecosystems need to be
dealt with in global governance and sustainable development:

(1) Industrial pollution, a main cause for local, national and global environmental problems, has not stopped with all
efforts of environmental policy in the past fifty years. Industrial production was relocated from the old industrial countries
in Europe to newly industrialising countries as the BRICS-countries, especially China that produces now much of the
industrial goods consumed in European countries, with extreme forms of pollution of air, water and soils. The pollution
is where industrial production happens, and the newly industrialising countries with high numbers of population, have
since the beginning of the millennium become main polluters, also regarding CO2-emissions. These countries repeat the
same pollution path as the early industrialising countries in Europe. The idea of ecological modernisation of the industry,
developing in the 1980s in Germany, thereafter transformed into a sociological theory in the Netherlands (Mol et al 2009),
has not resulted in a systemic transformation of industry or “clean and green” production, only in piecemeal improvements
in European countries that are overtaken by growth and increasing pollution in the global South.

(2) Agricultural pollution is a newer phenomenon, connected with the modernisation and industrialisation of agriculture
in most countries since the 20" century, in Europe especially since the 1970s through the Common Agricultural Policy
of the European Union. Modernised agriculture is an environmental polluter of soils, waters and air, which is discussed
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in environmental science and policy since the beginning of environmental policies, in West European countries in the
early 1970s. Simultaneously began the discussion and introduction of policy reforms and changes of agriculture in forms
of more environment-friendly production methods, for example, organic farming. Also for farming the same logic applies
as for industrial production: the partial improvements through environment-friendly forms are overtaken in the further
modernisation and intensification of conventional agriculture in many countries.

(3) Global environmental change in forms of climate change, biodiversity reduction and land use change (agricultural,
industrial and urban land use) includes the new phenomena of environmental disruption at global level that are intensively
investigated and discussed in environmental science and policy in the past decades. They are closely connected with the
discussion of limits of natural resources or global boundaries for the human use of natural resources. In difference to the
older, single and specific pollution problems they imply more complex problems, with hitherto unknown consequences
and risks for the future development of modern societies. None of these complex problems that require international
cooperation and integration of environmental policies is sufficiently addressed in the sustainability process, although
international environmental regimes and attempts of regulation exist for all of them. The most intensively discussed and
the most advanced policies are that to mitigate climate change; but international climate policy shows simultaneously,
how difficult a global policy is, moreover, threatened through setbacks.

All three forms of environmental disruption are causally connected through the spreading of industrialisation, which
is the decisive process connecting global economic and environmental change. Industrialisation brought significant
changes in natural resource use in modern society; it was at the beginning a limited project of social and economic trans-
formation in few countries, spreading until the beginning of the 20™ century only in countries in Europa and North Amer-
ica; during the first part of the 20" century industrialisation happened mainly in the socialist countries, and towards the
end of the 20" century began a new industrialisation in the Global South, mainly in the BRICS-countries. Still many
countries there are not industrialised, but the exchange and consumption of industrial products is worldwide. Future in-
dustrialisation and economic growth will be more and more impeded through the ecological limits of natural resources
on the earth (Meadows and Meadows 1972; Langeweg et al 2000; Dauvergne 2008).

Agriculture has become through its modernisation organisationally, technically and economically a part of the indus-
trial system. In the industrialised countries of Europe, agriculture continued for long-time as a semi-autonomous form of
peasant agriculture: until the second half of the 20" century, when more industry-dependent products and technologies
were used in agriculture, resulting in large-scale specialised farms and high-input agriculture (fertilizer, agrochemicals,
machines) which made it oil-dependent. Finally genetic modification of plants and animals makes agriculture a laboratory
practice. The industrial and the agricultural sector are connected through the same institutional and economic mechanisms
— they are commercialised, capital-intensive, market-dependent and profit-oriented in the production processes. Global
environmental change is a consequence of the preceding transformations in industry and agriculture which resulted in
increasing emissions of greenhouse gases (including CO2 and methane) that cause climate change together with the
spreading of mass consumption and transport (cars, ships, airplanes). Environmental change is now a global process and
can only be mitigated in globally concerted action.

The improvements of environmental quality in Western European countries that de-industrialised their national econ-
omies since the collapse of East European socialism and the development of a globalised economy, are not yet of the kind
of improvements of a transition to an environmentally sustainable post-industrial society. Through the re-location of
industrial production and pollution to the Global South, and the import of cheap natural resources, the extraction and
processing of which causes environmental damages in the Southern countries, the old industrial countries are not out of
the responsibility for industrial pollution and global environmental change. This has been discussed in environmental
sociology as “the rich country illusion effect” (Rice 2007): the rich countries of the Global North use their positional
advantages in the global economy to import cheap natural resources and products from the countries of the Global South
through unequal exchange; this unequal exchange implies the “export” of environmental burdens and of ecological sink
capacity to the less developed countries of the South. Many European consumers are not fully aware of the global envi-
ronmental consequences of their resource-intensive lifestyles (also called “imperial mode of living”: Brand and Wissen
2013), as the pollution happens far away. To blame the less developed countries for not keeping their environment clean
and not maintaining their natural capital is not a consequent reaction in the complicated division of labour in the globalised
economy. In more general and less exact forms, the environmental sociologist Ulrich Beck has also argued critically in
this sense: the price of the welfare in Western countries is the shifting of negative external effects to the environment, to
the poor countries in the Global South, to the future generations (that have to bear the consequences of climate change),
and to the women, who have in the genderised division of labour in most countries of the world to bear more of the
burdens for environmental care and health care as consequence of environmental pollution.
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The sustainability discourse is connected to other parts of the environmental discourse. The interdisciplinary learning
process that resulted in the debate of sustainable development began with the debate about global environmental problems
in the 1970s: in the report “Limits to Growth” of the Club of Rome from 1972 the growing scarcity of natural resources
began to be discussed, also its consequences for humans and nature. Environmental problems are caused by social actors
and connected with other problems in modern societies; they cannot be analysed and solved within the limits of discipli-
nary and specialised knowledge, but transgress the boundaries of scientific disciplines (that are only boundaries within
the institution of academic science, the universities) and require interdisciplinary cooperation in search for solutions. It is
not a convincing knowledge strategy, to refer to the explosion of scientific knowledge which can only be handled through
specialisation, to plea for modesty and refer to the limits of our knowledge, or to ignore the complex global processes of
environmental disruption and change and to focus on national, regional and local levels, looking for partial or piecemeal
solutions. There are locally and regionally specific environmental problems that do not exist elsewhere and require spe-
cific solutions; but they are part of the larger processes of global pollution and overuse of natural resources. Many envi-
ronmental problems are of trans-boundary nature, for example pollution of air and water, which was one of the main
reasons for the first global conference on the environment, UNCHE, in Stockholm 1972: industrial air pollution and acid
rain do not stop at national boundaries. The air is today polluted, in different degrees, all over the globe, also in areas
where no humans live, as in the Antarctic. The oceans are polluted everywhere, with toxic material and plastic — particles
of plastic are found also in the deep sea, are eaten by the fish and come again into the food chain.

Logics of interdisciplinary knowledge use and explanation that can deal with the global complexity of environmental
and connected social and economic problems in the sustainability process are found in some interdisciplinary fields as
complex systems analysis, earth system governance, or cultural, human, social and political ecology. In the past decades
inter- and transdisciplinarity developed rapidly (Thompson-Klein 1990, Gibbons et al 1994, Nowotny et al 2001), influ-
encing also environmental research, but in competition with conventional academic science. From this debate it can be
learned how to initiate, organise and develop interdisciplinary knowledge exchange (Hirsch-Hadorn et al 2008). For sus-
tainable development systematic knowledge exchange between the social and natural sciences is required, and the con-
trasting principles of disciplinary specialisation and interdisciplinary knowledge use need to be balanced. Interdisciplinary
knowledge production developed with the ideas of thematically specific research, knowledge synthesis and situational
generalisation. Thematic specification and problem oriented research for specific purposes are more flexible than disci-
plinary specialisation, as already Popper (1963) discussed, later Schafer (1993), arguing that problems do not follow
disciplinary boundaries. In thematically specified knowledge production the knowledge necessary for analysing and solv-
ing specific problems can come from different fields of specialised research, in flexible combination, according to the
problem to deal with, not according to the specialized knowledge available in one discipline. Generalisations from inter-
disciplinary knowledge are possible as situation- and problem-specific, not always in universal forms. Interdisciplinary
knowledge exchange happens to some degree in disciplinary and sub-disciplinary research, without that it is called so, or
understood as interdisciplinary practice of knowledge exchange: for example in the synthetic discipline of anthropology,
where continuously social and natural scientific knowledge is used.

The connections between the heterogeneous problems and processes that affect sustainable development have been
recognised since long with the help of interdisciplinary knowledge practices. In an exemplary form they were described
by the economist Lowe, a protagonist of interdisciplinary cooperation in the social sciences and critical analyst of eco-
nomic knowledge, its validity and applicability. He became with his book “The Path of Economic Growth” (Lowe 1976)
a classical author of growth-critical theory. His reflections (Lowe 1983) give a summary of the significant changes in
society and economy that shape our global future and require such guiding ideas as sustainable development. According
to Lowe a worldwide transformation is in progress since the 20™ century that brings forth a new form of the modern
economy and society. This transformation is a long process, including the changes, crises and disasters of the first half of
the 20™ century (with two world wars, the big global economic crisis of 1929, and the emergence of fascist and socialist
systems) and the trends of change in the second half of the century, partly as reactions to the earlier ones: the end of
colonialism in the Global South, the development of the welfare state and mass production and consumption in Western
countries, the creation of general human rights which supported the emancipation of formerly discriminated social and
ethnic groups, and the development of new technologies, especially with the microelectronic revolution. The new infor-
mation technology and the media of mass communication support the further dissolution of traditional forms of
knowledge and belief through the spreading of scientific knowledge. These changes seem at the first glance heterogene-
ous, happening casually at the same time, but Lowe identifies connections between them. He interprets the “mega-trends”
in a way that reminds of the earlier hypotheses of disenchantment and rationalisation in Western modernisation formulated
by the sociologist Max Weber: as creating new forms of societal development that require new forms of rationality and
morality. Humans are finally free from the dark powers of the misbelief and the myths of the past where they depended
from nature and the domination of religious and other authorities, priests, monarchs and bureaucrats. The way to the
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future is more conscious and rational than before in human society, based on knowledge and human decisions in science,
politics, and economy.

However, Lowe saw clearly the antagonistic tendencies in the complex development processes where ever more fac-
tors are effective; furthermore, one and the same cause can have contradicting consequences. Worldwide industrialisation
can reduce the extreme poverty in the non-industrialised countries of the Global South, but may result in climatic catas-
trophes; the deregulation of markets and the globalisation of the modern economy may create new forms of mass con-
sumption but also new disorder (anarchy in international politics and globalised markets, devastating forms of competi-
tion); the new communication technologies may result in increased private freedom of the individuals, but also in new
forms of control and suppression. The last problem is discussed intensively now as a consequence of the commercialisa-
tion and misuse of the internet by global economic players and authoritarian governments. Tim Berners-Lee who invented
the internet in the 1980s created a “Contract for the Web” to combat the commercial misuse and bring the net under
control of the citizen who should be able to decide what happens with their data. To deal with the complex problems and
dilemmas, Lowe saw the necessity of new forms of rationality, morality and responsibility that need to be institutionalised
together with the development of long-term perspectives of action: responsibility for the future generations and their
conditions of life that depend on action and natural resource use today. What he describes as a consequence of complex
and interacting changes in late modern society is the new ecological rationality that includes the responsibility for “our
common future”, as the Brundtland- report from 1987 calls it. This new rationality of the future is one beyond the short-
term perspectives of markets, business and policy cycles; it unfolds in the sustainability process and requires new forms
of knowledge use and collective learning from all actors in science, politics and the economy. More detailed analyses of
the contradicting experiences and effects of globalisation are available today (in globalisation research: Held and McGrew
2007; in environmental history: McNeill 2000; in social ecology: Krausmann et al 2009, 2009a).

2 Knowledge problems in the discourse of environmental sustainability

The complicated clarification of the nature of sustainable development. This “essentially contested concept” (Collier et
al 2006) is insufficiently defined in the Brundtland- report from 1987 as intra- and inter-generational solidarity of resource
use. The term is continually discussed and interpreted without achieving consensus in science and politics; it exists as a
bridging concept with a plurality of interpretations, including contrasting and competing ones (Bruckmeier 2009, 2013,
2016) and requires a complex, multidimensional analysis of human use of natural resources (Howitt 2001). Nevertheless
it became the most influential bridging concept in environmental science and policy that was adopted by most countries
as overarching policy goal, although often more rhetorically used than implemented. That sustainable development has
little success so far is to a large degree a knowledge problem: less one of too little knowledge, more one of insufficiently
and inadequately applied knowledge. Much knowledge is available from many disciplines, which would require interdis-
ciplinary knowledge integration to be applied in the sustainability process.

Interpretations of the notion of sustainability in the scientific and political discourses imply difficult knowledge prob-
lems since the beginning of the sustainability process. There is no consensus in science or in practice, which interpreta-
tions are adequate to deal with the complex problems and which not. More recently came up questions whether it is too
late for realising sustainable development (Worldwatch Institute 2013). Furthermore, critique of the idea of sustainability
developed in the ecological discourse; it can be understood as a reaction to the lacking success in sustainability governance
in the past decades, arguing that sustainability is too complex, cannot be realised practically because of insufficient
knowledge and understanding of the social and ecological complexity. Therefore, it should be replaced by simpler con-
cepts, for example, that of resilience (Benson and Craig 2014). However, resilience is as diffuse and unclear as sustaina-
bility and can be specified in different forms (Folke 2006; Bruckmeier 2013). Against the reduction of sustainability to
resilience new critical voices argue for a renewal and improvement of the sustainability that has gained momentum in
politics (Allen 2008; Fischer-Kowalski and Rotmans 2009; Rees 2010; Leach et al 2010; Markard et al 2012; Westley et
al 2013; Asara et al 2015; for further discussion see: Bruckmeier 2016a).

In the policy and governance practices, sustainability has been dealt with in reductionist forms — either reduced to a
normative goal of the governance process, or dissolved in a pluri-dimensional concept which is the mainstream variant:
economic, social and ecological sustainability. Such interpretations, although not sufficient for the scientific reconstruc-
tion of sustainability, give at least the possibility to develop them further with the experiences in sustainability policies.
Necessary seems at first to improve deficient policies that work with a political rhetoric of sustainability: a widespread
practice in the policy processes which implies symbolic commitment to the values of sustainability, but lack of agency,
implementation and regulation capacity. The examples of the definitions and descriptions of sustainble development by
the European Union and the United Nations (UN 2015), two important institutional actors in the global sustainability
process, show such deficits in exemplary forms: sustainable development is reduced to symbolic values and commitments,
wishing lists and normative thinking, but not specified in terms of necessary institutional changes.
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The difficult development of interdisciplinary research and cooperation. In large parts of environmental research and
policy it is taken for granted that knowledge relevant for the practice is scientific and needs to be transferred from science
to practice. Furthermore, scientific knowledge is often reduced to empirical or positive knowledge, neglecting such forms
as local, practical and experience-based knowledge. With the rapid development of environmental research in the past
decades, happened, however, also a revaluation and revitalisation of non-scientific, local and practical knowledge forms
as discussed in the transdisciplinarity discourse.

With interdisciplinary knowledge integration come up questions of knowledge selection: which knowledge, from
which disciplines should be applied and combined in the sustainability discourse and the governance processes? Which
knowledge is suitable in the different phases of the sustainability process that stretches from research to governance
practices? How to deal with incompatible or contradicting knowledge and information? Which social and cultural re-
sources, beyond the natural and economic resources, are required for sustainable development in a given area or globally?
These questions that guide the following analysis require implicitly an answer to the question, why economics should
participate in interdisciplinary discourses when sustainable development is at stake. Scientifically seen economics is only
a limited part of the sustainability discourse where several disciplines and interdisciplinary subjects are involved. To find
out, which knowledge is important and should be used in sustainability governance requires obviously interdisciplinary
knowledge integration and syntheses in both processes that constitute sustainability, research and governance. Practically
seen economic processes are interwoven in manifold ways with other political, social, and cultural processes. Two over-
arching processes influence today the development of all national economies: that of globalisation and deregulation of
the markets, and as countervailing process that of sustainable development; both are multi-faceted processes that interact
with each other, creating a complex reality in which also the “genuine” economic processes of production, exchange and
trade can no longer be understood with economic knowledge only. It can also be argued that production, exchange and
trade could never be reduced to economic processes only because they include many culturally, socially, and technolog-
ically specific components and practical experience; for former societies cultural-anthropological research shows the in-
fluence of rituals and religious believes on economic processes; for modern societies the discussion about the environ-
mental consequences of industrialisation and growth by the classical economists (refereed to below) shows, that in the
19" century interdisciplinary knowledge was used, self-evidently, to understand economic processes. Today, in the situ-
ation of global environmental change and global networking, the social, cultural, political, ecological influences and fac-
tors influencing economic processes require interdisciplinary knowledge and multi-causal explanations in more system-
atic ways.

Interdisciplinarity developed rapidly as a new and alternative scientific knowledge culture in the second half of the
20" century, and has become a dominant form of research and cooperation in the environmental and the technical sciences.
However, interdisciplinary knowledge production is not a new phenomenon; the recent trend is only a renewal of older
forms that were not discussed under this name. In the history of economics exists a long tradition of interdisciplinary
thinking. As examples can be mentioned: the early interdisciplinary thinking in Physiocratic economics, for example, by
Quesnay who developed a model of the circular flow of resources and money in the economy; the development of political
economy from Scottish moral philosophy by Ferguson and Smith; the interdisciplinary knowledge use of the classical
political economists and Marx who used social and natural-scientific knowledge in their analyses and explanations; the
heterodox approach of institutional economics, influential in the 20™ century, that reconnected economics with other
social-scientific disciplines. What needs to be learned in the present interdisciplinary knowledge use for sustainability in
economics is the integration of natural scientific and ecological knowledge from environmental research with economic
knowledge. The situation can be described as follows:

(1) Economics as an academic discipline is similar to other social sciences with regard to its rapid specialisation in sub-
disciplines and its lack of a unifying paradigm (in the sense of Kuhn 1962). There are contrasting and controversial
discussions of globalisation and sustainable development also within economics, regarding the environment and natural
resource use, for example, in the heterogeneous approaches of neoclassical economics, institutional economics, and eco-
logical economics. Beyond the competing approaches, economics is differentiated in theoretical, empirical and applied
forms; when economic knowledge is applied, it happens also in form of synthetic disciplines like management science
which includes economic knowledge in combination with other knowledge from social and organisational research (also
in the specific form of environmental management). Interdisciplinary management science and sub-disciplinary special-
isation can be seen as ways of dealing with the growing complexity of modern societies, their institutions, and their
interactions with nature; with that more and more interdisciplinary knowledge is taken up which can be seen as a partial
correction of the principle of specialisation in disciplinary knowledge production.

(2) The scarcity debate in economics is old and dispersed in different approaches. The classical political economists in
the early times of industrialisation, when economics was called “the dismal science” by the historian Thomas Carlyle,
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discussed the future of industrial society. This dispute helps to understand the knowledge problems in the present sustain-
ability discourse. The controversy between Malthus, Ricardo and Mill about the final limits of natural resources (Barnett
and Morse 1963) happened with insufficient demographic and ecological knowledge; the global population growth could
not be calculated or estimated sufficiently, and no quantitative assessments of the final resource limits on the earth were
available, as they exist today. Nevertheless, the economic discourse advanced in the discussion of scarcity problems and
came to realistic views.

The political economists foresaw that industrialisation ends in a plundered earth — articulated by John Stuart Mill in
the question, what will be when growth has come to an end? He discussed and assessed the Malthusian and Ricardian
views of resource scarcity. Malthus” proposition of diminishing returns, summarised in his formulation of population
grows geometrically (exponentially), subsistence arithmetically (in linear form), was not generally rejected by Mill, but
refined and clarified (Barnett and Morse 1963: 64ff): the power of population growth has in human history never gone to
such extreme forms as Malthus assumed in a foreseeable permanent state of misery. Population growth is modified
through other influences; the assumption of Malthus that there is an absolute limit of available land that will be reached
in the foreseeable future appeared as doubtful. The arguments of Mill can be summarised in the idea that the principle of
progress works against scarcity and diminishing returns, following Ricardo’s interpretation, where scarcity appears only
as a threat in the distant future. Long before Malthusian scarcity (absolute limits of natural resources) is achieved Ricard-
ian scarcity becomes effective that is mitigated through the principle of progress; this includes progress of agricultural
techniques, new knowledge, skills, inventions and innovation - all working against diminishing returns. Regarding agri-
culture Mill mentioned better fertilizing techniques, improvements of plant and animal breeding, cultivation of new land,
reduction of agricultural waste, new machines, improved transport systems as railways and channels, improved manufac-
turing of food: the “progress of civilisation” and technology work against the naturalistic view of scarcity of Malthus.
Mill asserted there is room on the earth for a high number of humans, supposing that the described improvements happen.
Yet, Mill, as Malthus and Ricardo, believed that there is a tendency to increasing scarcity of natural resources and of
diminishing returns; probably industrialisation and growth will come to an end, resulting in a “stationary state” as the
consequence of a long time of economic growth. Mills reasoning with the antagonistic principles of scarcity and progress
brought the debate to the point where the sustainability discourse takes it up again today. In economics this happened in
the newly developing ecological economics: in the reasoning of Georgescu-Roegen (thermodynamic laws as limits to
economic growth), Daly (re-adopting the idea of the “stationary state” as “steady state”, and the “full earth”), and Mar-
tinez-Alier (connecting the debate of resource scarcity with the newly unfolding debate of degrowth or zero-growth).

The potential limits and the overuse of natural resources were realistically seen by the classical economists as a hy-
pothetical state of the world in a distant future about which nothing could be concretely said with the economic and the
ecological knowledge of this time. When could such a state of transgressing the global limits of the earth’s resource base
be achieved? The classical economists, also Marx, could not imagine when this happens. Marx, who criticised Malthus
sharply for his naturalistic reductionism in political economy, conceded that he is right in one hypothetical case: when
the global population growth is so high that all resources of the earth, the land, the sea, the physical and the living re-
sources, would not be enough to feed all humans. But he thought that this can only be in a very distant future. Also Marx
could not imagine that this, what the ecological economists today call “the full earth”, is approaching not much more than
100 years later.

(3) The present growth debate in ecological perspectives — exponential growth, degrowth, “prosperity without growth
(Jackson 2009). Also in the 20" century the Neo-Malthusian thinking in the “Limits to growth”-debate (Meadows and
Meadows 1972) initiated by the Club of Rome was at first seen as “doomsday prophecy” and “Soylent Green”-utopia of
a miserable future of humankind. Simon (1981) renewed in his economic analyses of population growth and limited
natural resources a cornucopian view. He rejected the Malthusian argument of scarcity through population growth and
overuse of resources and foresaw the possibility of continuing, even improving resource availability in the long run.
Scientific knowledge, technology and inventions can create improvements and new resources will be found to substitute
scarce ones — a reasoning with which he came in conflict with ecologists, ecological economists and environmental soci-
ologists. In Simon’s analysis and worldview only economic rationality and economic knowledge count; ecological factors
are devalued in favour of economic ones and ecological diagnoses of the pollution of the environment and its long term
consequences do not count much in this view. In an interdisciplinary perspective it would be possible to accept different
arguments instead of a simplified “either market economics or ecology” and more complex arguments than that of popu-
lation growth, economic growth and growth of natural resource use are possible also in the distant future. Under which
conditions do the economic and the ecological arguments count and how can they be combined in more refined analyses?
The specialisation trap seemed to block the further discussion of problems for which in classical economics already a
breakthrough was achieved: to accept, that technological innovations create more elbow room in resource use and that
ecological limits of resource exist that cannot be outwitted through “the last resource” (Simon) of the human brain. Ata
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time of energy and resource wars and the possibility of armed conflicts because of climate change, that can, since the
Darfour-conflict in Sudan, no longer be denied (Dyer 2008; Welzer 2008), it seems necessary to find better arguments
through interdisciplinary knowledge syntheses. In the further discourse and research in ecology and economics the ques-
tions of scarcity and limits to growth need to be discussed in more exact forms, with interdisciplinary knowledge synthe-
ses. It is more and more difficult to ignore the growth critique that can show the dilemmas of present growth and of
decoupling growth from resource use. For absolute decoupling of economic growth from natural resource use huge in-
vestments would be required, for example, in low carbon technologies (Jackson 2009: 83). The first significant improve-
ment of the connected scarcity and growth debates is to dissolve the blending of different processes under the abstract
term of growth, differentiating clearly between economic growth (in the whole 20" century: 2000 %; Maddison 2001)
and other forms of growth — population growth (400 %), growth of global biomass extraction (360%), and growth of use
of material resources (800%; Krausmann et al 2009: 2696). These are the important forms and figures to deal with:
economic growth, population growth, and the “throughput growth” (use of energy and material resources, including bio-
mass, in economic production).

Many resource-related processes show exponential growth, but how they influence economic growth is more compli-
cated to assess. It needs to be specified what is growing when the economy grows. Daly, referring to Boulding, differen-
tiates between growth of Gross Domestic Product (GDP, the annual marketed flow of goods and services in monetary
terms, which does not measure environmental effects of growth and conflates costs and benefits for the environment),
and throughput growth (which is the relevant magnitude to answer the question, how big the economy is or can become).
When this flow of matter and energy from environmental sources through the economy is quantified, the ecological limits
of global resource use can be calculated better.

To calculate ecological limits or “planetary boundaries” some ecological indicators and data are available: ecological
footprint, MEFA — material and energy flow accounting, HANPP — human appropriation of net primary production, EROI
— energy return of investment. They are not yet well connected with economic data of monetary growth. The growth of
resource flows in the global economy is measured in physical terms in social ecology, for example in MEFA, which needs
finally be connected with the monetary growth calculations (for that purpose the GDP growth needs to decomposed and
recalculated, and the changing forms and conditions of growth need to be analysed more concretely). Daly’s view is, that
throughput growth should be stopped before it creates environmental and social costs that exceed the extra production
benefits (in: Jackson 2009: xii). Logically or theoretically the argument is clear, practically and concretely it is more
complicated to calculate the levels of economic growth that are finally possible, and still more complicated, to imagine,
how the institutionalised economic growth process can be reduced or stopped (without causing such negative conse-
quences as the worldwide financial crash from 2007). This will be the work in the future economic and ecological sus-
tainability discourses — so far, Jackson gives a detailed description of the problems and consequences connected with
economic growth, but the question of limits to growth is only answered in physical and ecological terms, for example: 60
% of the global ecosystem services are degraded and over-used, mostly during the 20" century (Jackson 2009: 13). The
final argument of Jackson, as that of the ecologists and ecological economists, is: no subsystem (as the economy) of the
finite earth system can grow indefinitely in physical terms, therefore there is no alternative to question and limit economic
growth (Jackson 2009: 14f). But how a transformation of the modern economy to a sustainable economy of the future
(with limited growth) can be possible, is not yet known, requires further and new forms of cooperation of economic and
ecological scientists. The answers by Jackson and ecologists imply: to halt economic growth and introduce more forms
of sharing and (equitable) redistribution of the available natural resources on the earth, as also the idea of sustainable
development requires. But how this can be achieved in practice and at global level is unclear. It requires more than
presently available mechanisms in policy and governance to transform the economy. At his point the dilemma of sustain-
ability is obvious: the next “Promethean revolution” (as Georgescu-Roegen called the great transformations in human
history from hunting to agriculture and then to industry) is the building of a new economy where the natural resource use
does not grow. This implies, that the process begins without sufficient knowledge, that it needs to be learned on the way
how to approach reduced growth: probably in “trial and error”-procedures, through adaptive management (policy as ex-
periments), and with new knowledge and knowledge synthese

3 Sustainable development - when scientific knowledge from different disciplines is contrasting

The greatest difficulty (and the test for economics as any other discipline of the ability to develop cooperation and inter-
disciplinary knowledge cultures) is, when for the multi-faceted sustainability process contrasting or contradicting
knowledge is provided. What to do, when ecological research or other knowledge about the availability of natural re-
sources or their depletion contradicts economic calculations (for example, in the bio-economic modelling in fisheries
management)? What to do, when sociological or cultural-anthropological research about resource use and consumer be-
haviour contradicts economic research? What to do, when policy research shows that economic policy instruments such
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as tradeable pollution certificates, are not efficient or counter-productive in combatting environmental damages and over-
use of natural resources? What to do, when the core institutions and processes of modern economy, the markets, private
property rights, the institutionalised forms of profit and economic growth, and the valorisation and pricing of natural
resources are themselves criticised? All of these institutions are in environmental and social research often seen as more
preventing than supporting sustainable development.

Answers to these questions, in a nutshell. In a situation where complex social and ecological systems interact, no
discipline has sufficient and adequate knowledge; all have only partial knowledge that needs to be woven together in a
patchwork of explanations. Also formal sciences as cybernetics, logic, mathematics, or general systems theory do not
have privileged knowledge to understand complex processes. There is no single and universal science of complexity. The
“patchwork of explanations” means, that different forms of knowledge and explanations need to be combined in prelim-
inary ways, with robust methods and heuristics, to understand the multi-faceted reality of present changes that need to be
dealt with in the sustainability process. The questions above articulate, directly or indirectly, situations of problems, con-
flicts, crises, in which specialised knowledge and traditional forms of resource management and knowledge use show
their deficits and create failures. Sustainable development is a form of new institutional and knowledge practices, a mega-
innovation that covers different social, scientific, political, economic, environmental aspects which require (1) interdisci-
plinary knowledge integration and (2) transdisciplinary knowledge use and -sharing. Knowledge integration, sharing and
negotiation — that is, briefly said, the pluralist rationality of interdisciplinary research and knowledge use for sustainable
development and participatory resource management, where not only scientists are involved in decision making as ex-
perts, but also the producers and resource users as experts of other kind. Bi-directional knowledge flows, knowledge
sharing and participatory resource management are today intensively discussed in ecological and resource management
research. More or less at the same time as the take-off of the sustainability debate began in science and politics, especially
in European countries, the search for new, less owner-controlled and managed, more decentralised, locally adapted, par-
ticipatory, producer and user based forms of resource management; they had different names as stakeholder participation,
local resource management, integrated management, user-based management, ecosystem-based management. From re-
search on such practices Ostrom (2009) developed a general framework for interdisciplinary knowledge integration in
sustainable resource management.

The European Union has supported and introduced new forms of participatory action in regional policies and fisheries
policy as paradigmatic examples (Linke and Bruckmeier 2015). Participation methods in applied environmental and social
research are among the better developed methodologies of transdisciplinary research and are in use already since the
1980s (Chambers 1994; Hirsch-Hadorn et al 2008). The trends towards non-hierarchical, network-based, more democratic
and participation-oriented forms of policy and governance were long time discussed only as power-sharing and empow-
erment of hitherto powerless groups: as problems of legitimation and democratisation of policy and governance processes.
Only in the course of practical implementation and with the difficulties experienced in this process came gradually the
awareness that subtle forms of interconnection between power and knowledge are at the core of the problems to deal with.
Power sharing and democratisation of resource governance is sharing of different forms of knowledge, experience, and
expertise, bound to different professional roles and qualifications.

The growth and security-related problems of natural resource use can be illustrated with experiences and practices of
sustainability governance from the transformation of the industrial energy system, a main component of the transition to
a sustainable economy.

The fossil energy resources of industrial society are approaching their limits, for reasons of natural availability or of
practical applicability (the further use creates more environmental damages than benefits). In this situation the search for
solutions becomes contradicting, but in the long run, there are no alternatives to phasing out the fossil sources. The “peak
oil”- debate brought:

- risky technologies of deep sea drilling or fracking (originally thought as a bridging technology until new energy
forms are developed, now becoming attempts of prolongation of the oil regime),

- but also the breakthrough of the development of energy from renewable sources and more sustainable energy
regimes as the use of wind and solar energy.

This transformation has been initiated by environmental actors, through environmental and ecological research and
critique of practices and consequences of the use of fossil energy sources. Economic corporations in the energy sector
adopted the innovations when the technologies were developed (through governmental subsidies) and supported by po-
litical actors and governments. Windpower is meanwhile established in many European countries, and the utopian mo-
ment happened already early in 2018: for a short time in Germany so much electricity was created, mainly from
windpower, less from other renewable resources, as was used in the country (Bauchmiiller 2018). In the case of
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windpower compromises and coexistence of different organisational solutions brought the breakthrough: large and small-
scale systems, cooperative and commercial forms: company owned on- and offshore wind parks, and small, cooperatively
or citizen-owned, decentral and locally adapted forms, even individual use of wind turbines on farms. The cooperative
sector, less strongly dependent from market dynamics, developed rather well in the countries that adopted wind energy
early, as Denmark, the leading country in developing windpower technology, and Germany. The development of solar
energy did so far not run smooth; some years ago collapsed the “desertec”-project, the plan to provide energy for Europe
by building a huge solar park in the Sahara desert. The plan had too many unrealistic assumptions: that the energy prob-
lems find technical fix solutions; that it is a technical and economic solution driven only by corporations, mainly relying
on market forces and dynamics; that the problem can be solved quickly, and realised through cooperation of energy
enterprises. The competitive situation and different interests of the enterprises were not adequately taken into account —
which resulted in the opting out of the supporting enterprises that did no longer believe in their economic vision. The
cooperation between political and economic actors and institutions and the development of different, more flexible and
decentral systems seems a suitable option. Solar energy, already in use in smaller systems, will probably be developed in
various institutional, technical and economic, private and cooperative forms, as was the case with windpower. Other
problems come up with the introduction of bioenergy, where the energy products are produced on agricultural land which
evokes conflicts between energy and food production.

The modern industrial energy system shows paradigmatically the problems with economic knowledge in the sustain-
ability process. The national energy systems are variants of a global system with industrial energy technologies, the dom-
inant energy sources being coal, gas, oil and as newer forms nuclear energy; a renewable source used is water, which has,
however, caused many conflicts, also because of ecological reasons (flooding land, building huge dams, withdrawing too
much water from the global cycle). The energy sources or products are not equally distributed and since long exchanged
on global markets. Energy enterprises, public and private companies, are global players; and energy products or electric
energy, are exported and imported. The EU imports half of its energy products, especially oil and gas that are rarely found
in Europe. Electrical energy is exported especially by France and Germany, the biggest exporters of electricity in the EU.
The EUs big imports of oil and gas cause continually discussions and political conflicts about the energy autonomy of the
Union and its member states, for example, the controversies about the North- and South-Stream pipelines for gas-export
that Russia has built or planned. But these controversies are less important when energy systems are analysed in ecological
and sustainability perspectives in which the nature of the modern energy system is disputed, including its main compo-
nents of fossil energy sources that developed through industrialisation: coal, oil, gas, the energy from the “subterranean
forests” as it was formulated in environmental history. The further energy forms came as forms of modernisation, such
as nuclear energy, or of ecological conversion of the system. It does not matter so much, whether and how the composition
of energy sources varies at national levels; the industrial energy system as global system has a dynamic of its own, during
the history of industrialisation shown in the transition from a mainly coal-based to an oil-based energy regime. The global
energy system is until today in its main components an industrial energy system, but in transformation to a post-industrial
system that is less dependent from fossil sources, directing towards a future energy system where the main source is solar
energy, harvested with new technologies. This ecological conversion which is part of sustainable development is just at
the beginning. In this phase the clashes of the old and the new energy regime and the conflicts and dilemmas with the
development of new energy technologies by use of renewable sources are numerous: the new energy technologies are not
yet environmentally sound just because the sources are renewable.

In the processes of development, innovation and transformation of the energy system come up the characteristic prob-
lems that require for solution economic and ecological knowledge. The development of new energy forms or the use of
new sources and conversion technologies is usually a long process of research and development until a technology is on
the energy market. The development costs are usually not taken by the firms interested in selling energy, but by the
governments, the taxpayers, with the help of companies in the research and development sector. The market prices of
energy do not reflect the development costs and not that for environmental pollution or environmental risks. However,
the economic rationality of energy “production” (that means: technical conversion), selling and use is one of low market
prices. Cheap energy made possible the mass production and consumption in the 20™ century, the short period of the
welfare states in Europe, dependent from the Fordist accumulation regime. The real economy, in its every day form, is
working on the basis of cheap prices for energy and consumer goods, irrespective of the social costs or negative external-
ities: this cannot continue in the long run. Every new energy form and technology needs at first to adapt to the competitive
market system, and this creates further difficulties in the transition to sustainability. As long as the whole economic system
and its core mechanisms of markets, financial capital and profit are not changing, the internalisation of negative external-
ities in the existing globalised system is only possible to limited degrees — the system tends towards discounting the future.
The environmental damages and the limited availability of natural resources on the earth make finally the transformation
to another, non-industrial and less market-dependent economic system unavoidable, and this brings back the questions of
the end of growth, or degrowth. With that begin the real difficulties of sustainable development. These difficulties of the
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transformation of the industrial energy system became clear with the development and market-introduction of energy
from renewable sources of wind, wave, solar and bioenergy.

In the transformation of the modern energy system contrasting interests and rationalities are clashing, growth-based
strategies and “business as usual” are in conflict with strategies of transformation and degrowth. This is the most contro-
versial and complicated problem that can be solved only in the longer run. That economic growth becomes more and
more a problem because of overuse of natural resources became evident in the stormy debates of climate change policy
and the crisis of the global financial economy during the past decade. The discussion of degrowth (Asara et al 2015) and
“the folly of growth” (in the journal “Science”, in 2008) are part of the discourse of sustainable development: are there
sustainable forms of growth, or is sustainable development a transformation towards a non-growing economy? It can be
foreseen that the debate is rather similar to that of the controversy in the classical political economy of the 19" century,
discussed above. It will become again a controversy about economic development, modernisation and technical progress
(whether and how these work together in creating welfare on the basis of renewed economic growth) or a stationary state.
This time it can only be hoped that the naturalistic bias of the Malthusian “dismal science” of economics is overcome (in
the words of Mill: the vulgar error of naturalising economics or reducing social differences between humans to differences
in nature). With that the presently unsolved economic problem for sustainable development is described - as more de-
pendent on knowledge, not only on power. The controversy began as one between ecological economics and conventional
environmental economics, but it will become a broader one, not only between these established knowledge cultures in the
discipline of economics.

The future question guiding the sustainability discourse will be: how to deal with interdisciplinary knowledge prac-
tices in science and in governance of sustainable development? Hypothetically one can answer: finding better “knowledge
mixes” and compromises, integrating and synthesising knowledge from different disciplines, no technical fix solutions,
but combination of knowledge about ecosystems, social systems, technologies and technical systems. The sustainability
process will have to be organised as one of continuous collective learning of different actors, seeking solutions in form
of adaptive governance: through ”policy as experiments” (Allen et al 2012), participation and cooperation of different
actors and their knowledge, giving room for different forms of knowledge, scientific, managerial, practical, normative,
etc. Practically seen, this is more difficult because of the global dimensions of transitions to sustainability. Although all
these components of transformative literacy, capacity and agency are already practiced locally or nationally, in some
countries, the global social-ecological transformation towards sustainability is a long and difficult process.

4 Discussion and conclusions — how to renew sustainable development

A new understanding of sustainable development emerges after three decades of policies: sustainable development as a
long-term process of transformation, as a new “great transformation” (Polanyi 1944) to a future sustainable society and
economy. How to build a sustainable society is a learning process of several generations that cannot be planned and
managed in the form of technical and economic innovation projects; it requires collective learning on the way - in science,
politics, and the economy: learning from failures and experiences, from policy experiments with the goal to build a new
sustainable system that can replace the industrial society and economy. The post-industrial society discussed since half a
century, first in a simple form by Bell (1973) as a social and structural change from a first sector (agriculture) to a second
sector (industry) to a third sector (services), is not yet achieved. In the ecological discourse the post-industrial society was
called a “premature utopia” already decades ago (Biihl 1983) and it is still not approaching; the ways out of the industrial
society are difficult. It is not yet known what the future sustainable society is, only how to begin the new “great transfor-
mation”: (1) through the transition to less polluting and less material and energy intensive forms of economic production
and consumption; (2) through innovation and transformation of the modern energy system; (3) through the development
and institutionalisation of long-term perspectives and ecological rationality (as demanded by Lowe, see above). It seems
unavoidable that in this process the maladaptive forms of change in the present globalised economy come more and more
under critique.

The long-term project of sustainable development can be described by a paradox, as discussed by social ecologists:
building a sustainable society without knowing how to do it. This can easily turn into a wrong message: that sustainable
development is impossible, is an utopian idea, not made for the practice of societal development. Or it can be argued, as
has been done in ecological research (see above): global environmental change and sustainability are too complex pro-
cesses that cannot be understood, managed and achieved by humans. As a consequence of such reasoning, sustainability
is reduced to simpler goals, for example, to forms of social-ecological resilience and disaster management. One conclusion
can be drawn from this erroneous debate regarding ignorance and limits of knowledge: ignorance is too simple an argu-
ment, more blocking the seeking for further solutions, especially when it is used in the form that there are absolute limits
of scientific knowledge which can never be transgressed through research. Complex systems are easily found examples
to support such reasoning. Instead of such reasoning it would be required to change the thinking about ignorance and lack



Karl Bruckmeier: The significance of economic knowledge in the environmental sustainability discourse 22

of knowledge. It is not necessary to know and understand all complex processes in the social-ecological earth system to
find paths towards global environmental sustainability; it is only necessary to generate knowledge for the first steps of
sustainability transitions and to keep the knowledge-related processes of research, knowledge production and synthesis,
innovation and learning open and continuing.

In a simple and inexact form, this has already been formulated in the debate about post-normal science (Funtowicz
and Ravetz 1993): risks are high, values disputed, decisions urgently required, but knowledge is always insufficient. In
the sustainability discourse and governance process, it is obviously necessary to develop better ideas for inter- and trans-
disciplinary knowledge use. This includes also better ideas for dealing with ignorance in the discussion of potential de-
velopment paths towards a sustainable future society that will not be achieved during this century. The first step is to
understand the relations between knowledge and ignorance. The sociologist Luhmann (1995) discussed the construction
of knowledge and the conventional idea that more (scientific) knowledge and research means less ignorance. His conclu-
sion was the contrary, growing knowledge creates growing ignorance; this can be illustrated with the painful discussion
about genetic modification of plants, animal and humans that is on the way and (unrealistically) seen as a possibility to
solve all earlier problems of hunger, misery, health, scarcity of resources and environmental destruction. The conse-
quences of genetically modified organisms for ecosystems and for humans are not foreseeable and the environmental as
well as health and social risks are high. The new sociology of (scientific) ignorance (Gross and McGoey 2015) studies
the knowledge-ignorance relations more systematically. Also the knowledge problems of sustainble development need to
be discussed further in this new discourse. The preliminary discussion of knowledge problems above showed only what
has been learned on the way towards sustainability and gives some hints for that what needs still to be learned in the future
sustainability discourse and process.

In the past three decades since the beginning of the global sustainability discourse research has intensified and we
know much more, but not only from research: learning from failures and bad experience becomes ever more important.
Ideas for renewed, transformation-based sustainability strategies developed mainly during this decade, with a break-
through in ecological research that brought a new and more realistic view of the sustainability, in the form that was
unfolded above in several components: with long-term perspectives (in the terminology of Braudel 1969: the “longue
durée” of the historical process); as a complex process of social-ecological transformation of the global economic and
societal systems; as inter- and transdisciplinary process of knowledge integration and knowledge use, with pluralistic
knowledge practices, where different disciplines, approaches, theories and methods, scientific as well as non-scientific
knowledge can be applied and combined. This process ends in the distant future about which we know nothing; knowledge
and creativity are required for dealing with that what cannot be planned because it is beyond the time-horizons of all
planning. In the metaphorical formulation of “navigating social-ecological systems” is, in indirect form, something said
about this imagining of a distant future: learning how the future which depends more and more on human decisions (Lowe,
see above) can be approached successively.

At present rather simple and undeveloped concepts, tools and methodologies are used to discuss potential futures and
long-term development perspectives; most prominent is the global scenario construction and movement (Raskin et al
2010) that has already significantly enhanced the debate of sustainability transformation. Possible, wanted and unwanted,
future paths of development that are compared in the scenario construction show already much of the problems and
dilemmas of the potential ways towards a sustainable future. This is only the beginning of a new science of the future, a
science of transformation that needs to be developed and complemented with other methods, concepts and theories, and
with further knowledge. The methodological challenge of such a science of the future which is to a large degree a science
of sustainability is: to develop and continuously improve epistemological and methodological tools for the further sus-
tainability process. Social ecology, the pioneering interdisciplinary science that brought since the 1990s improvements of
the knowledge about sustainability, qualifying the sustainability debates in science and policy, can provide some orienta-
tion in the further search for ways to “our common future”, the key metaphor of the political sustainability discourse.

The finding and defining of common interests is a further difficult part of the sustainability process: taken for granted
that it is the future of humankind to be dealt with in sustainable development, it is clear: the social subject of humankind
is not (yet) existing in forms that suffice the requirements of transformative agency. Humankind is splintered in many
different social subjects with conflicting ideas, interests, and knowledge. How transformation subjects or transformative
action groups can be developed, is one of the hardly answered (although intensively discussed) questions, and one for
which economic knowledge is not very helpful with its definition and restriction of actors to economic roles. What we
know so far is only that new social subjects for transformation and new agency as capacity to change society are required
for sustainable development; that it is not enough to argue with “our common future” (which means “our common inter-
ests”) to realize this sustainable future. The process requires the concertation and matching of many different interests
and is not progressing in linear way, full of drawbacks and relapses, road blocks, violent and non-violent conflicts — not
at all that, what is called “win-win-solution”.
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Fraud cases of the 21st century — a case study of Worldcom in the con-
text of CFEBT approach

Zita Drabkova, Pavel Sima

Abstract: The contribution aims to analyse aspects of the impact of manipulative accounting techniques on the selected
case study of the worldwide known case Society of Worldcom, as subsequently identified by auditors and audit authorities
after the fraud. The identified manipulations were subsequently subjected to an analysis of CFBET approach. The con-
tribution has detected the risk of the impact of accounting errors and frauds representing one of the peaks CFEBT risk
triangle accounting errors and frauds. It also calculated CFEBT M-score at three levels and identifies risks at accounting
areas of provisions and overvalued own funds outside the operational area.

The contribution presents the results of the CFEBT approach at three levels of the M-score and analyses significant
discrepancies between the generation of earnings and an increase in cash flow during the observed periods. The CFEBT
risk triangle was designed as a tool for detection, evaluation and management of the risk of accounting errors and frauds
in circumstances of the Czech accounting standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The es-
sential aim of the triangle is to reduce information asymmetry between authors and users of accounting records, or,
in other words, to increase the quality of available information with respect to decision-making on the basis of available
accounting information.

Key words: Worldcom - CFEBT risk triangle of accounting errors and frauds - Information asymmetry - Manipulation
of financial statements

JEL Classification: G32 - G33 - M41

1 Introduction

It is essential that accounting records present a true and fair view of real facts. For most interest groups, accounting
information continues to serve as the basic information source about companies. It is therefore a matter of logic that
individual interest groups look for different values. A search for the most apposite expression of the evaluation of business
corporations by improving the mathematical apparatus, decomposition of indicators and subsequently the use of the same
on the basis of less than perfectly credible numbers may not always bring the accurate result as might be expected. In ad-
dition to a uniform set of indicators unsuitable for all business corporations, this issue concerns also a calculation proce-
dure of financial health, bankruptcy, solvency models and other evaluation ratio indicators that are based on accounting
data.

The way that accounting principles, techniques and appraisal and reporting methods are chosen may be beneficial
under certain circumstances for the informative value of accounting and activities of business corporations. On the other
hand, a different situation may arise when the true and fair view of accounting records is disrupted, either intentionally
or due to an accounting fraud. This leads to an increase in the information asymmetry between authors and users of ac-
counting outputs. In such a case, accounting records do not provide users with quality information to enable them to make
a decision. It is rather difficult to foresee the critical consequences of such decisions, for example, decisions made
by an investor purchasing an interest in the accounting unit concerned, or by a bank providing the accounting unit with
a loan, or an owner who - in the legislative context - bears all risks, including criminal-law risks (Drabkova, 2017).

First and foremost, accounting frauds include embezzlement of property, manipulation of accounting data and forgery
of documents, corruption and computer criminality. Accounting frauds cannot be entirely suppressed and toughening
of prison sentences may not always be the right answer, as attested by the American approach (Wells, 2017). The fight
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against creative accounting surpassing the bounds of the true and fair view of accounting has gained in importance espe-
cially as a consequence of scandals of a number of renowned European and American companies (Enron, WorldCom,
Tyco, Lehman Brothers) and scandals that came to light in the Czech Republic. Results of studies performed by leading
audit companies have presented the importance of these problems at the level of consequences and costs of solutions for
business corporations in the Czech Republic, Europe and other countries.

In addition to the above research carried out by leading audit companies (Pricewaterhouse Cooper; 2016), other re-
search studies show that the management of risks and consequences of accounting and tax frauds has gained in significant
importance. This fact is highlighted by the currently established level of criminal liability (Act No. 40/2009 Coll.) and its
interconnection with the development of tax legislation. As regards the value added tax, the tax legislation presently works
with the following concepts: unreliable payer concept, control reports and measures to eliminate refunds of excessive
deductions, digitalization of receipts, a duty to prove in the area of transaction prices also for income tax, and last but not
least, sanctions imposed on unjustifiable offshore companies. The years 2016 and 2017 were fruitful also in respect of
the development of another follow-up restrictive legislative measures - primarily an amendment to Act No. 253/2008
Coll., on Selected Measures against Legitimisation of Proceeds of Crime and Financing of Terrorism (the Money Laun-
dering Act), or an automatic exchange of information.

Companies now face a task of the implementation of information technologies into forensic activities, and improve-
ment of internal information systems by introducing effective internal controls based on interconnections in financial and
management accounting. A rise in effectiveness of internal control systems should proceed from complex relations be-
tween accounting and the management of companies in order to enable companies to reduce information asymmetry
between authors and users of accounting records by establishing suitable “anti-fraud”® systems, which, based on data
analyses, detect and measure adequately the risk of accounting frauds, whereupon companies may subsequently respond
to any detected risks by introducing measures placed in the “right” direction.

Within accounting units or their surrounding environment, the avenue leading from creative accounting (permissible
under the existing rules) to frauds is dotted with certain risk factors, agents, intermediaries or warning signals, present
in transmitted data about the condition and organizational arrangement of the entity, the result of which may be frauds
or accounts manipulation.

The following examples illustrate specific cases of risk situations, aggressive accounting procedures, which imply the
perpetrator’s intentional conduct, i.e. the third level of creative accounting presented, see EY (2016):

e Early reporting of revenues or postponement of costs, or ambiguous contracts.

e The pressure exerted on organizational components, including plans, an inadequate structure of management,
management is controlled by one person only or a small group of persons unsupervised by a supervisory body.

e High fluctuation of advisors and top management employees and dominant top management, in a prodigal style.
o Employees, customers or suppliers are not checked, e.g. references are not taken into consideration.

e Bank accounts, subsidiaries or branch offices are established in tax haven countries without any justifiable rea-
sons.

e The given company’s financial stability or profitability is endangered by economic conditions, conditions pre-
vailing in the industry concerned or by operating conditions in the accounting unit itself.

e  Strong competition in the industry is accompanied by a considerable drop in demand.

e The business corporation is unable to generate cash flow from operating activities and, at the same time, report
growing revenues.

e  Operating loss, with an ensuing risk of bankruptcy or takeover of the given accounting unit by a competitive
company.

e High sensitivity to technological changes or changes in interest rates.

e The excessively high pressure exerted on the company's management in connection with the performance of re-
quirements or expectations of third parties in relation to profitability or future development.

3 Based on the base word “fraud”, “anti-fraud” systems are systems that detect (uncover) accounting frauds, evaluate them and there-
fore make it possible for accounting frauds to be penalized and prevented.
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e  The excessively high pressure exerted on operating personnel, who are required to fulfill financial objectives set
by persons in charge of management, including motivation targets in the area of revenues or profits, too optimis-
tic press releases or information in annual reports.

e Itis necessary to gain further capital or debt financing for maintaining competitiveness, including the financing
of large-scale research and development projects or investment costs.

e The personal financial standing of management or persons in charge of the management of the company is en-
dangered by financial results of the company (interests in the company, remuneration, liability for the company's
obligations).

e  Assets, liabilities, revenues or costs proceed from estimates that are in turn based on subjective evaluation or un-
certain information difficult to prove.

e Complex or unstable organizational structure of the given accounting unit - high fluctuation of top management
members, counsels, persons in charge of management, personnel engaged in accounting, internal audit or infor-
mation technology, hiring persons with inadequate qualifications.

e The standard of living of any of the company's employees does not correspond to his or her income.
e  Excessive number of overtime work, tasks are not delegated to other employees.
e Management ignores internal controls.

e Performance of unusual or intricate transactions with a significant influence on revenues or too complex for
a layman to understand.

e Unusually high profit or loss in comparison with other companies in the same industry.

Specific recommendations for the management to introduce internal auditing and set up different organizational in-
ternal controls for preventing frauds of financial statements were published in the form of results of a case study carried
out in a construction company operating in the construction industry (Horvat & Lipicnik, 2016).

A proposal of methodology for distinguishing probability of truthfulness of accounting reports as a tool for differen-
tiating between fraudulent and truthful reports was published by authors Purda and Skillicorn (Purda & Skillicorn, 2015).
These considerations are followed by finding measures that take different forms. It seems advisable to look for the sim-
plest methods of identification of signs of misstatements and possible fraud in accounting, see also (Starova, 2014).

According to most opinions or knowledge gained in practice, the axiom that creative accounting solutions are always
bad does not hold the absolute truth. In these cases, the given accounting unit’s intent and scope of application of creative
accounting methods is rather an adequate response to the complex and diverse nature of business transactions (Koufilova,
Drabkova & Sedlacek, 2017).

2 Methods

The purpose of the contribution is to evaluate the risk of manipulation of the financial statements on the example fraud
case of Worldcom. Then an analysis of the rigged values will be performed through CFEBT M-scores i.e. peak CFEBT
triangle risk of the effects of accounting errors and fraud.

The CFEBT score will include the effects of the rigged data in the financial statements for the period 1995-2002, i.e.
For the period when the company with the data manipulated until the year when the Worldcom entered into liquidation.

The analysis employed the CFEBT model, designed for the individual levels of the analysis delving into detailed
relations between financial statements:

The first M-score level of the CFEBT model is defined as follows:

CFEBT = Zii CFe= T4 BBTe 4 (1)

Y, EBT;
Where:
CF: total increase or decrease in cash before tax during the analysed period t

EBT: earnings before taxes generated for the analysed period
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if CFEBT > materialily geailed tests of relations of impacts in the second and third levels follow. We consider
the materiality between 5 and 10% (Drabkova, 2015).

The second M-score level of the CFEBT model (modified CFEBT score) complies with the established hypothesis
as to the relation between the generation of cash flow and earnings. Monetary means and monetary equivalents for
the analysed accounting period are modified by changes in assets and liabilities, which represent a possible inflow and
outflow of monetary means. The sum of EBT gained in the analysed period is modified by expenses reported as non-
monetary expenses, (Drabkova, 2017):

CFEBTM =Xtei CFm— X{e, EBTmy 100 @)

Y EBTmy
Where:
CFm: increase in cash flow before taxes in the analysed period, modified by reported future cash-in and outflows
EBTm: earnings before taxes gained for the analysed period modified by non-monetary expenses

The third M-score level of the CFEBT model expresses a ratio of operative cash flow generated in the analysed period
and modified earnings in the analysed accounting period. Where expressed in percentage, this value presents a ratio
of generated cash flow from operating activities to generate earnings which include only those expenses and revenues
that are directly transformed in cash flow in the current or future accounting periods, (Drabkova, 2017):

CFEBTOM =ZXt1CFom—X{c; EBTm; 4 100 ?)

Y EBTmq

Where:
CFom: increase in operative cash flow before taxes in the analysed period

EBTm: earnings before taxes gained for the analysed period modified by non-monetary expenses

3 Research results

A representative of Fraud Cases of the 21st century is one US company named Worldcom. Worldcom was once the
second-largest long-distance company in the United States and the largest Internet service provider. Between 1995 and
2000, Worldcom acquired more than 60 other telecom companies, valued at close to $70 billion. With the purchase
of MCI, Worldcom moved into the Internet and data communications business. Worldcom owned almost one-third of all
data cables in the United States and had a presence in more than 65 countries.

The scandal started with Worldcom CEO Bernie Ebbers’s business strategy of achieving growth through acquisitions.
Ebbers used Worldcom stock to pay for these acquisitions. After acquiring MCI, Ebbers proposed a merger with Sprint.
When Ebbers was forced to abandon the proposed Sprint merger in 2000, he needed to continue showing an increase
in revenue, despite the slow-down in acquisitions. Even though Ebbers was determined to show positive revenues, there
was a decline in the telecommunications market.

Instead of taking the time necessary to adjust to Worldcom acquisitions and mergers, Ebbers manipulated the books
to satisfy Wall Street’s expectations. To show an increase in reported income, Bernie Ebbers had his senior staff fraudu-
lently release almost $3 billion in provisions to offset the company’s operating expenses. Provisions are profits that have
been set aside for a particular purpose, such as to pay a legal settlement, pay off debt, or pay for specific future repair and
maintenance. They should not be used to reduce the reported amount of ongoing operating costs.

To further boost earnings, Ebbers then had his senior staff members classify operating expenses as long-term capital
investments. But, operating expenses are recorded in the accounting period in which they were incurred. They should not
be treated as long-term investments or assets. Worldcom was stuck in an agreement to lease the cables for two to five
years. The company had to pay for these cable leases even though it was not generating any income from them. The cost
associated with the leases caused Worldcom's expenses to increase as revenue decreased. Moving these lease expenses
fraudulently from the income statement and onto the balance sheet as assets caused an overstatement in assets and income.

Additionally, a journal entry for 500 million in computer expenses was recorded as a capital. These adjustments to
the financial statements turned Worldcom'’s losses into profits, thus making its assets appear more valuable than really
were. Another major factor in the Worldcom accounting fraud scheme was Ebbers’s personal loans. Ebbers had generous
stock options and, when the stock price rose, he used his stock as collateral for personal loans. It was for almost 360
million for personal loans, which was one of the largest ever granted to a CEO of a publicly traded company.
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Worldcom’s company culture was a major reason the accounting fraud continued for so long. Ebbers encouraged
a culture in which loyalty to him - rather than loyalty to the company - was rewarded. This created an environment
in which employees were afraid to speak up for fear of retaliation.

The scheme was detected when a capital costs audit revealed suspicious journal entries. As a part of the review,
Worldcom's internal audit department found a series of accounting manipulation intended to bury almost 4 billion dollars
in misallocated expenses and false accounting entries. In 2002, Worldcom publicly announced that that it had recognized
3 hillion profit instead of reporting a half billion dollars loss. In July 2002, Worldcom filed for bankruptcy. With close
to 107 billion in assets, the company s filing was the largest in U.S. history.

3.1 The Impact and Fallout

The Worldcom scandal led to a class-action lawsuit by individuals and entities that had purchased Worldcom securities
between April 1999 and June 2002 and experienced losses due to fraud. Additionally, Arthur Andersen LLP, the account-
ing firm that acted ad Worldcom's auditors during the scandal, was also cited in the class action lawsuit. Arthur Andersen
was later replaced by an independent accounting firm, KPMG. After Worldcom emerged from bankruptcy in 2003,
it changed its name to MCI.

The Worldcom accounting scandal was a situation in which corporate governance failed and the board of directors
was caught unaware. The board also approved multimillion-dollar personal loans to Ebbers and failed to disclose them.
Many of Worldcom's strategic decisions to grow the company relied on a continuous supply of acquisitions, but the com-
pany lacked strategic planning to merge its operations once companies were acquired.

External auditors could have uncovered the fraud before 2002 had they done sufficient testing of account balances.
Additionally, the external auditors should have informed the audit committee that they did not have all the financial
information needed to make a reasonable assessment of the control environment. At the time of the Worldcom scandal,
there was no employee hotline or ethics officer. A hotline would have made it easy for the internal auditors or anyone
else who had suspicions about the treatment of accounting entries to alert the proper authorities to investigate the poten-
tially fraudulent activity.

3.2 CFEBT Score - risk of impact of accounting errors and fraud

From Detected Values Handling in financial statements. The company Worldcom in the period 1999-2002 was calculated
in three levels of M-score with the other values of the financial statements being taken into account at zero values. The
aim was to identify the possibilities of detecting manipulative techniques used by Worldcom in the reference period on
the basis of the CFEBT risk triangle approach, namely the peak risk of the impact of accounting errors and fraud.

Table 1 CFEBT Score — Handling of financial statements of Worldcom in the period 1995-2002

Tax entity Basic Modified M-Operating
CFEBT Score -110 -100 0
CF change in mil. $ -0,36 0,5 6 500
EBT sumin mil. $ 35 6500 6 500

Source: Own processing

CFEBT M-score of the first level was found in table and presents significantly exceeding the value of materiality.
It was detected of 110% value. Based on detailed analysis handling of financial statements, which the company reported
in the period 1995-2002 a discrepancy was detected between the production of the profit and cash flow in the va-
lue of 100% of the second modified CFEBT M-score. Calculation of the third- level of CFEBT M-score detected risk
outside the operational area of cash flow formation. The resulting discrepancy between the operating CF and EBT were
detected at a rate of 0%. This means that the effects of the manipulative techniques that the company has exploited fully
into the financial and investment area.

Table 2 Modified CFEBT Score- Selected significant accounting items in the period 1995-2002

Item name (modifier, informa- N (mil. $) N/EBT (%)
tional)
* Receivables from partners 036 10
** Provisions -3000 -85 714
***Equity 40000 114 286

Source: Own processing
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* PTEs for CFm modification
** PTEs for modification of EBTm
*** informative PTEs

Table 2 presents significant values that were used for the modification of CF and EBT in the calculation of modified
score of the second and third CFEBT M-score. The modification items confirm the detected manipulations, which were
presented by the forensic audit of Worldcom. The effects of the most important manipulations are artificially-designed
dissolution of accounting provisions and overappraisal of own capital over economic substance Subject of the activity
selected accounting units.

4 Conclusions

The contribution presented the causes and consequences of the worldwide known accounting scandalu Company World-
com in the years 1995-2002. In addition, an analysis of the risk impact of manipulated data in the risk assessment of ac-
counting fraud was carried out on the example of the worldwide known cases of Worldcom. The analysis was carried out
at the level of one of the highlights of the CFEBT risk triangle, from the perspective of the user's financial statements,
which, based on reportovanych data, makes its decisions.

CFEBT Risk triangle detected a significant risk of manipulation at the level of discrepancy on the basis of economic
substance between production of the result and cash flow in reported periods 1995-2002. Calculation of modified score
2. and 3. level of CFEBT evaluated the manipulation in the field of investment and finance.

From the point of view of the company's management from cases some recommendations to prevent occurrences like
those at Worldcom. In particular, hiring hones people and train them on fraud awareness create and positive work envi-
ronment. Additionally, ensure that auditors apply skepticism when performing audits and observe pressures and opportu-
nities that can lead to fraud. Last not at least implement a company helpline so that employees can report concerns.
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Tax Mix Development in the Member States of the European Union

Jarmila Rybova, Hana Hlavackova

Abstract: The aim of the article is to identify changes in the share of revenues of taxes in total tax revenue in the European
Union countries, and to identify groups of similar states in the years 1995 and 2016. The analysis of the tax mix of the
member states uses cluster analysis and analysis of the variation coefficient. The cluster analysis confirms differences
between Nordic, western and new members. The coefficient of variation shows a higher similarity of indirect taxes than
in the case of direct taxes. The tax mixes of the member states do not significantly converge despite the efforts of the
European Union to harmonize member states' tax systems. However, there is a difference among the first 15 member
states of the European Union and a group of other states that joined the European Union later. The new member states
prefer indirect taxes, which make up a large share of tax revenue. These tax mixes in the European Union did not change
significantly between the years 1995 and 2016.

Key words: Tax mix - European Union * Cluster analysis * Variation coefficient - Convergence
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1 Introduction

We can identify changes in the field of taxation with several indicators. (Rybova & Berankova, 2017) for example argue
that the composite tax quota and the simple tax quota show a modest trend of tax convergence in the European Union. In
other words, European countries are slightly closer to the share of absolute tax revenues in GDP. This is vital information
in terms of total tax burden. The tax mix expresses the share of income from individual taxes in the total tax revenue of
the state. The study confirms that the historical development of the state and its tradition greatly influence the composition
of the tax mix. This is true both within and outside the European Union. Harmonization of taxes can also significantly
affect tax mixes. This is particularly true in the case of indirect taxes.

2 Methods

The article examines differences among the member states in the tax mixes in the period 1995-2016. The subject of the
survey is convergence or divergence among 28 member states in cases of selected taxes. Croatia is not included in the
analysis in 1995. The necessary data are missing from this country. Similarities among the states are investigated by
cluster analysis and convergence in the period 1995-2016 are detected by the sigma convergence method.

The breakdown of taxes corresponds to the tax groups according to the ESA 2010. Data for all member states are
available for the first time at Eurostat Database in the year 1995. Eurostat is the statistical office of the European Union,
which provides statistical data at a European level. Taxes are divided into the tax mix according to the European System
of National and Regional Accounts (ESA 2010). These selected taxes are expressed as a percentage of total tax revenue
(Eurostat, 2018). The tax mix consists of the following five groups of taxes, which are identified by a letter and a number
according to the methodology of the European Statistical Office as follows:

- Taxes on products correspond to D21 in the ESA 2010.
- Other taxes on production and imports correspond to D29 in the ESA 2010.
- Current taxes on income correspond to D51 in the ESA 2010.

- Other current taxes + Capital taxes belong to the groups D59 and D91 in the ESA 2010.
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- Net social contributions correspond to D61 in the ESA 2010.
2.1 Cluster analysis

The tax mix data for the years 1995 and 2016 are subjected to a cluster analysis. The objects are clustered hierarchically
using the Ward method. The principle of Ward's method is to minimize heterogeneity of clusters according to the criterion
of the minimum increase of intragroup sum of squares of object deviations from the center of gravity of clusters. The
cluster creates objects whose value of increment of the sum of squares of deviations has a minimum value. If the cluster
is made up of a number of objects k that are characterized by n characters, then the data set creates array kxn with elements
Xij (the value of the j-character for the k-object).

Intra-cluster Variability (ICV) is given by:

nk _ _ _ k (1)
ICV =X X (xij- Xj)?, where for x; : ;= 1 /k Z xij
=1li=1 i=1

This procedure tends to combine clusters with a small number of objects. The disadvantage of Ward's method is the
tendency to form equally small clumps.

The merging rule for objects is the Euclid distance. The proportions of individual taxes in the tax mix are monitored
statistical features. Member states are clustering objects. Tracking signs are tax rates in the tax mix. All 27 countries are
included in the analysis, regardless of their membership in the year 1995.

2.2 Sigma convergence

Convergence of the member states is examined by the sigma convergence method, which is based on changes in the
values of the variation coefficients. The variability of the tax mix is examined using a variation coefficient. Variability is
the fluctuation of the values of the studied quantity. It states how many percent the average values deviate from the
arithmetic mean (Soucek, 2006).

Variation coefficients are established for each year in the period 1995-2016. Changes in values serve to identify coun-
tries' convergence or divergence. The decrease of the coefficient of variation over time means the homogeneity of the
countries and vice versa.

The formula for calculating the coefficient of variation is as follows (Soucek, 2006):

== @
Where:

V, Coefficient of variation

Sy Standard deviation of the values

x Arithmetic mean of the values

The data are obtained from the Eurostat Statistical Office of the European Union. Data are in percent. These are the
shares of tax revenue on total tax revenue (Eurostat, 2018). Both of these methods were used in a study on excise taxes
(Rybova, 2017).

3 Research results

The cluster analysis resulted in clusters of similar states in the years 1995 and 2016. The Nordic states are the most dif-
ferent from other EU members in both cluster processes. Differences are also found between the countries of the origi-
nal EU-15 and the new members.
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3.1 Clustering in the year 1995

Six clusters are formed at a distance of 30 points between the joints. The first two clusters (Cluster 1/1995 and Cluster
2/1995) are closest to each other. On the other hand, clusters 5/1995 and 6/1995 are most distant to other countries.

These groups of similar states are formed by clustering:

Cluster 1/1995: Belgium, Italy, Luxembourg, Romania, Finland

Cluster 2/1995: Czech Republic, Slovakia, Spain, Austria, Germany, Netherlands, France
Cluster 3/1995: Bulgaria, Portugal, Estonia, Poland, Cyprus, Lithuania, Malta

Cluster 4/1995: Greece, Hungary, Latvia, Slovenia

Cluster 5/1995: Denmark

Cluster 6/1995: Ireland, United Kingdom, Sweden

Figure 1 Clustering in the year 1995
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The northern member states (cluster 5/1995 and 6/1995) are the top income tax revenue. Social security earnings are
the lowest among all countries. The states of Western Europe with Finland and Romania in cluster 1/1995 prefer higher
revenue from taxes on income and social security. Taxation of production is the lowest of all clusters. The countries of
Western and Central Europe have the highest income from social security, income, and capital taxes.

Table 1 Arithmetic means of individual clusters in the year 1995

Taxes on | Other taxes Indirect Taxes on Net social Other cur- Direct taxes
produc- | on produc- taxes income contribu- rent taxes + | and social se-
tion tion tions Capital taxes curity
1) ) (1) +(2) ®) (4) () @) +@)+ ()
Cluster 1/1995 27.8 2.6 30.4 35.8 32.1 1.7 69.6
Cluster 2/1995 28.1 4.2 32.3 25.2 40.9 2.0 68.1
Cluster 3/1995 38.7 2.3 41.0 28.5 29.4 1.1 59.0
Cluster 4/1995 39.2 2.5 41.7 19.7 37.6 1.2 58.5
Cluster 5/1995 31.1 3.2 34.3 61.3 3.6 1.4 66.3
Cluster 6/1995 32.7 9.5 42.2 37.9 17.0 2.8 57.7

Source: Own processing

The highest average tax rates of clusters are shown in bold. The share of direct and indirect taxes is the most balanced
in the northern states of the European Union in the cluster 6/1995. Denmark and western countries of the European Union
prefer direct taxes the most.

3.2 Clustering in the year 2016

The northern member states had a specific tax system in the year 2016 too. The basic feature is high taxation and high
social benefits often provided by the state. The composition of the tax mix did not change significantly in the years un-
der review.

These groups of similar states are formed by clustering:
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Cluster 1/2016: Belgium, Italy, Luxembourg, Germany, Netherlands, Spain, Austria, France
Cluster 2/2016: Bulgaria, Croatia, Estonia, Romania, Hungary, Greece, Portugal, Cyprus, Latvia
Cluster 3/2016: Czech Republic, Slovakia, Lithuania, Slovenia, Poland

Cluster 4/2016: Denmark, Sweden

Cluster 5/2016: Ireland, Malta, Finland, United Kingdom

Figure 2 Clustering in the year 2016
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The highest average tax rates of clusters are shown in bold. The share of direct and indirect taxes is the most balanced
in the southern and eastern member states. Direct taxation is most preferred in the western part of the European Union.
Some of the new member states increased indirect tax rates in the tax mix in the period 1995 - 2016. These states joined
the EU in the year 2004 or later. The differences between the states of the original EU-15 grouping and the new member
states were greater in the year 2016 than in the year 1995.

Table 2 Arithmetic means of individual clusters in the year 2016

Taxes on | Other taxes Indirect Taxes on | Net social Other cur- Direct taxes
production | on produc- taxes income contribu- rent taxes + | and social se-
tion tions Capital taxes curity
1) ) (1) +(2) ®) (4) () @) +@)+ ()
Cluster 1/2016 26.1 5.7 318 30.0 35.9 2.7 68.6
Cluster 2/2016 415 4.5 46.0 22.0 30.6 1.4 54.0
Cluster 3/2016 34.5 3.1 37.6 19.9 41.6 1.0 62.5
Cluster 4/2016 28.6 14.2 42.8 51.1 4.7 1.9 57.7
Cluster 5/2016 33.6 2.8 36.4 37.8 22.2 3.6 63.6

Source: Own processing
3.3 Sigma convergence in the period 1995-2016

There are only minor changes in the member states' tax mixes. This factor can be assessed positively from the standpoint
of stability of the member states and the European Union. The reasons are similar to the tax quota. The fiscal role of taxes
and stability of the political and economic environment are crucial in each country.

It should be noted that data in the year 2017 are not complete. The similarity of states is higher for indirect taxes in
the period 1995-2016. This is mainly due to the harmonization of indirect taxes. Differences are increased with capital
taxes.

Beranova (2018) describes the convergence of the original and new member states of the European Union in the period
2000-2015 in more detail. She concludes that for the top 15 member states there is only little convergence for most taxes.
The new member states do not mutually adjust by their tax mixes.
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Figure 3 Variation coefficients of the shares of individual taxes in the tax mix
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4 Conclusions

Generally speaking, the preferences of selected tax revenues do not change much in individual countries. The tradition,
the historical and political customs of a given society are decisive factors in this case. Income from direct taxes is still
very significant. Most member states received high social security income. Differences among countries are rather steady.
Harmonization steps have supported a decline in the differences among the member states in indirect taxes.

The share of indirect taxes has increased. This is especially true for the new member states. They had to raise rates
more than the original EU-15 members. State revenues diverged only on capital taxes. Nevertheless, member state tax
mixes can be considered stable. And that's positive.
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The risk and the cost of quality: The quality management case study

Jaroslava Prazékova, Dagmar Bednafova

Abstract: The article deals with the issue of quality risks and costs in the area of quality management. The presented
case study demonstrates the practical application of the risk register and the use of the PAF model to quantify the cost of
quality. At present, enterprises are faced with the recertification necessary for the transition from CSN ISO 9001: 2008
to ISO 9001: 2015 as CSN ISO 9001: 2016. Audits that are part of the preparatory phase of recertification identify
problems and set recommendations to address these problems. The most frequently mentioned recommendations include
the need to set up the risk register and the associated risk assessment. The implementation of quality management also
results in need for monitoring and managing the cost of quality.

Key words: Quality management - Cost of quality - PAF model - Case study

JEL Classification: G32 - M11 - L60

1 Introduction

The main aim of quality management is satisfying customer with a product that meets his expectation. For manufacturers
or service providers, it is also important that quality management results in cost savings. Costs of quality are considerably
lower than the cost associated with mitigation of poor production quality (Bednaiova, 2013). Costs of quality must be
taken into account in state-to-the-art quality management systems. Practically, it is the only financial instrument we can
use to plan, prove and improve quality. All engineering and organizational measures related to quality management sys-
tem can be easily justified to all employees groups (Nenadal, Noskievi¢ova, Petiikova & Plura, 2008). Vyletal & kol.
(2008) and Spejchalova (2012) claim that the introduction of quality management system is resulting in cost reduction.
That means securing business goals at minimal cost and leads to optimization of business activities.

Producer’s costs of quality play a significant role (Nenadal, Noskievicova, Petiikova & Plura, 2008). Several models
for managing these costs are currently available such as PAF model (Prevention, Appraisal, Failure costs), new PAF
model (enhanced variant incorporating environmental costs), COPQ model, model of process costs (Nenadal, 2016), ABC
model. The PAF model represents a classic method of recording and evaluating the cost of quality, based on the division
of cost items in the enterprise into four expense groups: internal failure costs, external failure costs, evaluation costs and
prevention costs (Shubhangan & Darshak, 2016). While the first two expense groups are net losses from an economic
point of view directly affecting economic performance of organizations, the expense associated with evaluation and pre-
vention are considered as operating costs in nature. Investment should be focused mainly on preventive activities. This
allows minimizing internal and external defects, as well as optimizing the overall structure of expenses related to quality.

In order to mitigate quality costs, it is important to monitor and analyse risks. When planning a quality management
system, the organization must analyse the risks, i.e. assess the external and internal environmental factors, the require-
ments and expectations of stakeholders and identify the risks and opportunities to be treated. Reasons for performing risk
analysis are as:

¢ the quality management system has achieved the expected results;
e avoiding unwanted consequences, or at least minimizing their occurrence;
e making improvements (Makys & Sluch, 2015).

Supplier failure is considered to be a risk. This can be avoided through proper communication with vendors. Commu-
nication takes place on the one hand before starting a partnership project with suppliers. This is primarily in the direction
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of senior management. Furthermore, it is communication after the start of cooperation, which takes place between man-
agers and experts of cooperating organizations (Bednatrova, 2013).

Another problem or risk that damages the organization is non-conforming products. Managing non-conforming prod-
ucts is an important part of the functional quality assurance system in each organization. The process of managing mis-
matched products consists of the following steps:

e finding a non-compliant product;

e identifying non-conforming products by the identifying mark and their separation;
e arecord of disagreement;

e reconsideration (assessment) of disagreement;

o settlement of disagreement;

e cost and loss calculations;

e solution of damages;

e analyses of disagreements;

e implementation of corrective measures and checking their effectiveness (Nenadal, Noskievi¢ova, Petiikova,
& Plura, 2008).

No matter which costs of quality model is used, the main idea behind this analysis is the linking of improvement
activities with associated costs and customer expectations, thus allowing targeted action for reducing quality costs and
increasing quality improvement benefits (Psomas, et al., 2018). Therefore, a realistic estimation of costs of quality that is
the appropriate trade-off between the levels of conformance and non-conformance costs, should be considered an essential
element of any quality initiative and a crucial issue for any manager (Schiffauerova, & Thomson, 2006). A number of
small and medium sized organizations are now still seeking both theoretical advice and practical evidence about quality
related costs and the implementation of quality costing systems.

2 Methods

The presented case study deals with CSN ISO 9001: 2008 to ISO 9001: 2015 recertification. It illustrates some actual
problems of this long term process and defines one of the possible solutions. Many small and medium sized engineering
companies are forced to this process by their customers and trade partners. Therefore the case study was made for me-
dium-size engineering company (Company B) that is residing in Southern Bohemia. The company has established and
certified quality system complying with CSN EN ISO 9001: 2009. Currently, the final phase of recertification is com-
pleted in the company. The real situation that is demonstrated in case study is from the very beginning of the recertification
process from the preliminary audit. The mentioned audit brought inter alia these recommendations: it is necessary to
create list of risks, to update the list of interested parties and organization structure and improve tracking and reporting of
quality costs.

Paper presents the brief example of the list of risks. The main risks associated with the costs of quality as well as the
influenced process, risk evaluation and mitigations are mentioned (see Table 1).

Due to the nature of the company and its previous experience, the PAF model was recommended as a useful method
for recording and evaluating the cost of the quality. This paper introduces the practical application of the model and shows
the actual costs of quality management in the enterprise. The total costs of quality in years 2016 and 2017 are shown in
Table 2 — PAF model in Company B.

3 Research results

Company B has been operating on the market for more than 25 years. At a very beginning engineering company engaged
in custom machining mostly on automatic lathes. After 2 years of its existence, it had expanded the firm's mechanical
assembly work to mass production. The company B employs almost 130 persons in two divisions (machining division
and assembly division) nowadays. The main activity of Company B is custom manufacturing of rotating parts in larger
batches by turning on turret and CNC long-turning machines. As a manufacturer of precision engineering, company B
cooperates with more than 180 customers from various branches (e.g. health industry, automotive, precise engineering).
In cooperation with the customers company prefers long-term partnerships in which they have achieved the role of a
strategic supplier of machined rotating components.
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The application of quality management measures brings not only the costs of quality calculation but also the profit of
quality. This concept is connected with TQM (Total Quality Management) very closely. It is possible to find parts of
kaizen and innovations methods in one place. The profit associated with quality is possible to determine by many specific
measures. The considered company uses inter alia these measures: rate of complaint solution, external customer satisfac-
tion level, the level of external customer loyalty, internal productivity measures (improvement rate, noncompliant product
rate). The increasing level of external customer satisfaction brings tight relationship with customer and together with the
increasing level of external customer loyalty decrease the risk of customer loosing. The quality management goal the
measure of individual customer satisfaction is 1.2 or better (Jandova, 2018). Nowadays the company use the 5 point scale
when 1 is the best and 5 the worst. The managers make visits to key customers to review customer satisfaction and to find
out the real situation once in every six month at least.

The considered company periodically audits all their first tier suppliers (the quality goal for this measure has minimum
level 92 % of all audited suppliers evaluated as an A — the best trustworthy).

The internal productivity measures (non-compliant product rate etc.) are connected with specific external needs of
customers expressed by PPM measure. According to individual needs of customers the PPM is stated as follows: health
care — PPM 0, automotive industry - PPM 5, general engineering - PPM 10, etc. A lower product defect level can be
obtained by increasing the prevention and appraisal costs that subsequently lowers the external failure costs.

3.1 The list of risks

The created list of risks contains almost 100 reported risks in all processes of the company, given the extent and the focus
of the paper, Table 1 presents only some selected risks relate directly to costs of quality. The brief list of risks presents
five most important risks from three main company processes. The evaluation of the risks is made with respect to the
frequency of the risk occurrence and its importance. The importance of risk is evaluated on the basis of company's man-
agement and external expert opinions. The risks are grouped into three main sections: high risks, low risks and medium
risks. The list of risks is life document where the number of risks and its evaluation is changing over time. The facts
presented in Table 1 correspond to the real conditions from the end of the year 2017.

Table 1 The list of risks — selected parts

Risk evaluation

Process Risk identification Importance | Frequency | Risk Mitigation

Supplier failure 5 3 High Select more than one supplier for every item

Minimum stock de-

fault 3 1 Low Use ERP system for stock system management
Complaint not solved Qualified employee determining the terms for
Purchase on time 5 1 Medium | complaint process; periodical employers training
Project
manage- Project milestone not Evaluation of the project according to the con-
ment on time 5 3 High trol plan
CRM * Loosing customer 5 1 Medium | On time delivery in accurate quality. Customer

satisfaction evaluation

*Customer relationship management
Source: own processing

The Supplier failure and Project milestone not on time reach the same marks and both are considered as a high risky.
This may seem unjustified, because loosing customer is often regard as the most serious risk, especially in some literature
(i.e. Buttle & Burton, 2002). The significance of this risk also reaches the higher mark, but its frequency is far lower, so
the risk is classified as a medium. Regardless, the Loosing customer is one of the crucial risks for the Company C.

One problem can cause several risks at one point or as a sequence of events. One such event occurred in the middle
of the year 2016, when the serious Supplier failure caused the Complaint made by external customer that was not solved
on time. Total failure costs exceeded 500 000 CZK.

The Minimum stock default is labelled as a low risk that is caused especially by its low frequency. In spite of this
evaluation, minimum stock default non-compliance can lead to problems at assembly lines and it can ends by the general
stop of the production. Company B has not yet been forced to quantify the exact cost of stopping production because such
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a situation has never occurred. If the production has to be interrupted for more than few hours, estimated total cost will
exceed the amount mentioned in previous case more than 10 times (depending on the downtime duration).

3.2 The costs of Quality

Most cost of quality models are based on P-A-F classification. This model classified cost of quality into three categories:
prevention costs, appraisal costs and failure costs. Failure costs consist of two subcategories: internal failure costs and
external failure costs. Prevention costs include activities specifically designed to prevent poor quality of products or
services, for example the cost of new product review and quality planning, improvement and quality training, supplier
evaluation costs, general management costs, information system costs (Farooq at al, 2017). Second category - appraisal
costs are associated with evaluating, measuring or auditing products to make sure everything is in conformance to standard
and performance requirement. These costs include the costs of measuring and testing equipment accuracy and the cost of
associated materials. Internal failure costs are costs that occur before delivering the product to the customer.

The prevention and appraisal costs are considered as a controllable quality costs while the internal and external failure
costs are uncontrollable. At some point the cost of prevention and appraisal defects exceeds the cost of correcting for
product failure. A lower product defect level can be obtained by increasing the prevention and appraisal costs, which
subsequently lowers the external failure costs.

The costs occurring after delivering the product to the customer are defined as external failure costs, for example,
product recalls, warranty claims, customer’s returns.

Table 2 PAF model in Company B

Annually (in CZK))
Costs
2016 2017
Training Costs 65 000 68 750
General management costs
Suooli luation. C lationshi 84 976 88 353
P - Prevention upplier evaluation, Customer relationship management
Certification 33125 66 250
. 158 750 218 750
Information system
Total prevention costs 341 851 442 103
. Auditing 25000 25000
A - Appraisal - - -
Inspection, Testing, equipment accuracy 301 500 301 500
Total appraisal costs 326 500 326 500
Internal failure costs — scrap, rework, retest, yield losses 508 288 542 113
F - Failure
External failure costs — warranty, liability, returns, 952 390 125 603
Total Failure costs 1460 678 667 715
The total costs of quality 2129 029 1436 318

Source: own processing

Total costs of quality exceed the amount of 2.1 million CZK in 2016 and 1.4 million CZK in 2017. The considerable
difference between these values is mainly caused by external failure costs expansion in 2016. This cost expansion was
caused by supplier failure mentioned above. The prevention costs are annually increasing; it corresponds to the basic
principal of PAF model. The constant growth of this group of costs is supposed to reduce total cost of quality. Almost all
mentioned subcategories of prevention costs are growing due to recertification audit and informational system changes.

Appraisal costs are same in both years. Inspection, testing and equipment accuracy costs are concentrated to this
category. The technology used for the measurement is considered to be fully satisfactory and therefore the cost has not
changed.

Failure costs are crucial for the company hence the company has the quality goal for them too (Psomas, & Kafetzopou-
los, 2014). External failure costs are measured for example on the level — non-compliant external product. Costs for non-
compliant external products will not exceed 0.10 % of sales revenue and costs for non-conforming products will not
exceed 0.35 % of sales revenue. The development of these measures for the period from 2010 to 2017 is shown in Figure
1. Achieved rates of sales are plotted on x-axis. Individual annual results are in line with the set quality goal, excluding
few values caused by extreme situation.
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Figure 1 Internal and external failure
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4 Conclusions

Presented illustrative case study is focused on quality management system in middle size company. Considered Company
B has a long-standing experience with application of some quality management methods. Nevertheless, the recertification
to the new CSN ISO standard was very demanding in terms of both time and money. On the other hand, the quality
management system methods i.e. PAF model will allow quality cost monitoring clear and at one place. In addition, this
is a very common concept so the application methodology is available.

Far more challenging is the certification process for an enterprise that has not used the quality management system
yet. In some production areas, quality management is common issue and its certification is directly required by customers.
Consequently, new firms in such industries must necessarily be certified to meet the demanding requirements of their
customers. And then they will also face with setting up a list of the risks and detailed quality cost monitoring, as well as
Company B.

Acknowledgement

The authors thank the Ministry of Education of the Czech Republic for financial support.

References

Bednatova, D. (2013). Rizeni kvality. Ceské Budgjovice: Jihoeska univerzita, Ekonomické fakulta. ISBN 978-80-7394-404-9.

Buttle, F. A., & Burton, J. (2002). Does service failure influence customer loyalty? Journal of Consumer Behaviour, 1(3): 217-227.
doi: 10.1002/ch.67

Faroog, A.M., Kirchain, R., Novoab, H., & Araujob, A. (2017). Cost of quality: Evaluating cost-quality trade-offs for inspection strat-
egies of manufacturing processes. International Journal of Production Economics, 188 (June 2017), 156-166, doi:
10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.03.019.

Jandova, L. (2018). Piiprava podniku na recertifikaci podle normy ISO 9001:2015. Ceské Budé&jovice. The University of South Bohe-
mia in Ceské Budgjovice. Diplomovd prdce.

Makys, P., & Slach, M. (2016). Systém manazérstva kvality podla ISO 9001:2015 a jeho interné audity. M Kreo: Zilina. ISBN 978-

80-971299-1-0.

Nenadal, J. (2016). Systémy managementu kvality: co, pro¢ a jak mérit. Management Press: Praha. ISBN 978-807261-426-4.

Nenadal, J., Noskievi¢ova, D., Petiikova, R., Plura, J., & ToSenovsky, J. (2008). Moderni management jakosti - principy, postupy,
metody. Praha: Management Press. ISBN 978-80-7261-186-7.

Psomas, E., & Kafetzopoulos, D. (2014). Performance measures of 1SO 9001 certified and non-certified manufacturing compa-
nies. Benchmarking: An International Journal, 21(5), 756-774, doi: 10.1108/B1J-04-2012-0028

Psomas, E., Dimitrantzou, Ch., Vouzas, F., & Bouranta N., (2018). Cost of quality measurement in food manufacturing companies: the
Greek case. International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management, 67 (9), 1882-1900, doi: 10.1108/IJPPM-12-
2017-0325

Schiffauerova, A., & Thomson, V., (2006). Managing cost of quality: Insight into industry practice, The TQM Magazine. 18(5), 542-
550, doi: 10.1108/09544780610685502

Shubhangan, M., & Darshak, D. (2016). Review on Cost of Quality Methodology and Hidden Costs in Manufacturing Industries. REST
Journal on Emerging trends in Modelling and Manufacturing, 2(4), 87-94


https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/09255273
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.03.019
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.03.019
https://wstag.jcu.cz/portal/studium/prohlizeni.html?pc_mode=view&pc_windowid=224139&pc_phase=action&pc_pagenavigationalstate=H4sIAAAAAAAAAGNgYGBkYDMyMjE0thRmZADxOIpLEktSvVMrwTwRXUsjI2NjcyMDYzMLUxNzc2NTMwugDAMAgBWOuzoAAAA*&pc_type=portlet&pc_interactionstate=JBPNS_rO0ABXesAAlwcmFjZUlkbm8AAAABAAU0OTY3OQAQcHJvaGxpemVuaUFjdGlvbgAAAAEAOmN6LnpjdS5zdGFnLnBvcnRsZXRzMTY4LnByb2hsaXplbmkucHJhY2UuUHJhY2VEZXRhaWxBY3Rpb24ABmRldGFpbAAAAAEACXByYWNlSW5mbwAIc3RhdGVLZXkAAAABABQtOTIyMzM3MjAzNjg1NDc3MzU2OAAHX19FT0ZfXw**&pc_windowstate=normal&pc_navigationalstate=JBPNS_rO0ABXctAAhzdGF0ZUtleQAAAAEAFC05MjIzMzcyMDM2ODU0NzczNTY4AAdfX0VPRl9f#prohlizeniSearchResult
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/author/Psomas%2C+Evangelos
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/author/Kafetzopoulos%2C+Dimitrios
https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-04-2012-0028
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/author/Psomas%2C+Evangelos
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/author/Dimitrantzou%2C+Christina
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/author/Vouzas%2C+Fotis
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/author/Bouranta%2C+Nancy
https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-12-2017-0325
https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-12-2017-0325
https://doi.org/10.1108/09544780610685502

Jaroslava Prazakova, Dagmar Bednafova: The risk and the cost of quality: The quality management case study 42

Spejchalova, D. (2012). Management kvality, bezpecnosti a environmentu. Praha: VSEM. ISBN 978-808673-087-5.

Vyletal, P., & al. (2008). Ekonomické ndstroje a metody ¥izeni jakosti v akvizicnim procesu. Ministerstvo obrany Ceské republiky:
Praha.

Zemanova, M. (2018). Systém fizeni kvality ve vybraném podniku. Ceské Budgjovice. The University of South Bohemia in Ceské
Budgjovice. Diplomova prace.



The International Scientific Conference INPROFORUM 2018, November 1 - 2, 2018, Ceské Budéjovice, 43-49, ISBN 978-80-7394-726-2.

The Impact of a new way to lease reporting in a retail sector

Alzbéta Veverkova, Patrik Svoboda, Hana Bohusova

Abstract: Studies on the use of lease carried out have shown that operational leases are utilized in some sectors more
than in others. In these sectors, operating leases represent an alternative to massive capital investment. One of these
sectors was chosen to assess the expected impacts of IFRS 16. This is the retail sector. Retail is identified as the sector
that should be most affected by the new lease reporting methodology. The most common leased asset is a real estate in
this sector. It is either a store with equipment or a retail space. Majority of lease contracts take the form of a medium-
term operating leases (3-9 years) with options to extend the lease term. Retail space rental is a fundamental part of the
business model of these entities. The ratio of operating and finance leases for selected companies in the retail sector is
96%, the median is 95%. For this reason, significant impacts of the new IFRS 16 can be expected in this sector. An
important factor influencing the magnitude of the changes is not only the percentage of the operating lease to the total
lease, but also the volume of unrecognized assets and leasing liabilities. The financial statements of the twenty largest
retail companies operating within the EU listed in the EU stock-exchange market, reporting according to IFRS were
subject of the research. The study revealed that the amount of assets (rights to use) and unrecognized lease liabilities that
corresponds to the operating lease is closely related to the type of leased asset and its carrying amount. The average
increase in total assets is 37% and debts 55%. The decrease in equity of 4.5 % is due to the fact that the carrying amount
of the leased asset usually decreases faster than the carrying amount of the lease liability.

Key words: IAS17 - IFRS16 - Operating lease - Financial lease - Capitalization

JEL Classification: M41

1 Introduction

According to the World Leasing Yearbook (2018), the top 50 countries in 2016 are reporting growth in new business
volume of 9.40% rising from US$ 1,005.30bn in 2015 to US$ 1,099.77bn in 2016. The leasing industry has experienced
significant growth and has introduced new and innovative ways to finance equipment for companies worldwide. Due to
this fact, lease can be considered as a significant source of financing of long term assets. Also in Europe, leasing can be
considered important external source of financing. The value of newly entered leasing contracts is amounted to EUR
333.7 hillion (Leaseurope, 2017). The significance of leasing for companies is estimated by Deutsche Bundesbank (2011),
it estimates that, in about fifty percent of companies have used leasing of long-term assets as a source of their financing.
This fact shows that especially for companies that can’t afford to finance their investments with internal sources, leasing
is an important alternative to a bank loan. The study thus shows that one fifth of fixed investment is financed by leasing.
According to the current treatments, leases could be treated in two different ways as an operating or financial. Lease is
classified as financial if it transfers substantial risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee. It is
irrelevant whether after the end of the lease there will be a transfer of ownership to the lessee for classification of lease
as a financial lease. Otherwise a lease is recorded as an operating lease. The subject of the financial lease is reported as a
long-term asset and the appropriate liability while the operating lease is not subject of financial position statement presen-
tation. Regardless the form of lease, a lessee obtains an asset or right to use an asset and a liability arise when company
enters into a lease contract. Contrary to that view, according to the current treatments for lease reporting (IAS 17, Topic
840), most of leases are not reported on a lessee’s balance sheet and this is the reason why the current lease accounting
principles do not provide comparable, high-quality and comprehensive information for external and internal users of the
financial statements.
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However, for many lessees, the effect on reported leverage can be substantial. According to EI-Gazzar, Lilien, Pastena
(1986) and Imhoff, Thomas (1988) firms are structuring leases as operating leases to avoid increasing of debt-equity ratio.
It forced analysts to make their own assessments about the assets and liabilities arising from lease agreements. The pos-
sible way of incorporation of off-balance lease for financial decision purposes is simulation of effects of operating lease
capitalization on balance sheet items and related items of income statement. There are many ways for incorporation of
operational lease to financial statements: Standard and Poor’s Present value method (2005), Moody’s Factor method
(2006), Fitch Hybrid model (2006), constructive capitalization method used by Imhoff, Lipe, Wright (1991, 1993, 1997)),
Srnova, Bohusova, Blaskova(2014), Svoboda, Bohusova (2014) etc. The purpose of lease capitalization techniques is to
adjust the financial statements to show what would have resulted if operating leases had been accounted for as financial
lease. There are significant differences among the above-mentioned models. The choice of model could influence finan-
cial decision making of users of financial information.

According to Damodaran (2009) many firms prefer operating leases since they hide the potential liability to the firm
and understate its effective financial leverage. Currently the line between operating and financial leases remains fine and
companies can modify lease agreements to cross the line in the demanded way. Also Duke, Hsieh a Su (2009) stress that
many companies use operating lease to hide their current liabilities and assets and increase operating profit to external
users in the post Enron era. They present the possibility of financial analysis ratios improvement (ROA, D/E, current
ratio) by reporting leases as operating.

Based on above mentioned studies it is apparent that the current treatments for lease reporting provide a space for
structuring of lease in the way to serve demanded data for external users.

The way out of this situation was a development of new treatments for the lease with the term over one year reporting
regardless of the lease classification. Since 2006, the IASB and FASB had been working on a joint project with the aim
to develop a common standard for lease reporting. The final standard IFRS 16 — Leases was released in 2016, effective
date is Januarylst, 2019.

2 Aim and Methods

The aim of the paper is to identify and quantify the impacts of the new IFRS 16 Lease in sector where the operating lease
is the material way of financing economic resources for doing business. Previous studies carried out by EFRAG (2017),
IASB (2016), Moussaly, Wang (2014), De Villiers a Middelberg (2013), Goodacre (2003), Gosman a Hanson (2000))
have shown that some sectors use operating leases more than others. In these sectors, operating leases represent an alter-
native to massive capital investment. One of these industries has been selected to assess the expected impacts of IFRS 16.

The retail sector (NACE G. 47) was chosen for the research. Retail is identified as the sector with the very high level
of operating lease that should be most affected by the new lease reporting methodology (EY (2016), Fitd et al (2013),
Altamuro et al (2012), Durocher (2008), Fiilbier et al.(2008), Mulford & Gram (2007)). The PwC Global Lease Capital-
ization study of 2016, which identified a 98% increase in long-term assets in the retail sector and a 41% increase in
EBITDA (measured as a median), also resulted in the same conclusions.

Selection of researched companies

The selection of companies operating in retail, preparing financial statements according to the IFRS and fulfilling the
following criteria: annual turnover over EUR 2 billion, use of operating leases as an external source of financing, head-
quarters of the company in the territory of a Member State of the European Union (or Iceland, Norway, Liechtenstein and
Switzerland) was carried out. The turnover criterion is based on a 2011 European Commission study that concluded that
more than fifty per cent companies with a turnover of more than € 2 billion EUR use lease as an external source of
financing. The starting point for company identification was the Amadeus (Bureau van Dijk) database, which enables to
identify the industry on the basis of defined NACE code, to meet the predetermined turnover, and identify headquarters
and ownership of the company. Other assumptions were tested on the basis of an individual assessment - IFRS reporting
and the volume of operating leases, the quality of the information in the notes to the financial statements. Failing to meet
any of the set criteria, companies were discarded. The following companies, which met the previously mentioned condi-
tions, were identified Ahold, Auchan, Carrefour, COOP, Dixons, Douglas, Groupe Casino, Groupe Fnac Darty, HM,
Inditex, J Sainsburys plc., KESKO, Kingfischer plc., Mark Spencer, METRO AG, Migros Group, REWE Group, SPAR,
TESCO plc.

The financial statements for the year 2016 of these companies were subject of the research. The share of operating
lease (operating lease/ total lease liability) in the researched sample was from 72.5% to 100%, median was 96,95%.
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Selection of indicators

Quantification of the impacts of the lease reporting according to the new IFRS 16 Leases on the selected indicators is
made by comparison of these indicators for financial statements prepared according to the current IAS 17 — Leases and
financial statement transformed using the IFRS 16 for operating lease reporting. The information concerning the operat-
ing lease presented in the notes are utilized for transformation. The financial statements items were selected as the
significant indicators.

1. Financial Position Statement (Long-term assets, B/S total, Equity, Liability)
2. Income Statement (EBIT, EBITDA, Depreciation, Interest Cost)
Method of transformation

All researched companies use leasing services and currently present data on operating leases in accordance with IAS 17.
IAS 17 (paragraph 35) specifies which information is disclosed for operating leases in the notes to financial statements
(the summary of future minimum lease payments for non-repayable operating leases separately for a period of one year
and a period of up to five and over five years). This information is used for transformation of financial statements prepared
according to IAS 17 to IFRS 16. The methods of Fito, Moya and Orgaz (2011) and Fiilbier, Silva a Pferdehirt (2008) were
used for the interest rate estimation. These methods are based on the median disclosed by researched companies” interest
rates (4.2 %).

Significance testing

It is necessary to determine statistical significance of the results of the research. Using Shapir-Wilk's test, the normality
of previously defined items of financial statements was verified. On the basis of the results obtained, which do not con-
firmed normal variability of the observed variables, the Wilcoxon Pair Test was used.

3 Theoretical background

The main objective of the development of the IFRS 16 was to serve a true and fair view of financial situation and perfor-
mance of companies for users of financial statements, and to increase the comparability of financial statements of com-
panies and to provide more transparency about financial liabilities and the use of external capital by the company. The
recognition of a leased asset and the lease liability of all types of leases on financial statement using the same rules can
be considered a means of achieving these objectives.

IFRS 16 does not distinguish between reporting of financial and operating leases on the side of lessee any more. All
types of leases with a lease term longer than twelve months are required to be reported on the lessee's financial statements,
similar to the financial lease under IAS 17. The lease is capitalized on lessee’s financial statements. At the same time,
the different nature of these two transactions should be evident. According to the IASB (2016), if the lease is economically
close to the loan for the purchase of the asset, it is a situation where the lease term corresponds approximately to the life
of the leased asset and the value of the reported asset and the liability on the financial statements should be very similar.
In an opposite situation where the lease term will be significantly shorter than the economic life of the asset, the value of
this asset is significantly higher than the value of the lease liability. IFRS 16 imposes to recognize this asset in a value
corresponding to the right to use of this asset. The lessee is reporting an assets right-to-use during the lease term and on
the other hand the lessee is reporting a liability representing obligation to pay the lease payments over the lease term on
its balance sheet. This liability is recognized at the discounted value of the lease payments using the implicit or incremen-
tal interest rate at the inception of the lease contract. This obligation is subsequently gradually amortized using an effective
interest rate. The asset is amortized on a rational and systematic basis. The lessee is required to report interest and amor-
tization cost separately. The costs of all types of leasing are divided into both, in the operating income and in the financial
income. The part of the leasing costs corresponding to the depreciation cost is a part of operating costs in the case of
operating leases. The remaining portion of interest costs increases the company's total financial costs. These changes will
be reflected in other items in the income statement.

4 Results

Impact on Balance Sheet Items

An important factor influencing the volume of the changes is not only the percentage of operating leases to total lease,
but also the volume of non-recognized lease liabilities to the total liabilities of the company. The information concerning
the volume of unrecognized lease liabilities (liabilities of operating lease over the lease term is recognized according to
the IAS 17). The volume of non-recognized as a percentage of recognized lease liabilities is a subject of following table
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1. The volume is in the range from 9.25 % to 445.53 %. The median is 47.08 %. It means that all recognized lease
liabilities would increase 1.47 times due to incorporation of operating lease liability to financial statements off retailing
companies. The B/S total would increase in the range from 0.65 % to 133.98 %. The median is 37.88 %. The total liabil-
ities would increase in the range from 1. 2 % to 148.38 %, with the median 54.99 %. Contrary to the increase of the
previous items, the equity would decrease, due to a faster decrease in value of the long-term lease assets in comparison
to the decrease of the lease liability, The lease instalment is split into interests and an amortization of the lease liability.
The decrease in equity is significantly lower in comparison to increase of long-term assets.

The results of similar studies focusing on the impacts of a lease capitalization and of IFRS 16 in a retail sector differ.
According to the study carried out by Mulford and Gram (2007) which capitalized operating leases concluded that the
total assets increased by 14.6% and total liabilities increased by 24.4%. The PwC study (2016) concerned only the increase
of the debt; it concluded the increase by 98%. The study did not mentioned the change in assets. The IASB (2016) con-
ducted an extensive study on the impact of IFRS 16 in several sectors of the economy. In the case of retail, there were
researched 204 companies. After capitalization of long-term operating leases, these companies showed an increase in debt
by 214%. Also the Turkish study conducted by Sari, Altintas, Tas (2016) researched seven retail companies listed on
Turkish stock Exchange, they concerned financial statements for the period 2010-2014. The results of 2010 and 2011 are
quite surprising as there has been a decline in both total assets and liabilities. However, the authors do not explain this
fact in any way. In the other years there was an average increase of 4.8%, 23.7 and 30.9% for assets and 13.7%, 37.3%
and 45.1% respectively. The obtained results show only a slight decrease in the value of equity - 4.48%, with no significant
differences between individual companies. Only Sari, Altintas, and Tas (2016) have studied in their study the impact of
IFRS 16 on equity, similar to our study. The authors achieved an average decrease of 12.5%.

Table 1 Changes on B/S

Non-recognized lease li- Change in Total Change in total
Company ability Assets Liabilities Change in Equity

1 10,18% 8,53% 11,08% -2,40%
2 38,28% 36,06% 43,73% -10,29%
8 47,06% 44,68% 62,12% -7,37%
4 96,28% 75,66% 109,87% -8,55%
5 70,87% 42,38% 55,92% -4,60%
6 62,29% 44,30% 71,48% -3,82%
7 13,18% 11,08% 15,20% -2,24%
8 9,29% 6,40% 10,20% -0,77%
9 124,84% 79,62% 148,38% -4,35%
10 43,87% 39,70% 51,98% -2,21%
11 47,10% 34,13% 54,06% -5,12%
12 16,19% 0,65% 1,20% -0,06%
13 124,06% 65,21% 141,57% -6,73%
14 22,41% 16,15% 25,83% -2,68%
15 117,72% 58,11% 138,06% -2,78%
16 455,53% 133,98% 419,70% -10,10%
17 24,61% 21,68% 26,89% -4,81%
18 102,33% 105,63% 117,45% -6,70%
19 79,28% 29,70% 93,98% -2,70%
20 29,25% 22,27% 2,03% -4,67%
Median 47,08% 37,88% 54,99% -4,48%

Source: Own calculation using financial statements
Impact on Comprehensive Income Items

IFRS 16 requires recognition and reporting of assets connected with the lease contracts, regardless of the form of the lease
(financial, operating). In the case of costs, there is a change in the cost structure. Operating lease costs were reported as
service cost according to the IAS 17 — Leases. Newly, according to the IFRS 16, the costs associated with operating leases
include depreciation of the asset associated with the lease in the form of the right of use and interest costs related to the
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value of the outstanding lease liability. The increase of total interest costs (financial costs) is obvious and the increase of
depreciation is obvious as well. The following table 2 describes changes in examined items of costs.

The increase in depreciation costs is between 0.07% and 113.47% for the researched sample, the median is 27.43%.
The rise in interest costs is in the range of 0.23% to 94.96%, median is 16.36%. The difference between the increase in
depreciation costs and interest costs is associated with a decreasing lease liability during the lease, and a straight-line
depreciation of the leasing assets during the lease term. Compared to the conclusion of the Baastad, Aslaksen study
(2017), which shows the expected increase in depreciation costs between 80% and 89%, conclusions of our research
estimate a lower impact.

However, Baastad, Aslaksen (2017) did not investigate the change in interest costs separately from other financial
costs. The results of this study concluded the higher increase in financial costs (89%) compared to the conclusions of
this work + 16.36%. Significantly higher interest costs are mainly due to the assumption of significantly higher increase
in liabilities.

As a result of the application of IFRS 16, there is a year-on-year decrease in leasing costs over the lease terms as
compared to previous the straight-line lease costs of operating leases. In the context of the new methodology for oper-
ating leases reporting, there is an increase in EBIT, as EBIT is affected only by depreciation costs, interest costs are a
part of finance costs. The impact on the researched sample is quantified in Table 2. In the case of EBITDA, the increase
is higher as all costs associated with the operating lease are excluded from the EBITDA. Median increase is 14.57%.

Compared to the results of similar studies, only Baastad, Aslaksen (2017) focused their research on the change in
EBIT. EBIT increased by 15%. The increase is higher than those obtained in this study + 2.5%. As concerns the change
in EBITDA after the IFRS 16 application, the result is + 14.57% i tis lower than conclusions of other studies. Mulford
and Gram (2007) concluded increase by 22.5%. Study of Singh (2012) researched 234 restaurants and retail companies
during the period from 2006 to 2008. It estimates increase by 61.3%. Similarly, higher increase 43% also estimates the
IASB study (2016) and PwC (2016) 41 %.

Table 2 Changes in Comprehensive Income Statement

Change in Amortization Change in interest

Company and Depreciation Costs Costs Changes in EBIT Changes in EBITDA

1 13,15% 8,74% 2,15% 6,63%
2 41,83% 10,65% 3,82% 20,92%
3 85,41% 16,99% 2,26% 26,61%
4 41,58% 74,39% 13,29% 31,34%
5 79,01% 74,31% 1,57% 8,12%
6 19,35% 12,82% 2,45% 10,04%
7 26,89% 39,15% 2,96% 15,97%
8 8,00% 9,47% 1,64% 4,00%
9 44,92% 15,72% 2,49% 18,80%
10 25,04% 10,29% 3,44% 16,10%
11 27,96% 8,60% 1,54% 12,66%
12 0,07% 0,23% 0,09% 0,08%
13 106,20% 94,96% 7,14% 39,46%
14 18,07% 9,99% 2,30% 11,90%
15 3,06% 84,90% 2,80% 3,11%
16 113,47% 71,04% 2,51% 20,21%
17 14,59% 15,72% 10,03% 13,18%
18 61,69% 37,48% 9,14% 27,28%
19 23,89% 87,58% 1,49% 6,58%
20 37,58% 30,08% 7,03% 20,24%
Median 27,43% 16,36% 2,50% 14,57%

Source: Own calculation using financial statements

Using the Normality Test (Shapir-Wilk test) it was shown that all the variables monitored do not have a normal
distribution, so it is necessary to use a non-parametric test (Wilcoxon test) to verify the impact on individual indicators.
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IFRS 16 has a significant impact on total assets, total liabilities, depreciation and interest expense. The results in details
are subject of the table 3

Table 3 Statistical significance of IFRS 16 impacts

Zero hypothesis p-value
X Assets 2,34**
Y Liabilities 3,57***
X Equity -0,48

EBIT 0,38
EBITDA 1,15
Depreciation 2,74***
Interest cost 2,11**

Source: Authors calculations according to financial statements (*** p-value< 0,01; ** p-value< 0,05; *p-value<0,1)

5 Conclusions

The retail sector is characterized by the high volume of unrecognized lease liabilities due to the high book value of the
assets leased for this sector (retail space, plant and equipment). The obligation to disclose the subject of the lease and the
lease liability in the lessee's balance sheet was reflected in a one-third increase in the balance sheet total and in almost
half the total liabilities. From the newly recognized subject of the lease and the lease liability, the depreciation and interest
costs increase to the previously reported depreciation and financial costs. For these reasons, it is clear that the increase in
these items must be higher for sectors (companies) showing a greater change in assets and liabilities. In the case of retail
companies, there was an increase of about twenty percent. Due to the new structure of the profit, there was not only an
increase in EBIT but also a significant increase in EBITDA.
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Professional Traits of Experts as the Basic Determinants of Quality
of Business Valuation Reports: Preliminary Research Results

Martin Cerveny

Abstract: The quality of business valuation reports in the Czech Republic has been criticized by numerous scholars and
professionals. Some believe that the discrepancies in quality are caused primarily by differences in skillfulness of the
experts. The goal of this paper is to identify and describe the relationship between selected professional traits of the
experts and the quality of their valuation reports. Namely, this paper will investigate whether expert institutions generally
produce more quality reports than individuals, and whether there is a relationship between the years of practice of the
expert, the length of the report, and its respective quality.

The empirical study is based on a sample of 122 business valuation reports published during the year 2017 and uses
a set of predetermined binary criteria to assess the valuations. Based on the results, we cannot confirm that institutions
produce more quality valuations than individuals, or vice versa. Surprisingly enough, there seems to be a negative rela-
tionship between the number of years experts are active and the score of the work they produce. Finally, longer and more
elaborated reports tend to imply a better quality overall.

Key words: Business Valuation - Expert Witness - Valuation Assessment - Quality of Valuation

JEL Classification: G30

1 Introduction

The quality of business valuation reports in the Czech Republic has been criticized by some scholars and professionals
(e.g. Matik & Matikova, 2011). The aim of our ongoing project is to investigate the quality of business valuation reports
thoroughly and possibly suggest solutions specific to our domestic conditions.

The initial struggle, however, was caused by the realization that generally accepted evaluation criteria for valuation
reports are factually non-existent in both domestic and global literature. In addition, many agree that each valuation report
is a highly individualized material and so must be the process of assessment (Rydlova, 2015). Still, we are convinced that
the valuation principles are sufficiently embodied in the International Valuation Standards (or similar standards) as well
as in the reputable literature dealing with business valuation (Damodaran, 2012; Maiik, 2018). Thus, we believe that the
assessment of valuation reports is not only possible, but also necessary. As we will show, the byproduct of our efforts is
a set of generally applicable evaluation criteria for assessing business valuation reports.

Previous studies dealing with the quality of valuation reports have used diverse methodologies and various samples.
All of the authors, however, agree that the quality of valuation reports is generally rather poor (Dolezalova, 2011; Havli-
kova, 2017). Some studies even suggested that certain types of experts might consistently produce reports of better quality
(Svecova, 2017). The latter implication was supported with anecdotal evidence by the author, but we still found the idea
inspiring. Could it be that the professional traits of the experts such as their legal form or their track of record determine
the quality of the work they produce? If so, what implications can we derive if we want to strive for the best quality
available? Thus, the goal of this paper is to identify and describe the relationship between selected professional traits of
the experts and the quality of their valuation reports. In order to fulfill the goal, we are going to investigate three research
questions:

1.  Who produces more quality business valuation reports - individual or institutional experts?
2. s there a relationship between the years of practice of the experts and the quality of their reports?

3. Are longer valuation reports better?

Ing. Martin Cerveny,VMBA, University of Economics, Prague, Faculty of Finance and Accounting, Department of Corporate Finance, W. Churchill
Sq 1938/4, Prague 3 — Zizkov, Czech Republic, e-mail: martin.cerveny@vse.cz
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2 Methods

The study is based on a sample of publicly disclosed business valuation reports from the Czech Commercial Register that
were published during the year 2017. For our purpose, we have created a script that ensured we would obtain a complete
set of valuation reports related to the respective period. Out of the 1724 documents in total, we excluded all samples that
were dealing with property valuation, valuation of intangibles, and we also removed all duplicities. This left us with 254
business valuation reports for further investigation. The presented preliminary results are based on those 122 reports we
have managed to assess to this date.

All the reports were assessed with the use of a complete list of criteria, which was published in our previous article
(see Cerveny, 2018 for further details). These criteria are based on widely accepted valuation principles and consist of 44
binary (yes/no) questions divided into sections that follow the standard structure of a business valuation report. The use
of binary questions allowed for a quantitative assessment based on a single score, which would reflect the overall quality
of the report. Solely for the purpose of our study, we have calculated the final score as an average score for all sections.
The reasoning behind our decision is that we view each section of the valuation report equally important.

For each report, we also observed several descriptive characteristics related to the professional qualification or the
character of the expert: a) her legal form, b) the number of years active (for individuals only), and c¢) the length of the
report. We did omitted the years active in the case of institutions, because this tells very little about the valuation analysts
actually responsible for the report. The length of the report was included in this research, because the expert herself is
responsible for the justification of all the steps and we consider the writing style to be one of the professional traits.

Once we obtained all the data necessary, we ran fundamental statistical tests such as the equality tests as well as
correlation and OLS regression analyses suitable for the respective research questions. Our findings shall be presented in
the subsequent section.

3 Research results
3.1 Individuals vs. Institutions

The sample of 122 valuation reports consisted of 57 samples by individuals and 65 samples by institutions. The distri-
bution of the former sample did have the characteristics of the normal distribution, but this could not be confirmed for the
latter sample (both Lillefors and Cramer-von Mises test statistically significant on a 95 % confidence level), even though
this might only be due to a relatively smaller sample size. Arguably, the distribution of scores for larger samples would
converge to the normal distribution. Nevertheless, in addition to the standard parametric t-test, we ran selected non-para-
metric tests as well.

Figure 1 Distributions of Scores for Individuals (FO) and Institutions (PO)

Series: FO Series: PO
7 — Sample 1 65 74 — Sample 1 65
Observations 57 Observations 65
6 — — 6 —
Mean 0.557193 Mean 0.594462
54 Median 0.570000 5 Median 0.580000
Maximum 0.920000 Maximum 0.870000
44 - Minimum 0.200000 4 Minimum 0.210000
Std. Dev. 0.188109 Std. Dev. 0.156175
34 — Skewness -0.245925 3 Skewness -0.298660
Kurtosis 2.164787 Kurtosis 2.216927
2 24
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Source: Own processing

The results of the tests are presented in the table below:

Table 1 Parametric and Non-parametric Tests of Equality

Method df Value Probability
t-test 120 -1.195333 0.2343
Mann-Whitney - 1.173588 0.2406
Kruskal-Wallis 1 1.382834 0.2396

Source: Own processing

Based on all the results, we could not reject the hypothesis the means/medians of the groups are equal. Thus, we found
little statistical evidence that one of the groups systematically produces more quality reports.
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3.2 Do Years of Active Practice Matter?

As previously mentioned, the following analysis was performed on the sample of 57 reports by individuals only, as the
active years have limited explanatory power regarding the persons actually responsible. The Pearson coefficient between
the active years and the respective scores showed a statistically significant value of -0.33. Similar implications were
acquired with a linear regression analysis where the number of years active served as an explanatory variable. The coeffi-
cient for the years active was -0.008283, which confirms the negative impact on the score of the respective report.

Quite interestingly, the R-squared of the model is rather low at 0.11, which implies that additional factors might have
a significant impact on the quality of the report. This, however, does not change anything about the fact that both regres-
sion coefficients were statistically significant in this model.

Table 2 Years of Active Practice — Linear Regression Results

Variable Coefficient Std. Error t-Statistic Probability
c 0.687835 0.055248 12.44990 0.0000
Years Active -0.008283 0.003164 -2.617907 0.0114
Regression parameters
R-squared 0.110802 | Mean dependent var. 0.557193
Adjusted R-squared 0.094634 | S.D. dependent var. 0.188109
S.E. of regression 0.178987 | Akaike info criterion -0.568553
Sum squared resid 1.761993 | Schwarz criterion -0.496867
Log likelihood 18.20377 | Hannan-Quinn criterion -0.540695
F-statistic 6.853436 | Durbin-Watson stat. 1.698278
Probability 0.011405

Source: Own processing
3.3 Does Length Imply Quality?

Similar tests were performed using the length of the report as an explanatory variable, this time on the whole sample of
122 valuation reports. The Pearson coefficient of 0.41 was, again, statistically significant and implied a positive relation-
ship between the number of pages and the quality of the report. The OLS regression results confirmed this, as the coeffi-
cient for length was 0.0019 for every single page, again, statistically significant. The R-squared at 0.16 implies rather low
explanatory power of the model, which once again implies there might be other significant factors.

Table 3 Length of the Report — Linear Regression Results

Variable Coefficient Std. Error t-Statistic Probability
c 0.439247 0.031748 13.83535 0.0000
Length 0.001938 0.000399 4.861763 0.000
Regression parameters
R-squared 0.164559 | Mean dependent var. 0.577049
Adjusted R-squared 0.157597 | S.D. dependent var. 0.172122
S.E. of regression 0.157978 | Akaike info criterion -0.836488
Sum squared resid 2.994836 | Schwarz criterion -0.790500
Log likelihood 53.02452 | Hannan-Quinn criterion -0.817797
F-statistic 23.63674 | Durbin-Watson stat. 1.575711
Probability 0.000004

Source: Own processing

4 Conclusions

Based on the results, we could not confirm the hypothesis that there is a difference in quality between the business valu-
ation reports produced by individuals and institutions. This is contrary to the popular belief that the institutions have the
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advantage of sharing knowledge and skills, which should, at least in theory, lead to more quality reports overall. Based
on our findings, it seems that the legal form should be irrelevant when one seeks a quality valuation.

More surprisingly, there seems to be a negative correlation between the years of active practice and quality of the
reports. This finding, in fact, undermines the current conception of requirements for the experts enforced by the regulatory
authorities since the experts are obliged to prove a certain experience before they can even be appointed. Our explanation
of this finding is that the experts with a lesser amount of years of active practice are generally younger, which means that
they have been impacted by the contemporary research and development in the field of valuation during their studies, or
their training.

Finally, we have shown that longer and more elaborated reports seem to have better quality overall. With several
caveats, of course. First, the business valuation reports clearly need to have a certain minimum length to ensure all the
required analyses are performed in a proper depth. Still, a long report serves no good should it consist of mostly irrelevant
and redundant information. Second, there are other reasons why valuation reports might be shorter. An example could be
a report where the expert was unable to fulfill the goal due to missing data, but he justified his procedures properly. This
should still be rated as a quality work taking all the circumstances into consideration.

Once we have stated the implications, we should not fail to discuss the limitations of this research. Most importantly,
one can never quantify every aspect of the valuation report. The scores presented in this research only assess whether the
valuation report includes all the steps, procedures, and methods required by the valuation standards and the generally
accepted valuation principles. Specifically, they reflect whether the expert performed all the standard analyses and
described them in the report properly, or whether he or she properly justified why certain steps were omitted. It does not
imply anything about the correctness of the results or the values of businesses determined by the experts. In addition, the
outputs of the regression models presented in this study suggest there might be additional at least equally important
determinants of valuation reports’ quality.

Moreover, published valuation reports are not a complete representation of the population. VValuation reports are often
assembled for other purposes such as court processes or investment decisions. These reports are, however, not available
to the general public as they are strictly confidential.

And finally, we realize that averaging the scores is only one way to assess these reports. In our interpretation, we only
assume that every section of the report is equally important. Also, using one score that describes the overall quality of the
report is a practical approach to the quantitative research, yet it causes that one loses the whole story behind the report.

Still, we believe that our analyses bear important implications as they challenge paradigms that may no longer apply.
We hope that more attention will be paid to the professional and personal traits of the experts, because sometimes, the
product might not be as good as initially expected.
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Hybrid Mismatches, CFC Rules and Interest Deduction Rules as
stated in the OECD and EU standards and their Reflection in the Czech
and Slovak Law — a Comparative Study

Kristyna Bélusova

Abstract: The aim of this paper is to compare the way the rules for Hybrid mismatches, CFCs and the Interest Deduction
rules are/will be reflected in the Slovak law and the way the rules should be reflected in the Czech law. Following aim is
to compare these rules as stated in the OECD Action Plan on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting, specifically Actions 2, 3
and 4, and in ATAD Directive. The paper is based on a qualitative research, specifically on a multiple case study. The
subject of the research was the above-mentioned OECD and EU standards, texts of legal regulations, document of the
Chamber and technical texts dealing with implementation these standards in the national legislations.

On the basis of research made, one can conclude that the BEPS and the ATAD Directive lay down very similar rules
in relation to the categories in question. According to the document of the Chamber the Czech Republic intends to define
CFC revenues exhaustively, while the Slovak Republic defines them in a general manner. None of these States will impose
any exemptions in relation to the CFC. Compared to the Czech Republic, the Slovak Republic has already established
and introduced rules on Hybrid mismatches. As for the interest deduction rules, the Czech Republic intends to adopt the
upper limit for the deductibility of interest and the de minimis threshold exemption with a lower threshold than it is
stipulated in the ATAD Directive. The Slovak Republic, however, will take advantage of the Article 11 and retains the
current rules on the limitation of the deduction of interest, the so-called low capitalization rules.

Key words: ATAD Directive - BEPS - CFC rules - Interest Deduction - Hybrid Mismatches

JEL Classification: H25 - H26 - H34

1 Introduction

“The current international tax framework incentivises the location of expenses in higher-tax jurisdictions and income in
low- or no-tax jurisdictions as it can result in significant tax minimisation” (Kayis-Kumar, 2016). Tax minimization is
precisely the outcome of tax planning which can be defined as the company' activities carried out in order to minimize
the tax burden through any available contributions, deductions or exemptions (Januleviciene, Rackeviciene, 2016). “Tax
planning opportunities are not same for all taxpayers” i. e. especially for small and medium-sized enterprises (Gazzola
et al., 2018) and moreover, tax planning leads to inefficiency of the economy (Knuutinen, 2013). The notion of tax plan-
ning is undoubtedly associated with the notion of aggressive tax planning. According to Carrerro and Seara (2016), ag-
gressive tax planning is deemed to mean a type of tax planning which can be defined as “the behaviour adopted by
multinationals to explore the existing opportunities to decrease the tax burden granted by globalization and the intera-
ction of tax rules in different jurisdictions” (Dourado, 2015). Precisely payments for royalties and interest and dividend
flows which can be classified as passive income (Sojka, 2017) are often used by multinational enterprises as a tool of
aggressive tax planning.

Aggressive tax planning generates substantial losses for national economies in terms of revenue to the state budget
(according to OECD, this amounts to $100 - $240 billion per year (OECD, 2015a in Avi-Yonah, 2017))), which is why
in 2008, OECD started to take steps to restrict it (Juruss, Kuma, 2016). As a result of these measures or steps was the
creation of OECD BEPS Action Plan (Base Erosion and Profit Shifting) (Juruss, Kuma, 2016, OECD, 2015a), that in-
cludes 15 actions with the aim to ensure “that profits are taxed where economic activities generating the profits areper-
fomed and where value is created” (OECD, 2015a) (hereinafter referred to as BEPS). BEPS stipulated “three tiers of
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norms in the form of "minimum standards,"” "recommendations,” and "best practices" to be operationalized in both OECD
and non-OECD member states via multiple soft and hard law mechanisms” (Christians, 2016).

Following to the above, the Council of the European Union adopted the Council Directive (EU) 2016/1164 of 12 July
2016 laying down rules against tax avoidance practice that directly affect the functioning of the internal market (here-
inafter referred to as ATAD Directive (Eur-lex, 2018a), with the aim to through adopting methods, against aggressive
tax planning, which are in accordance with the conclusions stemming from BEPS, i.e., to increase the effective taxation
of the internal market. The implementation of this directive into individual legal regulations of EU member states will
result in the creation of a minimum level of protection of tax systems in the area of corporate income tax. (Eur-lex, 2018a
in Ginevra, 2017). As regards action 2 Hybrid mismatches, this involves Council Directive (EU) 2017/952 of 29 May
2017 amending Directive (EU) 2016/1164 as regards hybrid mismatches with third countries (hereinafter referred as
ATAD 2 Directive) (Eur-lex, 2018b).

This contribution targets rules for payments concerning passive income in BEPS, namely action 2 — Hybrids, 3 —
Controlled foreign company Rules and 4 — Interest deduction, and the relevant articles ATAD and ATAD 2 Directive (4
— Interest limitation Rule, 6 a 7 — Controlled Foreign Company Rules (hereinafter referred to as CFC rules) a 9 — Hybrid
mismatches).

2 Methods

The aim of this paper is to describe and compare rules for hybrid mismatches, CFC and Interest Limitation Rule in the
form they are/will be reflected in legal regulations of the Slovak Republic, and in the form they are to be provided for in
the legislation of the Czech Republic. Following aim is to compare such rules, or recommendations, stipulated in BEPS
and ATAD Directives.

The contribution is based on qualitative research. Given the scope of the contribution, the purpose of the study is to
describe and compare the relevant rules on at a general level using four criteria — Basic definition of the notion, entities
concerned, relevant rule and exceptions. Hybrid Mismatches Action 2 focuses solely on financial instruments in connec-
tion with the passive income category.

The paper is based on content analysis of the text. Selected texts published by OECD (OECD, 2015b, 2015c, 2015d),
ATAD and ATAD 2 Directives (Eur-lex, 2018a, 2018b), as well as the document for public consultation regarding the
implementation of EU directive on tax avoidance in the Czech law, published by the Ministry of Finance (MFCR, 2017),
Parliamentary Doc. 206, approved in the first reading in the legislative process (PSP, 2018), Act No. 595/2003 Coll., on
Income Tax, in force and effect as of January 1, 2019, Information on Amendment to Act No. 595/2003 Coll., on Income
Tax, as amended, in the area of cross-border tax relations (MFSR, 2017a), and Statement of Basis and Purpose of the
Ministry of Finance of the Slovak Republic, approved by the government on August 16, 2017 (MFSR, 2017b) were object
of the research.

The structure of the paper is as follows. The following part of the contribution defines rules which will most likely be
implemented in the legal regulations of the Czech and Slovak Republics. The final summary is preceded by a comparison
of individual standards with rules defined by domestic legal regulations.

3 Research Results — Reflection BEPS a ATAD Directive standards in the Czech and Slovak law

CFC Rules and Interest limitation Rule have to be implemented in the national legal regulations by December 31, 2018,
effective on the date of January 1, 2019 (Eur-lex, 2018a). Rules concerning hybrid mismatches have to be reflected in the
relevant legal regulations by December 31, 2019, effective on the date of January 1, 2020. (Eur-lex, 2018b). From the
perspective of Czech legal regulations, the relevant rules will be reflected in Act No. 586/1992 Coll., on Income Tax
(hereinafter referred to as ZDP-CZE). In the process of implementation of these rules, the Ministry of Finance created a
document for discussion, which served as a basis for public consultation (for more detail, see MFCR, 2017). The draft
amendment to the income tax act containing the relevant rules is a part of the tax package for 2019 (Parliamentary Doc.
206/0 part 1/12, which amends certain tax laws - EU), with the relevant legislative process still pending (PSP, 2018). As
regards Slovak legal regulations, the relevant rules are/will be implemented in the Act No. 595/2003 Coll., on Income
Tax (hereinafter referred to as ZDP-SR). Rules concerning hybrid mismatches were reflected in this law as of January 1,
2018. As regards CFC Rules, they will enter into force as of January 1, 2019. According to the statement of basis and
purpose of the Ministry of Finance of the Slovak Republic, approved by the government on August 16, 2017 (for more
detail, see MFSR 2017b), the current low capitalization rule will be left in place in connection with rules for limitation
of interest deductibility. The Slovak Republic thus applies Article 11 which makes it possible to leave national rules
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limiting interest deductibility in national legal regulations (MFSR, 2017b), provided they are as effective as those in BEPS
action 4.

3.1 Hybrid Mismatches

Hybrid mismatches or rules arising from different legal classification will be defined in Section 23h of the ZDP-CZE.
These rules are to become valid as of January 1, 2020. According to these rules, where a multiple reduction of the tax
base of associated entities occurs in expenses due to different legal classification, the results of operations of the associated
entity - recipient - will be increased by such amount. Where a reduction of the tax base of one associated entity occurs in
the payment between associates, and such payment is not included in the tax base of the associated entity to whom it
arises, such payment shall be included, to the adequate extent, in the tax base of the payee. Associated entities are deemed
to be entities in which an entity holds at least a 50% share in the registered capital, profit or voting rights. (PSP, 2018)

These rules were added in Section 21 (2)(0) in relation to ZDP-SR as follows: expenses or costs of dependent persons
(i.e., an economically connected entity in which another entity holds a direct or indirect share in voting rights, registered
capital or profit of at least 25%) do not constitute a tax expense, i.e., will be included in the tax base to the extent such
dependant persons apply such tax cost more than once (deduction on the part of the payer and on the part of the payee).
Where the relevant payment is deducted from the tax base on the part of the payer and classified as income not included
in the tax base on the part of the payee, such income does not constitute taxable income, i.e., will be included in the tax
base of the relevant payee. (ZDP-SR) Table 1 below provides a comparison of rules in terms of the relevant standards
and legal regulations under examination.

Table 1 Comparison of rules for Hybrid mismatches

Crite- BEPS ATAD Directive ZDP-CZE ZDP-SR
rium
) Cross-border payments lead- _ I_Expenses/ Pa_yments lead- Expenses leading, due to
Basic ing, due to different legal Payments leading, due to ing, due to different legal different leqal reaulations
definition | regulations, to double non- | different legal classification, | classification, to multiple T legal reg ‘
. . : . ; - to multiple deduction or de-
of the no- |taxation, double deduction or | to deduction without inclu- | reduction of tax base or de- - . S
- . - - . S duction/non-inclusion in the
tion long-term deferral of the sion or double deduction | duction/non-inclusion in the tax base
payment tax base
Eggrt]l_es Related person (minimum | Associated enterprise (mi- | Associated enterprise (mi- Dependent persons (mi-
cerned share of 25 %) nimum share of 50 %) nimum share of 50 %) nimum share of 25 %)
) Deny payer/payee Qeductlon Deny payer/payee Qeductlon Deny payee deduction Deny payee deduction
Basic | Deny payer deduction / Inc- | Deny payer deduction / Inc- . - . -
. - . . Include as ordinary income | Include as ordinary income
Rule lude as ordinary income for | lude as ordinary income for
for the payee for the payee
the payee the payee
Yes, defined exhaustively in
relation to financial institu-
tion, and further, payments
representing return on as-
Excenti- Yes, to payments of invest- | signed financial tool or pay-
P ment means which are sub- ment where the resultant No No
ons - - - . -
ject to lege speciales mismatch arises from differ-
ences in payment allocation
or non-recognition of pay-
ment/permanent establish-
ment

Source: Own elaboration with using OECD (2015b), Eur-lex (2018b), PSP (2018), ZDP-SR.
3.2 CFC Rules

According to Parliamentary doc. 206, if approved without modifications, the rules for CFC would be defined in Section
38fa of the ZDP-CZE, nevertheless, the draft amendment to this act is yet to be fully discussed and approved. The defi-
nition of CFC ought to remain as defined by ATAD Directive. Income to which such rules will apply, and which will thus
be included in the controlling company's tax base, ought to be defined exhaustively, i.e., pursuant to Article 7 (2)(a) of
the ATAD Directive, if the entity in question does not pursue significant economic activity using staff, equipment, prop-
erty and premises. No exemptions from these rules set forth by the directive will be implemented into the ZDP-CZE.
Income included in the tax base will be calculated in accordance with regulations on corporate income tax pro rata to the
tax payer's participation in the relevant entity. In the event of a loss, the tax base of the controlling company cannot be
reduced by such loss, however, in the following three taxation periods, the loss may be applied only up to the positive
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balance of the controlled company's results of operations, by which the tax base of the controlling company is to be
increased. If CFC income leads to double taxation, CFC tax will be deducted by way of set-off in accordance with Czech
tax law. (PSP, 2018).

CFC Rules will be stipulated in the ZDP-SR in Section 17h (the draft amendment has already passed through all the
legislative processes and was promulgated in the collection of laws). The definition of CFC is identical with the definition
set out in the ATAD Directive. Nevertheless, income to which such rules apply is generally defined as income which is
not real and was effected to obtain a tax benefit (i.e., pursuant to Article 7 (2)(b) of the ATAD Directive). Such income
is included in the tax base of the parent company - resident of the Slovak Republic - to the extent such income is attribut-
able to property and risks related to the discharge of important functions by the payer; the amount of such income is
calculated on an arm's length basis. No exemptions will be reflected in this legal regulation in relation to CFC. If the
inclusion of CFC income in the parent company's tax base leads to double taxation, such double taxation will be prevented
by way of set-off of the tax paid. (MFSR, 2017a, ZDP-SR) Table 2 contains a comparison of individual rules set forth in
the standards under observation, and their comparison to domestic legal regulations.

Table 2 CFC rules comparison

Criterium BEPS ATAD Directive ZDP-CZE ZDP-SR

Exhaustively defined un-
divided income (e.g., interest
on financial assets, royalties,
Und_ivided dividends, inter- dividends, etc.), if the entity
Relevant | est, insurance proceeds, etc.
income | (income to which CFC does
not apply is defined)

Exhaustive list of individual C_Bener_ally defined as ‘.”_‘d_"
vided income from artificial

does nqt pursue significant | types of income pursuant to transactions pursuant to

economic activity, or gener- ATAD Directive ATAD Directive

ally defined as undivided in-

come from artificial transac-
tions

Company or permanent es-
tablishment in which the
controlling company holds
at least 50%, if located ina | Same as the definition in Same as the definition in

jurisdiction where the tax ATAD ATAD
rate is lower than 50% of
the rate applicable in the
domestic jurisdiction
Inclusion of CFC income | Inclusion of CFC income in
Basic Rule | into the parent company's the parent company's tax

Company or permanent es-
tablishment in which the
controlling company holds
at least 50%, if located in a
jurisdiction with a signifi-
cantly lower tax rate than in
the domestic jurisdiction

Entities
concerned

Same as the definition in Same as the definition in

ATAD ATAD
tax base base
Income defined exhaust-
ively: de minimis thresh-
old/expanded to include
. De minimis threshold /iden- | EEA states in case of sig-
Exception No No

tical effective tax rate nificant economic activity.
Income defined on a gen-
eral basis: de minimis
threshold
Source: Own elaboration with using OECD (2015c), Eur-lex (2018a), PSP (2018), ZDP-SR.

3.3 Interest Limitation Rule

In the event of limitation of deductibility of excessive borrowing expenses, the basic rule will be implemented through
Section 23e and Section 23f, which stipulates that to the extent of positive difference between excessive borrowing ex-
penses and the limits for their deductibility, i.e., the higher of two amounts (30% EBITDA or CZK 80 million (de minimis
threshold), interest will not be deductible. The definition of excessive borrowing expenses is identical with the definition
set forth in the directive. As regards payers whose tax base will be increased by excessive borrowing expenses in the
ordinary taxation period according to this rule, they will be able to carry such excessive borrowing expenses forward, in
order to apply them in the following taxation periods, always up to the amount of the positive difference between exces-
sive borrowing expenses and their deductibility limit. Exemptions from the regime governing deductibility of excessive
borrowing expenses are provided for certain types of financial institutions defined exhaustively, as well as entities without
an associated entity defined for the purposes of CFC (25% interest in the capital, voting rights or profit of the entity), a
permanent establishment or the duty to compile consolidated financial statements (entities outside the group). (PSP, 2018)
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According to the statement of basis and purpose of the Ministry of Finance of the Slovak Republic, approved by the
government on August 16, 2017 (MFSR 2017b), the rule pertaining to the limitation of deductibility of excessive bor-
rowing expenses will not be transposed in the ZDP-SR at present. According to the currently applicable low capitalization
rules, the dependent person thus cannot deduct from its tax base more than 25% of interest paid on loans and credits,
including related costs, from the results of operations before tax, which include depreciation, including interest costs
(ZDP-SR). Table 3 compares the standards and their reflection in national legislation.

Table 3 Comparison of rules for the limitation of deductibility of interest

Criterium BEPS ATAD Directive ZDP-CZE ZDP-SR*
Basic defi- | Interest on debt in all forms, | Interest on debt in all forms, .
o, . - Same as the definition in Interest on loans and cred-
nition of payments economically payments economically

the notion | equivalent to interest, etc. equivalent to interest, etc. ATAD its, including related costs

Group entities (does not ap-
All legal entities All entities ply to entities outside the

group)
Deduction up to 30% of tax

profit before depreciation,
interest and tax

Entities
concerned

Dependent person (25%
share)

Deduction up to 25% of re-
sults of operations before
tax, including interest costs
and depreciation

Basic Deduction up to 10 — 30% Deduction up to 30% of
rules of EBITDA EBITDA

De minimis threshold / de-
duction in full
Source: Own elaboration with using OECD (2015d), Eur-lex (2018a), PSP (2018), MFSR (2017b), ZDP-SR.

Excetions De minimis threshold De minimis threshold No

* Definition of the low capitalization rule

3.4 Summarization of the comparison of individual rules

In the rules applicable to hybrid mismatches, BEPS and ATAD Directive set forth a nearly identical definition, save for
the long-deferral of this payment, provided for in BEPS. According to BEPS, entities affected by this rule are affiliates
which own a direct or indirect 25% in registered capital. Nonetheless, ATAD 2 Directive raises this threshold to 50%.
The 25% threshold which is based on BEPS was implemented into the ZDP-SR. As regards the ZDP-CZE, the 50%
threshold will most likely be implemented. The basic rules regarding double application of the payment or the applica-
tion/non-inclusion of the payment are/will be defined in the same way in the standards under examination, as well as the
relevant provisions of law. As regards exemptions, BEPS sets forth certain exemptions from the rules for payments of
investment funds which are subject to lege speciales. Unlike BEPS, ATAD 2 Directive makes it possible to implement
exemptions in several areas. Nevertheless, none of the states under observations intends to transpose such exemptions
into its laws.

Unlike the standard of the ATAD Directive, BEPS also defines income to which the rules do not apply. ATAD Di-
rective gives member states discretion to decide whether they would implement the relevant income in their national laws
using a category-based approach which, according to MFCR (2017), gives the states greater legal certainty - both to tax
payers and tax administrators, or using a general definition which might lead to a more objective outcome but which
requires assessment of the individual transactions on a case by case basis. For the sake of greater legal certainty, the
Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic thus opted for the category-based, or exhaustive, list for the reflection of the
rules. ZDP-SR implements the general definition approach for a change. The entities to which the rules apply, as well as
basic rules, are defined both in the standards and in the legal regulations of the states observed in the same way. As in the
case of hybrid mismatches, ATAD Directive gives member states the possibility of applying a higher number of exemp-
tions than BEPS, and in case of a general definition of income, the exemption may be applied to income from artificial
transactions. Nevertheless, none of the states under observation will transpose the exemptions in question into their na-
tional laws.

As for rules limiting deductibility of interest, it can be said that the definition of payments to which the rules will
apply after implementation into ZDP-CZE is the same as the definition provided in the ATAD Directive. Nonetheless,
the rules do not apply to entities who do not have any affiliates (25% of the entity in the capital, profit or voting rights of
another entity), a permanent establishment or the duty to compile consolidated financial statements. The basic rules im-
plement the upper limit defined by the directive. The de minimis threshold rule is ultimately implemented by the Czech
Republic in the way defined by the directive, although in the document for debate, the Ministry of Finance originally
wanted to implement a lower threshold. The reason why the threshold was left as defined in the ATAD Directive is to
preserve the low capitalization rules as defined in Section 25 of the ZDP-CZE. As regards the low capitalization rule
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within the ZDP-SR, it can be said that it sets forth rules which are very similar to those set forth in the ATAD Directive.
The entities concerned to whom the rule applies are dependent persons (25% share in registered capital, profit or voting
rights). The relevant entities can thus deduct interest up to 25% of results of operations before interest costs and depreci-
ation. The provision does not provide for any exemptions.

4 Discussion and Conclusions

This contribution compares basic rules regarding hybrid mismatches, CFC and limitation of interest deductibility. Since
the contribution focused on payments of passive nature, the rules for hybrid mismatches only addressed to financial in-
struments. The rules defined in Czech legislation, as described and then compared herein, may not be final as the legisla-
tive process is still pending; however, their final form and the possibility of expanding the comparison of such rules to
laws of other member states provides room for further research. However, it is important to say that due to aggressive tax
planning, “the estimated net tax revenue loss ranges from 4 % to 10 % of global corporate tax revenues” (Johansson, et
al., 2016). This income tax loss, as well as the fact that according to a study carried out by Hardeck and Wittenstein
(2018), hybrid mismatches represent material and continuous means for effective reduction of tax obligations of payers,
it is necessary to implement rules set forth in BEPS in the laws of both member and non-member OECD states. Never-
theless, both BEPS which only provides recommendations, and the ATAD Directive give national legislators a fairly
broad discretion. According to the comparison performed, the member states did avail themselves of this option. However,
the question remains whether different implementation of rules arising from the directive, or rather, standards under ob-
servation, will not enable large multinational enterprises to use mechanisms, or means, for transferring profits to jurisdic-
tions with low or no tax anyway.

Tax avoidance on the part of multinational enterprises in the form of transfer of profits from countries with relatively
high corporate income tax rates to tax havens with low or no tax, can be viewed as a very common phenomenon in today's
global world (Hybka, 2014). The profit transfer problem arose as a result of rules created by states in order to protect their
domestic tax bases. And it is precisely the relationship between very different national tax rules that created the opportu-
nities for tax benefits for multinational enterprises (Smith, 2014). To prevent tax avoidance on the part of multinational
enterprises, the individual tax systems need to be coordinated in a certain way, by means of BEPS, or the ATAD Directive.
The purpose of this contribution was to describe and compare rules pertaining to Hybrid Mismatches, CFC and limitation
of interest deductibility in the form in which they are/will be set forth in Slovak legislation, and in the form in which they
are to be set forth in Czech laws. An individual objective of this contribution was to compare, in the context of the relevant
rules, the recommendations set forth in BEPS and ATAD Directives. The contribution was based on qualitative research,
where analysis of content of texts of legal regulations was carried out using the data collection technique, followed by
their comparison. The resultant finding is that neither the Czech Republic nor the Slovak Republic will implement any
exemptions in their laws in the context of CFC rules. The Czech Republic will define income falling under CFC using a
category-based approach, or rather, by providing an exhaustive overview, while the Slovak Republic opted for a general
definition. The Czech Republic will implement rules on hybrid mismatches as of January 1, 2020, while the Slovak
Republic implemented the rule as of January 1, 2018. As regards the rule for limitation of interest deductions, the Slovak
Republic will make use of Article 11 of the ATAD Directive, i.e., will retain the low capitalization rules for the time
being. The Czech Republic will then implement these rules with an upper deduction limit of 30% of EBITDA, save for
the de minimis threshold.

Acknowledgement

The paper represents an output of the project Selected Aspects of Holdings in the Construction Industry (FP-J-18-5036)
supported by the Brno University of Technology.

References

Avi-Yonah, R. (2017). International Tax Avoidance — Introduction. Accounting, Economics and Law, 7(1), 1367-1372. doi:
10.1515/ael-2016-0071

Carrero, J. M. C., & Seara, A. Q. (2016). The concept of ‘Aggressive tax planning’ launched by the OECD and the EU commission
in the BEPS era: Redefining the border between legitimate and illegitimate tax planning. Intertax, 44(3), 206-226.

Christian, A. BEPS and the New International Tax Order. Brigham Tax University Law Review, 6, 1603-1646.

Janulevicieng, V., & Rackeviciené, S. (2016). Public Sector Fraud: Comparative Analysis of Terminology and Concepts. Public Policy
and Administration, 15(4), 673-686. doi 10.13165/VPA-16-15-4-11



Kristyna BéluSova: Hybrid Mismatches, CFC Rules and Interest Deduction Rules as stated in the OECD and EU standards. .. 60

Dourado, A. P. (2015). Aggressive tax planning in EU law and in the light of BEPS: The EC recommendation on aggressive tax
planning and BEPS actions 2 and 6.Intertax, 43(1), 42-57.

Eur-lex. (2018a). Council Directive (EU) 2016/1164 of 12 July 2016 laying down rules against tax avoidance practice that directly
affect the functioning of the internal market. Eur-lex.eu [online]. Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-con-
tent/CS/TXT/?2uri=CELEX%3A32016L1164 [cit.-2018-10-13].

Eur-lex. (2018b). Council Directive (EU) 2017/952 of 29 May 2017 amending Directive (EU) 2016/1164 as regards hybrid mismatches
with  third countries. Eur-lex.eu [online]. Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uri-
serv:0J.L_.2017.144.01.0001.01.ENG [cit.-2018-10-13].

Gazzola, P. Slavata, D., & Panova, O. (2018). Small and medium-sized enteprise development the Europe’context. In: the Proceedings
of IVth International scientific and practical Internet-conference “Business administration in terms of turbulent economy. (in print)

Ginevra, G. (2017). The EU anti-tax avoidance directive and the base erosion and profit shifting (BEPS) action plan: Necessity and
adequacy of the measures at EU level. Intertax, 45(2), 120-137.

Hardeck I., & Wittenstein, P. U. (2018). Assessing the tax benefits of hybrid arrangements - evidence from the Luxembourg leaks.
National Tax Journal, 71(2), 295-334. doi: 10.17310/ntj.2018.2.04

Hybka, M. M. (2014). Legislative proposal for a controlled foreign companies régime in Poland from an international perspective.
Financial Theory and Practice, 38(4), 465-487. doi: 10.3326/fintp.38.4.4

Johansson A. et al. (2016). Tax planning by multinational firms: From level evidence from a cross-country database. In: Economic
Departments of Working Papers No. 1355, 1-63.

Juruss, M., & Kuma, E. (2016). BEPS: Impact of international tax measures on business environment in Latvia. International Scientific
Conference: Turiba University, 104-112.

Kayis-Kumar, A. (2016). What’s BEPS got to do with it? Exploring the effectiveness of thin capitalisation rules. eJournal of Tax
Research, 14(2), 359-386.

Knuutinen, R. (2013). International Tax Planning, Tax Avoidance and Corporate Social Responsibility. Interdisciplinary Studies Jour-
nal, 3(1), 73-84.

MFCR. (2017). Implementace smérnice EU proti vyhybani se daiiovym povinnostem do ¢eského pravniho radu: podklad pro verejnou
konzultaci. Mfcr.cz [online]. Available at: https://www.mfcr.cz/cs/o-ministerstvu/verejne-diskuze/2017/verejna-konzultace-imple-
mentace-smernice-28011 [cit. 2018-10-13]. [The implementation of EU directive on tax avoidance in the Czech law: Basis for
public discussion]

MFSR. (2017a). Informacia o novele zdakona ¢. 595/2003 Z. z. o dani z prijmov v zneni neskorsich predpisov v oblasti cezhrani¢nych
dariovych vztahov. Financnasprava.sk [online]. Available at: https://www.financnasprava.sk/_img/pfsedit/Dokumenty_PFS/Zve-
rejnovanie_dok/Dane/Novinky_leg/Medzinarodne_zdanovanie/2018.01.03_novele_ZDP_za MZ.pdf [cit. 2018-10-15].

MFSR. (2017b). Diivodova zprdava Ministerstva Financi Slovenské republiky schvalené viddou dne 16. srpna 2017. Nrsr.sk [online].
Available at: https://www.nrsr.sk/web/Dynamic/Download.aspx?DoclD=442074 [cit. 2018-10-15]. [Statement of Basis and Pur-
pose of the Ministry of Finance of the Slovak Republic, approved by the government on August 16, 2017]

OECD. (2015a). OECD: BEPS Actions. OECD.org. [online]. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/ctp/beps-actions.htm [cit. 2018-10-
15].

OECD. (2015b). Neutralising the Effects of Hybrid Mismatch Arrangements, Action 2 - 2015 Final Report: OECD/G20 Base Erosion
and Profit Shifting Project. Paris: OECD Publishing, doi: 10.1787/9789264241138-en

OECD. (2015c).Designing Effective Controlled Foreign Company Rules, Action 3 - 2015 Final Report: OECD/G20 Base Erosion and
Profit Shifting Project. Paris: OECD Publishing, Paris, doi: 10.1787/9789264241152-en

OECD. (2015d). Limiting Base Erosion Involving Interest Deductions and Other Financial Payments, Action 4 - 2015 Final Report:
OECD/G20 Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Project. Paris: OECD Publishing, Paris. doi: 10.1787/9789264241176-en

PSP. (2018). Snémovni tisk 206/0, cast ¢. 1/12V1. n. z. kterym se méni nékteré zdakony v oblasti dani — EU. Psp.cz [online]. Available
at: http://public.psp.cz/en/sqw/text/tiskt.sqw?0=8&CT=206&CT1=0 [cit. 2018-10-22]. [Document of the Chamber 206/0, Part No.
1/12, Governmental Proposal of the Act amending certain tax laws — the EU]

Smith, F. (2014). Asset protection in multinational enterprises — where to now? Implications for asset protection planning in multina-
tional enterprises from the OECD’s work on BEPS. Multinational Business Review, 22(4), 351-371. doi: 10.1108/MBR-04-2014-
0014

Sojka, V. (2017). Mezindarodni zdanéni prijnmii: Smlouvy o zamezeni dvojiho zdanéni a zdkon o danich z prijmii. 4. ed. Prague: Wolters

Kluewer. ISBN: 978-80-7552-688-5. [International taxation of incomes. Double tax treaties and Income Tax Act].

Zdkon ¢. 595/2003 Z. z. o dani z prijmov v zneni platném k 1. 1. 2019. [Income Tax Act].



The International Scientific Conference INPROFORUM 2018, November 1 - 2, 2018, Ceské Budéjovice, 61-65, ISBN 978-80-7394-726-2.

The Reserve Fund - Creation and Use in Contributory Organizations
set up by Local Government Units

Marie Vejsadova Dryjova

Abstract: The reserve fund of the contributory organizations combines a source fund (generated from an economic re-
sult) and a monetary fund (generated from received gifts and unused balances of operating subsidies granted from the
budget of the European union). If an entity wants to ensure a full financial coverage of the reserve fund, the entity should
not allocate the profit to the fund, for which there is no certainty of the financial coverage. However, as stated in Act No.
250/2000 Coll., On Budgetary Rules of Territorial Budgets, as amended, in § 30, the reserve fund is formed from the
profit of the contributory organization on the basis of an approval of its amount by a founder of the organization after
the end of the year, reduced by possibly transfers to the reward fund.

The unused balances of the operating subsidies as the source of the reserve fund give rise to further accounting
problems. These unused balances are clearly a liability of the contributory organization to the grant provider, however,
accounting rules consider them to be the own source. Czech Accounting Standard No. 704 — Funds clearly defines the
accounting rules for the creation of the reserve fund on the basis of the unused balances of the operating subsidies,
however, these accounting procedures are difficult to apply in practice. This problem is not closer methodically regulated
by the Ministry of Finance. In the Czech Republic, therefore, accounting practices are differentiated.

Key words: Reserve fund - Contributory organization - Economic result - Equity

JEL Classification: H71 - M41

1 Introduction

Contributory organizations are a type of public non-profit organizations that are established for the purpose of performing
publicly beneficial activities. Contributory organizations, in the performance of their activities, are governed by Act No.
563/1992 Coll., On Accounting, as amended, where these organizations are designated together with the organizational
units of the state, territorial self-governing units, voluntary associations of municipalities, state funds and regional coun-
cils of cohesion regions as so-called selected accounting entities. Act No. 583/1992 Coll., On Income Taxes, as amended,
marks the contributory organizations as a publicly beneficial taxpayer. The contributory organizations have legal person-
ality and are the entity. They are also subject to other normative regulations governing the accounting — i.e. Implementing
Decree No. 410/2009 Coll., as amended, and Czech Accounting Standards No. 701 to No. 710. The management of the
contributory organizations established by the territorial self-governing units is regulated by Act no. 250/2000 Coll., On
Budgetary Rules of Territorial Budgets, as amended.

Since 2010, the public sector has undergone a number of changes in the accounting. This reform consists mainly of
legislative changes. As a result of this reform is changing the practices and principles of the accounting in the public
finances. Evidence of the ongoing reform of the public finances is, among other things, the latest amendment of Czech
Accounting Standard No. 704 — Funds valid from the 1% January 2016.

The contributory organizations established by the territorial self-governing units in their activity create monetary funds
— i.e. the reward fund, the cultural and social fund, the reserve fund and the investment fund. The conditions for the
creation and the use of the individual funds are stated in Act No. 250/2000 Coll., On Budgetary Rules of Territorial
Budgets, as amended. However, the founder may impose stricter conditions for the creation and the use of the funds but
these conditions must not be in conflict with that law. In practice, there may be a differentiation of the conditions of the
creation and the use of the funds among contributory organizations and may lead to artificially disturbing the economy
of the contributory organizations.

Ing. Marie Vejsadova Dryjova, Ph.D., University of South Bohemia in Ceské Bud&jovice, Faculty of Economics, Department of Accounting and
Finance, Studentska 13, 370 05 Ceské Budgjovice, Czech Republic, e-mal: vejsadova@ef.jcu.cz
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2 Methods

In accordance with § 30 of Act No. 250/2000 Coll., On Budgetary Rules of Territorial Budgets, as amended, the reserve
fund is formed from the improved economic result of the contributory organization based on its approval by the founder
after the end of the year, less any transfers to the reward fund. The improved economic result of the contributory organi-
zation is created when the actual operating revenues of the contributory organization together with the received operating
contribution are higher than its operating costs. The distribution of the improved economic result to the reserve fund and
the reward fund is approved by the founder. Maderova Voltnerova and Tégl (2011) state that the improved economic
result must be completely divided between the reserve fund and the reward fund. At the same time, the law states that
other sources of the reserve fund may be cash gifts and the unused balances of the operating subsidies provided from the
EU budget. In § 28 of Act No. 250/2000 Coll., as amended, it is also stated that these unused balances must be monitored
separately in the reserve fund and must be used only in stated purposes in the following years. In § 32 of Act No. 250/2000
Coll., as amended, there is also stated that the reward fund is made up of the improved economic result of the contributory
organization up to 80 % but not more than 80 % of the amount of the salaries set by the founder.

Basic accounting procedures for the funds of the selected entities are governed by Czech Accounting Standard No.
704 - Funds. The reserve fund consisting of the improved economic result is recognized in the account 413 - Reserve fund
from the improved economic result. The decrease of the improved economic result is recorded in the account 431 - Eco-
nomic result in the approval procedure. The reserve fund consisting of the cash gifts and the unused balances of the
operating subsidies provided from the EU budget is recorded in the account 414 — Rezerve fund from other titles. The
receipt of the cash gifts is recorded in the account 241 — Current bank account. The unused balances of the operating
subsidies are recorded on debit side in the group of the accounts 67 — Transfer revenues. Accounting procedures of the
creation of the reserve fund which are given by Czech accounting standard No. 704 — Funds are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1 Creation of the reserve fund

Text Debit side of the account | Credit side of the account
Creation of the reserve fund from the improved economic result 431 413
Creation of the reserve fund from the cash gifts 241 414
Creation of the reserve fund from the unused balances of the oper- 67x 414

ating subsidies provided from the EU budget

Source: Czech Accounting Standard No. 704 - Funds

In accordance with § 30 of Act No. 250/2000 Coll., On Budgetary Rules of Territorial Budgets, as amended, the
contributory organization uses the reserve fund for the purposes of (with the exception of special-purpose gifts and un-
spent balances of the operating subsidies from the EU):

- afurther development of the activity,

- atime bridge of a temporary mismatch between revenues and costs,

- apayment of any penalties imposed for breach of budgetary discipline,
- apayment of loss for the previous period.

The use of the reserve fund for the purposes of the further development, the time bridge of a temporary mismatch and
payment of penalties is recorded in the account 648 — Using of funds. The founder may also allow the contributing orga-
nization to use part of its reserve fund, with the exception of special-purpose gifts and the unused balances of the operating
subsidies from the EU, to reinforce its investment fund, i.e. account 416 — Investment fund. The payment of the loss for
the previous period from the reserve fund is recorded in the account 432 — Economic result for previous period. Bfezinova
(2017) adds that account 432 includes unpaid losses of the past periods. Accounting procedures of the use of the reserve
fund which are given by Czech accounting standard No. 704 — Funds are summarized in Table 2.

Table 2 Use of the reserve fund

Text Debit side of the account | Credit side of the account
Further development of the activity 413,414 648
Time bridge of the temporary mismatch between revenues and costs 413, 414 648
Payment of any penalties imposed for breach of budgetary discipline 413, 414 648
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Payment of loss for the previous period 413, 414 431, 432

Strengthening of the investment fund 413, 414 416

Source: Czech Accounting Standard No. 704 - Funds

3 Research results and discussion

There are a number of uncertainties surrounding the application of the valid legal regulation of the funds of contributory
organizations. Chapter Results and discussion highlights the most problematic areas of accounting for the creation and
the use of the reserve fund in contributory organizations and at the same time presents the accounting solutions.

The primary problem of the reserve fund is that it has not yet been possible to clarify whether the funds are money or
the financial sources. The funds are described as own sources in the accounting and the accounting system is designed in
connection with this. In Act No. 250/2000 Coll., On Budgetary Rules of Territorial Budgets, as amended, the funds are
described as the finances (money) that are intended for a particular purpose.

3.1 Creation of the reserve fund — proposals for accounting solutions

The reserve fund of the contributory organizations combines the source fund (generated from the economic result) and
the monetary fund (generated from received gifts and the unused balances of the operating subsidies granted from the
budget of the European union). The reserve fund is formed from the improved economic result less any transfers to the
reward fund. It follows that the reward fund is purely voluntary. If the founder decides, the entire improved economic
result can be transferred to the reserve fund. But it does not have to mean that the improved economic result is automati-
cally fully financially covered. Maderova Voltnerova and Tégl (2011) state that financially uncovered portion of the
improved economic result may be, for example, of the fact that customers do not honor their obligations. In addition,
Maderova Voltnerova and Tégl (2011) further describe that if the entire improved economic result, including its possible
financially uncovered portion, will be allocated to the reserve fund it is the question of what money will be allocated to
the bank account of the reserve fund. The only solution that can be recommended to the contributory organizations is the
analytical breakdown of the account 413 (where the financially uncovered portion of the improved economic result is
monitored separately). Unfortunately, however, the reserve fund cannot serve as the real financial source.

However, the most problematic part of the creation of the reserve fund is the creation of the fund in the amount of the
unused balances of the operating subsidies provided from the EU budget. The situation will be illustrated in a following
simplified example. Let us assume some contributory organization that received the subsidy (advance payment) from the
EU budget of 500,000 CZK in April. In the second quarter, the organization spent costs of 450,000 CZK. The time
resulution of the operating subsidies is carried out by the contributory organization quarterly. Individual variants of the
proposals for the accounting solutions are shown in Tables 3 and 4.

Table 3 Variant 1

Text Amount Debit side Credit side

in CZK of the account of the account

1 | Advance payment — April 500,000 241 374
2 | Creation of an estimated item in the amount of the costs 450,000 388 672
3 | Creation of the reserve fund in the amount of the unused balances 50,000 401 414

Source: Own processing

The contributory organization captures the received finances to the bank account (account 241) and at the same time
accounts about the short-term received advance payment from the subsidy in the account 374 — Short-term received
advance payment from the subsidies. Consequently, the entity creates the account 388 — Estimated assets account in the
amount of the actual incurred costs. The unused balance of the operating subsidy (i.e. the difference between accounts
374 and 388) is recorded in the acount 401 — Entity’s equity at the end of the quartal. In this variant, the account 414
captures the unused balance but not as a reduction in the revenues in the group of the accounts 67 but in the account 401.
The accounting requirement for the creation of the reserve fund in accordance with Czech Accounting Standard no. 704
—Funds is met in variant 1. At the beginning of the next year, the entity accounts the amount of the unused balances on
the debit side of the account 414 and on the credit side of the account 401. The technical transfer between the accounts of
the fourth accounting class is captured in the area of own sources. At the time of the settlement, the account 388 is re-
accounted in the account 348 — Receivables from local government institutions. Then the account 348 is cleared with the
account 374. Another advantage of this variant 1 is that there is no distortion of the volume of reported own sources. As
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Juranova and Juhaszova (2017) state, the contributory organizations report the final balances of the accounts 374 and 388
compatible with other subsidies for settlement in according to Czech Accounting Standard no. 703 — Subsidies. The
disadvantage of this method is that the unused balance (which can be returned to the provider) is captured in its own
sources but from the accounting point of view it is a liability of the contributory organization.

Table 4 Variant 2

Text Amount Debit side Credit side
in CZK of the account of the account
1 | Advance payment - April 500,000 241 374

2 | Creation of the estimated item in the amount of the received ad- 500,000 388 672
vance payment

3 | Creation of the reserve fund in the amount of the unused balances 50,000 672 414

Source: Own processing

The advantage of the second variant is full compatibility in according to the requirements of Czech Accounting Stand-
ard No. 704 - Funds. The requirement of Czech Accounting Standard No. 704 — Funds is met only if the entire amount of
the received advance payment from the subsidy is charged in the account 388. The disadvantage of this method is dupli-
cate reporting on the account 374 and on the account 414.

3.2 Use of the reserve fund — proposals for accounting solutions

In Act No. 250/2000 Coll., On Budgetary Rules of Territorial Budgets, as amended, it does not require the prior consent
of the founder to use the reserve fund. As a result, there is differentiated charging among contributing organizations.

Maderova Voltnerova and Tégl (2011) states that one of the other problematic areas of the use the reserve fund is the
further development of the organization because the Ministry of Finance has never more specified what is meant by
further development. The organizations may artificially distort the economic result. The contributory organizations are
fully aware of this possibility and use the general dukes of the law to compensate the loss. The result is the achievement
of the improved economic result that is reallocated to the reserve fund. However, it is a shadowing of the real state of the
economy when the financial problems have not been resolved the reserve fund has been used (charged to revenues in the
account 648) and the result is duplicate reporting of revenues. At present, accounting regulations provide the using of the
reserve fund is accounted into revenues although the revenues characteristic is not fulfilled (it is the consumption of the
own created reserves).

The use of the reserve fund to the time bridge of the temporary mismatch between revenues and costs as well as
the above-mentioned further development of the organization is not regulated by law. The length of temporality is not
stated. Similarly, it is not established whether the finances must be returned to the reserve fund after the temporary mis-
match has passed. The variant of the accounting solution states how the contributory organization should revert the finan-
ces to the fund after an ending the temporary mismatch between revenues and costs, see Table 5.

Table 5 Ending of the temporary mismatch — repayment of the finances to the reserve fund

Text Debit side Credit side
of an account of an account
Repayment of the finances to the reserve fund after the ending 648 413, 414
of the temporary mismatch between the revenues and the costs

Source: Own processing

The use of the reserve fund to cover the loss for previous years seems to be a seamless area at first glance. However,
the contributory organizations have learned to exploit the possibilities of diverging interpretations of the notion of the
further development of activity and the temporary mismatch between therevenues and costs. Therefore, the organizations
have accounted the reserve fund into the revenues as the result of these offered opportunities. This will cover the loss
during the accounting period. Schneiderova and Nejezchleb (2012) confirm that contributory organizations use the reserve
fund to cover any economic loss.
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4 Conclusions

The category of the funds is currently considered to be the most important factor in the poor bookkeeping of the contri-
butory organizations. If the funds of the contributory organizations were to be reported as monetary, the profit should not
be allocated to the funds but only the part of the profit that realistically corresponds to the generated free cash.

The unused balances of the operating subsidies provided from the EU budget are the problem area of the creation of
the reserve fund which are captured by other accounting methods than those subsidies applied by Czech Accounting
Standard 703 — Subsidies. The applying of the different methods for the same or similar accounting transactions may lead
to the difficult interpretion of the balance sheet and profit and loss statements for the users of the accounting informations.
In this case, it would be best to include subsidies from the EU budget into the standard subsidy regime. Also because the
unused part of the operating subsidies which can be potentially return is understood as the obligation of the organization
from the accounting point of view, not as the own source which is accounted according to Czech Accounting Standard
No. 704 - Funds.

The legal regulation of the use of the reserve fund is relatively brief. At the same time, it does not define the further
development of the activity and the temporary mismatch between revenues and costs. This inconsistency in terms of
interpretations may cause the budget discipline breaches by the contributory organizations. The contributory organizations
report the artificial economic results by dissolving the reserve fund into the returns and then the organizations create with
this artificial profit the reserve fund again. However, the charging of the reserve fund into the revenues does not represent
any profit in the organizations but only the re-charging of the part of the equity into the revenues.
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Application of detection methods on controlled transactions of concerns
» | ransfer pricing

Marcela Hradecka

Abstract: Controlled transactions of concerns and multi-national groups of business corporations transfer pricing are
conducted intentionally. The primary purpose of concern transactions is to use the capital power of the concern for the
backup of the concern transactions that lead to increased profits and the economic value of the concern. Due to imperfect
and unsatisfactory regulatory legislation of the accounting concerns and multi-national corporations use the loopholes
in legislation for the transfer of profits to areas with lower tax legislation for optimize their net profit which is the basis
for the payment of dividends and for the pecuniary transfer flow between the mother company and its daughter companies.
The mother company should choose such methods for setting the transfer pricing that lead to higher profits of the concern
group of corporations and to the maximization of the value of the owners.Methodology of the transfer pricing of concerns
must be controlled not only from the tax perspective to prevent tax avoidance by moving money to countries with lower
tax burden but also from the accounting perspective so that the controlled transactions were not overprized by fictitious
service costs that distort the economic result and decrease the value for the owners.

This paper deals with the practical application of detection methods aimed at revealing fictitious services included
into transfer prices of concerns and suggests possible solution through accounting based on value forming activities and
modification of the profit and loss account.

Key words: Transfer pricing * Fictitious service - Reporting - Detection methods ‘Value-creating activities - Shareholder
value

JEL Classification: M2 - M41 - M42

Research hypothesis
Avre transfer prices value-creating activity from the accounting point of view or are they just fictitious transfer services

aimed at tax optimization?

1 Introduction

Business relations realized between corporations that do not form a concern and are not connected through capital or
persons behave in accordance with the market principle governed by supply and demand for goods and services. When
business relations are realized between related parties they should follow the same principles as independent corporations.
Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) set guidelines (The Transfer Pricing Guidelines for
Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations) for the transfer pricing and methods for pricing dependent transacti-
ons for creating a unified procedure for taxation of dependent transactions both from the side of multinational corporations
and the tax authority. However, the accounting perspective of the transfer prices remains a rather neglected question.
Transfer prices influence the net profit which is the basis for the payment of dividends, net operating result and the added
value of orders and projects.

2 Methodology

The methods for pricing dependent transactions according to the guidelines of the OECD for taxation purposes can be
classified into transaction methods (method CUP, COST+, RPM) and methods on the basis of profit division (TNNM,
PSM). By comparing the methods of transfer pricing according to the OECD guidelines the least reliable method is the
comparable price method CUP, as it only compares data from reporting from publically available registers and databases.
Individual reported entries of business corporations can contain differing values of costs and earnings even if they refer
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to a comparable product. According to the author of this paper the methods on the basis of profit division PSM belong to
the most reliable. The methodology of transfer prices based on distribution of profit should be set by firmly fixed calcu-
lation of concern or group transaction and profit or earning from that transaction. Consequently the share of the profit or
earnings of the individual corporation of the concern is set on the basis of previously agreed scheme. The result effect of
the conducted transfer should lead to increased economic value of the concern or multi-national group (shareholder value).
This means the growth of ROE (Return on Equity), and EVA (Economic Value Added) measures. The most controversial
area of reporting from the accounting point of view is the consumption performances reported in the profit and loss
account and its influence on the added value and economic result. The issue of accounting and reporting of transferring
prices falls into consumption performances section. This paper analyzes the accepted controlled transactions (services),
their nature for the given economic activity. Service can have the nature of value creating activity, operation service or
just fictitious service performed with the aim to optimize taxation and cash flow within the concern or the multinational
group.

3 Procedure

Among the most common methods of detection of fictitious services, belong the comparison of values between indepen-
dent bodies with values from dependent transactions. These methods are rather inaccurate as they are based on data from
publicly available databases that can be distorted. Other methods include models exposing manipulation with accounting
values, for example CFEBT model, Beneish model, M SCORE, and others. These methods analyze data and values from
statements, reports and final accounts of corporations related to branch and kind of their economic activity. These methods
are also inaccurate for the detection of fictitious services in the area of transfer services as the values in reports can be
intentionally manipulated, over or undervalued. Another example is the method of adjusted value added which detects
selected data and measures from the profit and loss accounts of selected corporations of a concern or multinational group.
It specifically means the indicator of the ratio of services to adjusted added value including personnel costs. All methods
based on analysis of accounting reporting suffer the risk that all corporations and particularly the multinationals are inte-
rested to improve certain covenants in their reporting with the aim to increase their credit quality or conversely to distort
their economic result by controlled flow of their financial means into corporation that have a domicile in lower tax burden
jurisdictions. A system of calculations can be used to detect fictitious services. The method of Value Chain Analysis was
chosen from the group of methods preventing fraud in accounting and detecting fictitious service. According to Porter
(1985) is value chain a sequence of activities, which the corporation sets as primary, that is those that lead to increase of
the corporation’s value and secondary, supportive among those the use of information technology could be included..
Value chain method concentrates on competitive advantage which relies on providing activities at lower costs.

Table 1 Formula for Value Chain

Value creating activities +

Margin +

Total price of project

Source: Author’s elaboration

Management of the corporation analyzes and divides and denominates separate activities within the corporation or
within a project. Separate activities are assigned the related costs and allocated with real sources that bring increase of the
economic value of the group of corporations and increased profits. Each activity is assigned a calculation unit. In the case
of provided services the measured unit will be time unit of one hour. All related costs of an activity represent value-
creating consumption of performances. This namely represents depreciation of assets, rent and related services, operation
costs, advertising, transfer costs of a concern etc. Related costs are recalculated on a measured unit of time i.e. hour and
consequently the calculations are made of costs hour. This costs hour is composed of time unit of value-creating activity
(consumption performances) expressed in measured unit of time and time unit of average wages cost hour.

Table 2 Entry date for planned calculation for project

Planned calculation Entry data
Number of hours for project 1700 hours
Average wages hour incl. insurance 320 CZK

Number of employees 5 employees
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Average costs hour 1000 CzK

Margin 10%

Source: Author’s elaboration

4 Detection processes

On the basis of robotic internal audit the overvaluation of reported fictitious cause related costs can be detected which
means fictitious services within the concern that aim at lowering the profit of the transaction and distort the economic
result of separate corporations within the group.

Table 3 Detection processes

Creation of reporting Setting the items of the report necessary for the controlling system

Analysis of deviations Periodical analysis of deviations of costs from financial accounting in respect to planned cal-
culations

Comparison of wages hour Comparison of reported work hours on projects with the wages recapitulation for the given pe-
riod

Comparison of subcontracts Comparison of reported costs of subcontracts with costs reported in financial accounting

Comparison of operation result | Comparison of achieved operation result with the planned calculated profit from projects

Analysis of other costs Comparison of total costs in operation result with those in the calculation system

Analysis of partial invoicing Comparison of earning reported in financial accounting and invoicing prescribed according to
calculation system

Stock-taking of unfinished pro- | Comparison of value-creating activities in calculations and stocktaking reported in financial
duction accounting

Source: Author’s elaboration
Application of detection processes of robotic internal audit

Reporting: On the basis of delivered reporting the following costs were determined from the accounting of the corpora-
tion in the main book of accounts (ledger). Accounts from accounting classes 5 and 6 grouped according to projects
(orders).

Analysis of deviations: On the basis of the analysis of deviations the following differences from planned calculation
were encountered:

Table 4 Results of the detection processes

Name item Calculation Ledger Deviations

Performances output + 1,870,000 | 1,684,000 -186,000

Consumption performances- 1,156,000 | 1,369,000 +213,000

Personnel costs - 544,000 581,120 +37,120

Total 170,000 | -266,120 -

Source: Author’s elaboration

Comparison of wages hours: The comparison of wages hours on the basis of reporting and the wages recapitulation of
hours of work structured according to projects of employees showed that for a given project 1816 hours were reported
which is 116 hours more than in the planned calculation. The wages costs due to this rose by 37,120 CZK.
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Analysis of operating costs: The analysis of operating costs detected that in the financial accounting is accounted service
provided by the mother company for advertising campaign to a given project which required higher costs than planned
and influenced the value of the average costs hour and the total consumption performances. The costs are higher by
213,000 CZK.

Analysis of earning: The analysis of earnings detected that the final invoicing in the value of 186,000 CZK was con-
ducted according to the planned.

Comparison of operating economic result; the conducted comparison showed that the planned profit in the amount of
170,000 CZK will not be reached with this project. On the contrary loss will be reported. This is caused by higher oper-
ating costs of 213,000 CZK and higher personnel costs (wages) of employees 37,120 CZK.

On the basis of conducted detection processes it is necessary to summon managers as responsible person for the given
project to give reasons for surpassing the planned amount of hours of work on the project and also to explain why the
costs of services are higher y 213,000 CZK. It could be considered a fault of the managers as they should have reported
the increase extent of work in an earlier stage of the project or it could be viewed as intentional distortion with the aim of
higher wages. As the higher costs of service are concerned it again can be a fault of the responsible employee of the
mother corporation when negotiating with the advertising agency or it may be the intentional draining of financial resource
from the corporation into the multinational concern. The fourth phase of the project in the amount 186,000 CZK of which
was not invoiced can be detected as a fault of the responsible employee. Value Chain Analysis model can be suitably
supplemented by ratio indicators aimed at utilization of long term assets. Return on investment and return on capital. In
case the management of the corporation does not conduct detection to prevent accounting fraud it can lead to distortion
of economic result, which have a direct impact on tax obligation, loss of available cash flow and it can mean financial
loss for the share holders because of unpaid dividends or reduction of shareholder value.

5 Modification of reporting leading to detection of fictitious services

External users, the investors and tax authorities in particular primarily get acquainted with accounting reports and final
accounts of the corporation. The biggest obstacle for the detection of fraudulent accounting and fictitious services is the
content limitation of the items of the profit and loss account according to the Decree 500/2002 Coll., which refers to and
puts into practice some parts of the Act No. 563/1991 Coll. on accounting in its valid form for enterprising entities. This
decree ordinance) regulates the extent and the way the final accounts is set. The corresponding profit and loss account
can be set either according to Attachment No.2 in division into kinds (nature of expense specific classification) or accord-
ing to Attachment 3 in division into purposes (function of expense, product classification) Accounting units (enterprising
entities) defined by the Act on Accounting have therefore liberty as to which method they use for the forming of the profit
and loss account. The report formed in the division into kinds is not appropriate for the detection of the detection of
fraudulent accounting and fictitious services. It does not reflect and does not show related revenues and costs of the main
economic activities that are value-creating in contrast to subordinate revenues and cost of operational character.

Table 5 Profit and loss account statement with specific classification

Marking of the lines Item of the profit and loss statement

. Revenue / Sales from services

I1. Revenue / Sales from goods

A Consumption performance

1. Cost of sales

2. Consumption of material and energy

3. Services

D. Personnel costs

E. Adjustments of values in the operation area

11 Other operation revenues
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F. Other operation costs

* Economic result of operation +/-

Source: Author’s elaboration

From the Table 5 it is evident that consumption performance is the most controversial part of the statement. It includes
total costs of materials and services without any distinction or division into those related to economic activity and those
of purely operational character.

Table 6 Profit and loss account statement with product specification

Marking of the lines Item of the profit and loss statement

1. Revenues / Sales from goods and services

A Costs of sales including adjustments of values
* Gross profit or loss

B. Selling expenses

C. Administrative expenses

I1. Other operational revenues

D. Other operational costs

* Economic result of operation +/-

Source: Author’s elaboration

Statement with product specification expressing functions of the expenses (Table 6) is more suitable for the detection
of fictitious services. Revenues and expenses (costs) related to economic activity create the gross profit or loss. These are
the items that influence the added value and economic result.

Table 7 Proposal of modified Profit and loss account statement according to method of value chain

Item a | Denomination of the item

1. Revenues from sales of goods and services +
2. Revenues from sales of goods +

3. Value-creating activities -

* Gross profit or loss +/-

5. Other operational revenues +

6. Other operational costs -

faid Economic result of operation +/-

Source: Author’s elaboration

This modified Profit and loss account statement according to method of value chain is classified into je revenues from
the main economic activity and value-creating activities costs that really create added value. The difference of these two
items of the profit and loss statement, revenues minus costs create gross profit or loss from the main economic activity.
Value-creating activities specifically include calculated purpose related personnel costs, amortization/depreciation of the
assets which are used in the given, calculated participation on the rent and related services, calculated participation on the
overheads, costs of capital and purpose related participation on advertising and transfer transactions of the concern and
so on. Other revenues and costs that can not be purpose related to the value-creating activities would be reported in the
economic result of operation under Gross profit or loss from the main activity. The issue of accounting and reporting of
controlled transfer transaction concentrates on purpose relation with projects. Part of the services (received controlled
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transactions) that are related with the project calculation can be included into value-creating activities and part of the
services that can not be proven as related to the project calculation will be included into operational cost under the reported
gross profit or loss. Accordingly the costs of outside capital which can be proven as financing the project would be
reported as part of the value-creating activities and part of the costs of outside capital which is not related to the project
would be reported in the economic financial result. Primary indicator of over-indebtedness of a corporation the statement
of balance sheet is the item own capital. Provided this item is in negative values it is a signal for investors and tax author-
ities that the corporation is over-indebted and the purpose of over-indebtedness must be closely investigated. The Modi-
fied Profit and loss account statement according to method of value chain indicates this primary indicator in the item
Gross profit or loss from the main economic activity. Provided this item shows negative values is send a signal to investors
and tax authority that the corporation realizes its projects, orders or products without the minimal margin or intentionally
overvalues the costs of projects and orders by fictitious services. The controlled transactions of multinationals (transfer
prices) belong to such costs. To improve the credibility and support for the reported services and costs of outside capital
in the Profit and loss statement it would be suitable to set the obligation to specify and describe the division and purpose
of received services and prescribed costs of outside capital in the descriptive part of the financial statement on services
and costs assignable into calculation of price of service or goods which form the added value (adjusted added value) and
on other services and costs of outside capital. Provided these other services are not properly justified and explained, that
means no time and purpose relationship with operational or investment part of the corporation enterprise is proven then
these services can be qualified as fictitious cost which is part transfer services with the purpose of international tax opti-
mization. All accounting costs and revenues related to the controlled transaction must lead to improving profit, economic
value added of the enterprise (EVA) and maximization of shareholder value of the concern or multinational group of
business corporations.

Table 8 Comparison of values of a selected company

Statement with specific classification in thousands CZK | Modified statement in thousands CZK
Revenue / Sales from services 202,646 | Revenue / Sales from services 202,646
Production consumption 80,402 | Value-creating activities 107,683
Added value 122,214 | Gross profit or loss 94,963
Personnel costs 60,764 | Other personnel costs 20,264
Adjustments of values (depreciation, adjustments) 1,462 | Other adjustments of values 733
Other operational revenues 2,434 | Other operational revenues 2,434
Other operational costs 10,813 | Other operational costs 24,813
Economic result of operation 46,741 | Economic result of operation 46,719

Source: Author’s elaboration

The difference between the items of the Profit and loss statements is evident from table 8. The comparison of state-
ments based on different classification allows insight into the distortion and limited objectivity of the values of the Profit
and loss statement with the specific classification. The added value of the modified statement does not include the per-
sonnel costs and does not reflect the depreciation of assets. It is absolutely not possible to analyze and detect services and
costs of outside capital that are purpose related with the project or order. Gross profit in the author’s modified profit and
loss statement objectively includes personnel costs, depreciation of assets used in some phases of the project but also
costs of outside capital in financing the project.

6 Conclusion

Controlled transfer transactions are within the extent of calculated costs value-creating activities. Changes in accounting
legislation in the area of reporting, financial statement and accounting standards for evaluation of not only unfinished
production would lead to improved success rate in detection of accounting fraud and fictitious controlled services. Ac-
counting based on calculated activities would considerably increase the transparency of every accounting unit. Investors
and the tax authority would have a simpler task while analyzing the main economic activity of each corporation and
detecting fictitious services reported in other operational costs. The modified Profit and loss account statement according
to the method of value chains reflects all the suggestions and proposals.
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Relation of Size of Enterprise and Planned Robotization

Jaroslav Vrchota, Draho$ Vanécek, Martin Pech

Abstract: The paper deals with the relation of enterprises and planned robotization, regarding the size and industry
of the enterprises. Currently, the introduction of robots in the Czech Republic has been supported by low unemployment,
and an increase of demand in the automotive industry and production. The number of robots increases by 10-20% each
year, the most promoted by the automotive industry. The aim of the paper was to describe the relation of planned ro-
botization in the manufacturing industry and size of the enterprises, defined by the number of employees. The statistic
tests proved the difference of the enterprises planning robotization and the enterprises without robotization, regarding
the size. The enterprises that are going to introduce robotization have more employees. The lack of the robots in the
market is mostly seen by the small and micro-enterprises. The most common reason for the introduction of robots was
related to the lack of employees.

Key words: Industry 4.0 - Robotics - Small and Medium-sized enterprises - Robot

JEL Classification: M11 - 033

1 Introduction

So far, the Czech Industry took advantage of cheap labour force; however, such advantage does not exist anymore. Low
unemployment drives cheap wage increases; their growth was record this year. There are not any new workers and there
is no other option than to introduce more automation. In public, it is often a popular question when we reach productivity
and wage levels in Germany. Within Europe, Germany, Denmark and Sweden exceed the average of EU Member States
more significantly in these indicators; the Czech Republic lags behind in this direction and reaches only 80% of the EU
average. Robotization in production and service could and should change Czech gap compared to industrialized countries.
The International Federation for Robotics (Figure 1) states that in 2017 there were 119 robots per 10,000 employees in
the Czech Republic (Statista, 2018), in Germany it was three times more. This is also reflected in the productivity
achieved, according to the OECD (2017), the added value of the work of the Czech worker was USD 36 per hour, in
Germany, however, USD 60 per hour. Germany is fully aware of this advantage and does not want to lose it. That is why
a few years ago, its Industry 4.0 came up with the main directions of further development in manufacturing and services:
digitization, robotization and artificial intelligence, which need to be intensively focused on (Usela, 2018).

The Industry 4.0 initiative was also accepted by the Czech Republic, adapted to its conditions (MPO, 2015). In par-
ticular, it is important as Czech export to Germany accounts for 30% of all Czech exports. In addition to the final products,
Czech companies supply mainly components and whole modules to Germany, mainly for the automotive industry. Here,
there must be continuity between businesses, both in communication and information technology, as well as in the pro-
duction area in terms of quality, subcontracting time, and the ability to respond flexibly to changing customer orders.
Robotization has several good opportunities for its further development (lack of staff, linking a large part of the industry
to Germany, the need to increase productivity and lower prices, etc.).

Robots are especially successful where they replace regular monotonous work (Pfeiffer, 2016), especially in unfavou-
rable working conditions. Robots are mainly used in mass production and are a significant tool of increasing productivity
(Matik, 2016). The first robots were robust automated machines, using special software, and they could do nothing but
what was programmed. For this reason, they had to work in wire cages so that no one could get close to them when
working and get hurt.
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A robot is generally pictured as a machine with rigid bodies with rigid motion, characterized by their metal -
like outer skin, with vivid image of nuts and bolts used to build these robot (Cho, Koh, Kim, Chu, Hong, & Ahn
2009). Miketa (2017) reports the results of the National Industry 4.0 study, according to which the most vulnerable pro-
fessions include: office workers, administrators, drivers, cashiers and jobs using physical work (such as builders, foresters,
miners, etc).

The next generation of robots gained ground is known as "co-bots", meaning a collaborative robot cooperating with
an operator. They no longer pose a threat to humans and can stop in a certain position. They allow the exchange of
machined parts between the robot and the co-worker, which significantly contributes to the increase of labour producti-
vity. The effort is for these two partners to also exchange the necessary information.

The most famous representative of this robot generation is the YuMi robot, weighing only 9.5 kg, and it's just a
mechanical hand that can be mounted anywhere and immediately involved in production. Therefore, the robotic, accor-
ding to Weissler (2018), are also preferred for small and medium-sized enterprises. Similarly, Durakbasa, Bauer, Bas,
& Krauter (2016) say that today's challenge means automation with the potential to use new sensors not only in large
production complexes but also in small and medium-sized enterprises. Critical factors in introducing industrial robots to
small and medium-sized businesses include flexibility and cost.

Figure 1 Number of installed industrial robots per 10,000 employees in the Czech Republic (1993-2017)
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Of course, robot development will continue quickly, and it will be all about robot lines, and factories, and not just
single, separate robots. In this effort, a "digital twin" will be of great importance. It fulfils its task, according to Weissler
(2018), both in the development of a new product and in the robotized line (a factory). The digital twin is the computer
model of the product being developed, on which the company tests the product, and in the virtual world it exposes it to
various tests. It is not necessary to create prototypes of the product in the real world. For each robotic production line,
a there is a digital line with a digital twin for each machine (a robot). If an unexpected event occurs (a malfunction, a lack
of material, etc.), the problem will first be solved in this virtual system, which then gives a command what the real robot
should do to correct the errors. Only when a satisfactory solution is not found the virtual line will turn to an operator to
decide about the following steps.

The current debate on robotics deals with artificial intelligence, the use of robots in wars and intelligent algorithms
used for example in journalism, and legal sciences (Pfeiffer 2016). Robots are more and more often used in services, such
as banking, insurance, etc. There are voice operators (chat-bots) who receive telephone inquiries from customers and try
to answer them. Only when they do not know the advice they switch the call to a responsible worker. Stahl, McBride,
Wakunuma, & Flick (2014) deal with the use of robots in the areas of care for others and the problem of robot empathy.
The use of verbal interaction and robot communication with humans makes it possible to use robots in areas such as
home-helpers and lab assistants, assistants in special groups, robotic receptionists, robotic educators, robots in shopping
malls, museum robots, robo-guides, autonomous wheelchair robots, robots for serving social drinks, up to exotic applica-
tions such as robo-actors, robo-musicians or robo-dancers (Mavridis, 2015). Such applications are also related to the
ethical issues addressed by the 7th ETICA Framework Program. According to Ford (2017), new technologies and robotics
pose a threat to "white-collar" jobs. There are also the possibilities of easier hacker attack. The digital factory has all the
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information in digital form (including how the product is to be manufactured) and this information can be infringed or
stolen. Therefore, with the introduction of robotization, the issue of data security must also be taken into account (Kreg,
2016).

2 Methods

The aim of the paper is to describe the relation between planned robotization in the enterprises in the manufacturing
industry and the size of the enterprise represented by the number of its employees. The data is based on a questionnaire
survey carried out in 2018 in 164 enterprises of the Czech Republic (53 large enterprises and 111 small and medium-
sized enterprises). In the sample, there are 12% of micro enterprises, 27% of small enterprises, 29% of medium-sized
enterprises and 32% of large enterprises as the most common.

The calculation was done to test the hypothesis, that the distribution functions of both distributions are the same,
meaning that the medians are equal, compared to the alternative, that the first of the medians (x0.50) is greater than the
second one. The data was tested using two-sample Wilcoxon test (Freeman, 2017) and its asymptotic version. This is a
non-parametric two-sample test, which is most often used when the normality of data is not met. A slight disturbance of
normality in the samples larger than 30 does not have a significant impact on test results (Devore, 2015).

X1, ..., Xnand Yu, ..., Ym are two random samples of two continuous distributions. Their distribution functions might
differ by a shift only. xo.s0 and yos0 are labelled as the medians of the first and the second distribution (Budikova 2010,
Keller 2014). According to Meloun (2012) the equation is:

Ho = Xo.50 — Yos0 = 0 compared to Ha= Xo.50 > Yo.50 (1)

At first, all (n + m) values of Xy, ..., Xn a Y1, ..., Ym are ordered by their size. This step is done electronically by
Statistika, software ver.10, so that this step is not recorded as is it an easy operation only. After that, the sum of the X,
..., Xn values is found and labelled as Ti. The sum of the Y4, ..., Yn values is labelled as T». Finally, the test statistics is
calculated for U; and Uz, with U; + Uz = mn (Budikova, 2010).

n(n+1)

U; = mn P T, ,U, = mnm(m+1)

~-T, (2

If the statistics of min {UL Uz} > tableted critical value for the range of both samples and the level of significance, it
is possible to reject null hypothesis at the significance level of o= 0.05. As n, m are more than 30 in both samples and all
tested cases, the asymptotic version of Wilcoxon test is used. This version (Meloun, 2012) is used for n and m of more
than 30, with U;" = min {U, U, }.

s mn

Uy

2
,mn(m+n+1) (2)
12

The critical values of the right-side alternative of W = <k, n> of non-negative values k; and k. are stated in the
literature. Ho is rejected at the significance level of o if Ug € W (Freeman, 2017).

Uo

A detailed analysis also used two and three-sample statistic test analysing the fit of frequencies (R software).

3 Research results

So far, the research has shown that the robotization in the Czech Republic has developed successfully in the large enter-
prises, mostly in the automotive industry. On the other hand, the small and medium sized enterprises rather lag behind.
The robotization has been developing fast; however, the response of the managers is not the same in all the enterprises.

The main results of robotization include an increase in production, cost reduction, restructuring the supply chains
(from a global perspective to a local one), and increased labour productivity. Robaotization also brings negative effects
such as job losses, lifelong unemployment, and misuse in wars, moral problems, and political issues (such as the use of
artificial intelligence).

3.1 Relation of robotization and enterprise size

At first, the enterprises were questioned about the introduction of the robots into production. There were two reasons why
the enterprise is not going to introduce the robots: the robots with required abilities are not available or are robots are too
expensive. Other option was that the enterprise is going to introduce the robots mostly due to a lack of workers.
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In general, robotization is planned by 34% of the sample enterprises; mostly in medium-high technology sector (58%),
followed by low technology sector (24%). Regarding the size, 95% of the micro-enterprises are not going to introduce
robots; compared to 51% of the large enterprises that are going to introduce robots. In small and medium-sized enterprise,
the share is rather equal: 30% / 70% to the disadvantage of robotization. The distribution in relation to the size is seen
below (Figure 2).

Figure 2 Data distribution - robotization compared to the size of enterprises
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In the research, null hypothesis of equality of the enterprises regarding robotization and the size was constructed; with
HO = x0.50 — y0.50 = 0 ; HA= x0.50 > y0.50 if X are the enterprises with planned robotization and Y are those that do
not plan robotization. The test statistics using two-sample Willcoxon test at a significance level of .= 0.05 rejected null
hypothesis in favour of the alternative saying that the enterprises that are going to implement robotization have more
employees, as evidenced by the p-value close to zero and the positive value of Z test statistics. Therefore, the assumption
that the size of the enterprise will increase the use of robots was confirmed.

Table 1 Results of Mann-Whitney U test

Robotization Robotization U z p-value
Yes No
Number of employees 5712.500 7817.500 1822.500 4.090789 0.000043

Source: authors

The results were further subjected to a detailed analysis focusing on the specific differences between the possibilities
(a, b, c) in the enterprise-size questionnaire. To this more detailed analysis, a paired statistical test on frequency matching
was used.

a) Differences between the enterprises regarding the size of the possibility “the enterprise is not going to introduce the
robots as the robots with required abilities are not available.”

The statistics revealed a significant difference between the small (including micro-enterprises) and the large enterpri-
ses (p-value = 0.045) that are not going to introduce the robots as the robots are not available. It is clear that the lack of
robots in the market is seen by the small and micro enterprises in particular. The current market offer is likely to be
tailored to large companies.

b) Differences between the enterprises regarding the size of the possibility “the enterprise is not going to introduce the
robots as they are too expensive.”

No statistically significant differences were found for this option by enterprise size.

c) Differences between the enterprises regarding the size of the possibility “the enterprise is going to introduce the robots
mostly due to a lack of workers.”
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The statistics also revealed a significant difference between the small (including micro-enterprises) and the large en-
terprises (p-value = 0.0018) preferring to introduce the robots due to the lack of workers. This result shows that, in par-
ticular, large enterprises introduce the robots because of the lack of workers. Small and micro enterprises are rather likely
to deal with the lack of workers by recruiting and looking for job seekers, keeping up their current technology.

3.2 Relation of robotization and industry

Next part of the research focused on the differences in introducing robotization and different types of manufacturing
industry, as classified by CZ-NACE. As revealed by the results, the lack of workers is the most common reason for
introducing the robots in engineering and electro-technical production (64.8%). By means of a three-sample statistical
test on frequency matching, the significant results (marked with * in table 2) were found in engineering and electro-
technical production (p-value = 0.047). Other statistically significant differences were not found in the other fields. Most
robots are reported in the automotive and electro-technical industries in the IRF statistics, which fall into the field of
engineering production. The results of the questionnaire survey are consistent with these figures.

Table 2 Results of the questionnaire survey classified by NACE (manufacturing industry C)

NACE pescripton 2 robotsare ot | D BT | OGRS e
— expensive of workers
Groups 17-23 | Chemical, paper and non-metallic production 132% 176 % 11.1%
Groups 24-30 | Engineering and electro technical production 45.3 % 43.1% 64.8 %*
Groups 13-16, 31 | Production of products for domestic use 226 % 235% 9.3%
Groups 11-12 | Food production industry 18.9% 15.7% 14.8 %
Overall number of enterprises 53 51 54

Source: authors

4 Conclusions

As revealed by the results, the enterprises that are going to introduce the robots have more employees. Mostly, they are
large enterprises with enough finance to purchase the robots. The least number of robots is introduced by the small and
micro enterprises, as there is a lack of available robots. It could even be said that the current market offer is particularly
suited to large enterprises. The large enterprises, on the other hand, introduce robots due to the lack of workers. This result
is in line with the current labour market situation and a high level of employment. From the industry point of view, the
use of robots due to the lack of workers was found in the engineering (including automotive) and electro-technical indus-
tries only. These industries are more labour-intensive and new technologies allow a higher proportion of robotics.

In the future, it is expected that production automation might gradually take place in small and medium-sized enter-
prises. Leasing is a possible way in which these might be able to afford the use of robots. In addition, according to IRF,
there will also be links between production and virtual reality, the expansion of smart factories, the use of learning robots,
artificial 10T intelligence, co-bots. The production will be tailor-made to customers thanks to flexible automation, the use
of new materials and learning robots based on Cloud Robotics. For these reasons, it is advisable to monitor the use of
robots even in the future.
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The Role of Corporate Social Responsibility in the Management of
Small and Medium - Sized Enterprises (SMES)

loannis Koukoumpliakos, Petr Rehot, Labros Sdrolias, Dagmar Skodova Parmova

Abstract: Objective of this proposal is to highlight the role of corporate social responsibility in the management of small
and medium-sized enterprises. Corporate Social Responsibility is a continuous commitment of businesses to social and
environmental issues. It concerns both the internal and external environment of the business and aims at their responsible
development. It expresses an administration philosophy that focuses on values and principles that require trust, dialogue
and collaboration with stakeholders.

The aim of the paper is to approach corporate social responsibility in business management, the specific features of
this, the approach of the organization of the parties involved. The methodology used is based on bibliographic research,
text analysis and the linking of findings from research to the current state of affairs.

The expected results of the survey are estimated to the need to take initiatives to improve the quality of corporate
social responsibility for small and medium-sized enterprises and the need for changes in these organizational structures
in order to gain more responsibility and effectiveness.

The above findings can help to inform the public about the current situation of small and medium-sized enterprises
and identify the causes of delays in the development of better corporate social responsibility in the business environment.

Key words: Managemant of Small and Medium Sized Enterprises

JEL Classification: M10 - M14

1 Introduction

Business administration includes the management of the staff, internal operations and processes and the external activities
of the company concerned. At the same time, the mission of any business is to achieve specific goals that will bring
economic prosperity and development to this business. Of course, in order to be able to fulfill its goals and expectations,
the company has to show and support its moral function and incorporate in its practices the principles of corporate
governance.

In particular, corporate governance includes all the instruments and the non-typical mechanisms that govern the
relationships between those who manage the business and those who invest in it. In addition, corporate governance
includes all those principles and rules associated with improving corporate governance (Aspridis, 2015).

A basic component of corporate governance is the corporate organization. In particular, the term organization
describes a situation in which parts of an enterprise can coexist and act together. Therefore, there is a need for an organized
administration that can ensure all the business activities of the company (Stiakakis and Kantzos, 2002).

The science of the organization studies the work of an individual who is making an effort to produce action. However,
in order to be able to complete this process, management has to include in its actions and its technological means, with
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the help of which it is possible to improve, among others, the methods of completing the work of the enterprise in a much
smaller time (Frank et al.,2007).

Then, in order to allow the proper functioning of the social units, an organizational chart should also be used, through
which the strategic planning of the activities of the organization can be drawn up and these particularities can be promoted.
In organizing the company, it would be useful to take into account the following three elements:

- The project and the actions required to achieve the goals set by the company.

- The use of an organizational chart is considered necessary to determine the appropriate link between the work
required to be completed and the ability of the workers to be responsible for completing this work.

- To make full use of facilities and available materials needed to complete the actions (Casey and Goldma, 2010).

All enterprises are small or large entities that are closely linked to the societies in which they operate, act and are
influenced by the circumstances of the time and sometimes their space of action. They must, therefore, recognize their
responsibility in the course of their work, against society and the environment in which they operate.

This recognition of their corporate responsibility can be expressed through a variety of actions. More characteristic of
these is when the companies themselves during their production show respect for the principles and values that govern
and characterize our culture.

In particular, the recognition of their corporate responsibility can be expressed when the companies themselves attach
particular respect to humanity, human dignity, improving the standard of living and quality of life of all, and respect for
the natural environment. In this way, the principles and values of Corporate Social Responsibility of enterprises are
gradually being implemented.

In an effort to increase corporate responsibility of the enterprises, antitrust rules were gradually introduced and the
concept of protecting citizens in the law was introduced. The result of all these processes was the consolidation of two
general principles: charity and management. The development of voluntary actions aimed at promoting social interest,
such as charitable actions by businesses, was initially observed. On the other hand, the management principle referred to
the work of executives who aimed at the social interest and were influenced by the decisions of the administration (Porter
and Kramer, 2006).

Managing a project is one of the most important management tools in many businesses. Companies running project
management plans are in a position to predict their future. In particular, project managers are able to identify upcoming
problems for the company and prepare themselves in advance (Rehor and Vrchota, 2017). Strategic management
represents the current direction of administration and management and applies to all types of companies including small
and large enterprises (Rolinek et al., 2014).

Strategic management is a process that aims to ensure a long-term prosperity of managed issues. Its condition is based
on the project executives (management, owners, key interest groups) to define the strategic objectives and then a resource
management strategy in the most effective way and taking into account the external factors (Rolinek et al.,2015).

In 1999, it was almost the time when voices against globalization and international entrepreneurship increased
significantly, restoring, among others, Corporate Social Responsibility at the forefront (Masaka, 2008).

2 Methods

Based on the above reports, the aim of this work is to highlight the role of Corporate Social Responsibility in the
management of small and medium-sized enterprises. The research methodology used is based on bibliographic research,
text analysis and the linking of the research findings to the current prevailing situation in the field of small and medium-
sized enterprises.

Each company is considered to be an integral part of society, as it incorporates employees, customers and therefore
resources. Therefore, if it disclaims even a limited responsibility, its interests may be affected by consumer boycotting,
negative advertising, loss of social well-being or even legislative initiatives. The areas of implementation of Corporate
Social Responsibility programs can be distinguished from those relating to the business environment and those relating
to the external environment (Dahlsrud, 2006).

As far as the internal environment is concerned, and in particular in relation to the workforce, enterprises have to give
priority to health and safety at work. In more details, health should be explored in terms of the dynamic balance between
personal characteristics such as physiology, behavior, various psychological factors such as stress, various social factors
such as working conditions, living conditions, quality of life, environmental systems such as culture, economy, conditions
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in the work and social environment. Health must therefore be assessed, taking into account the physical, working and
social environment in which everyone lives, works, participates and acts (Koffas et al., 2016).

During the process of acceptance by the employee of his work role, a type of contract is concluded between himself
and the representatives of the undertaking, specifying the obligations which someone undertakes to carry out (Sdrolias et
al., 2003).

Many businesses attempt to identify all those factors that may affect employees' feelings, their way of thinking, their
values, their beliefs, their interpersonal relationships and their behavior in order to achieve what makes workers more
effective at work, to be satisfied with their work in order to stay in a particular company for a long time (Belias et al,
2014).

A successful management must lead the employees towards achieving the company's goals. This can be achieved by
meeting the human needs of employees (Sdrolias et al., 2017). Workplace conditions are considered to be particularly
important because workers who have a strong understanding of lack of understanding and support from high-ranking
executives feel deeply disappointed (Sdrolias et al., 2016).

Initially, it should be noted that the term organization describes a situation in which the parties of a business can co-
exist and act together. Therefore, there is a need for an organized administration that can ensure all the company's
activities.

A basic part of the study of organizational culture and work-related phenomena is the behavior of workers. In more
details, the science of the organization studies the work of an individual who is making an effort to act.

However, in order to be able to complete this process, management has to include in its actions and technological
means, with the help of which it is possible to improve, among other things, the methods of completing the work of the
enterprise in a much shorter time (Frank et al., 2007).

Safety, hygiene, human working conditions, productivity incentives, educational initiatives, volunteering, human
resources management, recruitment and utilization of skilled human resources, lifelong learning, equal opportunities are
part of Corporate Social Responsibility actions (Aspridis et al., 2014).

3 Research results

Based on the above, it is understood that businesses should be led to the need to take initiatives to improve the quality of
Corporate Social Responsibility for small and medium-sized enterprises.

In addition, the need for changes in corporate organizational structures becomes more imperative in order to gain
greater responsibility as Corporate Social Responsibility contributes to improving employee attitudes, thus improving
their image and overall image of the business itself.

Regarding the environment, it is particularly important to respect and protect it during the productive operation of
businesses. Reducing company waste in the productive activities of industrial plants, ecological waste management, are
a series from actions within the framework of Corporate Social Responsibility.

Of course, to achieve all this, a change of mindset is required. Proper environmental education, for example, could be
used in the future (Koukoumpliakos & Nousia, 2008).

In the next stage of the study, a survey will be carried out on the application of the principles of Corporate Social
Responsibility to enterprises operating throughout the Greek territory.

In more detail, interviews will be held with the managers of the companies in order to collect data from the companies
themselves and to obtain a complete picture of the application of the principles and values of Corporate Social
Responsibility. Companies will be selected as sample from Greece.

The reason why this country was chosen is because Greece is a country which comes from a deep economic crisis. It is
therefore of particular importance to collect new data from a country that has experienced the prolonged economic
recession.
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4 Conclusions

The primary function of Corporate Social Responsibility is the effective integration of businesses into society. The market
tends to distinguish moral businesses and rewards their choices. Compliance with laws is necessary, but it is no longer
sufficient.

Actions beyond compliance with laws are now the road to gaining competitive advantage. "Ethics" includes corporate
principles and actions that support democratic principles, pay taxes, punish marketing, and support labor rights.

In the market, the factors influencing and influenced by the responsible way of operating a business are customers,
shareholders, suppliers and their partners.

In relation to the company's consumers, Corporate Social Responsibility has meaning in terms of consumer protection,
quality and security of the products offered, decent pricing, information and certification, reasonable use of marketing,
respect for the consumer and the transparency of corporate activities.

Thus, the market is in line with the concept of Corporate Social Responsibility in the right choice of supplier and
partner.
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How to raise interest of generation Y, Z for entrepreneurship

Michaela Slabova

Abstract: Considering that every 5th person in Central and Eastern Europe belongs to this group, it is almost 20%
probable that you and Y will meet on the Y generation. This is a good reason for better knowledge, especially when you
are one of them. The main factor determining the nature of our behavior is personal values. Recently, in Assessment
Systems, we conducted a study on whether Generation Y really differs so much from previous generations? We used high-
quality methodological tools to evaluate the main motivators and personality characteristics specific to the group.

Key words: Generation Y - Generation Z - Motivation for entrepreneurship

JEL Classification: M12

1 Introduction

New trends are aimed at encouraging young people to start their business. The Czech environment is still behind the
trends of the Western world. In order for the current business climate to offer candidates, they must first recognize their
needs and motivators.

Many companies face a critical shortage of labor. When searching for new colleagues, those companies who know
how and how to take on an individual age generation have advantages. There are five in the labor market. Age diversi-ty
is attributed to later retirement. Traditional, Baby Boomers, X, Y, Z. Five generations in the labor market. Some are trying
to be loyal, loyal and loyal to their boss forgive, other employees are unstable, critics and do not make the prob-lem to
change their jobs once they do not like it. How to attract and retain a team of different generations? And does it go at all?

How to focus on generation Y and Z?
First of all, it is a good idea to start with the generational trait and to know the biggest differences between them today.

Traditional and Baby Boomers: Thanks for being - Their desires in the field of employment are very similar. They
belong to the most frivolous employees who have taken up their jobs when they have not regularly changed their jobs.
Moreover, now that the retirees or just before retirement are afraid of being unable to retire due to age, they are among
the mild colleagues who do not complain. These people are particularly looking for the certainty of permanent employ-
ment and good interpersonal relationships at the workplace. The oldest things like phone calls, phone calls, mastery and
Skype, Baby boomers send and write SMS without problems, but they do not like the new technologies (Finance.id-
nes.cz,2018).

Generation X: Technical innovation - including some of the world's leading business and technology innovators - Jeff
Bezos, founder of Amazon Elon Musk, co-founder and CEO of Tesla or Larry Page, one of Google's founders. "Genera-
tion X witnessed the contrast of a working world without computers and the advent of technology and digital innovation.
They are highly comparing and able to appreciate the scale and impact of these innovations, so they favor forward-
thinking organizations and follow current technological trends, "explains Ladislav Kucera of Hays. An important deci-
sion-making factor for the X generation is also the balance between private and work life - they are responsible for family,
children. This generation is more than any other willing to discount from their wage claims if they are offered other
benefits such as flexible working hours, extra holidays, health care and the ability to work from home (Finance.id-
nes.cz,2018).

Milenials: Career progress - although there are some regional differences, it is essentially a generation that has stalled
the economic recession in 2007 to 2009, which is considered the worst global economic decline since the 1930s. But it is
also a generation that has enjoyed career opportunities. "This age group is considered to be particularly persistent, ambi-
tious, who are not afraid to take a little risk in their careers. He wants to hear constructive feedback from his employer,
he expects to go through his role and society, "says Ladislav Kugera, staff. Millennials do not want to be bounded. They
are aware of their opportunities and want to travel and gain foreign experience. This generation is looking for motivation
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bonuses related to performance. Therefore, if Y-members decide to change their employer, they prefer career advance-
ment, reward, education and development, or the opportunity to work abroad (Finance.idnes.cz,2018)

Generation Z: A strong brand-generation that grew up in social media and is common to spend up to 10 hours a day
online. They use current technology trends for a range of activities - from entertainment, work to socializing. More than
other generations attach importance to the reputation and name of the employer. It is subject to significant parental influ-
ence, in the family discussing the potential employer, the role it offers, and the wage. For many of the generation Z and
their parents, the employer's brand is often more important than the actual work they will perform. That's why they search
for companies that are active on social networks in the media, they work with websites and can defend why they are
leaders in their field (Finance.idnes.cz,2018).

Generation Y in business

Generation Y employees can shine in the business if they take into account their strengths and provide them with the right
work environment. (CZ.aystem.as., 2018)

In spite of the high qualities of average people, Generation Y does not mean they have everything they need for a
successful business. According to the expert experience of rating systems, there are usually four factors needed for busi-
ness confidence. Above all, it is necessary to have high ambitions in order to achieve success, see opportunities instead
of obstacles and have a positive approach to problems. One should not be satisfied with the status quo - the entrepreneur
should always look for new challenges and opportunities (ceskovdatech.cz, 2018).

Undoubtedly, the individual should also be strategically oriented in order to anticipate and predict the possible results
of the decisions made. Business also means continuous market analysis and perception of change. This requires the inter-
nal need to inform and learn new things if necessary. Last but not least, for a high level of business confidence, one should
have a general interest in making money and maximizing profits, which also means that he is interested in business topics
and deals with money alone. In general, if someone meets these requirements, they can be a successful entrepreneur.
While some of Generation Y's features are great for 21st Century workers, its members would need to learn from older
colleagues, how to properly learn new things, how to put the details in context, and how to handle the business. On the
other hand, their experienced colleagues should try to provide them with the flexibility and opportunity for interaction
that Generation Y will make to prosper (Ceskovdatech.cz, 2018).

Generation Z in business

The main reason why the Generation Z is interested in more and more experts in various fields is the simple fact that
roughly one third of the generation is already "mature” into productive age, entering the labor market, and with that, the
labor market is beginning to change to its image. As a Generation Z we refer to those of us who were born sometime
between 1995 and 2014 (but the exact range does not exist and can vary slightly in different sources), and there are over
20% in the Czech Republic, as well as members of previous generations (Generation X, or Husak's children, born approx-
imately between 1966-79 and Y generation, or millennials, born between 1980 and 1994) (Ceskovdatech.cz, 2018).

One third of Generation Z, about 6.5% of our population, is today between the ages of 17 and 23. Another roughly a
third of this generation consists of schoolchildren aged 10 to 16 who become economically active over the next few years.
The young labor force is incredibly demanding on the market, and it will have a much longer lifetime purchasing power
than previous generations. In addition, she will live longer - life expectancy at birth has increased from 1990 to 8 years
for men (76 years) and 7 years for women (82 years) (Ceskovdatech.cz, 2018).

The share of generations in the total population of the Czech Republic is seen on picture below.



Michaela Slabova: How to raise interest of generation Y, Z for entrepreneurship 86

Figure 1 The share of generations in the total population of the Czech Republic
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New future?

The results of the research among young people appear relatively positive if some of them entered the business. If they
themselves desire flexibility and are aware of discriminatory behavior in the labor market, it can be assumed that their
desires and knowledge will also be reflected in their employability role. On the other hand, some responses show that
young people are still quite optimistic, non-indifferent - an exemplary example is the belief that work depends on hard
work - and it is a question of what makes their views and visions work-oriented. As well as how family models and social
stereotypes reflect their true behavior. Because the young family, according to experts from GS, has a great influence on
their opinions and behaviour (Podnikatel.cz, 2008).

An example of the generation gap in the workplace in 2020 is seen below.

Figure 2 The generation gap in the workplace in 2020
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Barriers to Entrepreneurship for generation Y, Z

"Today young people are even more afraid of failure, it is not easy to find a hole in the market. They also have other
options, excellent conditions to go to multinational companies, large corporations. In fact, they have a much simpler
life and a very decent comfort there."

Karel Havlicek - Chairman of the SME Association
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In most cases the youth do not have any avenues for saving money and accumulating the margin money needed for
business. They are often required to raise the initial capital through the support of family and friends. In such cases the
amount of funds that can be put together would be meagre and not sufficient to get going. Very often the youth would
have to repay the education loan taken for funding their studies and hence will already be in debt servicing mode leav-
ing no possibilities for saving any money. Such youth are not considered to be safe and are perceived to be potential
risk by the bankers. Even if the youth has a very good business opportunity, the required technical knowledge and other
capabilities to make it a success, financing the business becomes a major hurdle (Managementstudyguide.com, 2018).

Motivation generation Y, Z to start business

Association of small and medium-sized enterprises and nurses of the czech republic involves youth to business. Young
people do not attract business and aim for certainty of a dependent / employee relationship. The unfavorable trend is
confirmed by the surprisingly low number of new entrepreneurs and the fact that we can not popularize tangible patterns.
Permanently reminiscent stories, a couple of domestic christians from chalk magazines are laughing and contempt for the
young generation. There are hundreds of top regional entrepreneurs who, for two decades, generate good added value,
invest, employ, speak less, and help selflessly. The business card manager of the 6th line of a multinational company in
Prague is a bigger attraction than to try to prove its own abilities in the region's own yard. All of this has led us to stop
playing a passive game and to mobilize creative individuals to try to convince them that it is better to produce boxes than
they are in a multinational company (Svou-cestou.cz, 2015).

The project is being prepared in cooperation with our long-term partner - Komeréni banka and media partner TRADE
NEWS. Since 2018, it has also been linked to the practical Business To! Workshops that help participants develop their
own real goals and do not rely on their ass. These workshops are currently taking place at nine Czech universities, several
other educational institutions and hundreds of graduates. Their founder, Jakub TiZek, became the guarantor of his project
- Young Business. They do not offer any closed club and they do not want financial contributions. Theycreate a broad
platform of young people who have the ambition to convince them that acting is independent (Svou-cestou.cz, 2015).

One of the main projects of the AMSP CR was launched in 2013 by a press conference, where we presented the results
of a unique survey among young people and continues with activities based on five pillars:

introducing patterns,
e setting up businesses,
¢ Evaluating intentions,
e  raising investors
e  Foreign cooperation.
Source: Svou-cestou.cz, 2015.

These colliding trends—the growing use of automated technologies and a new generation entering the workforce—
are creating an opportunity for organizations to reexamine the way they have defined entry-level work. Will the entry
level continue to serve as a learning environment for future leaders, with junior professionals focused on executing the
basic tasks that serve as the foundation for a profession? How can organizations ensure the flow of tacit knowledge in a
digitally driven environment? And, if entry-level jobs evolve, as we expect them to, will Gen Z be capable of delivering
on them? While universities may ultimately shift focus to close some of these skill gaps, employers and, specifically,
talent organizations, should evolve to secure the future talent pipeline. To do so requires a reexamination of the life cycle
of the entry-level employee experience. This includes reevaluating traditional approaches to employee acquisition as well
as job assignments, employee development, and influencing overall organizational culture. We will unpack each of these
parts of the overall employee experience and explore alternative ways to design the entry-level role of the future
(Deloitte.com, 2017).

2 Conclusions

The Czech environment should be adapted to the needs of generation x and y and, in this connection, to create a hew
learning platform for competence development. Thanks to the emerging support that not only leads to raising entrepre-
neurial awareness, young people can also take advantage of start-up financial packages and mentoring in the early begin-
nings of their business.

Entrepreneurship, it becomes imperative to study the current situation, identify the pitfalls and shortcomings and de-
sign new strategies to overcome and remove the obstacles and make the path easier and clear for the youth to pursue. The
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other area of importance happens to be to educate and empower the youth with the required knowledge, skills and training
to enable them to become successful entrepreneurs.

As a new generation enters the workforce, uniquely shaped by the time in which they live and the experiences that
they’ve had, organizations have the opportunity to evolve and take advantage of this generation’s emerging strengths,
putting them in a position to create lasting value for the organization. In either case, this article underscores the importance
of these practices and how they should be considered by business and talent leaders alike to support the incoming Gen Z
professionals.
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Telework and Financial Indicators in Industry 4.0

Miroslava VI¢kova, Jaroslav Vrchota, Zuzana Frantikova

Abstract: Telework is defined as work that is carried out outside the central office. For more and more companies, it is
an interesting alternative to set the way employees work. At present, telework is mainly benefit for employees. Flexible
modification of work is created thanks to innovation and optimization of communication tools. As a result, considerable
savings can be achieved. The indicators of financial analysis serve for the evaluation of the financial situation of compa-
nies. The source of information is mainly data from annual reports, i. e. financial statements, attachments and other
supplementary information issued annually.

Industry 4.0, also known under the name “the fourth industrial revolution” comprises not only the trend of automation
but also data exchange in manufacturing technologies. Furthermore, it includes cyber-physical systems, the Internet of
things, cloud computing and cognitive computing. In this paper, a certain link between the introduction of telework in the
company and the financial indicators within the industry 4.0. was identified. The indicators that were assessed within the
analyzed enterprises were: total assets, total inventory, return on equity, return on assets, EBIT, cash flow and labour
productivity.

Key words: Telework - SME' s - Financial and Economic Indicators - Industry 4.0

JEL Classification: G30 - J53 - M12 - M41

1 Introduction

Telework is defined as work outside the company's office, usually with using IT, when the results are trans-mitted by the
communication technologies, or work on assigned tasks is carried out directly on the remote server via an Internet con-
nection (Verbeke et al., 2008). Telework has spread rapidly in recent years. Telework as a concept was first introduced
as telecommuting by Jack Nilles (Nilles, Carlson, Gray, & Hanneman, 1976). Since telework can be defined in many
ways, we are interested in all situations where an employee works from home at least some of the time. The proportion
of teleworkers in the Czech Republic has been estimated to be in the range of 2,92 % among all workers (see EUROSTAT,
2017). However, these estimates are typically based on cases where employees regularly or always use telework and
could exclude cases where employees telework on an occasional or irregular basis.

Telework is more and more interesting alternative to set the way employees work. Since it can bring many benefits
for employers, such as lowering the cost of running a job by the reduction of the need for real estate, office space, supplies
(Peters et al., 2010; Verbeke et al., 2008) and other overheads (Morgan, 2004), the possibility of getting a cheaper work-
force by employing people from "poorer" areas or the possibility of employing experts that are rare and certainly it may
produce more satisfied employees that were given the chance to balance their work and life. Nevertheless, telework has
its cons as well. This type of employment can bring about certain shortcomings, such as more demanding communication
with colleagues, loss of social contacts, difficulty in employee discipline (Blaha, Mateicius, & Kanakova, 2005) or in-
crease of cost on employee’s side (Baruch, 2000). From a security point of view, data protection and integrity, as well as
user privacy, must be ensured.

Several researchers have found a small but robust empirical relationship between the use of specific work practices
and firm level outcomes such as profitability and productivity (e.g. Delery and Doty, 1996; Gerhart et al., 2000; Huselid,
1995; Jiang et al., 2012; Wright and McMahan, 1992). One reason why strategically chosen organizational practices can
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lead to improved firm performance is that the human capital of a workforce can be unleashed and fully utilized (see
Wright and McMahan, 2011).

Financial analysis is a tool that allows you to monitor, measure and evaluate the internal and external financial per-
formance of a company using key financial indicators and then accept effective management decisions (Pettik, 2005).
The pillar of the entire financial analysis is data from the financial statements prepared by companies in accordance with
the Accounting Act. They are the balance sheet, the profit and loss and the appendix to the financial statements.

In industrialized countries, the industry is currently shaped by the development towards the fourth stage of industrial-
ization, called Industry 4.0. Industry 4.0 is part of economy that produces fully mechanized and automated performances,
based on advanced digitization, combination of Internet technologies and future-oriented technologies in the field of
intelligent objects. Industry 4.0. is caused and driven by the social, economic and political change (Lasi, Fettke, Kemper,
Feld, & Hoffmann, 2014).

According RiiBmann et al. (2015) it was found out that the fourth wave of the technological progress will bring ad-
vantages in the following four areas:

o labour productivity — over the next five to ten years, Industry 4.0 will be accepted by more businesses, increasing
productivity in the manufacturing industry. Improving cost-effectiveness, excluding material costs, will range
from 15 to 25 percent,

e income growth — Industry 4.0 will also lead to revenue growth. Although manufacturers' demand for enhanced
equipment and new data applications will grow, this area will bring additional revenue,

e employment — growth that stimulates productivity and revenue growth will lead to an increase in employment
of 6% over the next ten years, and the engineering industry may grow even more — up to 10%. However, different
skills will be required. In the short term, this trend will lead to more automation, and some, often unskilled,
laborers who perform simple, repetitive tasks will be replaced by robots. At the same time, the growing use of
software will increase the demand for employees with competencies in the field of software development and
information technology,

e investments — adapting production processes to integrate Industry 4.0 will require billions of euros.

Under Industry 4.0, people and machines will therefore cooperate using cognitive technologies in industrial environ-
ments. Intelligent machines can help people do most of their work by speech recognition, computer vision, machine
learning, and advanced synchronization models. Advanced robot learning models are therefore important for people and
machines to develop skills that complement each other under any working conditions (Zhong, Xu, Klotz, & Newman,
2017).

2 Methods

The main goal of this paper is to evaluate the relation between financial indicators as total assets, total inventory, return
on equity, return on assets, EBIT, cash flow and labour productivity within the Industry 4.0 in enterprises that have
implemented telework.

As a statistical test it was used Mann-Whitney U test. The test, usually called U test, whose distribution under the null
hypothesis is known. U is then given by:

Uy =Ry — n—l(nzlﬂ) (1)

where n; is the sample size for sample 1, and R; is the sum of the ranks in sample 1.

The equally valid formula for U is:

U, =R, — L(nzﬁl) (2)

The smaller value of U1 and U2 is the one used when consulting significance tables. The sum of the two values is
given by:
ny(nq+1)

- + R, — np(np+1) (3)

U1+U2=R1_ 2

Knowingthat R, + R, = @ and N = n, + n,, and doing some algebra, we find that the sumis U, + U, =n, n,.
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Financial indicators that were analyzed are:

e total assets,
e total inventory,
e return on equity,

Return on equity (ROE) = L — ) 4)

owner’s equity

e  return on assets,

Return on assets (ROE) = — BT 4100 5)

total assets

o EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes),
e cash flow and
e labour productivity

Sales
Average number of employees (6)

12

Labour productivity per month =

Assets represents the property of the enterprise. Under property, we mean the sum of all tangible and intangible assets,
money, receivables and other property values that belong to entrepreneurs and are used for business. Assets are means-
tested assets that are expected to bring future economic benefits to the enterprise (Warren, Reeve, & Duchac, 2012).

Stocks are among the current assets or short-time assets of the enterprise. Their characteristic feature is that they are
consumed or, on the other hand, being consumed when the business is doing. An exception to this characteristic is goods.
Stocks include material, own production stocks, young animals, and fattening animals and goods (Welsch, & Zlatkovich,
1989).

The basic aspect of the breakdown of assets is their usefulness, the difficulty of their conversion into cash - liquidity
(Spiller, 2004). Profitability indicators are, in practice, the most closely monitored indicators, because profitability ex-
presses the efficiency of a business with which new sources of invested capital are created. Return on equity (ROE) is
one of the indicators of profitability and expresses how effectively the organization manages funds injected by sharehold-
ers / shareholders (Hole¢kova, 2008). Return on assets is among the indicators of profitability. It shows for how long a
business could refinance assets from profits (Brigham, & Ehrhardt, 2005).

EBIT is a term that denotes profit before tax and interest. It evaluates the performance of a business regardless of the
chosen method of financing (interest) and taxation. Cash flow is the flow of money. It is the main indicator of the enter-
prise's ability to finance business. It is possible to look at it as the difference between the income and expenditure for a
certain period (Larson, 1988).

Labour productivity we can count as total sales divided by average number of employees (Drury, 2012). The total
sales are the sum of the funds received by an entrepreneur or at a establishment for the goods or services provided during
the relevant time period.

3 Research results and discussion

The aim of the paper is to compare the above financial indicators for businesses that have established telework and at the
same time feel to be affected by industry 4.0. The study comprises 606 companies and the data were obtained based on
quantitative and qualitative research, i. e. both questionnaire survey and data collection from Albertina Gold Edition
database. The analyzed businesses are those that have established telework. The businesses have been divided into two
categories: the category of businesses that are affected by industry 4.0 and the category of businesses that are not affected
by industry 4.0. There were seven basic absolute and ratio financial indicators obtained from individual balance sheets
and profit and loss statements of businesses. It was tested at the significance level of the p-value <0.05. For indicators
where the difference in both groups was demonstrated, the p-value was close to zero. The results are in Table 1, which
shows that significant differences are in total assets, stocks, EBIT, cash flow, ROA and labour productivity.
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Table 1 Financial indicators and the influence of the industry 4.0
According to the variables. Industry 4.0 Highlighted tests are significant on the level p <0.05000
Variable - e s
umber umber
Yes No U Zz p-value adjusted p-value of YES of NO

Total assets 126626,5 |[55479,50 [33534,50 |3,751721 |0,000176 |3,751722 |0,000176 |394 209
Total inventory [104342,5 |39573,50 [23283,50 |5,170684 |0,000000 |5,171094 |0,000000 (356 180
EBIT 126856,5 |[53443,50 (3191550 |4,339616 |0,000014 |4,339617 |0,000014 |393 207
Cash Flow 130316,0 [52394,00 ([30658,00 |5,165072 |0,000000 |5,165073 |0,000000 |396 208
ROE 1224410 |60269,00 ([38533,00 |1,300653 ]0,193378 |1,300654 ]0,193378 |396 208
ROA 1254215 |[57288,50 [35552,50 |2,763244 0,005723 |2,763246 |0,005723 |396 208
Labour

120328,0 [56387,00 [35681,00 [2,018823 |0,043506 |2,018840 |0,043505 |391 203
productivity

Source: Databasis Albertina Gold Edition, own research, own processing

The values are also shown below on selected boxplots of individual frequencies, where it is obvious that the Indus-
try 4.0 businesses have higher maximum values and wider dispersion values in the middle quartiles.

Figure 1-5 Selected boxplots (Total inventory, EBIT, Cash Flow, ROA and Labour Productivity)
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Source: Databasis Albertina Gold Edition, own research, own processing

From the above-mentioned statistics in the table 1 and boxplots 1 — 5 it is apparent that there are many significant
differences with respect to the indicators such as total assets, total inventory, EBIT, Cash Flow and ROA in case of
businesses influenced or not influenced by industry 4.0. It is only the financial indicator ROE that has not proved statis-
tically significant difference between those two groups.

The results are very interesting both as individual values and combinations of values. The value of total assets is higher
for businesses affected by industry 4.0. By contrast, this group of businesses shows a lower value of total inventory. This
may be because businesses that are affected by industry 4.0 have a better managed supply and rather use the just in time
method. This can be intertwined with another indicator, as the lower value of inventory at the same time generates even
lower storage costs and thus higher profit. Profit or EBIT for businesses that are affected by industry 4.0 is more than
double than average for businesses that are not affected by industry 4.0. These companies also show even higher cash
flow rates (again more than doubled). ROE and ROA are higher for businesses in the first group, although this difference
is statistically significant only for ROA. The average monthly productivity of these businesses is also higher.

4 Conclusions

The research was conducted in the companies with established telework. Telework is an opportunity to work from home
which is often considered to be an employee benefit. The advantage of this type of work is the time savings spent by the
individual on the way and on the other hand, the organization will save the costs associated with the job created. These
businesses were then divided into two groups: a) the businesses that are affected by industry 4.0 and b) the businesses
that are not affected by industry 4.0. There were 606 businesses that were analyzed with respect to their total assets, total
inventories, return on equity, return on assets, EBIT, cash flow and labor productivity. It was found that in case of the
ROE there are no statistically significant differences (at the alpha significance level greater than 0.05) between the two
groups. For the other indicators, the differences were statistically significant. The companies affected by industry 4.0
were found to have higher total assets, EBIT, cash flow, ROA, higher labor productivity and lower total inventory. Over-
all, the selected indicators for the companies affected by industry 4.0 show more positive values than those that are not
affected by industry 4.0.

Acknowledgement

This paper has been supported by the Faculty of Economics of the University of South Bohemia within the Inter-nal grant competi-
tion administrated under the ref. number EF-1GS2017- Vrchota-1GS24B1.

References

Baruch, Y. (2000). Teleworking: Benefits and pitfalls as perceived by professionals and managers. New Technology, Work and Em-
ployment, 15(1), 34-49. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-005X.00063

Blaha, J., Mateicius, A., & Kanakova, Z. (2005). Personalistika pro malé a stiedni firmy. 1. vyd. Brno: CP Books.

Brigham, E. F., & Ehrhardt, M. C. (2005). Financial Management: Theory and Practice. Ohio: South-Western.

Delery, J. E., & Doty, D. H. (1996). Modes of theorizing in strategic human resource management: Tests of universalistic, contingency,
and configurational performance predictions. Academy of Management Journal, 39(4), 802—835. https://doi.org/10.2307/256713

Drury, C. (2012). Management and Cost Accounting. 8th Rev. ed. Hampshire: Cengage Learning.

Gerhart, B., Wright, P. M., McMahan, G. C., & Snell, S. A. (2000). Measurement error in research on human resources and firm
performance: How much error is there and how does it influence effect size estimates? Personnel Psychology, 53(4), 803-834.
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2000.tb02418.x

Holeckova, J. (2008) Finanéni analyza firmy. 1. vyd. Praha: ASPI, Wolters Kluwer.



Miroslava VI¢kova, Jaroslav Vrchota, Zuzana Frantikova: Telework and Financial Indicators in Industry 4.0 94

Huselid, M. A. (1995). The Impact of Human Resource Management Practices on Turnover, Productivity, and Corporate Financial
Performance. Academy of Management Journal, 38, 635-672. https://doi.org/10.2307/256741

Jiang, K., Lepak, D. P., Hu, J., & Baer, J. C. (2012). How does human resource management influence organizational outcomes? A
meta-analytic investigation of mediating mechanisms. Academy of Management Journal, 55(6), 1264-1294.
https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2011.0088

Larson, K. D. (1988). Fundamental accounting principles: statement of cash flows edition. 11th ed. Homewood: Irwin.

Lasi, H., Fettke, P., Kemper, H.-G., Feld, T., & Hoffmann, M. (2014). Industry 4.0. Business & Information Systems Engineering, 6(4),
239-242. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12599-014-0334-4.

Morgan, R. E. (2004). Teleworking: an assessment of the benefits and challenges. European Business Review, 16(4), 344-357.
https://doi.org/10.1108/09555340410699613

Nilles, J. M., Carlson, F. R., Gray, P., & Hanneman, G. J. (1976). The Telecommunications-Transportation Tradeoff. London:

John Wiley.Pettik, T. (2005). Ekonomické a finanéni ¥{zeni firmy. ManaZerské uéetnictvi v praxi. 1. vyd. Praha: Grada Publishing.

Peters, P., den Dulk, L., & de Ruijter, J. (2010). May | work from home? Views of the employment relationship reflected in line
managers’ telework attitudes in six financial-sector organizations. Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal,
29(5), 517-531. https://doi.org/10.1108/02610151011052799

Spiller, E. A. (2004). Financial accounting: basic concepts. 5th ed. Homewood: Irwin.
RiiBmann, M., Lorenz, M., Gerbert, P., Waldner, M., Justus, J., & Harnisch, M. (2015). Industry 4.0: The Future of Productivity and
Growth in Manufacturing Industries. Retriewed from: http://www.inovasyon.org/pdf/bcg.perspectives_Industry.4.0_2015.pdf.
Verbeke, A. et al. (2008) Growing the Virtual Workplace: The Integrative Value Proposition for Telework, Cheltenham, UK &
Northampton, US: Edward Elgar.

Warren, C. S., Reeve J. M., & Duchac, J. E. (2012). Financial Accounting 12th ed. Mason: Cengage Learning.

Welsch, G. A., & Zlatkovich, Ch. T. (1989). Intermediate accounting. 8th ed. Homewood, IL: Irwin.

Wright, P. M., & McMabhan, G. C. (1992). Theoretical perspectives for strategic human resource management. Journal of Management.
https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639201800205

Wright, P. M., & Mcmahan, G. C. (2011). Exploring human capital: Putting “human” back into strategic human resource management.
Human Resource Management Journal, 21(2), 93-104. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-8583.2010.00165.x

Zhong, R. Y., Xu, X., Klotz, E., & Newman, S. T. (2017). Intelligent Manufacturing in the Context of Industry 4.0: A Review. Engi-
neering, 3(5), 616-630. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENG.2017.05.015.


https://doi.org/10.1007/s12599-014-0334-4
http://www.inovasyon.org/pdf/bcg.perspectives_Industry.4.0_2015.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639201800205
https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENG.2017.05.015

The International Scientific Conference INPROFORUM 2018, November 1 - 2, 2018, Ceské Budéjovice, 95-100, ISBN 978-80-7394-726-2.

Effective Communication of a Manager in Small and Medium-sized
Enterprises - Personality Characteristics

Alena Carvagové, Petr Rehot

Abstract The paper deals with communication of a manager in small and medium-sized enterprises (SMESs). In the SMEs,
communication plays a very important role in many respects. Existing theory and psychology of the management offers
a variety of ways to recognize workers' competencies, to appropriately occupy positions and to create the prerequisites
for establishing effective managerial communication. However, these personality traits are difficult to measure. The pa-
per aims to find easily measurable characteristics such as gender, age, education, child care, and the siblings of the
managers and their subordinates. Data was gathered in the framework of a pilot research that was conducted to find
accurately measurable characteristics of managers and staff that imply effective management communication.

Key words: Managerial communication - Small and Medium-sized enterprises - Typology theories - Psychology - Per-
sonality characteristics

JEL Classification: M10 : L20

1 Introduction

Choosing a suitable worker who is highly likely to be able to establish effective communication is particularly important
for the following reasons: saving on the cost of recruiting new workers, saving the costs of training new workers, minimi-
zing the cost of removing disagreements caused by inefficient communication, If managers choose to use existing perso-
nality theory when selecting workers, they use soft data they receive on the basis of testing the jobseekers. Testing is
related to the risk of deliberately incorrect answers, is time-consuming, and requires professional co-operation with a
psychologist, often not available to SMEs, to interpret the results properly. If the relation of effective management
communication with one of the above-mentioned measurable characteristics is demonstrated, the selection of the workers
is significantly easier.

Within an organization, communication is a primary component of organizational success. Members of an organi-
zation spend the bulk of their time communicating with one another; this is particularly true of manager and subordinate
communication (Emanoil et al., 2013). Communication is a means to improve commitment and to stimulate employees
to achieve organizational goals (Tsai, Chuang & Hsieh, 2009).

Managerial communications is defined as the exchange of information from above and below, through both formal
and informal channels, which makes it possible to achieve the goals of the managers (Bfezinova, Holatova et al., 2014).
Daniela (2013) states that effective managerial communication in conjunction with efficient management practices pro-
vided a level of safety in any domain of activity within an organization. Whereas Mahajan et al. (2012) views communi-
cation as a managerial responsibility, Uusi-Rauva & Nurkka (2010) discusse communication with employees as a corpo-
rate responsibility.

Specialists identify various functions of communication in organization (Hynes, 2005; Ahmed et al., 2010):
transmission of decisions, to motivate employees, employees training, to promote organizational culture, information
regarding activities and implementing decisions, to create the image (Nothhaft, 2010).

The paper deals with managerial communication in the small and medium-sized enterprises, where the number of
employees within the organizational structure is crucial, not financial and property indicators. A small and medium-sized
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enterprise (SME) is defined as an enterprise with less than 250 employees and an annual turnover not exceeding EUR 50
million or its balance sheet total does not exceed EUR 43 million (Commission Recommendation, 2003). In the paper,
the definition based on the number of employees of less than 250 for each identification number of an organization is
primarily used.

Communication is one of the most challenging skills of an efficient manager. A good manager is a good communicator
and a good management is based on good communication skills of the manager (Tanriverdi et al., 2010). The personality
of a manager is crucial in this case. As Mikulastik (2015) reports, a personality is an integrated set of mental and physical
traits, internally organized, dynamic, variable, adaptable and unrepeatable. It is a sum of inborn assumptions and learned
patterns of behaviour. The personality is open to the influences of the environment and other personalities from the social
environment and has its own development. There are a number of personality theories. The theory of typology and the
theory of traits are best used in the management practice. Using these theories, the manager is more familiar with the
worker's personality and learns how to communicate with the employees.

Typology theories are often created in an intuitive way, yet they are the most common as they simplify the view of
human qualities into a certain stereotype. As a rule, they are based on the basic characteristics of temperament. The
following typologies are used:

— sanguine, choleric, melancholic, and phlegmatic by Galen and Hippocrates;
—  extravert/introvert, perception/feeling, thinking/intuition, judging/perception, known as MBTI — Myers-Briggs
Type Indicator (Kroeger, Thuesenova & Rutledge, 2006).

The theory of traits works with personality traits as bipolar dimensions to which each person can be included. In this
group, personality models based on factor analysis are included. There are the following examples:

— The model of T. Leary — scale of affiliation-aggression, dominance-submission, dependency-egocentrism, reser-
vedness-responsiveness;

— Theory of Kaiser & Koffey — types of managers: executive (friendly - dominant), dictator (hostile - dominating),
bureaucrat (hostile - submissive), sociable (friendly —submissive);

—  The model of seven dimension (Cloninger, 1993) — combines four factors of temperament that are innate (neo-
filia, avoidance of harm, dependence on reward, endurance) and three factors of character that are learned (self-
determination, ability and willingness to cooperate, self-transcendence).

Current theoretical knowledge provides the managers with ways to select suitable staff and establish effective commu-
nication with them. These methods, however, are based on precisely measurable psychological testing of the personality.

In the current literature, no expert platform has been found offering the designation of a worker for effective manage-
rial communication according to uniquely measurable data. Bartes (2006) recommends various methods, such as BCG
matrix, innovation life-cycle analysis and Balanced scoreboard. A number of authors (such as Dvoték, 2006; Hauschildt,
2014; Zizlavsky, 2012) recommend assessing different effects of innovation, classifying such effects as technical, econo-
mic and other. Other authors mention that innovation can be seen as an investment and, therefore, it is possible to use the
same financial indicators (Erner & Presse, 2010; Kislingerova, 2008). Zizlavsky (2012) proposes to supplement the fi-
nancial indicators with the non-financial indicators of internal processes.

2 Methods

The aim of the paper is to present the results of a pilot research aimed at finding characteristics of employers and employ-
ees which correlate with effective management communication.

The pilot research data was gathered through a questionnaire survey carried out in 2017 in 20 SMEs from the tertiary
sector of the Czech economy. The selection of the enterprises was done randomly. The managers of the organization were
asked to fill in a printed questionnaire with 37 questions. After filling in, the managers chose one of their subordinates,
whom they described as effectively communicating. An effectively communicating worker was defined as a worker who
understands the instructions, performs the tasks in accordance with the expectations of the assigning manager, puts mea-
ningful questions and provides feedback on the accomplishment of the tasks. This worker was then asked to complete a
questionnaire of 38 questions. The questions in both questionnaires (both for the manager and for the communicating
worker) were similar in order to analyze the correspondence of the answers. For the purpose of this article, five questions
were selected from the questionnaires, and analyzed. Questions were oriented on gender, age, education, siblings order
and childcare. Both, the manager and the best cummunicating employee get 5 questions. The reasons for selection this
questions were:
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- definitely measurable,
- definitely comprehensible,
- empirical probable for fulfilment of hypothesis.

There were two very similar questionnaire in every SME — one for the manager and one for the subordinate. The first
respondent in SME was always the manager. The manager had to have minimal 2 subordinates. After completing the
questionnaire choosed the manager one of his subordinates. He choosed such a subordinate who was the best in commu-
nication with him. Than he asked the choosen employee for comlete the questionnaire.

The aim was to prove the following hypotheses:

Hypothesis 1: Characteristics such as gender, age, education, child care, and position among the siblings between the
manager and the worker show a significant correlation rate, the canonical correlation test is significant.

Hypothesis 2: The frequency of gender, age, education, childcare, and position among the siblings for a worker marked
by their managers as effectively communicating exceeds 50%.

The following statistical methods will be used to verify hypotheses: canonical correlation test, frequency of
occurrence.

3 Research results

Multidimensional analytical information with a nominal binary (gender, childcare) and multicast (age group, education,
siblings) was obtained from the pilot questionnaire survey. However, it was always a nominal scale where only equality
and inequality operators were introduced, with qualitative variables marked with different digits.

The purpose of the statistical analysis was to find out if some of the characters mentioned by the organizational ma-
nagers correlate with the specific characters of their effectively communicating subordinates. For this purpose, a canonical
correlation analysis was used to find a pair correlation coefficient.

Analysing the correlation between the left and right sets (see Table 1), when the left set is manager information and
the right set is the information of an effectively communicating worker, it was found that the strongest correlation arose
between employee education and child care by the employee (the higher educational attainment, the lower tolerance of
childcare).

On the contrary, the smallest correlation was shown between the age of manager and education of an effectively
communicating employee, and in the existence of a child care by the manager and the sibling position of an effectively
communicating employee.

Table 1 Analysis of the left and right sets

Manager /Effecti-

vely communicating Gender Age Education Childcare Siblings
employee

Gender 0,2 0,14 0,08 0,06 0,12
Age -0,02 0,16 -0,35 0,06 -0,04
Education 0,03 0,05 0,18 0,57 0,14
Childcare -0,29 0,16 0,37 -0,06 -0,35
Siblings 0,34 0,09 0,27 0,06 0,08

Source: own processing

The strong correlation between manager education and child care by the employee is evident due to the high canonical
R =0.84, however p = 0.2386, at the same time, meaning the insufficient significance of the correlation justifying the low
number of random selection elements n = 20 (see Table 2). Hypothesis 1 was confirmed. The canonical correlation test
is significant (R = 0.84). The correlation between the manager's education and the presence of childcare is 0.5659. Howe-
ver, it was a pilot research that will be expanded on the basis of the result - there will be an increase in the random selection
elements, i.e. in other SMEs in the tertiary sector of the economy.

Table 2 Statistical results of analysis of the left and right sets

Canonical R 0,84

Chi quadrate 29,63
p 0,24
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Number of valid cases 20
Source: own processing

The frequency of occurrence of the characteristics of workers identified as effectively communicating is summarized
in the following tables. As reported by table 3, the question: “Do you take care of a child of less than 10 years old for at
least 15 days of a month?” was answered yes by 5 out of 20 effectively communicating employees and 15 out of 20
answered no. 75% of the respondents of effectively communicating workers do not provide care for a child under 10 years
of age at least 15 days in a calendar month.

For the question “Gender,” 20 of the respondents who were effectively communicating 14 chose “Female® and six
chose the option “Male* - see. Table 4. 70% of the workers whom their managers identified as effectively communicating
are women.

Table 3 Frequency of childcare in effectively communicating workers

Yes No

5 15
Source: own processing

Table 4 Frequency of gender in effectively communicating workers

Female Male

14 6
Source: own processing

For the “Age* option, the option “up to 25 years old“ was chosen by four workers, the option “26-35 years old* was
selected by seven workers, the option “36-45 years old* was selected by four employees, the option “46-55 years old*
was selected by two employees and “over 55 years of age” were chosen by three workers. Among the workers that their
managers identified as effectively communicating, by Table 5, the age group 26-35 was the most common. This group
accounted for 35% of all respondents who were effectively communicating. The least common age group of 46-55 years
old represented 10%.

Table 5 Frequency of age in effectively communicating workers

up to 25 years 26-35 years 36-45 years 46-55 years over 55 years
4 7 4 2 3
Source: own processing

Regarding the “Education®, the option “university education* was chosen by five workers, the option of “secondary
school or college of higher education* was selected by eleven of these employees, the option “vocational school* was
selected by four employees and the option “primary education* was chosen by none of the employees. Among the workers
identified by their managers as effectively communicating, the education group of “secondary school or college of higher
education ,, was the most common, as reported by Table 6. This group accounted for 55% of all respondents who were
effectively communicating. The “primary* educational group was not represented at all.

Table 6 Frequency of education in effectively communicating workers

University education

Secondary school

Vocational school

Primary education

5

11

4

0

Source: own processing

The question “I am...” was answered “A single child” by three of the workers; ,,first born” by seven of them, “second
born” by eight and the “third born” by two of the effectively communicating employees. Among the workers, described
by their managers as effectively communicating, the “second born“ group was the most represented. This group, accor-
ding to Table 7, accounted for 40% of all respondents who were effectively communicating. The second largest group
was the first born, who accounted for 35% of all respondents who were effectively communicating. The least represented
group was the ,,third born“ group, which accounted for 10% of the respondents who were effectively communicating.

Table 7 Frequency of sibling position in effectively communicating workers

Single child

First born

Second born

Third born

3

7

8

2

Source: own processing
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Hypothesis 2 was confirmed. The frequency of occurrence of some of these characteristics exceeded 50%. These are
the following characteristics: child care, gender, education. The statistically most significant finding in monitoring the
occurrence frequency was the fact that 75% of the workers identified in the pilot research as communicating effectively
were of non-child care workers. Less than 75% were women, but women who do not care for a child. More than 50% of
workers identified as communicating effectively completed secondary education with Maturita exam or a college of
further education.

However, the interesting findings of the pilot research although not the subject of the research was related to the fact
that the 13 out of 20 interviewed managers were the first-born (if a single child accounted as the first born too, then it
would be 15 managers out of 20). Thus, the hypothesis arises that the first-born children are most likely to become the
managers in SMEs in the tertiary sector.

4 Conclusions

Based on the data obtained so far, it could be advisable to select female employees not taking care of a child and those
with secondary education with Maturita examination or a college of further education. However, this is only a pilot survey
with a small number of respondents, which does not provide sufficient degree of significance. Both hypotheses were
confirmed.

The more educated the manager, the more often they a person who does not take care of a child choose as an effective
communicator. More than 50% of effectively communicating workers were non-child care workers and women (no child-
care), and those with secondary education with Maturita exam or a college of further education. The data, however, are
not relevant to creating a valid conclusion. To this end, there is a need to increase the number of organizations surveyed.

Both of the pilot research hypotheses were confirmed and provide a relevant reason for continuing the research. The
key task of further research will have to reject or confirm the hypothesis that, more than 50% of the respondents identify
a person who does not take care of a child as an effectively communicating worker. If this hypothesis is confirmed, it will
be necessary to create a base for effective communication with those who take care of a child. It will be necessary to find
out whether it is possible to create a more appropriate working environment for these people (such as flexible forms of
work as stated in the research of Hari, 2016 or Kang & Sung, 2018), whether there is scope for their more effective
motivation following Pink (2009), and whether it is possible to create specific tools for effective communication between
the manager and the child care workers.

There were not found any other studies occupieing the same theme. The paper is inovating in the area which concetra-
tes in. It works with easy measurable characteristic of staff which can lead to effectively communication in the SME. The
study has its limitations. The limitation is in existence of latent variables of every personality.
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Innovation management in a selected organization

Ladislav Uhlif, Petr Rehof

Abstract At present, human society is at a time when the world around us is changing at the fastest pace in the history
of humanity. Innovation is not only an opportunity for business but is becoming a necessity without which organizations
would be condemned to disappear. It should be remembered that only a good idea is not enough. For businesses, it is
essential that ideas are matched by successful innovations. In other words, it depends on the quality management of
innovation processes. The paper is about managing innovation. The object of the survey was a medium-sized manufac-
turing enterprise. This article evaluates the innovation management in the sample enterprise and, at the same time, is
suggests particular improvements in this area.

Key words: Innovation management - Innovation process - Innovation - Improvement proposals - Innovation evaluation
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1 Introduction

The definition of innovation in the paper is based on the definition of the European Commission: Innovation is the recon-
struction and expansion of a range of products and services and the related markets, the creation of new production,
supply, and distribution methods, and the implementation of changes in management, the organization of labour, working
conditions and the skills of the workforce (MPO, 2004). Innovations are closely linked to management. Innovation ma-
nagement is a very dynamic field that is not linear and repeatable. It is open to cooperation with others, from the level of
workers, through cross-departmental cooperation to co-operation between different market entities and industries (Mo-
rente & Ferras, 2017). As a proces within organisations, innovation is about new products or processes leading to the
enhancement of value for customers and shareholders (Adams et al., 2006; Bessant, 2003).

It follows from the above that there are different types of innovation. Also, there are different views related to the
classification of innovations. Regarding the degree of the change caused by innovation, Pitra (2006) defines significant
innovation (such as a new product; a new line of products) and continuous innovation (such as a change in the characte-
ristics of a product). Innovation has been regarded as a dependable way to generate long-term stability, achieve sharehol-
der returns, maximize employee satisfaction, and stay at the forefront of the industry through attaining a sustainable
position (Cottam et al., 2001).

Tidd, Bessant and Pavitt (2007) together with Ghosh, Kato and Morita (2017) mention radical and incremental inno-
vations. Dvotak (2006) sees the types of innovation in a similar way, defining evolutionary and revolutionary innovation,
and also considering the size of the investment needed, the source of innovation impulse and the extent of risk. A more
detailed classification of innovation according to the magnitude of change, was defined by FrantiSek Valenta in the 1950s.
Each innovation can be assigned to one of the nine levels (Svejda & kolektiv, 2007; Valenta, 2001). However, the division
of innovations can also be seen from a material point of view. As an example, Kosturiak & Chal’ (2008) define product
innovation, process innovation and business system innovation. Francis and Bessant (2005) introduced the concept of 4P
innovation. There are product, process, position, and paradigm innovations in the model (Abdel-Razek & Alsanad, 2013).

The paper uses the classification of the Oslo Manual, defining product, process, organizational and marketing inno-
vation (OECD & Communities, 2005). The Oslo Manual also lists the most important factors that can act as the barriers
to innovation. These are economic, business and other factors (OECD & Communities, 2005). Goepel et al. (2012) states
that the sources of innovation barriers are the internal organizational elements of the enterprise and the individual beha-
viour of those involved in innovation. Different barriers exist among individual people involved in innovation, at the level
of workers and business units, at the enterprise level, at the sector level and at the regional and national level (Karlsson
& Stetler, 2015).
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The studies on innovation barriers at an enterprise and organization level revealed that the most frequent obstacles to
an effective innovation process are funding and cost issues, knowledge factors, technological barriers, risk aversion, social
and cultural barriers, poorly chosen strategies, and heavy workload (D'este, Immarino, Savona & VVon Tunzelmann, 2012).
At the individual level, the most common barriers include lack of cooperation, unclear targeting and lack of resources
influenced by such factors as corporate culture, support of the top management and individual skills and creativity of the
employees (Uzkurt, Kumar & Ensari, 2013). As Fiorentino (2010) states, it is important for successful businesses to apply
a systematic approach to innovation management. An important area is related to the assessment of innovation perfor-
mance. More (2011) states, that there are a number of approaches in the innovation assessment. By him, it is not possible
to use the financial indicators of success only, because innovation can generate value, even if it makes losses.

Tidd & Isaksen (2002) stated that innovation management is defined as the process of designing new ideas and orga-
nizing them into widely practice. According to the literature, innovation management needs to be directed at products,
markets, production competencies as well as administrative competencies (Tomala & Séméchal, 2004).

According to Pratali (2003), managing innovation involves two simultaneous, interrelated fundamental objectives of
competitiveness: improving product quality (a prerequisite to success), and improving the company's overall technologi-
cal quality (a prerequisite to lasting success). Process innovation embraces quality function deployment and business
process reengineering (Cumming, 1998). According to Johne (1999), it provides the means for safeguarding and impro-
ving quality and for saving costs. He also maintains that process innovation is important in both the supply of the core
product as well as in the support part of any offer.

Bartes (2006) recommends various methods, such as BCG matrix, innovation life-cycle analysis and Balanced score-
board. A number of authors (such as Dvorak, 2006; Hauschildt, 2014; Ziilavsky, 2012) recommend assessing different
effects of innovation, classifying such effects as technical, economic and other. Other authors mention that innovation
can be seen as an investment and, therefore, it is possible to use the same financial indicators (Erner & Presse, 2010;
Kislingerova, 2008). Zizlavsky (2012) proposes to supplement the financial indicators with the non-financial indicators
of internal processes.

2 Methods

The aim of the paper is to evaluate innovation management in a sample organization and to propose changes to improve
the current state. Qualitative methods of research were used to do so. After the necessary insights into the field of inno-
vation management, a series of questions were created for semi-structured interviews with the managers of the sample
organization. These interviews took place in February and March 2018.

The first interview was conducted with the managing director, who talked mainly about more general topics, about
the organization and the significant changes that have occurred in the organization in recent years. The second interview
was conducted with the manager of the technical department. The central theme of this interview was the management of
innovation across the enterprise, the involvement of the departments and staff. In addition, the documentation related to
the innovation management and the continuous process improvement approach introduced in 2017 was also discussed.
The third interview was conducted with the manager of the production hall, which is responsible for preparing the
currently planned process innovation. This interview aimed to get as much information as possible about the management
process of a particular innovation to describe it in detail and to identify possible shortcomings.

Another method used in the research was the analysis of internal documents of the enterprise. Specifically, this invol-
ved documentation on the intended process innovations and the financial statements for 2008-2016. As an additional
method of data collection, direct participation in the workplace and observation of the internal processes we used.

The information obtained by the above mentioned methods has enabled the authors to describe the current state of
innovation management in the sample organization and then evaluate it critically. The organization surveyed is the largest
from a group, measured by the number of employees, and the group's main production facility. The research and develo-
pment of new products takes place almost exclusively in the parent company in Germany.

3 Research results

In the surveyed organization, the product innovations are therefore addressed only marginally, mostly as the incremental
innovations. It is usually dealing with a better technical and economical solution for one of the final product parts. The
process and organizational innovation are of greater importance in the organization.
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The management of innovation activities in the organization is primarily a task for the production hall manager and
the head of the technical department. The manager of the production hall is in charge of managing larger process innova-
tions, such as acquiring new equipment in production. The manager of the technical department is concerned with the
smaller product innovations mentioned above, employee improvement suggestions, and CPI approach - Continuous Pro-
cess Improvement.

In general, innovation is seen in a friendly way. The management is aware of the dynamism of the changes taking
place in society and the fact that, without innovation, the organization would sooner or later be condemned to extinction.
At the same time, they do not want to take on only a reactive position and adapt to change, but want to be the market
leader in all aspects. Consequently, the management is not only focused on performance and sales, they want the company
to be an example for the employees, the neighbourhood and the environment.

Openness and overall access to innovation are some of the positive signs of innovation management in an organization.
A degree of flexibility is another positive feature. For example, it is characterized by a willingness to promptly change
the current innovation activities in the case of a more favourable option and changing the entry conditions. It is very
positive to use the CPI approach in the field of innovation management. This is characterized by continuous monitoring
of all processes in the organization and the search for opportunities to improve them.

On the other hand, the absence of a systematic approach to innovation management is one of the issues. This is mani-
fested, for example, by the fact that innovations are controlled quite randomly. Also, no specific person is responsible for
managing the innovation. Nowadays, the management of the innovations is mainly concerned by the manager of the
technical department and the manager of the production hall section. However, their powers and responsibilities are not
firmly defined in this area. Another lack of a non-systematic approach is the fact that the organization is not consistently
guided by documentation of innovation processes. This results, for example, from not realizing some of the ideas, but
also the inability to reverse the failure of a particular innovation. A significant shortcoming has been identified in the
decision-making process on innovative alternatives. The only financial indicator when deciding on a variant was the
indicator of a simple repayment period. However, this method does not take into account the income flowing after the
repayment period and therefore it is not appropriate to use it separately in the decision-making.

Based on the situation, five specific proposals were designed to improve the management of innovation processes.
The suggestions are described below. The first proposal is to create a job position to manage innovation activities in the
enterprise. An employee in this position would be responsible for coordinating all activities related to the innovation
activity. Part of the task would be to constantly monitor the processes in the organization and look for opportunities for
improvement, regular communication with staff from different departments on improvement and innovation, and addres-
sing these topics. This person would be responsible for managing the ongoing innovation processes.

The innovation manager would monitor the progress of the innovation process, create project teams for specific situ-
ations, communicate across the departments, and delegate the tasks.

Table 2 Benefit card

Benefit for production process Benefit for workers

Benefit for the whole organization Benefit for customers

Source: own processing

Making decisions about implementing a particular innovation has a significant subjective aspect in the organization.
In order to provide greater objectivity in deciding on potential future innovations, it is therefore proposed to introduce a
structured assessment system of innovative options. The proposed method consists of creating two tables - a benefit card
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and a scoreboard. The benefit card lists all the benefits of a particular innovation according to its field of application -
benefits for the customer, employee, production process and society as a whole. The benefit card is shown in Table 1.

The scoreboard then evaluates the benefits for areas of influence and the financial side of innovation. The amount of
the weighted benefits then represents the means for deciding on the variation. The scoreboard can be seen in Table 2. The
introduction of this method should be used as a tool for assessing the innovations in an enterprise, which includes both
financial indicators and benefit indicators for different areas of influence. This method has two uses. First, it provides a
guideline for deciding between several innovative variants. It also allows retrospective evaluation of the innovations.

There is currently no system for rewarding the employees who will contribute to the improvement proposal. It is
recommended introducing a system of financial reward for the improvement proposals made for employees. It can be
assumed that, with the vision of a possible monetary valuation, employees will be more likely to communicate their
proposals and, at the same time, this evaluation will encourage more workers to think about possible improvements.

Table 2 Scoreboard

Area of influence Benefit assesment

(0-5) Weight of area Weighted average

Whole organization

Customers

Employees

Production proces

Capital intensity

Payback period

NPV

Total X 1

Source: own processing

The organization lacks a systematic approach to managing innovation. At the same time, an evaluation of the man-
agement of innovation activities is not carried out. The solution for both of these areas can be the creation of the innovative
scorecard - a system of interconnected balanced indicators of innovation management.

As can be seen from the theoretical part, it is not appropriate to evaluate innovation activities solely by means of the
financial results. The creation of a system based on the Balanced Scorecard can therefore be a good solution. The pro-
spective perspectives should include input indicators into the innovation process, process progress indicators, learning
and growth outlook indicators, and financial indicators. In a prudent selection of indicators, this method, on the one hand,
provides management with a means of assessing the performance of innovation management, but can also be a means of
transferring an innovation strategy to specific tasks across departments. The objectives should be measurable in order to
objectively decide on their fulfilment. An example of possible linking of individual indicators is shown in Figure 1.

The latest proposal is to create a database containing records of innovative activities. All ideas for improvement or
innovation, innovations, stakeholders, etc. should be centrally centralized. An unsuccessful innovation area should be an
important part - at which stage of the process failure has occurred? What was the reason? Was the deadline or budget
exceeded? The existence of such documentation, on the one hand, makes it possible to return to previously unrealized
ideas, but it also provides a valuable resource for analyzing the failure of innovation activities and thus a means to subse-
quently improve these shortcomings in future projects.
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Figure 1 Balanced scoreboard of the innovation process management
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4 Conclusions

The paper reviewed the status of innovation management in a selected organization. Both its negative and positive parts
were presented. Innovation management refers to the enterprise can utilize new management elements (such as new me-
thod, new model, etc.) to integrate the enterprise management system in order to make more effective and achieve the
goals. Although innovation in an organization is perceived as an important source of competitiveness, no emphasis is
placed on their management. Based on identified shortcomings, specific proposals have been made to improve the current
state of innovation management. Companies are recommended, for example, to create an innovation manager position
and use a more consistent approach to documenting innovation. It is also recommended to create a system for rewarding
the improvement suggestions of the employees. A specific methodology is proposed for evaluating the improvement
proposals and determining the amount of reward. In addition, a system for evaluating the management of the innovation
process is created. This system is based on the Balanced Scorecard and allows assessing the level of management of the
innovation process, but it is also a tool for the management. These suggestions can help other organizations to streamline

their innovation process.
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Innovation Literacy Quantification in Social Enterprises

Petra Krejci

Abstract: The main goal of the paper is to set competencies for the evaluation of the innovation literacy rate in social
enterprises in the field of innovation creation. A literature review will be made in order to determine literacy types and
competencies for the narrower definition of innovation literacy. Based on these findings, theoretically set competencies
in social enterprises in the field of innovation creation in the Czech Republic will be defined. The added value of this
paper will be the focus on entrepreneurs' opinions on the creations of social innovation in social enterprises in the Czech
Republic from the point of view of superiority and subordination. Furthermore, competencies are allocated to three types
of innovation in a social enterprise. These three types of innovation include employee-focused innovation, product-ori-
ented innovation and enterprise-wide innovation. The final evaluation is based on secondary research on the literacy rate
in enterprises by using pre-set competencies. In the conclusion part of the paper we will highlight the possibilities of
further primary research following on from this research. Competencies should help in the development of future primary
research focusing on innovation literacy in social enterprises in the Czech Republic.

Key words: Literacy - Social enterprise - Innovation - Literacy rate - Competencies

JEL Classification: L31 - O35

1 Introduction

Social entrepreneurship is currently a very intensively discussed topic, especially in the Czech Republic. Social risks are
an inherent part of every society and social enterprises are able to partially solve this issue in an efficient manner (Gojova).
There are approximately 222 indirectly registered social enterprises in the Czech Republic and their number is still rising
(Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, 2018). Their increasing number and importance in addressing social risks in
society inspired an interest in their functioning and the potential integration of this activity in legislation. The development
of social entrepreneurship is very often accompanied with a positive approach to innovation. Inside a social enterprise,
innovations and their creation are broadly discussed issues. Each social enterprise handles innovation differently and the
general literacy rate in this area is not known. Due to the abovementioned facts, it is advisable to determine the innovation
literacy rate in these enterprises applying the pre-set parameters.

In general, authors do not agree on the definition of social entrepreneurship and social enterprise. The definitions in
this field are mostly formulated in line with the research that the author focuses on. This situation logically follows from
the fact that neither social entrepreneurship nor social enterprise has been legally defined at all. Therefore, one encounters
many different definitions of social enterprises. (Mulgan, 2006; Loudin, 2015; Baregheh et al., 2009; Gidron and
Yekeskel, 2012)

In this paper social enterprises include social integration enterprises and all enterprises that can be classified as social
enterprises, as defined in the Social Economy Thematic Network (TESSEA). Social entrepreneurship can be defined as
an activity contributing to the improvement of the environment and society. These activities are important for regional
development, for example, by creating jobs for people at a disadvantage in the labour market. Social entrepreneurship is
associated with promotion of public benefits and at the same time with profit-making. A social enterprise may be defined
as a legal entity that is a “social entrepreneurship entity” and has been or has in part been founded under private law. A
social enterprise can also be defined as a natural entity that meets the principles of a social enterprise. A social enterprise
should be established, but also developed on the basis of economic, social and environmental benefits, and should fulfil
the public benefit objectives defined in the foundation documents. An integration social enterprise is defined as a “social
entrepreneurship entity” that can be both a legal entity and a natural entity. In both cases, the integration social enterprise
must meet the principles of a social enterprise, fulfil the public benefit objectives and be established and developed on
the basis of economic, social and environmental benefits. Public benefit objectives are understood as social inclusion and
employment of people at a disadvantage in the labour market (TESSEA, 2018).
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Defined in a varied manner depending on the focus, literacy represents an inherent part of a well-functioning business,
whether it concerns entrepreneurship in a social or different enterprise. Classified as one of the types of literacy, functional
literacy can be understood in a variety of ways. M. Dobrovska (2001) states that functional literacy does not cover solely
the ability to write, read and calculate, but also the ability to actively participate in the world of information (Dobrovska,
2001). In addition, applying a different point of view, functional literacy may be divided into three parts, specifically, into
functional literary, documentary and numerical literacy. Moreover, functional literacy does not include only mastery of
one’s own native tongue, but also of a foreign language (Pavelkova et al., 2012). In contrast, Fasnerova claims that func-
tional literacy means skills a person is furnished with for the implementation of various activities required by modern day
civilization (Fasnerova, 2018). According to Pavelkova et al. (2012) functional literacy also encompasses information
literacy. This type of literacy is described as mastering work with information including information and communication
technologies (Pavelkova et al., 2012).

However, information literacy may represent a separate type of literacy. In this case, information literacy is closely
linked to education and similarly as functional literacy, it can be divided into literary, documentary and numerical literacy,
while being extended with language and computer literacy (Dobrovska et al., 2004). As to financial literacy, it is very
widespread and nowadays it is necessary not only in the field of business, but in many other areas. It represents the skills
associated with understanding numbers, dealing with numbers, being aware of basic financial products and the associated
risks, which encourage the ability to handle funds and assets. Based on numerical literacy in general, it is a separate
component of information literacy (Pavelkova et al., 2012).

A major component for the determination of literacy is competencies that clearly set out the rate of the required
literacy. Regarded as unique and individual, competencies are important for successful negotiations in a variety of situa-
tions. In general, competencies also include the attitudes and motivation of their holders (Veleska, 2008). Furthermore,
competencies can also be referred to as abilities or qualifications, namely in connection with managerial competencies.
Due to this, competencies divide managers into two categories - average and excellent (Kubes et al., 2004). It is generally
presumed that competencies can be valued, are detectible and relevant for practice. In view of this, they can be described
at various levels, learned and further developed. In addition, a strong relationship with organizational efficiency is pre-
sumed. (Caird, 1992; Prahalad and Hamel, 1990)

This paper aims to set profile competencies for the evaluation of the literacy rate in social enterprises in terms of
innovation creation. The profile competencies set by this secondary research will be suitable for quantifying innovation
literacy. Therefore, all of the set profile competencies are expected to be quantifiable items, whether from the point of
view of superiority or subordination.

2 Methods

Several methods were applied in the successive steps leading to the definitive conclusion:

the first step was the secondary research, drawing on the published public data,

— the second step was processing the data using historical and theoretical analysis, building on the applied second-
ary research,

— the third step was to draw conclusions resulting from the literature review, where logical induction was applied,
— the fourth step was the final deriving of usable competencies, applying the deduction method,
— the full conclusion is based on the logical induction method (Vacekova et al., 2015).

Within the methodology for this paper it has been stipulated that competencies are understood as the ability to cope
with the workload in the context of working with innovations in a social enterprise and having the knowledge and skills
required for this position. Competencies are part of innovation literacy. Innovation literacy is derived from the definitions
referred to in the introduction of this paper and is defined as an individual ability to understand and identify separate areas
in the content including the knowledge relating to innovations in a social enterprise.

3 Research results

Literacy and associated competencies are expedient for an enterprise that intends to develop further in the given market.
This paper focuses on innovation literacy in a social enterprise. Social enterprises in the Czech Republic are not familiar
with innovation literacy. Therefore, only secondary data from certain social enterprises that share information about their
activities with the public are available. In view of this fact it is suitable to conduct primary research in the future, focusing
on the quantification of innovation literacy in the area of social enterprises. This paper prepares the ground for such
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primary research. For the compilation of an appropriate questionnaire, to be used in future primary research, it is necessary
to set the appropriate competencies for the quality quantification of innovation literacy.

For further research individual competencies have been specially set for three types of innovation. These three inno-
vations are employee-focused innovation, product-oriented innovation and enterprise-wide innovation. Employee-fo-
cused innovation aims at improving the employees’ quality of life in a social enterprise (for example, it may concern an
innovation that makes work easier for disabled employees). Product-oriented innovations are aimed at improving the
quality of production or products manufactured by the enterprise (for example, it may entail purchasing new technology).
Enterprise-wide innovation focuses on improving the environment in a social enterprise (for example, it may mean re-
pairing a roof or the reconstruction of the outer area of the enterprise) (Krejéi and Sebestova, 2018).

3.1 Competencies

Innovation competencies include experience, skills, abilities, knowledge, and motivation. Experience is understood as a
continuing understanding further usable for innovation development in a social enterprise. Skills mean a disposition in
the area of innovation obtained via practical experience and learning. Abilities are understood as the premise and potential
to cope with activities promoting innovation in the enterprise. Knowledge means a summary of the findings and under-
standing gained from study or practical experience in the area of innovation. Motivation means an external or internal
factor influencing attitudes toward innovation in the enterprise. All of the below set competencies in the individual areas
are aimed at the possibility of better targeting of questions in future research.

Table 1 presents a list of competencies, which can be further used and developed into individual types of innovation.
The table contains the competencies that may also be required in all of the three innovation types. All of the competencies
in Table 1 focus on innovation in a social enterprise.

Table 1 Profile competencies in the area of innovation in a social enterprise

Profile compe-

Area Experience Skills Abilities Knowledge Motivation
In \(/jvorklng un- Organising Initiatives Expertise Empathy of
er stress superiors
In innovation .
implementa- Planning Team work Tgrmlnolggy (of | Openness toward
. innovations) employees
tion process
In introducing - . Training of Gal_ned from_ Communication
. . Decision-making practical experi- -
innovations employees ence with employees

Practical expe-

Administrative

Practical appli-

Types of innova-

Self-reflection in

o - cation of S - relation to subordi-
tencies in the rience work knowledge tion financing nates
area of innova-
tioninasocial |y gealing with -
enterprise - . .- Self-reflection in
a crisis during Efficient . S . -
: - Creativity Legislation relation to superi-
innovation checks
ors
work
Efficient Lo - Involvement of
A Innovation im- | Production pro- .
utilisation of debt . employees in the
. plementation cess
capital process

Creating a stim-
ulating environ-
ment

Source: own processing

Experience in Table 1 is associated with working under stress, the innovation implementation process, introducing
innovations as well as practical experience and experience in dealing with a crisis during innovation work. All of this
experience can be found in all three types of innovation. Whatever type of innovation is conducted in the enterprise, it is
a great advantage if both the superiors and subordinates possess the above competencies.

Skills in Table 1 are associated with organising, planning, decision-making, administrative work, efficient checks and
efficient utilisation of debt capital. Similarly as above, all of these competencies are beneficial for all of the innovation
types. In this area, however, these competencies are required mainly from superiors. Follow-up research on this issue
should therefore be focused mainly on managers, directors or owners of social enterprises.
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Abilities in Table 1 are associated with initiatives, teamwork, employee training, practical application of knowledge,
creativity, innovation implementation and creating a stimulating environment. Employee training and practical applica-
tion of knowledge are predominantly most necessary for production innovations that may be related to, for example, the
operation of a new machine in the process of product manufacturing. Creating a stimulating environment is generally
related to the enterprise-wide innovation, which may promote a positive attitude of employees towards the social enter-
prise. Other abilities can be used in various forms in all three innovation types.

Knowledge in Table 1 is associated with expertise, terminology, experience-based knowledge, types of innovation
financing, legislation and production process. Expert knowledge, experience-based knowledge and knowledge of the
production process is closely linked with production innovations. Lack of familiarity in these areas can result in poor
quality and inefficient use of innovations and innovated parts of the production process in the enterprise. It is beneficial
to take advantage of the other types of knowledge during each innovation process in the enterprise.

Motivation in Table 1 is associated with empathy of superiors, openness toward employees, communication with
employees, self-reflection in relation to subordinates and superiors as well as the involvement of employees in the inno-
vation process. All competencies can be used in all three types of innovation. In the area of innovation it is particularly
beneficial for the subordinates and their desire to further support innovations in the enterprise with their ideas, thus con-
tributing to the development of the enterprise.

The pre-setting of the competencies and their possible use in all of the innovation types in social enterprises is a
suitable tool for the preparation of a questionnaire or an interview aimed at research innovation in social enterprises. The
competencies should ensure the appropriate structuring of the questionnaire into individual types of competencies as well
as targeting questions at specific innovation areas. The next suitable point relating to targeting is to separate questions,
for the manager (or possibly owner) of the enterprise, and into individual sections for superiors and subordinates. This
division will clearly determine who the question is intended for.

The viewpoint of the manager or owner of the enterprise concerning individual areas of innovations and their compe-
tencies is a useful factor in the innovation literacy rate quantification. It is possible to take advantage of it also when
comparing individual outputs from social enterprises in primary research.

4 Conclusion

The conducted secondary research has dealt with innovation literacy and its quantification applying profile competencies.
Therefore, this study has presented profile competencies that can be used in the quantification of the innovation literacy
rate in social enterprises. The follow-up research should take advantage of these profile competencies in the preparation
of primary research in social enterprises in the field of innovation literacy, as is clearly indicated in the introduction of
this paper in its response to the unquantified innovation literacy rate in the Czech Republic, especially in social enterprises.
This fact further emerges from the small, but ever increasing number of social enterprises in the Czech Republic (CSP,
2018).

The result of this paper is fully transposable across all social enterprises in the Czech Republic regardless of their area
of focus. Given the set of competencies, a whole range of questions emerges along with their possible use in future
primary research on innovation literacy. A question suitable for further research is for example: “Is innovation literacy
among social enterprises in the Czech Republic comparable?” Subsequently, this question opens up issues for conducting
research in this area attempting to determine whether social enterprises in the Czech Republic have the same or different
innovation literacy.
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Effect of Customer Orientation on Business Performance - Case of
Slovakia

Simona Budinska, Janka Taborecka-Petrovi¢ova

Abstract: In current situation on the market, one of the key capabilities of business in order to achieve competitive
advantage is the ability to satisfy needs of the customers better than competitors. The culture or behaviour those essence
is to place customer needs into the centre of attention of business is called market orientation. Market orientation origi-
nates from the marketing concept and it seems to be the key for increasing business performance. There are various ways
of market orientation measurements that involve a lot of aspects and dimensions but one of them emphasizes especially
focus on customers, resp. customer orientation. Based on previous studies we expect that the level businesses achieve in
this orientation is directly reflected in their performance. It means the higher customer orientation businesses achieve,
the better they will perform. Based on that we formulated the main aim of our paper as: to examine customer orientation
of businesses operating in Slovakia through CUSTOR measurement method with the respect to business performance
represented by financial and non-financial indicators. We studied 230 companies of various sizes, scopes of business and
from various regions in online survey to confirm our hypothesis. The results will serve for managers as a base for en-
hancement of customer-oriented culture in their companies that could result in better performance in both financial and
non-financial field.

Key words: Customer orientation - Business performance: Market orientation - Indicators

JEL Classification: M1 - M3

1 Introduction

Market orientation (and one of its core dimension — the customer orientation) originates from the marketing concept which
assumes that to achieve sustainable success business should be able to identify and satisfy needs of the customers more
effectively than competitors. Application of market orientation consists in implementation of marketing activities, such
as identification and satisfaction of consumer needs, marketing research, segmentation, positioning and targeting, product
development, and differentiation. Market orientation affects wide range of business processes including human resource
management, marketing information system, customer relationship management, etc. Market orientation is also consid-
ered as a part of marketing management and significant factor during the process of marketing strategy development.
Caruana (1999) states that the level of market orientation of business depends on the degree of the marketing concept
implementation. Since the 1990s market orientation is one of the key concepts in marketing literature. The issue of market
orientation represents very actual topic not only for scientists, but also for business practice. Dynamic changes in con-
sumers’ increasing access to information made crucial for businesses to monitor situation in the market and satisfy evolv-
ing needs and wants of customers. Regarding current situation in the market, businesses need to be more market-oriented
than ever before when they want to succeed. Here arises the question what does that mean to be market oriented vs.
customer oriented. Narver and Slater (1998) in their research differentiate between the first, being “customer-led”, short-
term philosophy in which businesses respond to customers expressed wants and the second, being “market-oriented”,
long-term philosophy of commitment to understanding customers expressed and latent needs, and to producing superior
customer value through the developing innovative solutions. Although market-orientation is more complex issue, we
decided to focus in this paper specifically on customer orientation.

To measure market orientation scientists are using various methods. The most well-known are the ones developed by
Narver and Slater in 1990 (MKTOR) and Kohli and Javorski (MARKOR). However, there exist also other approaches.
Hajjat (2002) developed CUSTOR method which is focused on measuring of customer orientation. Customer orientation
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is hypothesized to be a multidimensional construct which consist of customer intimacy, customer welfare, business trans-
parency, and continuous improvement. According to Narver and Slater (1990) customer orientation is considered as a
basic element of overall market orientation. An increasing number of studies have recently focused on the concept of
market orientation with the aim of understanding the impact of its elements, e.g. customer orientation on business perfor-
mance (Hajjat, 2002). This method consists of 17 items which are shown in table 1. In our opinion it could be very helpful
to use this method in combination with another method to deeply understand important element of overall market orien-
tation. Saxe and Weitz (1982) developed measuring method SOCO (Selling Orientation — Customer Orientation) for
measuring the degree to which salespeople engage in customer-oriented selling (In: Jaramillo et al., 2007, p. 302).

Table 1 Measuring Items of CUSTOR Method

Customer orientation

1. Customers play a consultative role in the selling process.

. Customers are not promised more than can be delivered.

. Employees understand what product attributes customers value most.

. Customers are given information that helps in developing realistic expectations.

. Employees go beyond normal call of duty to please customers.

. Company has a system for monitoring, analysing, and solving customers problems.
. Customers can raise complaints very easily.

. Information is continually sought and collected from customers.

9. Policies and procedures that do not create value for customers are eliminated.

10. Employees understand the company mission and objectives.

11. Customers’ needs take precedence over company internal needs.

12. Employees are given adequate resources to meet customers’ needs.

13. Customers’ input and feedback are used into the product development process.
14. Company continually improves technologies, processes, and products.

15. Company continually reduces research and development cycle time.

16. Company continually invests in developing new ideas.

17. Management considers constant innovation a key to obtaining and sustaining competitive advantage.
Source: Hajjat, 2002, p. 431.

N |0 lW(N

Market-oriented behaviour positively influences business’ outcomes. Firstly, market orientation has a positive impact
on employees; especially it increases organizational commitment and esprit de corps. Organizational commitment lies in
loyalty of employees with the business and their willingness to stay work for it. Accordingly, committed employees used
to spend more time, efforts and talent to their organization (Parasuraman, 1983). Meyer and Allen (1991) have categorized
commitment into three dimensions. The first dimension is affective commitment represented by emotional attachment to
the business. The second dimension is normative commitment which is characterized by socialization experience with
other employees and the third dimension is continuance commitment which results in self-sacrificing when quitting a job
(In: Zaman et al., 2012). According to Boyt et al., (1997) esprit de corps “consists of a set of enthusiastically shared
feelings, beliefs, and values about group membership and performance, and manifests itself as a strong desire to achieve
a common goal even in the face of hostility. At the work group level, esprit de corps exists when individuals in the same
department or team enthusiastically share values and goals.” Kohli e al. (1993) conclude that both organizational com-
mitment and esprit de corps are outcomes of market-oriented behaviour of business.

Secondly, market orientation influences business performance. Many authors (Ngai and Ellis, 1998; Gaur et al, 2009;
Gadimi et al., 2013; Eslahnia, 2014; Yadav and Tripathi, 2014) investigated the relationship between these variables.
Businesses performance as a consequence of market orientation is mainly expressed by the level of customer satisfaction
as a non-financial indicator and several financial indicators, including profitability, sales or overall performance. Vieira
(2010) argue that market orientation is a source of differentiation on market and investments to marketing concept imple-
mentation should lead to superior business performance.

2 Methods

The main aim of the paper was to examine customer orientation of businesses operating in Slovakia through CUSTOR
measurement method with the respect to business performance represented by financial and non-financial indicators. We
assumed that the relationship between customer orientation and business performance indicators will be confirmed. Our
research sample involved 230 completed questionnaires from businesses operating in Slovakia (realized in 2017). These
businesses had to meet the conditions of profit-orientation and number of employees (10 employees and more). Our
research sample copy the structure of population in the terms of legal form, number of employees, and region. We can
generalize statistically verified result on whole population due to representative character of research sample. To achieve
main objective, we formulated following three hypotheses:
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H1: We assume that majority of studied businesses exhibit at least the value of 5.00 points (it means high customer
orientation).

H2: We assume that customer orientation has impact on business performance.

H3: We assume that customer orientation will have higher impact on non-financial indicators than on financial indi-
cators of business performance

Statistical population includes businesses of different size registered in Business Register of Slovak Republic. We
gained the information about population from Statistical Office of the Slovak Republic and website of Business Register
of the Slovak Republic. Because it is not possible to obtain all businesses operating in Slovakia, we applied our research
on the representative sample of businesses. We utilized Chi Square test for verification of representativeness of our re-
search. We also classified businesses according to the foreign equity participation, specifically only Slovak ownership,
prevailing Slovak ownership, Slovak and foreign ownership in the same ratio, prevailing foreign ownership and only
foreign ownership. We addressed businesses form different districts of Slovakia. For selection of research sample we
used deliberate quota sampling based on predetermined characters. Researchers used to apply this type of sampling in
order to ensure representativeness of the research sample. We classified businesses into categories according to their main
activity (manufacture, trade, or services) for the identification of prevailing business activity. For the classification ac-
cording to the size we used the criteria of European Union which consists of number of employees, annual turnover and
balance sheet total. It means that we divided businesses into four groups, namely micro, small, medium and we also added
large businesses while classification criterion is number of employees.

To measure customer orientation we used CUSTOR method. During our qualitative pre-research when we were
comparing various measurement tools of market orientation, the majority of them answered that CUSTOR method ex-
presses the market orientation the most. However, CUSTOR focus especially on customer orientation and inter-functional
coordination. So, we assume that these respondents consider the orientation on customer as a basis of market-oriented
behaviour. They also identified CUSTOR as the most user-friendly measuring method. The financial and non-financial
indicators and their measurement scales have been chosen on the basis of previous literature review.

3 Results of the CUSTOR Measurement Method

To accomplish our objectives we firstly wanted to find out which level businesses achieved regarding customer orienta-
tion. We defined hypothesis H1: We assume that majority of studied businesses exhibit at least the value of 5.00 points
(high customer orientation). To confirm it, we used statistical testing through the binomial test. We used 7-degree Likert
scale in measuring methods and we consider 5.00 points as high market orientation. Results of testing are presented in
table 2. This assumption was confirmed and we can generalize this result and conclude that majority of business exhibit
high customer orientation.

Table 2 Verification of Hypothesis H1

Binomial Test

Asymp. Sig.
Category N Observed Prop. Test Prop. (2-tailed)
Group 1 1 149 0.65 0.50 0.000?
CUSTOR Group 2 0 81 0.35
Total 230 1.00

Source: Own elaboration according to SPSS output.

CUSTOR method contains only elements focused on customer orientation and inter-functional coordination.When we
look deeper into the results (table 3) we can see that the highest value of customer orientation achieved respondents in
item number 4 (i.e. 6.01). It is based on the Likert scale where 1=absolutely disagree and 7=absolutely agree. Businesses
try to give customers information that helps to develop their realistic expectations about the products and services. Con-
trary, the respondents achieved the lowest value of customer orientation in item number 15 (i.e. 3.84). This item speaks
about the efforts of business to reduce research and development cycle time.
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Table 3 Mean Values Connected to the Items of CUSTOR method

l. Customer Orientation and Inter-functional Coordination Mean
1. Customers play a consultative role in the selling process. 5.02
2. Customers are not promised more than can be delivered. 5.81
3. Employees understand what product attributes customers value most. 571

4. Customers are given information that helps in developing realistic expectations. _
5. Employees go beyond normal call of duty to please customers. 5.07
6. Company has a system for monitoring, analysing, and solving customers problems. 4.17
7. Customers can raise complaints very easily. 5.47
8. Information is continually sought and collected from customers. 4.93
9. Policies and procedures that do not create value for customers are eliminated. 441
10. Employees understand the company mission and objectives. 5.52
11. Customers’ needs take precedence over company internal needs. 5.55
12. Employees are given adequate resources to meet customers’ needs. 5.70
13. Customers’ input and feedback are used into the product development process. 5.75
14. Company continually improves technologies, processes, and products. 5.60
15. Company continually reduces research and development cycle time. 3.84
16. Company continually invests in developing new ideas. 5.07
17. Management considers constant innovation a key to obtaining and sustaining competitive advantage. 5.38
Mean value of group 5.24

Source: Own elaboration.

In the second hypothesis H2 we assumed that customer orientation has impact on business performance (measured
through financial and non-financial indicators). We realized correlation analysis to identify the impact of customer orien-
tation on various indicators. Outputs from statistical program are shown in table 4. The p-value lower than significance
level 0.01 or 0.05 means that there is significant correlation between customer orientation and all business performance
indicators hence in all cases this impact was confirmed.

Thirdly, we expected in H3 that customer orientation will have higher impact on non-financial indicators than on
financial indicators of business performance. Statistical testing confirmed significant correlation between customer ori-
entation in all tested non-financial indicators. Spearman’s rho speaks about the middle-strong positive correlation in the
linkage to employees commitment (CUSTOR: +0.523), esprit de corps (CUSTOR: +0.438), and customer satisfaction
(CUSTOR: +0.415). There is also statistically significant positive dependence between customer orientation and all fi-
nancial indicators. (Balanced Scorecard is specific as it involves both financial and non-financial indicators). The inten-
sity of dependence expressed through the Spearman’s rho is slightly lower in case of all financial indicators than in linkage
to non-financial indicators.

Table 4 The Effect of Market Orientation on Non-financial and Financial Performance Indicators

p-value Spearman’s rho

Non-financial indicators

Employees Commitment 0.000 0.523
Esprit de Corps 0.000 0.438
Customer Satisfaction 0.000 0.415
Financial indicators

Overall Performance 0.000 0.388
Market Share 0.000 0.303
Profit 0.000 0.353
Sales 0.000 0.374
Sales Generated by New Products 0.000 0.334
Return on Sales (ROS) 0.000 0.413
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Return on Assets (ROA) 0.000 0.367
Return on Investment (ROI) 0.000 0.370
Return on Equity (ROE) 0.000 0.358
Return on Marketing Investment (ROMI) 0.000 0.284
Net Present Value (NPV) 0.000 0.361
Economic Value Added (EVA) 0.000 0.346
Cash Flow Return on Investment (CFROI) 0.001 0.251
Market Value Added (MVA) 0.001 0.272
Balanced Scorecard 0.000 0.407

Source: Own elaboration according to SPSS output.

Our results are in accordance with previous studies. Indeed, several authors narrowed the range of market orientation
only to the customer orientation (Jaramillo et al., 2007; Kennedy et al., 2003; Hajjat, 2002). Seilov (2015) also focused
his attention on examination of customer orientation in linkage to business performance and confirmed the relationship
between these variables. Zhu and Nakata (2007) examined the link between customer orientation and business perfor-
mance with the moderating role of information systems. Firstly, authors tested the effect of customer orientation on market
performance and then the effect of market performance on financial performance. Market performance was measured
subjectively through the 5 items oriented on market assessments included market share, sales level, customer retention,
product quality, and new product success. In measuring of financial performance were used indicators like gross profit
margin and return on investment. Both relationships were confirmed through the statistical verification.

Based on the research results we can formulate some managerial implications for businesses to enhance customer
orientation. We provide the list of these principles or best practices which are most frequently applied by the best busi-
nesses (performing highest customer orientation and performance) from our research sample. In their case: (1) customers
play a consultative role in the selling process, (2) they are not promised more than can be delivered, (3) employees un-
derstand what product attributes customers value most, (4) customers are given information that helps in developing
realistic expectations, (5) company has a system for monitoring, analysing, and solving customers problems, (6) custom-
ers can raise complaints very easily, (7) employees understand the company mission and objectives, (8) customers’ needs
take precedence over company internal needs, (9) employees are given adequate resources to meet customers’ needs, (10)
customers’ input and feedback are used into the product development process, (11) company continually improves tech-
nologies, processes, and products, (12) company continually invests in developing new ideas, and (14) management con-
siders constant innovation a key to obtaining and sustaining competitive advantage.

4 Conclusions

In order to formulate the proposals we provided the thorough analysis of research results in order to identify the businesses
which achieved the highest values of customer orientation and the best performance. We focused on identification of the
activities implemented by these businesses with the aim to summarize “the best practices”. We think that learning from
the best businesses could contribute to the increasing of customer orientation and subsequently performance of businesses
which have decided to implement this concept. From our research sample we chose the businesses with the mean value
of market orientation at least 6.00 points. After selecting these businesses we identify those who reach in the all examined
business performance indicators values of at least 6.00 points. We looked at the answers on individual items reflected in
measuring methods and thus we were able to identify the items in which businesses achieved the highest values. Activities
realized by the business with the best results could be presented as the best practices for the other businesses. To sum up
customer-oriented business is characterized by objectives driven by customer satisfaction, strong commitment to serving
customer needs, competitive strategy based on a thorough understanding of customer needs, and business strategies driven
by increasing value for customers. Businesses should assess the customer satisfaction at least once a quarter and close
attention should be given to after-sales service. These activities are crucial also for achieving an increase in overall per-
formance, profit, return on investments (ROI), and return on equity (ROE).
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Business Environment Versus Entrepreneurial Reaction: Are Compe-
tencies Needed?

Jarmila Sebestova, Monika Lejkové

Abstract: Entrepreneurial competencies and reaction to solve business problems are closely linked together. Their rela-
tionship affects the final export activity success, which was supported by literature review. The aim of the paper is to
suggest a model, which covers entrepreneurial reaction and hard competencies to support export activities — a primary
research was used with statistical data evaluation. Those findings are supported by the results, presented in form of three
models, with more than 60% of variance explained. The results are based on the results an empirical study (210 respond-
ents, omnibus survey) in the Czech Republic. Moreover, the study concludes that the competence basis in businesses must
be internally strong to meet decision on export and would be negative related to business age, business cycle and company
branch.

Key words: Business - Business environment - Competencies - Export

JEL Classification: L26 - O44 - R58

1 Introduction

Competencies in general represent a set of knowledge, skills, abilities, attitudes, and values that enable personal develop-
ment. They could be divided into hard skills, which can be learned and improved, they can be measured fairly easily
(Bednat, 2012), in opposite of soft skills, which are mostly are interpersonal and intra-personal skills and they objectively
identified with a person’s Emotional Intelligence Quotient (Iland 2013, p. 10). Entrepreneurs use their competencies to
have a successful business and could profit from them in particular areas such as decision making or in area of strategic
planning. Not everyone is prepared to face challenges and fails in business life. Successful entrepreneurs can make mis-
takes even though they should never be fatal but more important is to learn from them and take actions that will prevent
making the same mistakes again. Generally mentioned “pack of competencies™ is knowledge, networking, customer ori-
entation, strategic thinking, risk-taking, negotiation, integrity and the action. Especially knowledge is closely connected
with innovations; exporting orientation and networking (Braunerhjelm 2008, Matthews and Brueggemann, 2015) Hand
in hand with knowledge business decisions are determining the performance outcome in the future. The result could be
seen in decision to entry to foreign market (Duhaime, Stimpert and Chesley, 2011, Hill, Roche and Allen, 2007). Business
competencies are very complex and entrepreneurs' beliefs, actions, and aspiration for the business are widely influenced
by their sense of values and beliefs. This influences the actions they take especially in challenging situations and affected
final action to take a risk or the art of negotiating the deal (Parks, 2006, Badaracco and Ellsworth, 1989). Trying new
things with possibly better outcomes in a sense of going beyond what has been done in the past. It means accepting the
challenge, learning to make responsible choices and making sure to weight all the possible outcomes. The art of negoti-
ating in combination with other parts of “competency pack™ is to come to an agreement to make a win-win deal, especially
at foreign market entrance. Finding the optimal pack of competencies would be necessary for proactive export activities
(Moen, 1999). Following that a research question could be formulated: Is there any difference in behavior and competency
requirement when companies are exporting? To be able to fulfill the main goal of this paper — a suggestion of a model,
which covers entrepreneurial reaction and hard competencies to support export activities — a primary research was used
with statistical data evaluation.

2 Methods

The primary quantitative research within business population in the Czech Republic was used to obtain relevant data by
stratified sample use method. The final response rate was at 70%, when population of 300 respondents obtained the
questionnaire and the working sample for final case study evaluation consists from 210 entities. It was obtained a repre-
sentative sample at a confidence level of 95 % with a 5% margin of error (within the total business population in Czech
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Republic by stratified sample size based on company size). The aim of the questionnaire survey is to identify important
factors which cause barriers in doing business and which competencies would be useful for sustainable business. Data
collection started in February 2017 to April 2017 in the form of an electronic questionnaire.

To be able to evaluate previously mentioned research question, competency questions (based on EntreComp model
of Bacigalupo et al., 2016) were coded into the one part from the questionnaire into subsections. All behavioral factors
were evaluated by respondents on Likert scale 1 to 5 (where 1 — not connected with me and my business, 5 — | am dealing
with that factor in my everyday life). There are five hard competencies (CP) and five environmental factors (ENV) pre-
sented and evaluated as equal groups of factors.

Competencies (CP) area is represented by five dimensions, which could affect business behavior, such as (1) Locali-
zation in the region (CP_LOCAL), how they are able to evaluate their business place within business opportunity (their
choice); (2) Payment behavior of customers (CP_PAY_BEH) — which describes level of financial management, relation-
ship with customers in financial contracts; (3) Quality of workforce (CP_WORK) - evaluation of entrepreneurial approach
to HRM in area of clarity of workplace description, placement of employees to define a workforce demand; (4) Tradition
(CP_TRAD) — an influence of business tradition in entrepreneur’s family; (5) Transport accessibility (CP_TRANS) —
knowledge of logistics issues, competence for solving transportation problems.

Environmental Factors (ENV) are represented by the equal number of dimensions, mostly mentioned in business
environmental studies and research (Moen, 1999), namely (1) Lack of alternative sources of financing such as loans,
micro-loans, etc. (ENV_ALT_FIN); (2) Legislation factors and conditions for start-up business in general (ENV_LEGIS);
(3) Previous industrial activity in the region, eg. brownfields (ENV_PREV_ACT, see also Tureckova et. al., 2017); (4)
Public administration, bureaucracy burden (ENV_BUREAU); (5) State / regional subsidy policy (ENV_SUPPORT).

Third group of factors which will be used are descriptive dimensions (DES) namely company size (DES_SIZE), age
(DES_AGE), business cycle (DES_CYCLE), NACE (DES_NACE) and export activities (DES_EXPORT).

Examined companies in the sample were carrying out business in the industry, namely in 46 %, 27 % were active in
in services, 21 % in trade (wholesale and retail) and 6 % in agriculture. The number of small businesses, namely enter-
prises employing up to 50 employees that took part of 58% from the sample, where enterprises employing up to 10
employees amounted to 20% and enterprises employing 11-49 employees 38%. Medium-sized enterprises (between 50
and 250 employees) were represented in 30% of cases and large companies (250+ employees) have their share of 12%.
More than 75.2 % of companies in the sample were in growth phase, opposite to 24.8 % companies in the phase of crisis
and decline in the last three years. Most of companies in operating on the market more than 10 years, so they have
assumption of business experience and they export in 41.4 % (see table 1).

Table 1 Sample description

Descriptive dimension Categories (percentage share [%0])
more than Total
less than 3 years 4to10years | 11ltol15years | 16 to 25 years

Business Experience Y y y Y 25 years [%]
9% 18% 18% 49% 8% 100%

o till'9 10-49 50-249 250+ ; Total
Business Size (Employees) [%]
20% 38% 30% 12% - 100%

. Trade (Retail . Total

Agriculture Industr ' Services -

Main Business Field J Y Wholesale) [%]
6% 46% 21% 27% - 100%

Source: Own processing

To get sophisticated results a factor analysis was used. All obtained data were tested for reliability and Kaiser-Meyer-
OlKin test (KMO) was above 0.6, when IBM SPSS software package was applied. To get principal components, a factor
rotation VARIMAX was used. Three situations are presented in relationship with export activities to support research
question.

3 Research results

In the first step of that analysis a basic comparison of selected ten factors was applied. As had been mentioned, results
were sorted according export activities (dummy variable), when “export” was signal of success and possible growth,
when “no export” could be connected mostly with small entrepreneurs, operating on local environment. In the table 2 a
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comparison is made, when the most important factors are working force (CP_WORK), payment behavior of customers
(CP_PAY_BEH) and localization in the region (CP_LOCAL). Opposite to that less importance is a factor of previous
industrial activity in the region (ENV_PREV_ACT).

Table 2 Overall comparison of entrepreneurial behavior

Overall (N=210) Exporting activities (N=87) No Export (N=123)

. Mean Std. De- Mean Std. De- Devia- Mean Std. De- Devia-
Type Variable viation viation tion to viation tion to
overall overall

A B C D E F G H
(A-C) (A-F)
CpP LOCAL 3.319 1.369 3.241 1.470 0.077 3.374 1.295 -0.055
CcpP TRANS 3.076 1.284 2.689 1.366 0.386 3.349 1.152 -0.273
CpP WORK 3.876 1.247 3.701 1.4315 0.174 4.000 1.086 -0.124
CpP TRAD 2.300 1.345 2.046 1.319 0.254 2.479 1.338 -0.179
CcpP PAY_BEH 3.343 1.466 3.735 1.482 -0.392 3.065 1.395 0.278
ENV LEGIS 3.100 1.361 3.046 1.388 0.054 3.138 1.344 -0.038
ENV BUREAU 2.814 1.221 2.919 1.313 -0.105 2.739 1.151 0.074
ENV SUPPORT 2.181 1.243 2.000 1.355 0.181 2.308 1.146 -0.127
ENV PREV_ACT 1.786 1.038 1.620 1.025 0.165 1.902 1.035 -0.116
ENV ALT_FIN 2.157 1.241 1.908 1.137 0.249 2.333 1.284 -0.176

Source: Own processing, based on Likert scale evaluation (1 — not connected with me and my business, 5 — | am dealing with that
factor in my everyday life)

A maximum difference at evaluation (column A-C) in “export-oriented” companies is in factor ,alternative sources
of financing” (ENV_ALT_FIN). Those companies see this factor less important than overall group of companies. Oppo-
site to that the most sensitive on payment behavior of customers (CP_ PAY_BEH), what is closely connected with their
global transactions.

Locally operating companies (no export activities) are most sensitive on “transport accessibility” (CP_TRANS), what
explains their local market orientation and additional cost with logistics. Opposite to that less importance is connected to
“payment behavior of customers (CP_PAY_BEH), when most of relations are based on long-term cooperation.

To get a general set of competencies a factor analysis was realized (table 3). All three groups of factors were used
(Competencies, Environment and descriptive) to obtain main picture of the sample, when the total variance explained was
65.055 % in six factor groups, when three of them have a factor loading more than 10 %. As main factor, which was
confirmed was named as political environment (F1) and it consists of three environmental variables.

Table 3 General model of competencies (Factor analysis results)

Rotated Component Matrix
Type Variable/Factor loading F1 F2 F3 F4 F5 F6
(14.327 %) (11.181%) (10.592%) | (9.842%) | (9.687%) (9.427%)
ENV BUREAU 0.825
ENV LEGIS 0.761
ENV ALT_FIN 0.697
CcpP TRANS 0.827
CP LOCAL 0.661
DES | SIZE 0.783
DES | AGE 0.744
ENV | SUPPORT 0.805
DES | NACE -0.563
cp WORK 0.741
CcpP PAY_BEH 0.719
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Rotated Component Matrix
Type Variable/Factor loading F1 F2 F3 F4 F5 F6
(14.327 %) (11.181%) (10.592%) | (9.842%) | (9.687%) (9.427%)
ENV | PREV_ACT 0.792
CP | TRAD 0.566

Source: Own processing, KMO test = 0.636, Bartlett's Test of Sphericity - Approx. Chi-Square 429.947; df = 91; sig. 0.000

Second area, so important was a placement of business (F2) was describing relationship between two competency
variables - transport and location. Finally, descriptive factors as size and age are playing significant role in competency
use. This evaluation has shown that environmental issues and task are for business success on the first place and they
have deeper relationship in business decision-making, as was mentioned in Dvoulety, (2017), Pilkova et al. (2016) or
Sebestova (2016) research findings. According to those descriptive results it is so important to analyze those independent
groups of companies to be able to find out a set of competencies supporting export or in contrast to that which could be a
barrier to “do not export”. Based on that idea two more factor models were made, when export was a dummy variable.

3.1 An Export influence on competencies

Export was defined as dependent variable (export = 1). The same number of factors was extracted as in previous model
(table 3), when three main factor groups explained 58.85% of variables (total variance of six factor groups was 68.486 %,
5ig.0.000). Scenario is presented below (Table 4). Those factor groups obtained sub index “e” to indicate export activities
of examined business in the sample. There were five environmental and four competency variables, followed with three
descriptive ties, extracted in total.

Table 4 Model of competencies for companies with export activities

Rotated Component Matrix

Variable/Fac- Fle (16.626 %) | F2e (12.322 %) | F3e (10.913 %) | F4e (9.723 %) | F5e (9.477 %) | F6e(9.425 %)
Type .

tor loading
ENV | BUREAU 0.826
ENV | LEGIS 0.801
ENV | ALT_FIN 0.676
ENV | PREV_ACT 0.754
DES | CYCLE 0.724
DES | AGE 0.838
DES | SIZE 0.800
CcpP WORK 0.785
CP PAY_BEH 0.624
CP LOCAL 0.831
CcpP TRANS 0.802
ENV | SUPPORT -0.559

Source: Own processing, KMO test = 0.686, Bartlett's Test of Sphericity - Approx. Chi-Square 316.097; df = 91; sig. 0.000

Similarity can be seen in the first factor named Political environment, when the structure of the factor is the same with
overall results (F1.=F1), also “type of business” as age and size is the last factor above 10 % variance level (F3e=F3). In
contrast to overall results, second significant factor was connection with environment and business cycle — reactive posi-
tion of company to export (F2e). A significant point in that model could be seen in factors F5e, when location is a separate
factor influencing export and the ENV_SUPPORT comprises a negative tie to decision of choosing a location for business.
It wasn’t founded any connection with NACE or tradition (CP_TRAD). It could be interpreted by significance of oppor-
tunities, which give a power for success (Moen, 1999, Eickelpasch and Vogel, 2009). Opposite to that, locally operated
companies (export=0) had mixed all factors which were used in questionnaire and environmental issues were on the first
place (see table 5). The same number of factors groups as in previous models was extracted, when total variance at
69,221% (sig.0.000). Behaviour of those companies is very different from overall model. There is any connection with
basic factor set from model 1 (compare table 3 and table 5). All factor groups in the table are unique.
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Table 5 Model of competencies for companies without export activities

Type

'\Variable/Factor loading

FIL (13.812%)

F2L(12.059%)

F3L(12.034%)

F4L(11.556%)

F5L(10.882%)

F6L(8.878%)

ENV

LEGIS

0.755

ENV

BUREAU

0.714

DES

CYCLE

-0.629

DES

AGE

-0.624

CP

PAY_BEH

0.836

CP

WORK

0.777

ENV

PREV_ACT

0.707

DES

NACE

-0.660

ENV

ALT FIN

0.653

CP | LOCAL

CP | TRANS
CP | TRAD
ENV | SUPPORT

DES | SIZE 0.845
Source: Own processing, KMO test = 0.698, Bartlett's Test of Sphericity - Approx. Chi-Square 248.822; df = 91, sig. 0.000

0.859
0.816

0.757
0.755

Three negative ties were extracted, which business owners felt as a barrier — business cycle, business age and NACE
classification. Unlike the previous version, all the elements are mixed. Essentially, if entrepreneur do not want to export,
it's actually its own decision, no one else. Presented models (1-3; tables 3 to 5) support research question about the dif-
ference of behavior of businesses according export activities. It seems that competencies are more used in case of prob-
lems (Dejo-Oricain and Ramirez-Aleson, 2009).

4 Conclusions

There is often a problem, especially in SMEs, that they have poor business and economic competencies to reflect their
current cycle and solve business problems effectively. Presented study shows, that entrepreneurs are affected mostly by
environmental factors than by specific competencies. Main results of the study have shown that success and growth is
dependent on current satisfaction with business environment. In contrast to theoretical background, business organizations
need to take care of their competencies to avoid competence traps, which are important to business survival. Opposite to
Moen (1999) was founded that export is related with company size. In decision making process Caughey and Chetty
(1994) study was confirmed, that decision of export activities lies only on business owner and it depends on its “stimuli”,
named in our research in form of competencies.
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Motivation and development of the manager's personality

Rizena Krninska, Markéta Adamova, Nikola Soukupova, Ondiej Skopec

Abstract: Contemporary societal changes are bringing the fourth industrial revolution. Industry 4.0 is not just a revolu-
tion of modern technologies linked to digitization and automation but also to innovation processes. These processes are
associated with a new knowledge-based economy. Strongly motivated people are able to develop their knowledge, skills,
and experience much more strongly. On the studied sample of EF JU students in Ceské Budéjovice, innovation can be
related to the right hemisphere which has intuitive and creative qualities.

Development of functionality of the right hemisfere should be supported if the students (future employees and ma-
nagers) are to be more innovative. In order to develop the personality of the manager, it is necessary to motivate the
individual internally to ensure high level of motivation in the long term and preferably through his own internal self-
motivation related to the self-learning process. Motivation to cultivate and develop human potential leads to innovative
approaches and thus to building a competitive advantage within the global world.

Key words: Motivation - Self-motivation - Self-development - Manager's personality

JEL Classification: M10 - M12

1 Introduction

At present, the world economy is undergoing another fundamental structural change that is driven not only by globali-
zation but Industry 4.0 is entering the scene as the fourth industrial revolution. This cyber revolution is not just a revolution
of specific technologies such as digitization, artificial intelligence, distributed knowledge and expert systems but also a
revolution in people's thinking and in working with their knowledge. According to Gluckman (2018), the current digital
revolution is unstoppable.

According to Kislinger (2011), the "new knowledge economy" has the ambition to mark a state of social cooperation
where product creation with innovative approaches depends, in addition to capital, labor, natural resources and technical
product, on education and knowledge. The new economic system can be characterized by increasing the importance of
knowledge, increasing labor productivity and increasing competition at a global level (Satti & Nour, 2015). Gibson (2000)
also says that the world is entering a "new economy" - a "knowledge economy" - linked to the use of human and intell-
ectual capital which emphasizes the ability to use knowledge and skills as the driving force of change, innovation and
competitiveness.

Armstrong & Taylor (2014) states that the importance of creative human potential and the development of "human
capital" is growing in the process of globalization. The development of the overall human potential, with its knowledge
and abilities, emphasizes their creative use in the direction of innovative approaches. The development of human potential
and its creative abilities is connected with the development of personality in general. In order for an individual to enter
into self-development processes, it is appropriate - to be motivated to do so ...

The human individuality can no more be seen only as a labor force. For a future knowledge society, it is desirable to
engage in a qualitatively higher level of leadership and motivation to leading towards cultivation and development of
human capital. According to Armstrong (2010), motivation can be characterized as a target-oriented behavior and divided
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into two types: internal and external. Internal motivation is linked to motives - inner motives and with deeper and longer-
lasting effects. External motivation is associated with external stimuli (requirement, challenge) with immediate effect but
usually occurring only during an external stimulus. Dvoiakova (2004) considers a significant differentiation of motivation
in terms of duration. The short-term motivation is linked to the setting of objectives, their control and remuneration or
sanctions. Medium-term motivation is related to job satisfaction. Long-term motivation is associated with the develop-
ment of human capital and personality potential. Internal self-motivation to develop one's own personality has a long-
term effect.

2 Methods

On the theoretical level, approach to motivation is built on Maslow's hierarchy of needs. The precondition for fulfilling
the need for self-realization is self-knowledge and self-development that leads to self-realization. This signals the way to
motivation for the near future coupled with the development of personality and creative abilities needed in the knowledge
economy.

The practical level serves to demonstrate the results associated with the selected self-development technique which
can motivate future managers' self-development tendencies. In 2016, 2017 and 2018, a standardized test measuring
dominance of brain hemispheres was submitted to 283 students (future managers) in the field of Management and
Business Economics and Business Entrepreneurship at Faculty of Economics of University of South Bohemia in Ceské
Budgjovice.

From many tests being used for measuring the hemispheric brain dominance, the Left-Brain/Right-Brain Test was
used, as it is not criticised as its other widely used alternative Hemispheric Mode Indicator (Hartman & Hylton, 1997)
and is built purely for the purposes of measuring the brain dominance which makes it simplier to use than its other
alternative SOLAT (Kordjazi & Ghonsooly, 2015).

The test has 19 items, were each item consists of 2 expresions which are opposite to each other and the respondent
has to decide which of the expresions he agrees with. There were 33 % of men and 67 % of women in the sample.

3 Research results

For the new economy, human capital with the added value of developing human potential, creative and innovative
approaches is a crucial element of competitiveness. The quality of human capital is related to the development of human
potential - with education, knowledge, skills and attitudes, where attitudes and values are very important and relate to the
inner motives of an individual. It depends on the stage of one's personality development which decides on further
developmental tendencies.

It is establishement of a new higher-quality approach to a human being based on the new principles of work with
human personality connected with the care of its development, not only on professional level (linked to the knowledge of
the external material world), but above all on personal level (exercises of the inner world human subject). Assuming
everyone is unique (everyone has different fingerprints and other brain scratches), self-motivation is needed to find their
uniqueness and their unique creative and innovative approaches.

To motivate yourself to use your own potential, it is always advisable to start by self-knowledge. Self-development is
an effort to understand yourself, to understand your nature, to discover your uniqueness, your talent and to learn to use
your strengths and develop your talents (self-development). It is possible to get a solid point, with the support of which it
is possible to orientate in oneself, to really perceive one's strengths and weaknesses and to deal with them objectively.
This is the only way to be more open to personal experiences that decide on the other developmental tendencies of the
individual - the human subject. Self-development is by no means an easy process. According to Mikulastik (2015, 2013),
the average person does not always understand all the stimuli that affect him because many mechanisms are unconscious.
Other limitations of self-awareness are routines and habits as well as intense experiences that distort or even block the
self-development.

Starting a self-learning process is one of the first conditions for developing inner motivation. The process of self-
learning which leads to self-motivation and consequently to self-development, directs itself to self-management, the
culmination of which is the self-realization of the human subject (Figure 1).

The culmination is to be able to apply the uniqueness of personality traits in society (self-realization). In realizing its
own uniqueness, the goal is not only self-satisfaction but also the benefit of the whole community. Usually, if there is no
full self-knowledge, there will be no self-realization.
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The establishment of the process of self-learning in a human subject guarantees the possibility of a significant
development of the human potential and the development of high creative potential (Plaminek, 2013). As far as the
individual is orientated in himself and can manage his own subject (self-management), he is able to orient himself in the
world around him, in addition to personality development, his professional proficiency also grows.

Figure 1 A. Maslow's five-level model of the hierarchy of needs

Need for self-
realization

Need for esteem and
recognition

Need for love, acceptance,
belongingness

Need for safety and certainty

Basic physical and physiological needs

Source: Komarkova & Provaznik (2004)

According to Armstrong (2010) and Nakoneény (1997) Maslow said that "man is an animal with wishes"; only unmet
need can motivate behavior and the dominant need is a basic motivator of behavior. Psychological development occurs
by moving people up the hierarchy of needs, but it is not necessarily a straightforward development. Lower needs still
exist even as motivators temporarily fall asleep, and people are consistently returning to previously satisfied needs.

The need for self-realization, however, can never be satisfied unless it transforms into transcendence. Self-realization
at the level of transcendence expresses the relation with everything that is the essence of ours and of the universe as a
whole (Krninska, 2012).

Contemporary physics in the knowledge of the functionality of the universe (including human beings) has come to
guantum mechanics and string theory. With his 1924 theory for which he was awarded the Nobel Prize in 1929, Louis de
Broglie explained his corpuscular wavelength dualism, confirming the concurrent existence of particles - corpuscles and
wavelengths. Each moving particle is accompanied by a certain wave, and vice versa - each wave carries a material
particle.

Nowadays, in terms of classical physics, the incomprehensible and paradoxical phenomenon or the fact of corpuscular-
wave dualism is universally valid for the whole universe. And, apparently, the human brain, by being composed of two
separate hemispheres, is adapted to perceiving quantum and wavelengths and processes them separately and then across
the corpus callosum (a cluster of nerve fibers that connects both hemispheres). Nowadays, the connection of the natural
sciences with the so-called social sciences (humanities) begins to be taken for granted.

The question remains to what extent these sciences manage to absorb the knowledge of a new modern physics that
has so radically changed the view of our material reality in recent decades. Consequences of these new approaches inc-
lude, for example, the conclusions of the American neurophysiologist Pribram (1992), according to which brain work is
related to the principles of hologram function, and extrasensory perception associated with the non-conscious activity of
the psyche works on the principles of quantum physics.

In light of these new discoveries, there is a need to rethink the relationship between man and nature and man and
society, namely in terms of holistic approaches, continuity and interconnection of the material and spiritual world of man.
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According to Pavlickova (1993), there are also two ways of thinking that are connected on the one hand with the
conscious (analytical) and on the other with the intuitive component of the psyche. They are based on different principles,
although they complement and condition each other.

Thinking that is logical, rational, analytic-synthetic, convergent - fully conscious, based on causality and linear processes.
Thinking that is intuitive, creative, lateral, divergent - based on associations.

The American neurophysiologist Roger Wollcot Sperry won the Nobel Prize in physiology and medicine for his
research on both brain hemispheres in 1981. Together with his colleagues he discovered that the field of activity of the
left hemisphere of the brain is generally focused on: analytical thinking, logic, reality, facts, dates, details, words,
language, numbers, writing, motor reactions, notion of time.

The right brain hemisphere has a general focus on mental activities in which it plays a crucial role: holistic thinking,
it has the predominance of awareness of complex contexts, feelings, emotions, intuitions, hearing sensations and music,
imagination, day dreaming, color, art and creativity, fantasy, symbols, paintings.

Sperry (1961) also revealed that when the left hemisphere of the brain is active, the right hemisphere will go into a
relaxed, semi-modal state associated with alpha waves. If there is an inverted situation, i.e. when the right hemisphere is
working, the left hemisphere will turn into the relaxed state. According to left-right brain theory, each hemisphere directs
another type of thinking. And each one of us favors one of them in his everyday routine.

Figure 2 The results of the students of the Faculty of Economics of the University of South Bohemia (EF JU)
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For example, "left-brainers," as EF JU male students are, are generally logical, analytical, and objective while EF JU's
female students which are generally "right-brainers" are intuitive, synthetic, and subjective. The truth is that there are
female students amongst whom the left hemisphere is predominant over the right, as well as some of the male students
have the predominance of the right hemisphere above the left. By the beginning of the eighties, the phenomenon of
specific functions of the left and right brain hemispheres was known worldwide, and a number of books were written
about the extremely important discovery.

In general, in European culture, the functionality of the left hemisphere prevails over the right. Mikulastik (2015)
stated that the left hemisphere is dominant. Eastern cultures (Chinese, Japanese), along with some ways of practicing (tai-
chi),greatly care for the balanced co-operation of both hemispheres. The example shows how hemisphere is important:
the left hemisphere is responsible for the formulation and the right combination of words but the right gives them
intonation and tempo. Formally, the speech is "lateralised” in the left hemisphere but without the right hemisphere we
would speak monotonously - like robots.



Ruzena Krninska, Markéta Adamova, Nikola Soukupova, Ondiej Skopec: Motivation and development of the manager's personality 128

Subsequent experiments by American and German scientists (Buzan & Buzan, 1996) have shown that virtually
everyone has a full range of mental capabilities. Unfortunately, due to poor education and misinformation, most of us
tend to believe that it has innate talents only for some of these areas. It is assumed that they are oriented to activities
associated with either the left or right hemispheres of the brain, and rarely they are the penetration of both.

Generally, it is a generalizing idea that the left half of the brain is rational while the right one is irrational. The functions
of the left hemisphere are generally referred to as "intellectual”, "academic” and "business", and right as "artistic",
"creative" and "emotional™. Today we can use the creative principle of the right hemisphere - as the innovative approaches
in the knowledge economy demand. At the basic physical, physiological and potential level, each of us has a vast range
of intellectual, mental and creative abilities that are only partially used. It is important to know the individual's individual

state in order to build on potential abilities and to develop areas that have been left inactive for various reasons.

E.g. when people "without artistic talent" learned to draw, they suddenly began to rule better by word, to deal better
with numbers and their creativity improved overall. Similarly, if someone had trouble making numbers and began training
numbers, his imagination and musicality increased.

Obviously, cerebral hemispheres interconnect information and add it to their intellectual and creative capacity. It can
be said that harmonious use of both halves of our brain increases our overall intelligence and creativity. According to
Horalikova and Zuzak (2005), intelligence also grows on a scale from cognitive knowledge to self-motivating creativity.

4 Conclusions

For today's globalizing knowledge-based economy and Industry 4.0, creative and innovative approaches are needed to
develop the creative potential of individuals. In practice, this in our sample of EF JU students in C. Bud&jovice can be
related to the support of the development of the right hemisphere of students which has intuitive and creative abilities.
These are the abilities that can extend the innovative potential and performance of the students in their future jobs. As the
development of these abilities enables a person to more skillfully and efectively work with tacit knowledge as one of the
most important sources of innovation.

Harmonization of both hemispheres and their interconnection can lead individuals to self-realization. Self-realization
is a natural human need, to achieve it, it is necessary to motivate the individual internally and thus in the long term,
preferably by his own internal self-motivation. To this end, it is necessary to start the path of self-learning leading to the
development of the whole human personality, in the case of EF JU and its branches to develop the personality of the
manager.
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Duties and Options of Employer During Employee’s Temporary
Incapacity for Work

Jana Martinikova

Abstract: Temporary incapacity for work is a topic involving legal, economic, social and medical aspects. The paper
deals with a Czech legal regulation of this topic aiming at pointing to its social aspects. If the law is generally understood
as one of the tools to realize social policy of the state, then legal regulation of some labour-law institutes is the tool to
realize social policy at the level of employer in the frame of his personnel agenda. When analysing selected duties and
options given to employer by the law (as it comes to employee’s temporary incapacity for work) and pointing out some
problems in practical application, such hypothesis can be proved that legal regulation of this topic has social aspects.
Based on this paper elaboration, the following results have occurred: 1) employers have to respect given duties determi-
ned by the law, 2) emplyoers can use options given them by the law, and 3) employers can also use an absence of some
questions being not regulated by the law and arrange their own social benefits for the employees. The legal regulation
thus significantly influences employer’s decision-making in both the question of temporary incapacity for work and his
entire social policy concept.

Keywords: Temporary incapacity for work - Compensatory wage - Protection period - Sick days

JEL Classification: K31 - J89

1 Introduction

Temporary incapacity for work is the topic involving more aspects. It can be seen from different points of view. Legal,
economic, social and health questions are connected with it. Temporary incapacity for work (Ne$¢akova and Jakubka,
2012) is defined as the state when the employee cannot do his usual work because of health disability and doctor confir-
med this fact. It is traditional obstacle to work, existence of which creates the duty of employer to accept employer’s
absence at work.

The aim of this contribution is to present the Czech legal regulation of selected questions referring to the duties and
options the employer has when the employee is temporarily incapable for work and to point out some concrete problems
when applying it in practice. By elaboration of the paper, the hypothesis should be proved that legal regulation of tempo-
rary incapacity for work has social aspects and impacts employer’s decision-making in fundamental way when conside-
ring own social policy. Employers are players of social policy (Krebs, 2015). When solving temporary incapacity for
work of employees, they have to respect both duties given by legislation and they can use the options given them by
legislation (among others also by not solving some questions).

The paper is focused concretely on the employer’s duties, which have to be fulfilled in connection with absence of his
employee from work during a period when the employee is temporarily unfit to work. The employer has to pay the
employee compensatory wage for temporary absence, has to obey the ban of employment termination during a trial
period and has to accept a protection period at notice of termination. (Kocourek and Dobtichovsky, 2016) Further, there
are options mentioned, which the legal regulation provides with referring to above-standard provision with compensatory
wage during temporary incapacity for work and to the control, whether the regime of temporary incapacity is complied
by the employee. (Bélina et al. 2017; Andras¢ikova et al., 2013) Typical social benefit — so called sick days — are being
paid attention to as well. (Landwehrmann, 2018; Subrt, 2016) Regulation of mentioned questions is included in the crusial
act dealing with labour-law topic - the Labour Code (Act No. 262/2006 Coll. as amended). The sick days create the only
exception, which is not regulated by the law at all.

2 Methods

JUDr. Jana Martinikova, Ph.D., VSB-TUO, Faculty of Economics, Department of Law, Sokolska tfida 33, Ostrava, e-mail: jana.martinikova@vsb.cz
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This contribution is elaborated based on literature review and interpretation of legal regulation using relevant judicature.
Knowledge gained by their analysis is applied on some problems in practice. Methods of analysis and deduction are used
to verify above mentioned hypothesis.

3 Research results

In the following text, there are selected duties and options of employer during employee’s temporary incapacity of work
analysed as well as the questions connected with them are solved.

3.1 Compensatory wage during temporary incapacity for work

Temporary incapacity for work of employee is obstacle to work recognized by the law, which makes employee unable to
work. The care of employee’s health is the basis of it because incapacity for work is caused by sickness, injury or quaran-
tine. Typical aspect referring to this obstacle is (Nes¢akova and Jakubka, 2012) that employee does not ask the employer
for days off because proved existence of temporary incapacity for work itself creates employer’s duty to excuse em-
ployee’s absence at work.

If the employee proves temporary incapacity for work by doctor’s confirmation (so called sick note), the employer is
obligated to accept employee’s absence at work and at the same time has to follow another rule: he has to pay the com-
pensatory wage to the employee within the first 14 calendar day of temporary incapacity for work. However, it has to be
said that only working days are compensated. In case of longer sickness, financial provision is solved by an allowance
paid out of sickness insurance.

Compensatory wage paid by the employer is determined out of employee’s average wage and is paid since the fourth
working day of sickness (except quarantine — this is paid since the first working day). The first three working days are
called the waiting time, during which temporary incapacity for work is accepted obstacle to work at employee’s side and
is not compensated. Waiting time is strictly given period, which has to expire in order to provide with compensatory
wage. Compensatory wage is determined by the law at the level of 60 % of reduced average wage of employee. The
Figure 1 just for illustration shows how the compensatory wage is calculated within temporary incapacity for work in
2018.

Figure 1 Calculation of compensatory wage

Calculation of COMPENSATORY WAGE*)
by the Act No. 262/2006 Coll.
within temporary incapactiy for work or quarantine in period since 1st January 2018

Number of hours of incapactiy for work (sicknes) for calculation of compensatory wage **) 56
Number of hours of quarantine (since the first day) 0
. . 145,06 CZK
Average hourly wage - AHV (the same for sickness and quarantine) (5,59 €)
AHYV reduction
175,00 CZK - 0 . 130,5540 CZK
up to (6,75 €) reduction to 90% i.e.to (5.03€)
175,00 CZK 262,33 CZK . 0 .
above (6,75 €) up to (10,12 €) reduction to 60% l.e. to 0,0000 CZK
262,33 CZK 524,65 CZK . 0 .
above (10,12 € ) up to (20,23 €) reduction to 30% .e. to 0,0000 CZK
above 524,65 CZK  not conside-
(20,23 €) red
Reduced AHV 130,554 (5’9;;
4 386,6144
Compensatory wage (sickness) (169,14 €)
CzZK
Quarantine since 1st day 0,0000 CZK
Compensation in total 56 hours
4387 CZK
COMPENSATORY WAGE (169.2 €)

*) is provided within the first 14 calendar days for only working days and paid holiday
durign temporary incapacity for work is paid since 4th working day, up to 25th not worked hour
**) number of hours without waiting time, is not filled in for quarantine

Source: Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs of the Czech Republic;
Www.mpsv.cz/cs/11584
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The law enables to provide with higher compensatory wage (maximally and logically up to average wage) as well as
to pay it also during waiting time. The usage of those options represents above-standard social fulfilment from the side
of employer. The provision of sick days is the similar option, which is not regulated by the law though (see further).

In connection with the waiting time it has to be said that at present time (time of this paper elaboration), the Parliament
of the Czech Republic is negotiating the proposal for its cancelling. New adjustment is supposed to come into force since
the 1st July 2019. All employers will be obligated to pay the compensatory wage since the first day of employee’s tem-
porary incapacity for work. Constitution of new duty for employers and the loss of an option to provide with compensatory
wage within waiting time as the special benefit for employees are the consequence of this legal regulation change.

3.2 Trial period and temporary incapacity for work

Trial period and its arrangement is not obligatory clause but it is very often used when concluding employment contract.
It is period, within which both parties of employment check whether working relationship suits them. At the same time,
it is the period of some uncertainty as it comes to stability of working position and it is harder for employee, of course.
The length of this period is thus limited to up to 3 months since the day the employment has started (this period is up to
6 months for managers). Within trial period, employment can be finished by either of both parties without any reasons.

The legislation says that employer is not allowed to cancel employment within the first 14 days of temporary incapacity
for work of employee. In case such ban would not exist and employment would be terminated, the employee would lose
the right to compensatory wage because of temporary incapacity for work (see above).

Trial period is not being extended because of all-day obstacles to work (when employee does not work) neither because
of temporary incapacity for work. It means that after the first 14 days of temporary incapacity for work the employer can
terminate employment in trial period even the employee is still incapable to work. (Pospisil, 2015)

It is necessary to mention that this ban limits the employer “only” in option to act by the law. Kocourek and Dobti-
chovsky (2016) mention this example. If the employer terminates employment and there is said in the written termination
that employment finishes by e.qg. the third day after termination is received, and temporary incapacity for work of em-
ployee occurs within the period from decision on termination to the day, in which employment finishes, employment
duration is not considered and employment is terminated by the determined day. So, this regulation is not similar or
variation of so called protection period when notice of termination is concerned (see further).

When considering the fact whether duty of employer is fulfilled as it comes to above mentioned ban, one thing has to
be pointed out. In case further temporary incapacity for work occurs immediately after the previous temporary incapacity
for work finished, it is thought a continuation of previous temporary incapacity for work. The result of above said is that
the number of days of temporary incapacity for work, during which employment cannot be terminated, is the sum of
several sequenced temporary incapacities for work while the reason for them is not decisive. (Kocourek and Dobiichov-
sky, 2016)

3.3 Temporary incapacity for work — prohibition of notice by the employer

Employer’s duty referring to temporary incapacity for work and employment termination is to respect protection period
as it comes to notice of termination. The employer is not allowed to terminate employment during the period when the
employee is temporary unfit for work because temporary incapacity for work is the period related to prohibition of notice.
As Andraséikova et al. (2013) says, the ban of notice of termination submitted within the protection period is the specific
protection by the Czech law in particular situations when (by lawmakers” opinion) such fact (being given notice of termi-
nation) would be unreasonably hard. In other words, would be socially undesirable.

It has to be said that the ban of notice of termination is not valid absolutely. The protection period is not applied, when
temporary incapacity for work is being caused in purpose or it is consequence of employee s drunkenness or intoxication.
Notice being submitted by the employer due to further mentioned reasons is not prohibited as well. Those reasons are
closing down or relocating of udertaking, breach of working discipline and breach of temporary incapacity for work
regime (referring to the duty to pay compensatory wage during that period).

Breach of the ban of notice of termination by the employer within the temporary incapacity for work would cause
invalidity of such termination.

Finally, it has to be said that the reason for ban of notice of termination - temporary incapacity for work — is considered
up to the day of termination delivery. For example, the employee received the notice of termination because of redundancy
(his/her working position has been cancelled) and next day after termination delivery becomes sick (confirmed by the
doctor). Termination has not been delivered within the protection period. Even not in case, the doctor finds the employee
sick retrospectively i.e., before sick note issuing. This is confirmed by the Supreme Court of the Czech Republic of 20.
8. 2001 No. 21 Cdo 1954/2000, which says that protection period referring to temporary incapacity for work of employee
begins with the day when the doctor decides that the employee is not able to work. The fact that the doctor has used his
right to find the employee sick earlier (on the earlier date) does not change the date when it was decided on temporary
incapacity for work.
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In practice, such situation can occur that employee becomes sick after he received notice of termination and notice
period has started. The law determines the rule for such cases. If the notice of termination was given before the beginning
of protection period and notice period would finish during this time, protection period is not considered the part of notice
period. Employment finishes after the rest of notice period once protection period is ended unless the employee informs
the employer he/she does not insist on employment extension. In case the protection period would not intervene notice
period, then temporary incapacity for work period does not influence the employment termination.

3.4 Control of regimen of an employee being temporary unfit for work and breach of other duties

In connection with employer’s duty to pay compensatory wage to employee within the first 14 calendar days of temporary
incapacity for work there is other duty for employee adjusted in the legislation. The employer can sanction its breach. By
this duty, determined regime of temporary incapacity for work being observed by the employee is meant. Within this
period, the employee has to stay in the place of his/her residential address and to comply with the time and range of
allowed walks.

The employer is entitled to check this duty. In case it is breached, the employer can lower or take at all compensatory
wage or the employee can be given the notice of termination. It depends on seriousness of the breach. Notice of termina-
tion can be given to the employee though only if there is special gross violation of other obligation. For the purpose of
such control (Hruska, 2007), it is suitable to arrange the way or system of control in internal regulations or in collective
agreement. When providing such control, human rights and freedom has to be followed.

From the point of law theory view, determination of other duty is considered controversial because this is not duty
violation referring to the work (i.e., working duty according to the Labour Code). This duty is regulated by other legal
rules (from the field of sickness insurance). Above that, it is duty, which the employee fulfills within the period, when
his/her absence at work is excused due to work barrier.(Andras¢ikova et al., 2013) Bélina et al. (2017) argues that the act
tries to create “other employee’s duty” artificially. This is the typical example of conceptually improper sanctioning of
duty breach in one legal field by the methods of other legal field. The consequences of public-law system’s “incompe-
tence” (providing with sickness benefits) to see to the system abuse and the increase of temporary incapacity for work the
state transferred to the employer first (compensatory wage for the first 14 calendar days) and later the state gave the
employer the tool against the employees leading up to the option to terminate the employment.

The sanction used in the form of notice of termination in case the employee violates other duties in especially gross
way can become tough in practice. The law does not define strictly when other duty is violated especially grossly. It is
legal regulation with relatively indefinite hypothesis because intensity of the breach has to be always assessed by the
employer concretely in each case and by the court if dispute between employer and employee occurs as it comes to
termination invalidity (because of not adequate assessment of intensity of duty breach). (Andraséikova et al., 2013) Ne-
vertheless, by the decision of the Constitutional Court of 23. 5. 2017 No. P1. US 10/12, if the employee violates his/her
duties within the period of temporary incapacity for work, he/she harms the employer. The employee does not work, does
not undergo treatment and still demands compensatory wage by his/her employer. He/she de facto is unfaithful to the
employer. Above that, by his/her unreasonable absence, the employee can also cause economic problems. Especially
gross duties violation can fundamentally disrupt a trust between employee and employer. By the Constitutional Court of
the Czech Republic, employer cannot be asked to employ such employee who cheated, tried to deprive him of money or
harmed him seriously in any other way.

As said above, employer can sanction employee for breach of other duty also by lowering or not providing with com-
pensatory wage — especially in case this breach does not achieve intensity of especially gross violation. The decision of
the Supreme Court of the CR of 15.10.2015 No. 21 Cdo 5126/2014 says that the fact that the employee has not provided
the employer with the location of his/her stay during the first 14 calendar days of sickness (in order to be controlled by
the employer whether he/she follows the given conditions) cannot be considered the reason for giving the notice of ter-
mination. It means that in such case this is not the breach of the duty to stay at the place of residence within the incapacity
for work and keep the time and range of walks. Thus, the mere fact that when controlling, the employer has not reached
the employee at home because of e.g. he has visited the doctor urgently or has not come home from walk on time cannot
be thought especially gross duty violation. Those reasons have to be taken into consideration by the employer. He always
has to prove that employee has breached his/her duties in purpose e.g. he has worked somewhere else within the period
of temporary incapacity for work. As it comes to control at employee’s home, it can become problematic as well in terms
of constitutionally guaranteed freedom. The employee is not obligated to invite the employer to his flat or house. Howe-
ver, he is obligated to prove his stay by e.g. waving at employer from the window or open door.

It also has to be pointed out that in case the employer sanctions the employee for the breach of other duty by lowering
or taking away the compensatory wage, he cannot at the same time give the employee notice of termination and vice
versa. Those sanctions cannot be cumulated.

Periods, in which the employment termination can be given for another duty violation, other limitations are (besides
reason, violation intensity). Notice of termination can be submitted up to one month since the day the employer learned
about other duty violation and no later than one year since the day the reason occurred. Those periods can be extended in
cases when duty violation being the reason for termination become the subject of investigation by other authority (e.g. in
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the frame of offence process). Then, the period for notice of termination lasts 1 month since the day when the employer
has learned about the results of such process.

As resulting from above said, legal regulation of the option of employer to control the other duties being followed by
the employee and to sanction its breach by notice of termination is little questionable (in terms of its controversy). Despite
that, the authority of the employer to control employee within temporary incapacity for work is logical because it is
connected with the employer’s measures in the social and economic area. During this period, the employer provides with
compensatory wage and the aim of the control is to prevent its abuse. The control is also connected with the care of
employee’s health by adequate use of this time to undergo treatment.

3.5 Sick days

Above-standard social benefit provided by the employer, paid sick days are. Landwehrmann (2018) defines sick days as
health days off — not working days, which can be used by employee to solve his/her short time health indisposition without
the doctor’s confirmation.

Sick days have no support in legislation. In practice, employers adjust this benefit by their own decision. Therefore in
this paper, different variants of sick day’s regulation cannot be discussed in detail just in term of the fact that legal regu-
lation does not exist. Only some important questions are mentioned here, which the employer has to take into considera-
tion.

Employers can provide with this benefit and adjust its conditions or they do not have to provide with them in case
there are not proper circumstances in the company or company culture would not suit it. Absence of the law in this area
is positive aspect as it comes to reactions of employers to it. They can react very flexibly based on actual situation in the
company, according to their or employees ‘ needs. And last but not least to stabilize working relationships. It has to be
mentioned though that in practice, this employee’s benefit is being more often provided by companies with foreign par-
ticipation because such companies have experiences from foreign partners. Others especially smaller companies do not
usually provide with sick days so much. However, it can be assumed that if considering the labour market, significance
of this benefit will increase because it is undoubtedly competitive advantage.

To realize sick days, it is necessary to determine their conditions, e.g. in internal regulations. In such way, it would be
very easy to change those conditions in case of some need. Adjustment of sick days is possible to be made also in coll-
ective agreement or employment contract; however, to make changes would demand the agreement of other contract
party, which, in author’s opinion, is not the most suitable way to do so.

Sick days are considered the obstacle to work, adjustment of which should solve the number of days, in what period
they could be taken, reporting and giving consent to them, the process when maximum number of them would not be
taken, wage or compensatory wage, the employer’s reaction in case this benefit would become violated. (Landwehrmann,
2018).

In practice, the length of sick days is usually 3 — 5 days and reflects the fact that short health indisposition may be
“healed” within few days. Taking sick days is much better solution for both parties — employer and employees, because
in case the employee would take temporary incapacity for work, it would mean his/her longer absence at work. By pro-
viding the sick days, such situations can be avoided when employees leave the sickness untreated and still come to work;
it can cause other and even longer health complications and makes the situation worse for employer.

From above mentioned (obligation to pay compensatory wage to the employee) results that employer is obligated to
provide with compensatory wage from 4th to 14th day of sickness duration. The first 3 days are not paid. With provision
of sick days, this period can be bridged. Sick days are being provided with just within 3 days. Considering the expected
canceling of waiting time (see above), such way of sick days use would loose its sense.

In practice, such problem can occur that the employee has not started his/her employment on 1st January. The number
of available sick days is usually determined for calendar year. Therefore, it would be good to register sick days individu-
ally for each employee (e.g. from 1.4. to 31.3. of each year). This issue would bring administrative burden to the employer.
There is possible solution — within the first employment year, the employer would provide with sick days proportionally
and gradually up to particular dates. For example, employees starting the employment up to 2nd January would be given
3 sick days, starting after 2nd January up to 30th April would have 2 days and those starting between 1st many and 31th
August would be given only once sick day. (Landwehrmann, 2018)

When applied in practice, procedure has to be taken into consideration in case sick days are not used at all. Different
variants can be thought - transferring those days into next year (or its part), financial compensation or no compensation.
Regarding the fact that this benefit is considered above-standard, the most suitable and the easiest way would be not
provide with compensation.

Another difficult question is how to pay sick days as paid health days off. Sick days are undoubtedly barrier for work
at the employee side. Even though, in practice, employers solve this situation by paying the wage instead of compensatory
wage. Argumentation that the absence of legal regulation enables the employers to make any adjustment, would fail (in
author’s opinion) because if the employee does not work, he/she cannot be paid the wage, which, by the law, is given to
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the employee for done work. Similarly, e.g. Subrt (2016) says that indisposition days off (sick days) are barrier for work
and thus those cannot be paid by the wage but only as the compensatory wage. Also Chladkova (2010) assumes that if
the employee does not work, he/she cannot be given the wage but the employer can determine the compensatory wage,
which would be equal to the wage in case he/she would work. Contrary to this opinion, Landwehrmann (2018) admits the
option to provide with the wage during sick days even she also says that this benefit is more suitable to be considered the
barrier for work with compensatory wage.

Some employees can tempt to abuse this benefit. To avoid such behaviour, the employer should determine strict con-
ditions. He should list the examples of health indisposition, under which sick days can be taken; further, he should clearly
say that sick days cannot be taken at the beginning or after holiday.

The issue of sick days and options of their legal regulation and adjustment of conditions, under which sick days will
be provided with (voluntarily or obligatorily), is being discussed by professional public as well as by politicians. Author
of this contribution perceives the absence of sick day’s legal regulation as positive aspect. Strict legal regulation of bene-
fits provided by employers denies its core and limits the room for above-standard competitive advantages. Absence of
legal regulation of sick days does not really mean that those would not be realized in practice. As Epstein (2010) argues,
complex legal regulation and state intervention bring consequences being not always expected and favourable.

4 Conclusion

Temporary incapacity for work is the topic, which can be discussed from legal, economic, social and health points of
view. The aim of this contribution was to outline the Czech legal regulation of some questions related to temporary
incapacity for work of employee, determine the principles of legal regulation of the selected duties and options of em-
ployer and present some problems when those are practically applied. By elaboration of this topic, hypothesis was to be
proved that the legal regulation of employee’s temporary incapacity for work has social aspects and influences the em-
ployer in his social policy.

Such questions have been chosen for this paper showing how the legal regulation influences employers while solving
employee’s temporary incapacity for work. The legal regulation determines duties, which have to be fulfilled by the
employer. The legal regulation gives options, which can be used by the employer especially depend on his economic and
organizational conditions. Further question from this paper can be seen as well namely employers can use non-existence
of legal regulation of some issues in favour of employees, here concretely sick days. Their adjustment is provided
adequately by the possibilities and needs of employer in case he decides to provide his employees with such benefit.

The analysis of selected questions clearly documents the adjustment of social standards in the Czech legal regulation
of temporary incapacity for work and reflects the level of social policy in this field. The mentioned hypothesis has been
proved though.
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Labour productivity of SME confectionary manufacturers as a finan-
cial performance influencing factor

Jan Vaviina, Josef Polak

Abstract: Food manufacturing industry is considered to be a labour intensive industry. The way for increasing compet-
itive advantage of food processing companies is then interconnected with both intensive and extensive growth of labour
productivity based on rising export potential, mainly within the single European market. This paper aims at identification
of factors influencing labour productivity of small and medium-sized food processors and consequently their overall
economic performance within the industry Manufacture of other food products - cocoa, chocolate and sugar confectionery
(NACE category 10.8). It was explored period of years 2007 — 2015 using financial secondary data of SME food pro-
cessing businesses, active in the aforementioned industry and settled in Visegrad four member countries.

Key words: Labour productivity - Food processing industry - Competitiveness

JEL Classification: M21

1 Introduction

The agri-food industry is considered to be the second biggest economic branch in the EU and it is also a substantive one
from the employment point of view. The EU food and safety policy is focused on securing safety and quality food for
inhabitants, while considering the needs for creating the best practise conditions regarding to entrepreneurial conditions
for food processors settled in the EU member states (European Commission, 2014). The food processing industry can be
regarded as intensively interconnected system with broader scale of mutual interrelationships (Lee, Van Hout, 2009).
Agri-food chains cope with a broader range of requirements for the products than it was mentioned. From the trade point
of view the most important assessor of goods is the final consumer (Hron, Macék, 2010).

Food processing enterprises running their business in the Visegrad 4 group member countries have had similar con-
ditions to sustain and develop their business activities since they entered the Single European market in 2004. It could be
named instruments of the Common Agricultural Policy within the context of negative impacts” diminish of outer sectorial
environment in relation with the economic status of businesses, specifically small and medium ones. The policy equali-
zation instruments were focused mainly on co-financing investments to meet the hygienic and food safety of EU law and
order requirements as this industry is regarded as a labour intensive one, specifically then manufacture of a confectionary
production (e. g. Dai, 2013).

Food industry in the Czech Republic as the whole lags behind the EU average mainly in the economic performance.
The data from corporate statistics 2010 state lower gross added value per employee in the Czech Republic, namely about
50 % lower labour productivity (Ministry of agriculture, 2014). The period after the Czech Republic’s entering the EU
can be described as the period of increasing amount of food processing business entity.

Torok and Jambor (2013) discusses that food-processing industries in foreign hands, working in the globalised world
of specialisation, can force their transportation, logistics, labour or other costs into the minimum, while dividing their
investment costs, thereby better using the advantages residing in concentration, specialisation and regionalisation. Re-
garding to the previous facts, economic efficiency and competitiveness of food processing businesses at the single EU
market has to be discussed in the area of exporting ability as well. According to Wisniewska (2010), there were two net
exporters of foodstuffs in the Visegrad member countries (V4) in the period of years 2004-2007. Poland, as the biggest
exporter of food, had export surpluses of 3504 million USD in 2007 and the trade grown by 236 %, since 2004. The
Poland’s export surpluses significantly exceeded the Hungarian one (628 million USD), where the food trade declined by
20 % in comparison with 2004. The other V4 member countries had food trade balance deficits (1189 million USD in the
case of the Czech Republic). On the other hand, small and medium enterprises (SME) employing less people are suffering
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more from the problems mentioned above, their debts are increasing, investments are missing and their economic viability
is weakening. It is also clear that the competitiveness of the new EU member countries” agriculture and the whole agri-
food industry should be enhanced (for instance, by targeted investments, by increasing the technological efficiency, by
rationalising economic size of businesses, by reducing taxes, etc.) (T6rok and Jambor, 2013)

This paper focuses on identification of similarities and dissimilarities within main factors, which influenced the per-
formance of small and medium-sized food processors in the industry Manufacture of cocoa, chocolate and sugar confec-
tionery (NACE category 10.82) in the observed period of years 2007 — 2015. So, this article aims at identification of
financial and non-financial factors, influencing performance of small and medium —sized food processors performance in
comparison with economically largest entities within the industry Manufacture of other food products - cocoa, chocolate
and sugar confectionery (NACE category 10.8) using labour force productivity as an ultimate aggregated indicator of the
economic efficiency.

2 Methods

The secondary corporate financial data of food processing industry were gathered from the Amadeus Database of Bureau
van Dijk. The food processing businesses are identified via NACE industry classification. Namely, there were employed
data of corporates, which were active in NACE industry category 10.8 — Manufacture of other food products - - cocoa,
chocolate and sugar confectionery in the period of years 2007 — 2015. Economic efficiency of food processing business
entities was measured by indicator labour productivity. This indicator measures effects of the workforce consumption.
We consider the growth trend of the labour productivity indicator in the aforementioned observed period as the evidence
of positive development of economic performance of a business entity, on the other hand the decreasing trend as the
evidence of a negative development in that area. Labour productivity indicator (LP) is enumerated based on corporate
financial statements as follows:

LP = Added Value / Total Employees count (8]

The aggregated profitability indicator LP was then decomposed to its respective analytical components to provide
more insight into factors, which influence year-on-year development of the aggregated indicator LP, namely efficiency
of fixed assets and equipment with fixed assets as follows:

LP = Added Value/ Fixed Assets x Fixed Assets/Total Employees count (2)
where:

Added Value/ Fixed Assets represents efficiency of fixed assets, 3)
Fixed Assets/Total Employees count represents equipment with fixed assets. 4)

In order to obtain a sample of business entities the following searching strategy was employed. It was analysed the
trend of labour productivity indicator within the period of years 2007 — 2015 among population of food processing busi-
nesses in the Visegrad 4 countries, which are covered in the Database Amadeus of Bureau van Dijk. The whole identified
population of food-processing companies within industry NACE 10.8 settled in V4 countries counts 3,015 entities. The
sample of food producing businesses involved in the exploration analysis counts for all V4 countries in industry NACE
10.8 totally 150 businesses, which were identified as those with unconsolidated financial data.

The explorative technique for subjective mapping of similarities among businesses in respective countries based on
corporate financial data is the multiple-correspondence analysis (MCA). This technique allows extended analysis of in-
dicators” matrixes with cases as rows and categories of variables as columns. So, there is analysed the inner product of
the respective matrix with selected indicator that is called the burt table. The respective burt table consists of contingency
tables with respective measure of correspondence between rows and columns. The results of the multiple-correspondence
analysis will be visualised by a three dimensional space, using enumerated column coordinates. Here and after is set this
notation of respective factors (F1 — F5) regarding to outputs of MCA:

- SME, L&VL — economic size of businesses, i.e. small and medium, respectively large and very large ones (F1),
- CZ, H, PL, SK — observed V4 member countries: Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland and Slovakia (F2),

- LP_Av/empl_OA; LP_AV/empl_BA —over average labour productivity per employ, respectively below average
ones, measured as median of labout productivity in the observed time period (F3),

- Eff_FA_AV/empl_incr, Eff FA_AV/empl_decr — increasing trend of fixed assets efficiency, respectively its de-
creasing trend (F4),
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- EQP_FA_AV/empl_incr, EQP_FA_AV/empl_decr — increasing trend of equipment with fixed assets, respec-
tively its decreasing trend (F5).

Software Statistica 13 was utilised for the multiple-correspondence analysis enumeration procedures to reveal simi-
larities and dissimilarities among observations as common factors within their economic performance.

3 Research results

Respective similarities and dissimilarities of the observed sample of food processing companies, focusing on the produc-
tivity of labour were identified by the subjective mapping technique — multiple correspondence analysis. The visualization
in three dimensional space was employed to identify associations between the labour productivity measured by added
value per employee, its decomposition elements, economic size and settlement of business entity in V4 countries. Specif-
ically the analysis was conducted both with increasing and decreasing trend of this labour productivity indicator in the
observed period of years 2007 - 2015. The following Tab. 1 provides outputs of conducted MCA for column profiles and
respective contribution to inertia for observed food processing companies” sample both with increasing and decreasing
labour productivity in V4 countries in the given time period, according to their economic size within industry NACE 10.8
- Manufacture of other food products - confectionary.

Table 1 Contributions to MCA inertia within increasing and decreasing trend of food processing companies” profitability in V4
countries in the time period of years 2007 — 2015 according to the economic size being active within the selected industry branch in
NACE 10.8

. Relative Cosine sq. Cosine sq. Cosine sq.
Factors Mass Quality Inertia Dim. 1 Dim. 2 Dim. 3
F1: SME 0.13 0.34 0.05 0.22 0.08 0.04
F1: L&VL 0.07 0.34 0.09 0.22 0.08 0.04
F2:Cz 0.05 0.31 0.11 0.04 0.01 0.26
F2:H 0.04 0.68 0.11 0.08 0.56 0.04
F2:PL 0.08 0.65 0.09 0.30 0.03 0.33
F2:SK 0.03 0.63 0.12 0.41 0.22 0.00
F3: LP_ AV/empl_OA 0.11 0.72 0.06 0.40 0.32 0.01
F3: LP_ AV/empl_BA 0.09 0.72 0.08 0.40 0.32 0.01
F4: Eff_FA_AV/empl_incr 0.08 0.48 0.08 0.08 0.01 0.39
F4: Eff_FA_AV/empl_decr 0.12 0.48 0.06 0.08 0.01 0.39
F5: EQP_FA_AV/empl_incr 0.13 0.67 0.05 0.13 0.24 0.29
F5: EQP_FA_AV/empl_decr 0.07 0.67 0.09 0.13 0.24 0.29

Source: Own processing

The cumulative percentage of inertia within a chosen tree-dimensional space is exceeding 50 percent (56.1 %), so it
indicates a well visualisation ability of chosen group of 5 factors, based on observed frequencies in the MCA burt table
of food-processing business entities settled in V4 member countries, being active in the industry Manufacture of other
food products - confectionary.

Figure 1 3D MCA outputs visualisation of labour productivity among sample of confectionary manufacturers in V4
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A relative importance of three employed visualised dimensions in the aforementioned graph is declared by respective
inertia values for respective dimensions, which are representing its amount of significant information in 3D space — in the
case of Fig. 1 then dimension one 20,7 %, dimension two 18,72 % and dimension three 16,68 %.

The identified business entities, settled in V4 member countries as a whole, which were active within the industry
Manufacture of other food products - confectionary in time period of years 2007 — 2015 were identified as those with
prevailing above average mean value of labour productivity, as it can be seen via respective visualisation of coordinates
at dimension 1 (see Fig. 1).

The identified dissimilarities among observed economic size categories of food-processing business in industry NACE
10.8 can be also depicted via dimension 1. It can be stated that the prevailing size category of businesses with identified
above average labour productivity are the observed economically largest enterprises. The influence of the factor country
of settlement on the similarity of the respective column profiles can be described as following. Profiles of observed busi-
nesses settled in the Czech Republic and Poland can be well visualised via dimension 3. Food processors settled in Slo-
vakia are well visualised at dimension 1, observed businesses settled in Hungary than at dimension 2. Firstly mentioned
group of businesses settled in the Czech Republic and Poland is representing the observations of food producers with
prevailingly above average labour productivity in the observed period. So, in the case of observed businesses settled in
the Czech Republic more than 63 % of entities reported in the period of years 2007 - 2015 a mean yearly labour produc-
tivity per employee higher than 10 618 EUR that was calculated as V4 member countries median value for the analysed
food processing industry. In the case of companies settled in Poland even more than 70 % of observed entities were
identified as those with over average labour productivity per employee. On the other hand, the case of observed companies
settled in Slovakia revealed more than 53 % of businesses with labour productivity lower than V4 member countries’
average and in the case of observed businesses settled in Hungary even more than 75 % with below average labour
productivity.

On the other hand observed businesses settled in Hungary and Slovakia are representing entities with prevailingly
below average labour productivity in the given time period. Despite the fact of worse observed labour productivity among
businesses settled in Slovakia, it was identified the highest proportion of businesses with increasing trend of fixed assets
equipment.

Contrarily, the observed efficiency of fixed assets among businesses settled in Slovakia belongs to the worst one in
comparison with other V4 countries. Conversely to this finding, it can be stated an equal proportion of observed businesses
with on one hand increasing and on the other decreasing trend of fixed assets” efficiency in the Czech Republic and
Hungary.

4 Discussion and Conclusions

The food processing industry and specifically the confectionary branch is both capital and labour demanding business
activity, and it is also facing price sensitive demand. So, there is a continuous need for managing cost and rationalization
of production processes. These needs for an increasing economic efficiency of production can be seen e. g. according to
Abrham (2014) also in the process of cooperation among businesses in the food processing industry. This cooperation is
mainly identified via clustering and these initiatives are supported by European Commission’s financial encouragements.
Effects of cooperation among economically self-standing food producing companies are anchored mainly in economies
of scale or reduction of limits of small businesses, respectively. They also accelerate the innovation potential of the com-
panies through the information and technology transfer among cooperating business entities and it also affects their will-
ingness to invest into production capacities, especially regarding to economically smaller businesses.

Food processing industry in V4 member countries is still considered to suffer from an increasing trend of agricultural
raw materials and energy prices (Jdmbor, 2015). In addition to the obligatory EU standards for food productions it can be
stated an increasing pressure on the economic efficiency of respective business processes.

Results of this article prove the aforementioned general statements validity via an empirical evidence of sample of
confectionary producers settled in V4 member countries. The highest labour productivity was identified in V4 member
countries among economically largest confectionary producers. Subsequently, observed businesses settled in the Czech
Republic and Poland are then identified as those with an prevailing increasing trend of labour productivity in the period
of years 2007 — 2015. On the other hand, sample of businesses settled in Slovakia and Hungary legs behind, so it was
identified a lower labour productivity in the observed period for that sample. It can be stated additionally to the previous
findings, that confectionary producers in Slovakia were identified as those with the highest positive development trend in
their equipment with fixed assets, but with the worst identified efficiency of these fixed assets among all other observed
businesses from V4 member countries.
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It can be concluded based on the provided empirical evidence that investments are regarded as a crucial factor for
economic efficiency of confectionary food producers in spite of the fact that this industry branch is regarded as one of the
most labour demanding one. Further increasing of labour productivity and economic performance, especially among small
and medium sized food producers, is then inevitably connected with the need for economically effective investments in
to the production capacities, i. e. investments to fixed assets.
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Ethics in Human Resources Management

Darja Holatova, Miroslav Némec

Abstract: Ethics is an indispensable part of managerial practice which influences the human resources management,
business climate, corporate culture and good reputation of a controlled object. In decision-making processes managers
often encounter conflicting interests of different groups in a company or different values and ambiguous rules. Ethics is
often underestimated by some individuals because unethical behaviour may bring a short-time advantage. In a long-term
perspective, unethical behaviour may damage the company’s reputation. The price companies pay for unethical behavi-
our is considerable. This phenomenon relates to occupational health and safety issues, costs and effectiveness of the
company. An enterprise has a necessary prerequisite to participate in the development of entrepreneurial environment.

Key words: Ethics - Unethical behaviour - Communication - Human resources management

JEL Classification: L20 - M12 - M14

1 Introduction

Ethics is a scientific discipline dealing with moral decisions and methods of their justification. It is a theoretical reflection
of moral. We can say that ethics deals with theory while moral represents its practical aspect. Ethics evaluates human
activities in terms of what is morally good and bad and what is morally right and wrong. The meaning of “ethics in
management” is used when we need to Stress or soften certain statements or to explain unpopular measures we encounter
in company management, management of institutions or state economy. Uncultured behaviour in management and wild
market must be regulated by ethical attitudes of managers.

The recent awareness about the contents and position of ethics in management and economy is insufficient. Behaviour
of individual companies and their ethical principles may be judged by the society, i.e. communication with customers is
what matters and so do guarantees and responsibility demonstrated in realization of their products and services and also
their relationship to environment and particular measures of its protection. Charity and social responsibility and invol-
vement are in question. The scope of a company s ethical behaviour may become a competitive advantage in the market.

Contrary to moral - which is closer to particular rules - ethics aims at finding common and general principles forming
its background, or seeks justification of moral behaviour. Ethics describes reality while adding what things and procedures
should look like. Ethics deals with human action in terms of the good and bad, happiness and purpose of life, it is a
discipline dealing with morally relevant human behaviour (Thompson, 2004).

Ethics is often discussed but it is hard to imagine what its exact meaning is. By means of ethics we can differentiate
the good and the bad, the ethical and unethical. Ethics is something that each of us has to continuously develop because
it represents internal rules and values of an individual. We often think of ethics as of a set of rules, since each group,
society and organization that we become members of in the course of life, has its internal regulations. We must not forget
that ethics is a kind of a personal compass directing our ways of action (Pasztor, 2016). Ethics is a set of rules and
standards expressing opinions of a group of people about behaviour and action of the others in terms of the good and the
bad, the right and the wrong. It is a discipline dealing with moral, the origin and with the purpose of moral awareness and
behaviour. Cakirpaloglu (2012) says that ethics is a branch of philosophy which researches morally relevant behaviour
in view of moral standards, principles and values mostly in situations when we can choose between the good and the bad.

Not always ethics gives us the right answers to moral problems. More and more people are convinced that more than
just one right answer exists for many ethical questions. However, we would like to have the one right solution because
people wish to act correctly. The right answer often does not exist. We can have more correct answers or just the fewest
of the bad answers for us to choose from (BBC, 2014).
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Sekni¢ka & Putnova (2017) wrote that the role of ethics in modern management is indispensable. Basic values of the
entrepreneurial ethics are justice and fairness. “Justice is based on the principle of equal treatment. It does not mean that
all people are treated equally. This can only happen on the condition that fixed rules have been determined for certain
issues and procedures that have to be followed” (Sron&k, 1995). It is important to avoid unrealistic hope and unjustified
expectations because this can result in the feeling that entrepreneurship as such is not fair. Another principle to follow is
a voluntary compliance with the law, keeping confidentiality, avoiding conflict of interests, acting in good will, etc.

Development of global business involves, among other, the need for standardized rules for controlling, bookkeeping
and other everyday operations, plus the development of rules of behaviour in an organization and its employees. Therefore
a professional framework of action is required which is often defined in an Ethical Code. This is particularly important in
a situation when many international and multinational companies enter the market who bring their norms of behaviour
and culture (Branson, Chen & Anderson, 2015). This is why standards are most important for the right relationships
between employees within the company and externally.

Ethical action at a workplace is essential. Managers state that relationships to employees are most important for the
right operation of each business. Unethical behaviour becomes a standard in some companies. The fact that the atmosphere
of fear and intrigue prevails is mostly recognized by the management as late as when the best employees leave since they
are too sensitive to scheming. A psychological survey revealed that numerous Czech companies function in an atmosphere
which is far from being ethical (Sovova, 2012).

Relationship problems at a workplace can have many forms starting from a slander, intrigues and denunciation to
attacking, harassment and psychological terror. These problems are known as mobbing, bullying or bossing — a topic not
much officially spoken about in companies (Bartak, 2006). Should they be revealed, it is usually the remarkable “iceberg
top”, which has to be addressed at any circumstances.

The term bullying is pursued especially in Britain; it is derived from the word bully (a brutal and rude person, a tyrant,
etc.). Bullying translates as frightening and using terror at a workplace. It is initiated and controlled by colleagues or by
a supervisor with the aim to abuse a person by active and persistent long time pressure or to cause damage to them.
Bullying often causes the aggrieved person to fall ill or even to commit suicide. Symptoms are regular and last long.
Mobbing and bullying have a similar nature (Tehrani, 2001).

Mobbing is a phenomenon representing a long-term diminishing communication acts done by co-employees indivi-
dually or as a group (for a minimum of six months), and repeated (a minimum once a week) towards a certain person.
Mobbing occurs in businesses more often that we would expect (Bartak, 2006). Mobbing is a term used for psychological
terror at a workplace; bullying among colleagues. Typically it is a situation when a group of employees try to make an
individual s working life uncomfortable by unfriendly behaviour. Participants to mobbing may be colleagues, supervisors
or even supervised employees. Such unfavourable behaviour may influence workers in all size companies, including
small-size firms (Gresham, 2017). This behaviour often happens at frequent intervals in a long period. Its consequences
involve mental and social anguish of the victim. Kratz (2005) defined mobbing as follows: ,,Mobbing is a number of
negative communication situations committed by an individual or a group of individuals against a certain person for a
minimum of half a year and at least once a week.”

Mobbing occurs especially due to the following reasons (Kocéabek, 2008):

- envy (a happy family and family background, work ideas, performance and success, reliable friends, sports
image, clothing, hobbies, money, etc.),

- desire to control others,

- showing off in front of people one knows,

- sexual motivation,

- bad moral and insufficient legal awareness, etc.

Bossing is another form of bullying at work — a systematic bullying by a supervisor. In many cases it is a manager
towards a supervised person who is enforced to be overly flexible and obedient or to leave his/her working position.
Bossing is also called a top-down mobbing. If the concerned employee fails to act according to the bossing orders, s/he
faces sanctions that the manager disposes of within his/her position. Following are examples of such sanctions (Oade,
2009):

- salary reduction,

- demotivation of employees,
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refused application for holidays,

- bad evaluation report,

- reduced or cancelled perks,

- making an employee redundant,

- assigning boring or routine work,

- making an employee to cooperate with a person he cannot get along with.

Staffing is a form of a bottom up bullying involving unfair attacks against an individual in a managerial position with
the aim to ruin him/her or his team or a company.

Consequences for the company

Organizations keep looking for ways to reduce stress at workplaces with the aim to improve their employees” producti-
veness. This effort should reveal possible reasons for work stress. Bullying is a relatively new concept among co-workers
in the form of unfriendly behaviour at work. The above indicated study discovered different reasons for bullying and its
relations to the victim’s behaviour. The study used an analysis of the factors identifying reasons for mobbing and structu-
ral modelling of equations to test relationships among employees (Qureshi, Rasli & Zaman, 2014). Empiric findings
demonstrated that the course of mobbing has a positive relation to stress and leads to negative behaviour of employees at
workplaces.

Aggression, violence, conflict and various discrepancies at workplaces have always existed. The growing stress, com-
petitiveness, constant pressure to increase work performance and reduce operating expenses at any cost result in deteri-
oration of the working relationships. Individualism supported by the above described situation makes the working envi-
ronment even worse and contributes to the adverse working conditions. Different requirements and expectations of each
individual are a frequent source of pathological relationships. However, not every conflict is mobbing (Svobodova, 2008).
Reasons for this phenomenon not only are in the personality of the mobbing person, but also in a wrong setup of the
company culture which prefers competitive relationship, where envy exists and ethics is lacking. Further, incorrect work
organization, inconsistent check of the employees work and especially in the style of management. Managers should be
aware of the fact that this pathological phenomenon negatively influences both the victims and the whole company.

Occurrence of mobbing is in principle proportional to discomfort at work, bad social climate and usually happens at
the low level ethic workplaces. Mobbing typically originates from competitive pressure, from fight for better position
and more advantages, existential insecurity and from fear of losing work. Relationships among employees in such envi-
ronment are weak and intolerant (Svobodova, 2008).

Consequences of the above listed factors lead to a bad atmosphere at a workplace, hostile and dysfunctional environ-
ment, lack of team spirit, reduction of work performance and quality. Employees are less creative and productive while
fluctuation increases. The moral of the whole company is declining. All of this results in the increased operating costs of
the company (Svobodova, 2008). Such adverse conditions cause lack of concentration of the workers, which can result in
a high risk of failures, errors or injuries. Sickness rate and inability to work increase, since these are ways of escape from
the adverse working situation. Dédi¢ova (2017) adds:

- decreased productiveness, effectiveness and profitability,

- increased absence and fluctuation of employees,

- reduced moral and loyalty,

- increased cost due to hiring employees and re-qualification,

- indirect cost due to dealing with bullying,

- negative impact on company’s image,

- potential fines for failing to keep health and safety regulations,
- legal costs for litigation of those who sue the mobbing persons,
- potential increase of insurance premiums.

Positive atmosphere at a workplace, good company culture based on the firm moral background does not support
pathological relationships. Employees must not have the feeling that their managers follow different rules and standards.
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A company should pursue clear and understandable regulations, and all employees should know what behaviour is ex-
pected and what will not be tolerated. Behavioural patterns of supervisors are deliberately or unconsciously taken over
by supervised employees (Svobodova, 2008).

2 Methodology and Data, Results

Research into ethics and unethical behaviour and acting at workplaces was made in a selected organization in 2017 as a
pilot survey for a project planned for the year 2019.

A hypothesis was proposed that an organization aiming at ethical relationships in human resources management will
be positively evaluated by its employees and this fact will correspond with the economic results of the monitored com-

pany.
The data was collected by means of a questionnaire containing 34 items structured in 2 thematic blocks. The first part

of the questionnaire consisted of 7 items focusing on social and demographic characteristics of the respondents (gender,
age, number of years in employment, number of years in the current position and questions about superiority).

The following part contained 22 items taken over from the NAQ-R questionnaire based on the behavioural measure-
ment strategy. For this purpose was selected a reviewed version of the Negative Action Questionnaire, NAQ-R (Einarsen,
Hoel, Notegaers, 2009).

We distributed 383 questionnaires; the survey was participated by 208 employees, i.e. 54,31 % of the workforce.
Results - table 1.

Table 1 Negative Action Questionnaire in %.

No. . Never
Questions in %
1 Did someone withhold from you information that influence your work quality or (78,4
' your deadlines?
3 Have you been asked to perform work that is below your competences and (77,9
' qualifications or abilities?
72,6
5. Has anyone use slander and libel against you?
79,8
8. Has anyone shout at you or have you been a target of unprovoked anger?
11. Have you been repeatedly reminded of your mistakes and failures? 7.9
. 65,4
13. Have your work results and work performance been criticized?
. . . 72,1
14. Have your ideas and opinions been ignored?
16. Have you been assigned tasks with unreasonable requirements or deadlines? 78,8
18. Has your work been overly checked and monitored? 798

Source: Own processing

The monitored organization is actively involved in the quality of human resources management and social responsi-
bility. The survey demonstrated that the employees evaluate the work relationships positively. This finding corresponds
with the company’s economic results that show a long-term prosperity of the monitored company.

Working environment closely relates to managers. They concentrate a high degree of power. Management styles,
communication setup with supervised employees and behaviour of managers substantially influence each workplace (Bie-
zinova, Slaba, 2017).

The person responsible is mainly the manager who creates the working environment. If s/he lacks the basic moral and
the required legal awareness, s/he triggers mobbing at a workplace. Such manager typically lacks self-confidence and has
a strong need to control and manipulate others (Kocabek, 2008). S/he is usually surrounded by a servile group of poor-
character acquaintances to whom s/he offers various benefits (e.g. perks, the feeling of power, rewards). For this, s/he
requires an absolute subordination, including denouncing

Mobbing exists at places where managers do not care for team spirit, refuse to speak about the existing problems, nor
want they solve them; where managers are not sufficiently qualified, ignore conflicts and respond to mistakes with preju-
dice (Svobodova, 2008).
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3 Discussion

On the condition that management ignore unethical behaviour, they in fact approve of it, and as a consequence, it becomes
a common standard. An employer can step in against those who damage the company - intrigue, spread sensitive infor-
mation — by termination of their employment due to serious violations of the work duties.

Management style plays an important role. The most suitable is democratic style. Autocratic, authoritarian or exten-
sively liberal management raise the atmosphere that supports mobbing. Liberal style and extensive freedom result in
anarchy and chaos. Directive management raises irritation, discomfort and aggressiveness. (Svobodova, 2008).

A good manager must be able to understand feelings of others and to reasonably control his/her emotions (Svobodova,
2008). Dysfunctional communication between a manager and employees, absence of information about the supervised
workers raises the feeling of ignorance and derogation. A basic tool of in-company communication should be clear rules,
strictly determined rights, duties and responsibility of all the players. Rules clarify relationship and prevent useless mi-
sunderstandings and derogations.

Workplaces vastly endangered by mobbing exist at companies with bureaucratic organizational structure, in large
companies with a complex organizational structure and where intellectual work prevails (education, healthcare and state
administration bodies) (Zabrodska, & Kvéton, 2012).

The author (Bartak, 2006) quotes the risk we often see in bad managers. Human resources should not be mistaken by
the so called “snakes in suits” — according to Babiak, Hare ( 2014) or ,,psychobosses®. At first sight, they positively
impress their environment, they are enchanting, communicative, energetic and seem to be an ideal personality until we
discover what hides under the surface. We can find lies, fraud, cheating, manipulation, self-centredness, misuse of the
supervised, psychopathic action, hidden absence of self-confidence compensated by psychological pressure against em-
ployees, cold and calculative injuring of others without feeling any reproach, sometimes even with one’s satisfaction
(Bartak, 2006).

If human resources neglect the roots of conflict and fail to solve problems, the situation can develop into open psy-
chological pressure.

4 Conclusions

Ethics should be an integral part of a company strategy, while its implementation is based on results of economic results
ethical analyses (Krymlakova, 2009).

Sources of conflict are numerous. The author (Bartdk, 2006) lists different personality types, variety of interests,
disproportion between objectives and means to achieve them, insufficient opportunities, organizational problems, diffe-
rent sources of information, different information processing, controversial objectives, values and standards

Stress caused by mobbing adds to the standard working stress. Mobbing is psychologically demanding, as well as
economically contra-productive. Negative results of a systemic “liquidation” of a selected victim influence much more
than the victim itself. Major damage may affect the whole business since mobbing has a great negative impact on its
activities. If some employees are deliberately prevented from receiving information and from making decisions, or if they
are intentionally given wrong information, the productiveness decreases and transparency of the working process declines
(Kallwass, 2007).

In a long-term perspective, it is essential to start at the stage of selection the manager and pay attention to a balanced
relationship of the candidates to business tasks and to people. It is recommended to invest the required time, energy and
finance to a thorough diagnostics of both special and (perhaps more importantly) personal and social characteristics (Bar-
tak, 2006). Managers must be an example for others and must enforce ethical principles in all employees and in their
economic environment. They must criticize outdated or incorrect norms and require their change.

A useful tool to prevent consequences of bad behaviour damaging the company, certain mechanisms are formed that
try to eliminate undesirable behaviour — ethical code is accepted and an ombudsman appointed, boxes for employees
complaints are in place, etc., as Babiak (2014) states. Working atmosphere can be cleared by setting a style of ma-
nagement, company visions, mission, rules, cooperation and collective agreement principles which prevent or at least
reduce mobbing (Bartak, 2006).

Ethical Code is an essential tool for ethical management. It contains the basic lead-in principles of ethical standards
in the company and concerns all the interest groups (Armstrong, 2017). Ethical Code is a guideline to help the organi-
zation provide for its everyday activities and behaviour of its members in compliance with the regulations in place. Ethical
Code is not legally binding; however, its violation can be addressed in terms of the accepted disciplinary measures.
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New Economy

Markéta Adamova, Nikola Soukupova, Rizena Krninska

Abstract: The concept of New economy is really broad and covers rapidly changes. These changes are related to the
processes of globalization and the deep uses of information and communication technologies in all sectors. Last decades
different adjectives cam be added to the term economy, they should highlight changes within economy - for example new,
knowledge-based, innovative, digital. The aim of the paper is the review of New economy and finding out possible benefit
from it. New economy can help with facing recession and create new jobs. To conclude scientists, businesses and nations
will have to face many challenges within New economy - especially those related to energy security and the limited fossil
fuels, to the impact of robotization and transformation into Industry 4.0, which will be associated with extensive digital-
ization in enterprises, but certainly also in the public sphere.

Key words: New economy - Knowledge-based economy - Innovation - Knowledge - Digital economy
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1 Introduction

The turbulence of the changes was enormous between 1995 and 2005 up to the present. It can be said that the implemen-
tation of computer and communication technologies was an offer shock at the end of the 20th century. Thus, this period
can be understood as a communication and computer revolution (Kislingerova, 2008). The world economy is witnessing
a fundamental structural change that is driven by globalization and the revolution in Information and Communication
Technologies (ICT), leading to a new economic system. The new economic system can be characterized by increasing
the importance of knowledge, increasing labor productivity and enhancing competition and globalization. Current litera-
ture has prompted a discussion of the interaction between elements, influences and opportunities that are created in the
new economy for development of countries (Satti & Nour, 2 015). Vesely (2004) adds that today's world is completely
different and full of changes. As a result a lot of theoretical concepts within economics was found in the second half of
the 20th century - many of them with the prefix "post™ or "neo", possibly with the attribute new or late. It is no simple to
define essential features of today's society only a few words.

According to Kislingerova (2011), a number of adjectives have emerged in recent years and are attributed to the notion
of the economy. It is likely to emphasize the changes that have occurred. The term "new" economy is just one of the
possible links. In addition to the adjective "new" it could be used adjective knowledge for the economy. Incorporating the
concept of the knowledge economy into practical policies over the last two decades has led to institutionalization of the
concept within the main development agenda (Hvidt, 2015). According to Vojtovi¢ (2015), significant changes in eco-
nomic production, labor market and employment lead to the consolidation of the company at the end of the 20th century.
These changes might be named such as the innovative economy, the knowledge economy, the internet economy, the
network economy, the digital economy or the new economy.

Current state is mainly called as digital economy within Industry 4.0 related robotics issues not only in production but
also in services. The new economy has been described in some way in the media as the so-called Age of the Internet, the
Revolution of Information Technologies, the Digital Economy (Landefeld & Fraumeni, 2001). According to Gluckman
(2018), the current digital revolution is unstoppable. The speed and scope of digital technology is irreversible. Like any
other technology change, it has benefits and challenges. Businesses and countries will have to deal with with new features
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of the economy and ideally to use them effectively to increase their competitiveness. So it is crucial do not perceive
change as a threat, but rather as an opportunity.

According to Parcero & Ryan (2016), the knowledge economy is more widespread than just high technology or a new
economy. And even more widespread than the often-used term information society. Its basics are creation, dissemination,
and use of knowledge. A knowledge economy emphasis knowledge instead of capital and workforce.

The environment of the economy should be what encourages investment growth and innovation - as a key factor in
maintaining a knowledge-based economy (Skyrme in Mortazavi & Bahrami, 2012).

2 Methods

The aim of the paper is analysis of the literature framework dealing with the issues of the new economy and to look at its
potential benefits at national levels. The paper will examine both Czech and foreign publications, including researches
dealing with this issue. Comparison with other research and authors was also important.

The new economy and the knowledge economy in this paper will be understood as very similar systems (Kislingerova,
2011; Vojtovi¢, 2015). The knowledge economy and the new economy have many things in common:

They explore similar processes, but from a different point of view.
Emphasis on education, knowledge and ICT (Kislingerova, 2011).

The knowledge economy is historically older category than a new economy, and the extension of this term is associ-
ated with Peter Drucker and his books (The Effective Executive and The Age of Discountinuity). The idea of the
knowledge economy emphasizes the importance of knowledge and technological and information prerequisites for the
development of the economy. Know - how is more important than production factors (Kislingerova, 2011).

3 New economy

There are many definitions, in which play a key role innovation and knowledge as part of the necessary resources for
growth and defining features of this paradigm. A new economy is an economy of knowledge and ideas. It can even be
said that information becomes a new input factor and this information is used in a new way than in industrial production.
Creativity becomes industrial capital and lies at the heart of the new economy (Vojtovi¢, 2015). Soukup & Hejdukova
(2008) agree with this, adding that while in the past economic growth was based on increasing capital, labor and natural
resources; within new economy it is based on the the knowledge and innovation.

Ability to create knowledge and absorb it together with their efficient use is the way to create innovation and to maintain
a competitive advantage and achieve economic success (Strozek, 2014). A dynamic comparative advantage illustrates
that it is not just the presence of resources that is important, but also how these resources are used to create outputs to
enable the region to be competitive and to adapt and continue in the future (Huggins, Luo & Thompson, 2013).

To describe of The New Economy According to Lelek (2009), the New economy can be described in Fig. 1. This
figure is the simplest expression of new economy, there is no dynamics captured and serves mainly to emphasize the
importance of knowledge in the new economy. Within the new economy, however, there are a number of models. Ac-
cording to Leydesdorff (2006), there is a so-called Triple Helix model that defines its main institutions. They are univer-
sities, industry and governments. According to Bennewortha (2016), there is also a new Quadruple Helix model, which
also adds civil society. According to Dworak in Strozek (2014), the scheme of a new economy is based mainly on research,

ideas, invention and innovation.
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Figure 1 The scheme of the New economy

Inovation

Knowledge

N\

Source: Lelek, 2009

The new economy is about new sources of competitive advantage, the ability to innovate, the creation of products and
the discovery of new markets (Leadbeater & Demos, 1999). However, it does not only affect the product and growth, but
also, for example, investment, export and trade (Landefeld & Fraumeni, 2001).

Knowledge generation, accumulation and increasing of scientific and technological progress have always been the core
of economic growth. The ability to invent, innovate and create new knowledge and new ideas that are either contained in
machines, products, processes and organizations or are only codified (plans and manuals), motivate successful technology
transfer and better economic development (Satti & Nour, 2015). However, technologies can be used for good or bad
purposes. Unfortunately, knowledge can be ignored, manipulated, misused for personal interests instead of public interest
(Nguyen, 2010).

3.1 Features of New economy
- There is a high added value that brings goods and services that are closely related to education and knowledge.
- Significant restrictions of intermediaries and their services.
- Communication and information technologies have reduced the problem of geographical distances.
- Increased a space for agile businesses.
- Industry is heavily dependent on knowledge, research and development.
- Cheap workforce is not an advantage.
- Highly specialized, flexible and creative workforce.

- Strong non-inflationary growth.



Markéta Adamova, Nikola Soukupova, Rizena Krninska: New Economy 150

- Improving productivity.

- The introduction of automatization, cybernetics and computer use in various industries; industrialization of ag-
riculture, the modernization of transport.

- Public research laboratories and higher education institutions perform key functions in a knowledge-based
economy.

- Economic activities related to the production and using of information and knowledge have become the engine
of economic growth.

- For companies, intangible assets, such as brand, know-how, intellectual property,etc., are becoming more and
more important.

- Lessand less economic activities involve the manipulation of physical commodities, and more and more involve
processing and analyzing information, making judgments.

- Science deals with new industries - such as nanotechnology and biotechnology.

- Growing sharing of what we produce and consume is non-material (intangible): information, judgments, analy-
zes, services, entertainment, counseling. We are increasingly relying on IT, software and personal skills. Less
and less what we value as customers or investors can be stored in ports, warehouses, and given weight.

- Application of knowledge becomes critical for businesses, regions and economies and develops and maitains
competitive advantage. But the new economy is not only a product of technology and science, it is also a product
of open liberal markets. It is an economy driven by knowledge.

- The role of production has been reduced and gives space to a growing service sector, particularly in the area of
information and communication technologies.

- The importance of education and lifelong learning is increasing.
- More investment in intangible assets.

- Due to knowledge, countries can find more efficient ways of producing goods and services and deliver them
more efficiently with a lower cost.

- Typical is cooperation between businesses and universities or research institutions (Edwards, Comisari & Jo-
hnson, 2002; Krisciunas & Daugeliene, 2006; Kislingerova, 2011; Mortazavi & Bahrami, 2012; Mazilu & Ispas,
2011; Leadbeater & Demos, 1999; Parcero & Ryan, 2016; Satti & Nour, 2015).

- Benneworth (2016) says in this century humanity faces many challenges - energy security, urbanistic inclusion,
improved health care and water for all, etc. These problems are multidisciplinary - therefore have a dimension
of social, technical, scientific, etc. But only neccesary knwledge and skills help to face thes problems.

- Measuring of the new economy can also be perceived as limitations. Knowledge and information can not be
codified nad simply handled.

3.2 Measuring of New economy

There are so-called indexes of the new economy. According to Soukupova & Hejduk (2008), the new economy presents
a multi-ductile phenomenon and it is therefore very difficult to describe it with only a few quantitative features. That is
why the institutions create indicators systems to describe this economy. One of them is the Progressive Policy Institute
Index (PPI), or The State New Economy Index, which was first published in 1999, also mentioned by Kislingerova (2011).
Another indicator is the result of the European NESIS - New Economic Information System . And the World Bank system
(Hvidt, 2015). In addition, the Global Competitiveness Index (GCR), which is published annually, includes 12 pillars
containing both hard and soft data (Zprava o globalni konkurenceschopnosti 2016-2017, 2017).

State of New economy in the Czech Republic (GCR)

Within the Competitiveness Index (GCR), we are stable at 31% place (Zprava o globalni konkurenceschopnosti 2016-2017,
2017).

According to the OECD report (2018), the Czech economy is in a state of prosperity and growth but "in order to
increase labor productivity, maintain price competitiveness and shift the economy in value chains upwards, it is necessary
to improve the appropriate qualification structure of the workforce and intensify innovation™. It exist different types of
policies and incentives to support the positive features of the new economy, including the strengthening of a skilled
workforce. Within the Czech Republic, it is crucial to establish a policy of cooperation between universities and the
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private sphere, which works mainly in the technical field and in other scientific disciplines, and to encourage investments
and incentives to transfer hi- tech enterprises to our territory

Figure 1 GCR index in the Czech Republic

2008-2009 2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014 2014-2015 2015-2016 2016-2017 2017-2018
33 31 31 31 31
X 36 38 39 37
46

Source: Zprava 0 globalni konkurenceschopnosti 2016-2017, 2017

The government approved iniciative Industry 4.0 in 2016, the long-term goal of which is to maintain and strengthen
the competitiveness of the Czech Republic at the time of the so-called Fourth Industrial Revolution. Unfortunately, howe-
ver, there is an increasing concern that inovations based on robot could lead to widespread job losses despite the fact that
robotic innovation would contribute to productivity increasing. The results of empirical analysis suggest that robotizing
increases with rising employment. Labor costs that are staffing capacity have been controlled and can therefore be consi-
dered a net effect of employment. This, of course, means that there is a possibility to add another increased part of human
work with robotization (Dopady Prumyslu 4.0 na trh prace v CR, Narodni observator zamestnanosti a vzdelavani Narodni
vzdelavaci fond, o.p.s., 2017).

3.3 Benefits and importance of the New economy

In general, the top 10 states of the new economy have several things in common:
- there are high-tech companies,
- high concentration of managers, professionals,

- many universities educated people working in "knowledge work" (work that requires at least two years of edu-
cation),

- their companies tend to be more focused on world markets (export and foreign direct investment),
- enterprises are at the forefront of the IT revolution,
- businesses have a good innovation infrastructure,

- many attract high levels of domestic and foreign immigrants - highly skilled workers looking for opportunities
and high quality of life (Atkinson & Nager, 2014).

For example, in an american research (2014), the state that is the best (Massachusetts - a state that can boast of the
concentration of software, hardware and biotechnology companies that support first-class universities such as MIT and
Harvard) has mastered the period the major recession better in terms of job growth and rising per capita income (Atkinson
& Nager, 2014). Innovations are mainly generated in urban areas (Strozek, 2014).

Top states of the new economy tend to be richer (there is a strong correlation between rank and total income per
capita) (Atkinson & Nager, 2014). Due to the collaboration of universities, businesses and local authorities (business and
university cooperation is one of the key features and modern trends) competitiveness is increasing and it has impact on
increasing standards of living and welfare of the population in the region (Chirodea, 2015).

For example, between 1995 and 2005, knowledge-based sectors produced 2 times more new jobs in the USA and even
4 times more in Europe than those sectors that do not require knowledge (Parcero & Ryan, 2016). According to Davis &
Rubin (2016), the concentration of high-tech industry brings benefits connected with employment. According to other
author as Shapiro, this concentration is associated with growth, quality of opportunities and a high level of education, a
so-called "smart" cities. However, the new economy does not always have the positive benefits but also the weaknesses
to be faced. For example, technical knowledge requirements may have a negative impact on certain working groups of
the population, such as elderly workers. Another weak point is that the positive effects of life and work in the new
economy are unequally distributed among workers (Davis & Rubin, 2016).
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4 Conclusions

The paper has summarized definitions of new economy and its different perspectives and further outlined the possibilities
of its measurement including the specific measurement systems (indexes) that have been created by international insti-
tutions such as the World Bank, etc. There was a comparison of the knowledge and new economy . In addition, possible
impacts and appropriate policies and support were briefly described.

The concept of new economy is really widespread and covers many changes. These changes are related to the proces-
ses of globalization and the increasing use of information and communication technologies in all sectors of the econom.
It is not easy to define the new economy, but it can be characterized by its features, on which many authors agree.

In today's economy after a recession, politicians and scientists see the best defense against a wave of decline in edu-
cation that is linked to creativity, knowledge and innovation in the context of the new economy (Davis & Rubin, 2016).
Top states of the knowledge economy are richer (there is a strong correlation between rank and total earnings per head)
(Atkinson & Nager, 2014). The collaboration of universities, businesses and local authorities (business and university
cooperation is one of the key features and modern trends) provides a competitive advantage (Chirodea, 2015).

Not only is the current economy different, but also different from the practice of economic development. An important
change was the increased interest in technology-driven development by various nations and their governments. With the
rise of ICT, regions across the globe can now learn from each other quickly and also choose from policies and programs,
the best they can put into practice after adapting them to local conditions (Atkinson & Nager, 2014).

In conclusion, scientists, businesses and public are facing many challenges in the new economy, barriers (especially
with energy security and a limited supply of fossil fuels), but certainly many opportunities, including the impact of robo-
tization and transformation on Industry 4.0 , which will be associated with extensive digitalization in enterprises, but
certainly also in the state sphere.
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Alternatives of the ABC analysis application for warehouse
optimization

Radek Tousek

Abstract: This article focuses on the specifics of the ABC analysis for logistic purposes explained on an example
of a wholesale warehouse which focuses on the distribution of medical material on the market in the Czech Republic. The
business belongs to the segment of small and medium-sized companies. The article is based on the results of applied
research that was conducted at the particular entity in 2017 and 2018 aiming to optimize inventory storage in order to
increase storage capacity.

Key words: Logistics - ABC analysis - Warehouse optimization

JEL Classification: M11

1 Introduction

The ABC method is traditionally used in logistics as a method of differentiated inventory management. It is based on the
fact that it is difficult and ineffective to devote the same attention to all items of a given type of inventory and to follow
and manage them in the same way. Therefore, an ABC analysis is applied that allows to differentiate inventories and
differentiate the approach to these groups (Emmett, 2008).

The ABC analysis is based on the regularity defined by the Italian economist and sociologist Vilfredo Frederico Da-
maso Pareto at the turn of the 20th century. This rule, according to Pernica (2004), says that very often 80% of the
consequences result only from 20% of all of the possible causes (the so-called 80/20 rule). This method can be used, for
example, to optimize the frequency of delivery and the delivery method with regard to the potential for reducing the tied-
in capital in stock. However, the application possibilities of this method are not completely exhausted, since inventory
differentiation makes it possible to optimize the inventory system itself, thereby offering further cost-cutting options
(Tousek, 2016).

2 Methods

The aim of the applied research was to find solutions in the area of storage technology setting in the central warehouse of
the researched entity, which will maximize the usable storage capacity of the existing warehouse space, allow position
storage, minimize picking routes, respect the key limiting factors (e.g. expiratory conditions, service level of provided
logistics to customers, etc.), and, finally, respect the condition of minimizing the total time requirements of the solution
implementation. The amount of planned investments will not exceed CZK 500,000.

The research was carried out in the following steps:

1. First, we performed the categorization of stock items into basic segments. We created three standard groups: A,
B and C, depending on the share of the total turnover of the warehouse over the last 12 months. The cumulative
limit for group A was 80%, for group B 95% and other items included in group C. Items which account for 80%
of the company's turnover were further analyzed in terms of demand stability according to the variation coeffi-
cient. We then validated the stock items in the individual categories according to the specific characters that are
relevant to the warehouse process setting.

2. Subsequently, we analyzed the layout of the warehouse space in detail and then identified all potential limiting
factors that have a significant impact on the way the stock is stored.

3. With regard to the spatial possibilities of the given object and with respect to the limiting factors, we assessed
the available technological options and found a suitable solution for the inventory positional storage, which
meets the capacity and cost parameters of the contracting authority. Furthermore, we proposed the structure of

Ing. Radek Tousek, Ph.D., University of South Bohemia, Faculty of Economics, Department of Management, Studentska 13, 37005 Ceske Budejovice,
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the active elements, which are suitable for the selected technology for handling the stored supplies and the service
of the used rack systems.

3 Research results
3.1 Segmentation of stock items

A total of 1 217 active stock items were analyzed, 79 of which fall into category A, 234 belong to category B and 904
belong to category C.

After the ABC input analysis, we created specific assortment groups that display similar logistical features and should
be placed into identical storage zones. The main attention was paid to Type A items, which, in the case of the surveyed
entity, atypically represent only 6.49% of the total traded product range. Let us now look at the resulting groups.

Assortment Group 1 comprises a total of 8 key heavy rotation A type items with stable consumption, accounting for
47.63% of the total annual turnover of the warehouse, accounting for 36.81% of the total annual volume of warehousing
operations, with a disposable supply of 10 and more pallets.

Assortment Group 2 comprises a total of 28 significant A type heavy rotation items with a stable consumption of
20.68% of the total annual turnover of the warehouse. Their share of the total annual volume of pick-up operations is
30.13% and their available inventory is from 2 to 4 pallets.

Assortment Group 3 includes a total of 22 other high-turnover items, mainly Type A and B, accounting for 4.68% of
the total annual turnover of the warehouse. Their share of the total annual volume of pick-up operations is 11.64% and
their disposable stock is usually held in the amount of one pallet.

Assortment Group 4 comprises a total of 116 items, mostly type B with high demand variability, accounting for 8.61%
of the total annual turnover of the warehouse, with a very low occurrence of pick-up operations (6.49% in total) and the
items are usually stocked in a one pallet volume.

Assortment Group 5 consists of mainly C type items, which are suitable for storage in rack shelves due to lower
storage volume and very low frequency of orders.

The Assortment Group 6 is made up of a special medical items segment, which includes predominantly low-volume
items with a high purchase price. The goods require special care during pick-up operations. Due to their nature it is
inappropriate to store these items in combination with other traded products. Therefore, in our proposal for the restructu-
ring of the warehouse space, we allocated special shelf racks that will be used exclusively for this product range, but at
the same time they will also work with the partial sorting of these stored items according to the Pareto analysis so that
high turnover items are positioned in the immediate vicinity of the expedition zone.

3.2 Default parameters of warehouse space and warehouse technology

The warehouse of the researched subject is managed as a flow warehouse. The building openings in Hall 2 do not have a
handling ramp, which is only available at the entrance to Hall 1. However, due to the width of the access road, loading
operations at the entrance to Hall 1 can only be carried out from the cargo space of road vehicles only from the side of
the vehicles. Both warehouses have a specially allocated intake and expedition area for specific assortment. Both halls
are separated by a wall and are connected only by a single passage of sufficient size to handle goods on pallets but the
passage is not wide enough for a forklift truck to pass through.

Hall 1 is equipped with shelf racks for storing small size goods. The shelves are constructed so that the handling lanes
are 1,430 mm wide, which is sufficient to handle the hand pallet truck. Other goods are stored in rows on pallets with
longitudinal and transverse orientation and with different widths of handling lanes. There is a packing line and shelf racks
designed to store finished items and pick up goods for inspection and packaging in the receiving and dispatching area. In
the existing solution Hall 1 accommodates a total of 140 pallets with a base of 1200 x 800 mm.

Hall 2 is designed for block storage of goods on pallets, where the original pallet height of the manufacturer is up to
2, 200 mm. Hall 2 in this layout holds a total of 220 pallets with a base of 1200 x 800 mm. In the expedition area there is
a semi-automatic packaging machine for wrapping pallets with a shrink film and an administrative center for printing
labels and for packing small packages.

Hand pallet trucks are used in both warehouse halls for handling passive elements. Furthermore, one electricity powe-
red hand pallet truck which requires handling aisle width of at least 2 013 mm is employed for operations within the
warehouse. Loading operations are performed by a duplex high-lift pallet truck due to the absence of a handling ramp.
Small four-wheel platforms with a length of 600 mm and a width of 400 mm are used to pick up small items.
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Based on a detailed analysis of the warehouse space layout, we have identified limiting factors for our storage opti-
mization and the design of a new warehouse technology. Primarily it is the low base height of both warehouse halls
foundations, the usable area of the individual storage areas with respect to the structural elements of the building (layout
of the supporting columns, building entrances, etc.) as well as the distribution of electricity, heat and the location of fire
hydrants. Another limiting factor is the need to use the FIFO (or FEFO) mode for items with a minimum date of use
depending on the order of picking.

3.3 Design of warehouse technology for storage of partial assortment groups

In order to store the assortment groups 1, 2 and 3 up to the maximum capacity, Hall 2 was chosen because it allows to
create a separate head warehouse with one building opening for receiving the goods and one building opening for the
expedition, which fully covers the warehouse requirements with regard to the volume of dispatched orders. It also respects
the fact that it is possible to minimize the logistics routes for the 58 most important items, which account for only 4.77%
of the traded portfolio representing almost 73% of the turnover of the contracting authority and almost 79% of the picking
operations. This resulted in the maximum shortening of pick-up routes and the elimination of unproductive times required
for post-warehousing.

For the storage of palletized type A items in Hall 2 it is possible to use either conventional pallet stacking racks or
pallet block storage in order to meet the conditions of increased storage capacity with low implementation time and low
investment costs.

The present layout of the warehouse allows the Hall 2 to be fitted with a conventional pallet rack only in the central
part, which is 5,200 mm high. However, due to the saddle roof and the 2 200 mm height of the pallets, the storage capacity
could increase by only 38 pallet spaces, which represents 17.27%, which is not sufficient for us. From the logistics ope-
rations point of view, this solution would increase handling operations with a forklift truck and, given the high turnover
of this assortment, could result in a reduction in labor productivity while increasing operating costs. If the researched
company used an existing forklift, it would have to allocate more space for the handling system to the rack operator than
it is at present, and this would reduce the available storage capacity. A manual forklift with lower demands on the width
of the handling lanes would have to be purchased with an investment cost of approximately CZK 150,000. Putting the
goods into conventional pallet racks would also bring higher demands on health and safety at work, as well as higher risk
of damage to the merchandise, including the need to carry out periodic reviews of the rack systems. In view of the facts
stated above, this solution was not recommended for implementation.

Block storage uses loose paved areas without the need for using rack systems. It is a low-cost option that does not
require investment in racking, it is highly flexible in terms of customizing to the changing assortment and makes ma-
ximum use of the available storage area. That is because we need only 1,750 mm wide handling lanes when handling
low-lift pallet trucks. In the warehouse it is necessary to mark the individual positions that identify the item for fixed
storage at predefined locations. In view of the above, this solution has been further developed into customized solutions.
We created and analyzed a total of 12 standalone variants for the block storage of assortment groups 1, 2 and 3 in Hall 2.
In view of the stated objectives, the nature of the assortment and the limiting factors we recommended to implement the
following distribution of assortment groups into warehouse zones:

= The storage zone for assortment group 1 should be conceived in eight to nine separate block channels, with a
total of 10 pallets per store item in each channel and a total of 80-90 pallet spaces. The zone should be located
longitudinally from the receiving part of the warehouse to the dispatch. When delivering goods through the
revenue ramp, individual warehouse channels will be stocked directly. At the end of each channel, that is in the
immediate vicinity of the expedition, individual items will be taken away by warehouse workers in FIFO mode.
Alternatively, it is also possible to extend all 8-9 block channels by one pallet space to obtain the total capacity
for storing high-speed items in the range of 88 to 99 pallets. However, this way the beginning of the picking path
for the first 8 or 9 most exposed items will partially cross the route of the dispatched goods. Although, in view
of the consignment frequency, it is possible to undertake this risk without any further complications and thus to
obtain additional 10% of storage capacity for assortment group 1.

= The storage zone for Assortment Group 2 should be designed into 21 channels at 4 pallet locations. These chan-
nels will be placed perpendicular to the previous storage zone, and there will be a handling aisle of at least 2 013
mm between the two zones so that they can be served by a hand-held electric low-lift pallet truck. In this zone
it will be possible to store up to 4 pallets of one item, but it can also be divided into 2 + 2 pallets or 3 + 1 palette,
the second storage item being served from the opposite side of the channel, where it will be accessible from a
lane at least 2 013 mm wide.
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=  The storage zone for assortment group 3 should be located parallel to the warehouse zone for assortment group
2 and should be separated by a lane at least 2 013 mm wide and at the same time should contain a maximum of
1 palette for one stored item. Storage of 22 separate items is expected in this area. If warehouse zone 1 is made
up of only eight block channels (e.g. in a situation where a high-speed item is not currently represented in the
assortment structure to fully utilize the warehouse capacity of the entire 10-pallet channel), the gained area can
be used to expand the storage zone 3 a further 16 comparable items in terms of parameters. The storage of these
items should be carried out on pallets perpendicular to the block channels and should be systemically connected
to the storage zone 2. In this case, the warehouse keepers could simultaneously carry out the picking operations
from the storage zone 2 and the part of the storage zone 3 in one handling aisle.

= Hall 2 should be further subdivided into two block storage supply zones organized in the following way. The
first supply zone should be linked to the storage zone for assortment group 1 by nine supply channels with a
capacity of 8 pallet locations per channel for items from assortment group 1. Each supply channel should always
be designated to one item and optimally to one batch of the item (otherwise it is necessary to mark the first
palette in the channel towards the aisle with information that there are multiple batches of the same product in
the channel). The second supply zone should immediately link to the first supply zone with twelve channels but
with the difference that there will be only three pallets in one channel, optimally one channel for one storage
item. Otherwise it is necessary to mark the first pallet in the aisle to indicate that the supply channel contains
different stock items. The capacity of the first and second supply zones is sufficient as for the normal supply size
of the assortment.

The individual channels for high-turnover items need to be fitted either with roller-guards with manual pallet handling
or with roller-gauge racks (paths) to facilitate the movement of the pallets. However, those take up more space and require
the use of a fork-lift truck with a width up to 800 mm in order to operate in the supply zone to refill the main storage
zones. The cost of roller lanes in the 8-channel option with a capacity of 11 pallet points is based on the transport and
assembly costs of approximately CZK 400,000.

The warehouse and supply zones will, in the implementation of our proposal, have a storage capacity of up to 304
pallets in Hall 2, which represents an increase of the current warehouse capacity by 84 pallets. That represents an increase
of 38.18%. In the maximal alternative of eight channels by eleven pallet locations and an expansion of the storage zone
3 by 16 pallet places, the total storage capacity of the hall 2 is up to 318 pallet spaces, which represents an increase in the
current warehouse capacity by 98 pallet spaces, that is 44.55%.

The shipping space should be located in Hall 2 with a total capacity of up to 63 pallet spaces. There would be a single
700 mm wide path between each shipping channel in order to ensure the labeling of the consignments with shipping labels
and other necessary information. Immediately following the expedition space, there should be a packing line for packing
smaller consignments. This packing line will be provided with a dispatch and shipping label printer. The remaining space
between the supporting pillars next to the expedition should then be used to store the packaging material. It is advisable
to leave one rack shelf for smaller dimensions of cardboard boxes and use the other space to store packages placed on
pallets or in roller containers.

The solution also envisages the placement of assortment groups 4, 5 and 6 in hall 1 in the following structure:

= Assortment Group 4 should be placed in up to 192 palette places in seven rows of 27 pallet locations. The first
two rows should be joined to create supply channels with a capacity of 2 pallets for one stock item and expanded
by 4 pallets. These 4 pallet positions are in the space of the unused longitudinal handling aisle between the rows,
but narrowed by 2 pallet spaces (or 1 pallet space) in the direction away from the traffic lane to ensure access to
the wiring. Pallet rows should be separated by handling aisles with a minimum width of 2 100 mm so that the
warehouse workers can use a hand-operated electric pallet truck.

= Assortment Group 5 should be located in two rows of truss racks with 14 racks of 1,500 mm in length, 2,500
mm in height and 630 mm in depth. The shelf rows should be separated by a 1400-meter handling aisle to handle
with a low-lift pallet truck.

= Assortment Group 6 should be separated in Hall 1 by a traffic lane that runs from the passage between Hall 2
and Hall 1 to the ramp in Hall 1. This group should be placed in twelve rows. The last twelfth row should be
simultaneously doubled on the side of the traffic lane by two 1 500 mm racks to accommodate items with higher
spatial requirements. The handling lanes between truss racks for assortment group 6 should have a width of 940
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mm as this assortment is dispatched only by platform trucks or by hand manipulation and this dimension of the
handling aisle is sufficient in terms of CSN 26 9010.

By implementing the proposed solution, storage capacity should increase from the original 140 pallet spaces to 192
pallet spaces in Hall 1, which represents an increase in the current capacity by 37.14%.

Alternatively, it is only possible to store goods in Hall 1 with a maximum of one palette, and the space obtained by
removing duplicates of the first row can be used to store items with a lower turnover and higher space requirements in
the standard roller containers in the last row in front of the truss racks at the rear of Hall 1.

The space adjacent to the shelf field for assortment group 6 will be used for the reception of goods stored in Hall 1
and will be used for marking the goods according to the valid legislation prior to its placement at the designated positions.
For dispatching items stored in Hall 1, a common expedition space will be used in Hall 2.

Picture 1 Visualization of storage facility restructuring by the ABC method

Stock

Source: Own processing

4 Conclusions

Through the specific use of the ABC analysis, the researched warehouse has gained a highly efficient solution that works
with warehouse zone creation by segmenting warehouse groups and fully respects the limiting factors of existing ware-
house layout including other limiting factors.

The recommended solution brings very low investment requirements for implementation and it increases storage
capacity from existing 360 pallet positions up to a total of 510 pallet points. Thus, the storage capacity increases by a total
of 41.67%. The solution eliminates confusion of traded items by applying position storing. It shortens the picking routes
of high-turnover items on stock and has very low implementation and operational demands, as it does not require signi-
ficant structural modifications of the warehouse and the purchase of new handling equipment.

Carrying out this applied research to the subject of our interest thus confirmed the usefulness of the ABC analysis as
a key parameter for the optimization of warehouse space with the potential to increase storage capacity and improve
warehouse processes.
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Analysis of Remuneration in Small and Medium-sized Enterprises
in the Form of Intangible Benefits from the Employees’ Point of View
Regarding Their Work Position

Petr Rehot, Marek Sulista, Klara Vocetkova, Jaroslav Vrchota

Abstract: This paper presents results of an analysis focused on a comparison of remuneration in the form of intangible
benefits such as extra days off, lunch vouchers, laptops etc., from the employees’ points of view regarding their work
position in their company. The research is based on the analysis of the data obtained from questionnaires distributed
among 97 employers and 272 employees working in small and medium-sized enterprises in several economic sectors in
the Czech Republic
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1 Introduction

The aim of this paper is to compare employees’ perceptions of intangible benefits regarding their age and position in
small and medium-sized enterprises in the Czech Republic. The conducted analysis and the conclusions should enable
the managers of the companies better motivate their employees and consequently to increase their satisfaction and pro-
duction performance.

Every organization should have an individual system of compensation developed that would meet all specific condi-
tions in which a concrete organization works; the need of both organizational and individual needs of its employees.
Strategic systems of employees' compensation in organizations should be developed on the basis of the so-called new or
total reward approach. This approach emphasizes the importance of all elements of the total reward. Modern systems of
compensation include both tangible and intangible rewards.

The tangible rewards consist of the element of wage the employee is entitled to receive, which is a basic wage or
salary, and the element of wage the employee is not necessarily entitled to receive, which consists of various forms of
bonuses, performance bonuses, gratuities, premium allowances, benefits etc. Among intangible rewards are recognition,
praise, responsibility, career opportunities, autonomy, quality of working life and others. Employees' total reward, in
itself, includes both tangible and intangible elements of rewarding. (Snapka & Copikova, 2011).

A well-established reward and recognition system is necessary to produce the desired level of motivation in employ-
ees. Both tangible and intangible rewards help an organization to enhance the motivational level of its employees. But a
balance between tangible and intangible rewards should be made by the organizations as per the demands of the employ-
ees, as out dated, unrealistic, less meaningful, complicated, and irrelevant items will result in demotivation of employees.
(Daniel & Metcalf, 2005).

There are a number of models (Gneezy, 2011; Barron, 2001; Higgins, 2000) that focus on the right incentives to
distribute benefits, their usability, division and profitability. The contribution will be based on the basic division of ben-
efits to financial and non-financial (Garbers, 2014, Ederer, 2013; Jenkins, 1998).
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2 Materials and Methods

To analyse the benefit preferences of employers and employees working in in several economic sectors, a questionnaire
was distributed among 97 companies to 272 respondents. The sample of the respondents covers various classes such as
education, sex, marital status. More specifically, the structure of the respondents is as follows:

e Gender: 131 women and 141 men;

e Age: 90 respondents aged up to 30, 64 aged 31-40, 83 aged 41-50, 35 older than 50;

e Position: 144 clerks, 32 managers, and 96 workers;

e  Marital status: 131 single and 141 married;

e Education: 2 elementary level, 37 apprenticeship, 168 complete secondary level, 65 university;

e Work experience: 131 up to 5 years, 99 with 6-15 years, 38 with 16-30 years, 41 with more than 30 years.

The respondents indicated their preferences regarding intangible benefits in the questionnaires using the ordinal scale
from 1 to the number of the items in each of the benefit category. The respondents were asked to order the particular items
using the order scale so that the higher the number, the less preferable the benefit (i. e. number 1 indicates the most
preferable benefit). There were 18 intangible benefits in total divided into two groups:

o financial: holiday, team building, parties, language courses, sick days, business trips, study days off, after
school childcare, self-development courses, catering;

o non-financial: social responsibility, home office, promotion, personification, appraisal, team work, flexible
working hours.

The obtained data from the questionnaires were processed using MS Excel and Statistica software. MS Excel was
used mainly for stating orders of the preferred benefits, determining average values and for conducting Pearson’s Chi-
squared test using contingency tables to determine possible significant priority differences between various respondent
groups on the particular benefits.

3 Research results

The statistical analysis of the preferences of employees at various positions regarding the intangible financial benefit
using Pearson’s Chi-squared test shows there is a significant statistical difference (p-value = 0,0000000). The conducted
analysis shows (see Table 1), that workers rather prefer accommodation of the physiological needs (the need to eat and
celebrate), the employees at higher positions rather prefer accommodation of higher order needs (self-development and
self-realisation).

Regarding the work positions of the employees, the most preferable intangible financial benefit is, for all three cate-
gories, holidays with the average order equal to 2.5. The blue-collar workers also prefer catering, organising parties and
sick days. The sick days (usually 3-5 days per year) are more and more popular among employees, are used mainly in
case of a cold, sore throat or a sudden indisposition, and were evaluated by managers and administrative officers to be
the second preferable. The managers prefer also team-building events and educational courses (primarily language
courses) which are preferred also by administrative workers. On the other hand, the less preferable benefits are study days
off for blue-collar workers and contributions to after school childcare for managers and administrative officers.

The statistical analysis of the preferences of employees at various work positions regarding the intangible, non-finan-
cial benefits using Pearson’s Chi-squared test also shows there is a significant statistical difference (p-value = 0,0000000).
The employees at all three types of work positions evaluate most, see Table 2, the benefit of flexible working hours
(average order 3). Also team work is perceived positively by works and managers. The administrative workers prefer as
the top non-financial tangible benefits promotion, team work, and appraisal.

Table 1: Preference of intangible financial benefits

worker manager administrative worker
holiday 2.6 3 25
team building 5.2 5.3 5.8
parties 5 5.7 5.9
language courses 6.3 5 5.2
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sick days 5.1 4.9 4.7
business trips 6.4 6 6.5
study days off 6.8 6.3 6.4
after school childcare 6.7 6.9 7.2
self-development courses 5.9 5.5 5.3
catering 5 6.3 5.4

Source: Own processing

Social responsibility (see Table 2) is the least preferable for all employees participating in the survey. This is a rather
new phenomenon and many respondents do not even know what this means. Social responsibility is an ethical framework
and suggests that an entity, be it an organization or individual, has an obligation to act for the benefit of society at large.
Companies with social responsibility very often focus also on company culture and better working climate.

Table 2: Preference of intangible non-financial benefits

worker manager administrative worker

social responsibility 5.6 5.9 6.1
home office more than 5 days 55 44 4.6
home office up to 5 days 55 4.8 4.9
promotion 3.9 4.1 4

personification 4.7 5.2 5

appraisal 3.8 4.3 4.3
team work 3.8 3.9 4.3
flexible working hours 3.2 3.3 2.9

Source: Own processing

4 Conclusion

Every company is as effective as their employees are able and motivated to create values for society. The better and more
sophisticated the remuneration method, the better results the company usually may reach in a shorter time. The benefits,
which may be offered by companies differ. It is not enough to reward the employees only with time or task wages, it is
necessary to complement those with various bonuses and benefits. The right motivation for employees is one of the key
areas of the right functioning of the company and it is crucial to bear this fact in mind. Satisfied and motivated employees
will do their maximum performance.

This research showed that all employees prefer holidays as on intangible financial benefit. The importance of free-
time is growing significantly. Extra holidays are one of the more costly benefits. Unionists argue that an extra week of
holiday could serve as sick days. However, in the USA, there are 23% of employees with no paid days off. Some Euro-
pean countries, such as France, Austria, Sweden and Italy, even have 25 days of paid holiday.

From the intangible non-financial benefits, the employees require flexible working hours which is understood as a
part time job (less than 40 hours per week) or as a with a flexible start or end of work or a shared job which may be
performed from home. The benefit of a part-time job is most importantly evaluated by parents with small children, by
students and also, to a certain extent, by retired people. The most common reason for a part-time job is the care for children
or disabled relatives and it is required mostly by women. The Pearson’s chi-square test verified that there is a significant
difference regarding the three work positions and their preference of these intangible benefits.

To conclude, we may say there is no ideal way of remuneration and the ideas about right benefits differ in every
company. For this reason, it is important to create remuneration systems which reflect the needs and wishes of the em-
ployees regarding their work behaviour and work results. Every company may improve their remuneration systems and
consequently its performance and reach higher profits and their values.
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Drivers and Barriers of Entrepreneurship of Students

Monika Maiikova, Martina Novotna, Antonin Smejkal, Dagmar Bednaiova

Abstract: The decision to start a business is influenced by a number of factors both economic and personal ideas of
future life. The best business ideas come naturally and the time of study can be very favourable for coming up of an
original entrepreneurial idea. The paper focuses on the identification of the factors directly influencing the students of
economic fields of study in starting their entrepreneurial activities and what are the limits of doing business.

The results show that about 40% of the students in the survey they are really thinking about running a business or
already doing so. Based on the statistical test, the hypothesis was confirmed that respondents with at least one of the
parents being an entrepreneur are more interested in doing business (the parents are motivators). The students, on the
contrary, are limited in starting a business by insufficient funds and lack of knowledge and experience. The most common
barriers are seen in foreign languages (27%) and accounting and finance (18%). The students of a part-time study see
different barriers, such as technical knowledge (19%) and legislation knowledge (17%).

Key words: Entrepreneurship - Barriers - Skills - Start of business

JEL Classification: L26 - D91 - A22

1 Introduction

The decision to start a business is influenced by a number of factors both economic and personal ideas of future life. The
family background and the state of health of the entrepreneur is also important. There is also a need to think about the
scope of the business. Everyone should choose such a business that will entertain them, which will give them a sense of
life. An entrepreneur who is not happy in the business should not start such business. To begin with, it is important to
understand the difference between business and employment and to clarify the reasons for running a business. Starting a
business is possible at any age. Entrepreneurship can also be sort of a part-time job, that is, it can be done while working
or studying. Doing a business together with studying is considered to be a secondary activity. If the field of study becomes
a subject of business, there is the possibility to get professional support in the study and help in finding a business idea
and its realization. Best ideas, including business ones, are naturally created. And study time can be very favourable for
the coming up with an original business idea. Therefore, it is necessary not to be afraid, to try a business and, after
studying, to decide whether to pursue this activity fully, or rather to become an employee, with some certainty, but with
little prospect of further development and creative activity. The advantage of starting a business at the time of study is
that students have the opportunity to consult their ideas with educators, they often have support from their university and
college (business-related subjects, etc.), they can use the collective benefits of generating and validating their ideas, and
last but not least a number of benefits related to levies and taxes. It is also a period when students live only on their own,
they have no obligations arising from family life and they do not have to pay loans and mortgages.
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2 Literature review

Motivation is important for starting a business. There are several reasons, defining the decision to start a business. One
of the most important motivational incentives is an original idea, and a plan. Attempting to become independent and to
establish an enterprise is particularly evident in those who are employed as professionals in a particular field. Usually,
this incentive is combined with a feeling of underestimation at work. Another reason is that people do not want to be
inferior to or they have negative experience with employment. Another reason is taking over family run business. Starting
a business also solves the problem of unemployment (Stainer, 2008). In starting-up a business, information available is
alos importnt. The final IPSOS research report (2017) has shown that start-up information is gained by young people
from their family and acquaintances if they have such experience, and mostly the Internet.

As reported by Jirovska (2003), there are two reasons for running a business, known as Push and Pull theory. Push-
theory arises from the fact that a person is pushed into business activities by the negative events and dissatisfaction with
employment, risk of unemployment and lack of growth opportunities. On the other hand, pull-theory is based on the idea
that future entrepreneurs are attracted by the existing attractive, success promising economic opportunities. By Jirkovska,
the pull view is more common in the Czech Republic, and the majority of entrepreneurs were motivated by the existence
of a market chance at the time of their start-up ideas. A key factor in business support is the development of business
competencies. Competencies are very often discussed when selecting employees. For example, Dusek (2014), in his dis-
sertation thesis, deals with the development of a competency model of a graduate of the University of Economics based
on the requirements of HR managers and the managers from the region of South Bohemia.

The entrepreneurial competences and their evaluation were dealt with by the participants of the international confe-
rence "Business Competences” (2008). Baert (2008) presents five competencies which were rated as the most important
by successful entrepreneurs:

«  Endurance.

*  Understanding efficiency.
»  Decisiveness.

* Independence.

*  Persuasiveness.

Before starting a business, each person has to decide, if they have personal prerequisites for doing business, a good
and feasible business idea, with a competitive advantage and the necessary amount of initial capital. It is appropriate to
ask the following questions:

*  Why do | want to start business?

*  What are my personal goals?

*  What are the real goals of my business (long-term, short-term)?
*  How do my personal and business goals match?

»  Have I tried to do business before?

*  What were the results of my previous efforts?

+  What is family support (Srpové, Rehot, 2010)?

Businesses based on an initial idea, with an inexperienced team trying to have a fast start-up with a low start-up
cost, are often called start-ups. Financing for development is sought through angel investors and funds. Investment
in such start-ups is rather risky.

Innovative incubators are used to prevent start-up enterprises bankrupt before they started. Business Incubators
offer start-up entrepreneurs the background and technical assistance at an early stage of their development. Business
incubators are being developed in the Czech Republic mostly as the initiative of different regions and towns and at
associate departments of universities. Their operation is partly financed by public money (www.ipodnikatel).

Martinez et al (2018) confirm that (1) entrepreneur's perception concerning thei ncubator's performance directly
and positively affects the desirability, self-efficacy and the facilitating conditions, (2) the perceived desirability and
feasibility in entrepreneurship, as well as the firs stones, self-efficacy and facilitating conditions, positively influence
the entrepreneurial intentions. Furthermore, contrary to the traditional mind-set that supports risk is a barrier, results
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suggest that (3) the risk perceived by pre-incubated entrepreneurs positively influences entrepreneurial intentions and
the desirability that is attributed to that behaviour.

A potential entrepreneur does not only deal with the motivation and the competencies they must have in order
to do their business and to be successful. Entrepreneurs also often deal with obstacles that prevent them from starting
in business itself. Most often these are barriers of an economic and legislative nature, but there may also be psycho-
logical barriers, which should also be paid attention to.

The psychological barriers are considered such barriers that are tied to the personality of the entrepreneur and
their personal and family background. The problem may be a poor understanding of business activity as an easily
manageable task, poor decisiveness of the entrepreneur, unwillingness to rely solely on one's own strength, uncritical
encounter with possible initial success, endeavour to get rich as quickly as possible, which can lead to fraud (Maye-
rova et al., 1996). Lukes§, Stephan (2012); Lukes et al. (2013) emphasize entrepreneurial self-confidence as a perso-
nality trait that is most related to the subsequent business activity. People who do not believe in themselves will not
start business even though they have the necessary skills and knowledge. Van Gelderen et al. (2006) state that there
are a few studies aimed at starting entrepreneurs. One reason is the lack of a representative sample. The people who
are not currently registered are difficult to be included into the sample. It is important to understand these individuals
and the factors that influence their entry into business, especially for those who want to start a business.

The results point to the importance of perceived risk of the market as a predictor of getting started versus aban-
doning the start up effort.

3 Methods

The aim of the article was to find out which factors directly influenced the students of economics when deciding on
realization of an entrepreneurial activity. At the same time, the barriers perceived by students as the main obstacles to the
start of entrepreneurial activity were surveyed.

The paper is based on the research among 316 students of the university of South Bohemia, the Faculty of Economics,
regardless their field of study. There were 87 men and 229 women in the sample, due to the gender-quota representative-
ness in relation to the Faculty of Economics. The research took place at the end of 2018.

When analyzing the results of the questionnaires, common statistical methods such as contingency tables, graphical
representation, and statistical hypothesis testing were used. A hypothesis test of the relative frequency was used. This
paper extends results to the case of two independent populations.

The relative frequencies of units with certain properties are tested. Inferences will be based on two random samples
of sizes 4 and n, . We consider hypothesis testing on the difference of the relative frequencies. We test if the relative

frequencies in both samples (7[1,7[2) differ or not. Obviously, we are testing H0 T, = 0. This test statistics
would have a standard normal distribution under Hg . Suppose that the alternative hypothesis is H, :U )u,_,, .
Two cases are tested. Case 1 (pl) is the relative frequency of the students if at least one of their parent is an entrepre-

neur and case 2 (p2) is the relative frequency of the students if none one of their parent is an entrepreneur, using a =
0,05.

Test statistics:

U= (pl — P> )\/ nn,

= = 1)
\/p(l_pxnl +”2)
; _ P + p,n, @)
n, +n,

Statistic U has a standard normal distribution (Montgomery, D.C.,2006).
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4 Results

The students responded to the questions about entrepreneurship, motivation for doing business, and the barriers that pre-
vent them from doing business.

Figure 1 reports the answers to the question: “I am really thinking about starting a business.” In total, there were 316
answers. As revealed by the results, 183 of the students (40%) are actually thinking about starting a business or they run
a business.

Figure 1 I am really thinking about starting a business

12%
14% | already do business
Yes, while studying
Yes, after graduation
60%
14% No

Source: questionnaire survey

Table 1 shows the frequency of students and their interest in doing business, depending on their parents' business
activities. It can be assumed that if at least one of their parents is an entrepreneur are better motivated for doing business.
This assumption was justified by the fact that 14% of the group of students having entrepreneurs' as their parents already
run a business and 60% is going to do so. Compared to the group of students, whose parents are not entrepreneurs, 5%
run a business and about 44% are going to do so.

Table 1 Frequency of the students and their interest in business regarding the business of their parents

None of the parents is an At least one of the parents is an

entrepreneur entrepreneur
Real interest in business freq. % freq. %
No 107 50.71 26 24.76
Yes, while studying 16 7.58 15 14.29
Yes, after graduation 77 36.49 49 46.67
I run a business 11 5.21 15 14.29
Total 211 100.00 105 100.00

Source: questionnaire survey

The statement that the students whose at least one of the parents is an entrepreneur are more likely to do business was
subsequently verified by a statistical testing of the hypothesis of the relative frequency of two samples. The first sample
is the group of students who do not have any of the parents an entrepreneur. The second set consists of the group of
students in which at least one of the parents works as an entrepreneur.

79 104
_ 79 075245 p, =22% 04929
Pi= 105 P2=5

1
U (P—p)nin, _ (0.7524-0.4929)*/105*211

L = =4.4011
\/p(l_ p)(n1+n2) J0.5791*(1-0.5791) * (105+ 211)
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p=Pilit Pl _ 65799
n, +n,

4.4011 > 1.645

The test showed at the level of significance of 95% that students with one of the parents being an entrepreneur have
a greater tendency to run a business. The question, however, is whether this group of students will actually start doing
business (either during or after graduation, as stated) or they only take over business from their parents as part of the
continuation of tradition.

The following question was related to skills that would make business easier. As revealed by figure 2, the most
common skill is leadership and communication (25 %), followed by creativity and new ideas and accounting and business
finance.

Figure 2 Skill which make business easier

= Working with IT technology (internet,
graphics, mobile phone, etc.)

= Social networks - exploiting the potential of
social networks for business
Accounting, business finance

8%

m Leadership, communication

m Creativity, new ideas

18%

m Creativity, new ideas

m Trustworthiness, past achievements,
charisma
Source: questionnaire survey
Next part of the research was aimed at the barriers related to starting a business activity as seen by the students
(Table 2).

Attention was focused on students who are not entrepreneurs (either they do not even think about doing business, or
they are going to run a business). Almost one third of such students perceive the lack of funding as the biggest barrier to
business (Table 2). The second place is the lack of knowledge and experience, especially the knowledge of foreign lan-
guages (see Figure 3).

Table 2 Frequency of students (non-entrepreneurs) related to the barriers to doing business

absolutely in %
Lack of finance 95 32.76
Lack of knowledge, experience 53 18.28
I do not have an idea, a plan 46 15.86
Fear of the failure/risk 37 12.76
Lack of motivation 25 8.62
| am to busy 19 6.55
Other 14 4.83
Non-fulfilment of the conditions for establishing 1 0.34
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a business

Total 290 100.00
Source: questionnaire survey

Figure 3 reports the questions to the following answer: “If you wanted to run a business what are the biggest draw-
backs related to education?” The students see foreign languages (27%), followed by accounting and finance (18%) as
their biggest drawbacks.

Figure 3 What are the biggest drawbacks related to education?

2% m Accounting, finance
(]

» \ ‘
18%
15%

4% 15%

Foreign languages

Legislation

Marketing, managament

m|T

m Technical knowledge
27%
m Socilogy, psychology

m Business and logistics

Source: questionnaire survey

Interestingly, the students of a part-time study, supposed to have some working experience, see their drawbacks in a
different way. Together with the full-time study students, they see foreign languages as the biggest drawback, however
the lack of technical knowledge (19%) and legislation knowledge (17%) are the second most common, compared to
accounting and finance (about 19%) and IT skills (17%) as the second most common in full-time students.

Table 3 The biggest drawbacks in education as the barriers to business (Frequency of the students)

Part time study (frequency of the students) Full-time study (frequency of the students)

Area of education absolutely in % Area of education absolutely in %
Foreign languages 27 27.00 | Foreign languages 58 26.85
Technical knowledge 19 19.00 | Accounting and finance 41 18.98
Legislation 17 17.00 | IT 38 17.59
Accounting and finance 15 15.00 | Legislation 32 14.81
IT 8 8.00 | Technical knowledge 28 12.96
Marketing, management 8 8.00 | Sociology, psychology 11 5.09

Source: questionnaire survey

5 Conclusions

The paper discussed the incentives and barriers as seen by the students of economics when thinking about starting a
business activity. There were students of all years and fields of study in the sample.

The research revealed that the students whose parents (or at least one of them) are entrepreneurs are better motivated
to such activity.

Further findings proved that the most common barrier to starting a business is the lack of finance and the lack of
knowledge and experience. The students with some working experience (i.e. the students of part-time study) mostly lack
the knowledge of foreign languages and technology.
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On the other hand, full-time study students see foreign languages and accounting and finance as the most common
barriers.

According to the study Kourilsky, M. L., &Ucla W. B. (2002), education in school was the third highest factor iden-
tified as providing the most preparation for starting the respondent's current business.

It is a question if the students questioned, who intend to do business, have a clear business plan. The present study of
Rath et al. (2018) (based on the Theory of Planned Behaviour with additional personality trait and contextual variables)
indicates that although some people (the sample of 1,200 students of economics and business) in four South-East Euro-
pean countries: Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, Macedonia and Serbia hold a positive attitude towards entrepreneur-
ship, they do not show a clear entrepreneurial intent.

There are a number of young entrepreneurs who might enrich the market with something new and might even initiate
the development of, for example, the entire industry, do not start business at all due to the barriers as mentioned above.
In order to break through such barriers, business incubators might be used.
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Is a low carbon emission agriculture possible?

Jifi Sedlék, Nikola Sagapova

Abstract: We have been currently experiencing significant increase in global average temperatures which are very likely
linked to increases of anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions. Such increases and continuing global warming poses
fundamental threat to global natural systems. Although agriculture is usually perceived as relatively ,, clean sector in
comparison with other industries, often perceived as the victim of global climate change, it is the agriculture sector, that
accounts for almost one third of anthropogenic greenhouse gases emissions, and therefore an important contributor to
global warming. The agricultural greenhouse gases emissions are related both to the crop production and livestock bre-
eding. The need for transition towards low-carbon economy is presented as the driver for future choices within economic
development, and transition towards low-carbon agriculture is inherently a part of this shift. However, the question is if
a low carbon emission agriculture is possible.

Key words: Agriculture - Greenhouse gases - Emissions - Climate change - Low carbon

JEL Classification: O13- Q15 - Q54

1 Introduction

Planet Earth is a source of infra-red radiation, while it receives ultra-violet and visible radiation from the Sun. Actually,
our planet has hospitable average temperature due to greenhouse effect, which happens when greenhouse gases
molecules in atmosphere, mostly CO,, O3, CH4 and H-O, absorb some of the emitted infra-red radiation and re-radiate it
back towards the Planet’s surface. This is called the primary greenhouse effect, the dominant greenhouse gas in this case
is H20, and this effect help the planet to maintain higher average temperature than it would have without this phenomena.
However, the temperature rises we are experiencing now are caused by changes in the concentrations of greenhouse gases
with also newer anthropogenic gases since the start of the Industrial Revolution, this is called the secondary greenhouse
effect. In comparison with the primary greenhouse effect, the dominant greenhouse gas in the case of secondary gree-
nhouse effect is not H.0, but CO; and CH.. The apparent correlation between rises of CO, concentration and temperature
over the last 50 years is striking (Tuckett, 2018).

Worldwide, the temperature has risen by about 0.8° C over the last 150 years and is expected to grow further (UZEI,
2014). Tuckett (2018) claims the temperature has risen by 1°C. The UN Framework Convention on Climate Change has
defined the objective of limiting the global average temperature increases to less than 2°C above the temperature pre-
Industrial level. The increasing temperature level more than 2°C could poses a fundamental risk of dangerous changes in
global natural systems (UZEI, 2014). However, as the current emissions trend continues tracking highest emission
scenarios, it makes global warming less likely to be maintained bellow 2°C (Peters et al., 2012). Climate change is already
having impact on agriculture through weather variability, increased frequency of extreme events etc., but on the other
hand, agricultural sector itself accounts aproximatelly for 1/3 of global anthropogenic greenhouse gases emissions and
therefore triggers the ongoing climate change (Moran & Knook, 2017).

Agriculture depends directly on resources exploitation, mostly land, water and energy, to produce its outputs. With
growing population and growing demand, the need for resources rises as well as the emissions rise during agricultural
activities (Zhao et al., 2018). The intensification of the agriculture in terms of inputs and outputs leads to concerns regar-
ding its impact on the environment (Miller et al., 2007). Growing population and consumption drives the agricultural
production to produce more from the same limited resource base, and together within the framework of climate change,
the pathways for reducing agricultural environmental impacts are sought (Khan et al., 2009). Organic farming has a sig-
nificant, though not always the greatest, impact on reduction N,O because the number of livestock is limited in it (Weiske,
et al., 2006; Olesen, et al., 2006).Another positive difference between ecological and conventional livestock breeding is
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that eco-makers strive for longevity (Kotschi and Miiller-Sdmann, 2004). Some authors (Beauchemin and McGinn, 2005)
recommend high-energy feed for livestock to reduce methane emissions, but then they would not exploit the unique ability
of ruminants to consume bulk feed from pastures.

The aim of this paper is to explore the factors behind agricultural emissions, discuss possible improving and the
requirements needed for better agricultural systems with emphasis on greenhouse gases emission. The research question
is if thee exist any realistic possibility of real low carbon agriculture.

2 Methods

The material for the present paper was collected from different scientific journals, reports and review papers. These
materials were reviewed and sorted into sections to be examined from the perspective of agricultural emissions, crop
production, livestock-related greenhouse gas emissions. The major topics and findings form the present paper.

3 Factors affecting agricultural emissions

There are many factors affecting agricultural emissions. Although we might recognize direct carbon inputs into agriculture
such as fuel for tractors, harvesters, energy for milking machinery, crop drying etc., it is not only the agricultural carbon
dioxide emissions, but also nitrogen and methane emissions, that powerfully contribute to greenhouse effect (Norse,
2012).

Other factors affecting agricultural emissions are the fundamental effects of economic growth, urbanization, industri-
alization and financial capacity (Lin & Xu, 2018), intensified fertilizer aplication, land-use change, that is also a key
driver for deforestation process (Moran & Knook, 2017), livestock production (Lesschen et al., 2011), cultivation and
harvesting itself, production and transport of inputs (Wood & Cowie, 2004), but also production and transport of outputs
(Meisterling, Samaras & Schweizer, 2009).

There exist many agricultural practices might potentially mitigate greenhouse gases emissions (Smith et al., 2008),
however the mitigation potential potential is hindered by biophysical complexicity of agricultural systems, institutional,
but also behavioral barriers (Moran & Knook, 2017). Meanwhile consumers may tend to purchase organic products be-
cause less synthetic fertilizers is being used, and because of their attitude to behave more environmentally friendly, they
might lack credible information about environmental impacts associated with production and transport of their food still
resulting in greenhouse gas emissions (Nilsson, Tuncer & Thidell, 2004).

3.1 Crop production and migitation of greenhouse gases

Except for the greenhouse gases emissions connected to crop production as written above, there are also highly natural
releases of greenhouse gases related to agricultural crop production. Carbon dioxide releases from microbial decay or
burning of the plant litter and soil organic matter (Janzen, 2014), methane releases when organic materials decompose in
oxygen-deprived conditions, notably by digestion by ruminant livestock, fermentation of stored manure, or rice grown
under flooded conditions (Mosier et al., 1998), and nitrous oxide is generated by the microbial transformation of nitrogen
in soils and manures, very often when nitrogen excceds crop requirements and especially under wet conditions (Smith &
Conen, 2004).

As for the migitation, some practices of active management seems legit, although the impacts are often controversial.
That supports the question if a low carbon emission agriculture is really possible. Smith et al. (2008) includes:

- Improved agronomic practices: improved crop varieties, less intensive cropping systems, extending crop rotations,
involving legume crops, although this might result in higher yield it could also end up with higher N,O emissions
from soil and CO; from fertilizer manufacture.

- Improved nutrient management: slow-release fertilizer forms with N inhibitors, improved timing of N application,
for more efficient use by the crops,

- Reduced or no-till agriculture: advanced methods and machinery allows minimal or no tillage, however the effect
differs depending on areas and somewhere it has no influence at all,

- Improved water management: expending supply of water, but it usually means more CO; emissions to deliver it,
- Agroforestry: crops planted together with trees, the effect on N2O and CH4 emissions are not well known,

- Land use change: similar to native vegetation, e.g. grasslands, wetlands, depends on emissions from energy used
and other related activities on the land,



Jifi Sedlak, Nikola Sagapova: Is a low carbon emission agriculture possible? 174

- Livestock management: reduce animal numbers, improve feeding practices with specific dietary additives: iono-
phores, halogenated compounds, nevertheless the effect of additives is transitory.

4 Livestock-related greenhouse emissions?

Methane accounts for about 14% of all greenhouse gas emissions (Barker, et al., 2007). According to researchers, the date
show that livestock account for a significant proportion of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and global consumption of
livestock products is growing rapidly. The life cycle analysis (LCA) approach to quantifying these emissions and argues
that, given the dynamic complexity of our food system, it offers a limited understanding of livestock’s GHG impacts. It
is possible to substantially reduce livestock emissions through technological measures alone, or whether reductions in
livestock? Everyone should consider how far people need livestock products at all (Garnett, 2009).

The following chart shows that in the number of cattle the highest figures are France and Germany, especially farmers
in France have a large share of European Union agriculture. The amount of cattle remains almost unchanged between
2006 and 2017.

Figure 1 The numbers of cattle in Europe
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Source: Cesky statisticky utad, Database of Eurostat, 2018

Group of researches presented a unique, biologically consistent, spatially disaggregated global livestock dataset con-
taining information on biomass use, production, feed efficiency, excretion, and greenhouse gas emissions for 28 regions,
8 livestock production systems, 4 animal species (cattle, small ruminants, pigs, and poultry), and 3 livestock products
(milk, meat, and eggs). The dataset contains over 50 new global maps containing high-resolution information for un-
derstanding the multiple roles (biophysical, economic, social) that livestock can play in different parts of the world. The
dataset highlights: (i) feed efficiency as a key driver of productivity, resource use, and greenhouse gas emission intensities,
with vast differences between production systems and animal products; (ii) the importance of grasslands as a global
resource, supplying almost 50% of biomass for animals while continuing to be at the epicentre of land conversion pro-
cesses; and (iii) the importance of mixed crop—livestock systems, producing the greater part of animal production (over
60%) in both the developed and the developing world. These data provide critical information for developing targeted,
sustainable solutions for the livestock sector and its widely ranging contribution to the global food system. The study has
shown that there are large differences in feed efficiency and emission intensities in livestock systems. These findings vary
because of type of livestock product, the production of pork and poultry being most efficient, followed by milk production
and red meat production from cattle and small ruminants. The production of meat is associated with lower feed efficiency
and higher emission intensities in comparison with a product such as milk. All systems in the developed world have lower
emission intensities than those in the developing regions.Insufficient attention has been paid to the generation of livestock
data at the level of detail required for elucidating their future role in attaining key global sustainability goals. Some of
these goals are poverty reduction, food and nutritional security, ecosystem protection, mitigation of greenhouse gases
(GHG), and adaptation to climate change, for example. (Herrero, Havlik, Notenbaert, Rufino, Thornton, Bliimmel, Weiss,
Grace, Obersteinerc, 2013).
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5 Conclusions

So, the question was: ,,Is a low carbon emission agriculture possible?“ First of all, it is important to realize, that even the
best practices possible such as improved agronomic practices, improve nutrient management, reduced or no-till agricul-
ture systems, improved water management, managing agroforestry, land use change, improved livestock management,
may not lead to noticeable better-off depending on other activities and practices of agriculturists.

The potential for the future has certainly organic farming, which focuses more on crop production than traditional
conventional farming. However, everyone always has to take into account the nature of the agricultural landscape. It is
obvious, that there will be different solutions for mountain landscapes and intensively farmed areas.

It is clear that the highest emissions from farming will be produced by states such as Germany or France, these coun-
tries are among the richest countries in the world, so they should seek new agricultural techniques and practices that will
release less emissions into our atmosphere.
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Evaluation of LAGs in the Czech Republic

Dagmar Skodova Parmova, Zuzana Dvofakové Liskova, Labros Sdrolias, George Aspridis

Abstract: The aim of the paper is to analyse and evaluate the activities of the selected local action groups (LAGS) within
the Czech Republic. This paper does not evaluate only the current effectiveness of the LAG's work, but also its impact on
regional development and strategic development of the country. On the bases of the EU regional policy, rural develop-
ment policy, municipal cooperation it explains the particular concepts such as LEADER method or local action group
actions. It also describes both the basic characteristics of the LAG's functioning and outlines the evaluation processes in
the strategy formulation and implementation, explaining the principle and possibilities of financial support. According to
the findings and results, possible improvements of the state policies will be proposed.
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1 Introduction

As the rural areas defined by the European Union, rural area accounts for more than 90% of the EU area, with a half of
the population lining there. Due to this, it is vitally important to discuss the rural area and to deal with its issues.

The Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) is key policy for supporting rural development at the European level. It has
undergone a number of changes and reforms during its existence. Nowadays rural development policy is known as the
“second pillar”, which deals with the versatile and sustainable development of rural areas. The support of local develop-
ment is rather useful and efficient, as the local people are involved in the region, because they only know their territory
best and they know what its main advantage is and on what issues it faces. The Leader method is typical for such bottom-
up approach. The local action groups (LAGS) are based on the method. A LAG connects a public, private and non-profit
sector and it is based on the principle of mutual cooperation and partnership. The aim of a LAG is the sustainable deve-
lopment of rural regions in particular, together with improving the quality of rural life and improving the environment.
One of the ways in which these objectives can be fulfilled by the LAG is their active participation in drawing on financial
support from the European and national programmes (Ray, 2000). There are currently around 179 LAGs in the Czech
Republic that cover almost the entire territory; with less than two-thirds of the population living there. That is why it is
very important to discuss the local action groups and deal with their current activities.

The Leader Method

The Leader Method is a tool supporting the development of rural areas, and its main aim is to show these regions how to
deal with such development, unlike traditional rural policy methods that show “what” needs to be done. Currently, the
Leader approach is an integral part of rural development policy (High &.Nemes, 2017; Nardone et al., 2010). As a tool,
it is also used in rural areas, which are quite varied. Implementation of the Leader method contributes to cooperation,
partnership and interconnection of different sectors within the territory and to improving the overall quality of life of the
population in rural areas (Lopolito et al., 2011). The bottom-up approach is applied, which means that locals are involved
in local action to shape the strategy and prioritization to be monitored. This approach strengthens the local human re-
sources and the belonging of people with their place of residence. Only the local actors are well aware of the potential of
their region (i.e. its strengths and weaknesses), and they know best what the area should focus on (European Union, 2017).
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The Leader method is based on seven key principles, as defined by Council Regulation (EC) no 1698/2005, article
61:

1. area-based local development strategies; 2. local public-private partnerships (local action groups); 3. bottom-up appro-
ach with a decision-making power for local action groups concerning the elaboration and implementation of local deve-
lopment strategies; 4. multi-sectoral design and implementation; 5. implementation of innovative approaches; 6. imple-
mentation of cooperation projects; 7. networking of local partnerships .

In the 2014-2020 programming period, the LEADER method has been extended under the broader term Community-
Led Local Development (CLLD) to three additional EU Funds (the European Maritime and Fisheries Fund EMFF;
the European Regional Development Fund ERDF; and the European Social Fund ESF).

Although LEADER is obligatory only under the EAFRD, a single action can now be supported under two or more of
the four EU Funds at the same time through the concept of multi-funded CLLD. Where this is applied, it enables LAGs
to comprehensively integrate local needs and solutions and helps to reinforce the links between rural and urban areas
(Navarro et al., 2015, Macken-Walsh, 2011).

Table 1 Dimension of LEADER in EU

Programme Programme Period Financial Instruments | EU Budget (EUR) Number of LAGs
LEADER I 1991- 1993 EAGGF, ESF, ERDF 450 million 217 in EU-12
LEADER Il 1994 — 1999 EAGGF, ESF, ERDF 1,7 billion 906 in EU-15
LEADER + 2000-2006 EAGGF 2,1 billion 893 in EU-15

(+250 LAGs from the 6
new MS who joined the
EU in 2004 implemen-
ted a Leader + type me-

asured
LEADER axis 2007 - 2013 EAFRD 5,5 billion 2308 in EU -27
LEADR/CLLD 2014 - 2020 ERDF, EMFF, ESF - 2318 in EU - 28
(*8/2019)

Source: European Network for Rural Development - own processing
Local Action Groups

In rural development, the LEADER approach is manifested through local initiatives called Local Action Groups (LAGS).
The emergence of the LAGs is important for the Leader approach. A LAG is (in political decision-making) an independent
community of citizens, public administration (municipalities, associations of municipalities, state institutes, etc.), the pri-
vate business and non-profit sector, based on the principle of partnership and cooperation at the local level (Agarwal et
al., 2009; Eupen et al., 2012) The primary objective of a LAG is to improve the quality of life and the environment in the
countryside. The LAG members work together for the rural development and agriculture and to obtain financial support
from the European and national programs for their region (Teimann & Thuesen, 2014).

The LAGs use the bottom-up approach to work so that they are separated from the state authority. A LAG operates in
a compact rural area, which can cross the border of the region in order to solve the needs of the given area. In the Czech
Republic, the first LAGs appeared between 2002 and 2003. Their development was dynamical with 146 of them registered
by 2008. In the programming period 2004—-20086, first ten LAGs were supported by the EU funds and could redistribute
the finances for the projects of the applicants living in their region (Hudec¢kova &. Lost'ak, 2008). In the Czech Republic,
as of 21st June 2018, there were 179 LAGs, which included 94% of the municipalities of the Czech Republic (26 in
Karlovy Vary Region, 18 in Zlin Region, 17 in South Bohemia Region, 17 in South Moravia Region, 16 in Olomouc
Region, 16 in Vyso¢ina Region , 15 in Hradec Kralové Region, 13 in Pardubice Region, 13 in Moravian-Silesian Region,
9 in Pilsen Region, 8 in Usti nad Labem Region, 6 in Liberec Region, 5 in Karlovy Vary Region). As the LAGs are
based on the needs of the area, they may have territorial jurisdiction over the boundaries of the region (membership of
the region is indicated by location of the organization's headquarters). The territory of different LAGs must not overlap
each other. The area is integral, not formed by isolated territorial units, apart from the approved exceptions (the military
area, the cadastral territory of the municipality is not integrated, the LAG territory is divided by the cadastral territory of
the municipality with more than 25 thousand inhabitants).
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2 Methods

An interest in rural development increased after the Czech Republic joined the EU, which opened up a possibility to of
the access to rural development support. Fourteen years after joining the EU, it is possible to assess what changes have
taken place in the country. In 2004-2006, Czech LAGs could not draw European subsidies and their other activities were
provided only from national sources under the LEADER + programme (Pelcl et al., 2008; Lost'ak &.Hudeckova, 2010).
The period of 2007 - 2013 was the first complete period of the Czech Republic in the EU and the possibility of drawing
on EU funds (. This period was over and the projects in the n + 2 (i.e. 2013 + 2 following years) could still be implemented.
The prerequisite for obtaining grants was the fact that the LAG worked out the Integrated Strategy of the Region for the
period 2007-2013. For 2014-2020, it is the community-led local development strategy (SCLLD).

As there are more possibilities of LAG evaluation, the evaluation of the LAGs in the region of South Bohemia used
in the paper is based on:

a) the evaluation used by the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic - the representatives of a LAG presented
their activities before the Evaluation Committee in the form of a public presentation and documentary evidence in written
and electronic form. The Commission, composed of representatives of the Ministry of Agriculture, the State Agricultural
Intervention Fund and the National Network of the LAGs, evaluated the LAG. The evaluation focused on their strategic
documents, staffing, call management and project selection within the framework of the Leader Strategic Plan, integration
and development, monitoring and evaluation, promotion and extension of activities. Based on the number of points obta-
ined, they were divided into 4 groups, as reported by the table 2.

Table 2 Evaluation by the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic

The LAGs were classified into four groups, based on their score

Name of the group Explanatory notes

A The best performing | Highly transparent and trustworthy, active and activating the area
LAGs —examples of good
practice

B Well-working LAGs Enhanced use of the LEADER method (i.e. they are able to divide the money and they
are also able to define a clear strategy and the distribution of finance through such
LAGs proves an added value compared to the centralized distribution

C Average LAGs They comply with the formal requirements of existence and support, however the dis-
tribution of finance through such LAGs is the same compared to the centralized dis-
tribution

D LAGs that should rede- | They are on the edge of what is expected, they only comply with the formal require-
fine their approach ments

Source: Ministry of Agriculture —own processing

b) total use of the funds

Total subsidy in .2007 ~ 2013 _ 1ota] use of the funds
Total allocation in ~2007 — 2013

M

It describes the ability of the LAGSs to operate, setting appropriate criteria and listing fishes for different programmes.

3 Research results

The evaluation focused on LAG Ttebonsko and LAG Landscape of My Heart (Krajina Srdce) from the region of South
Bohemia.

The area of Ttreboiisko LAG consists of cadastral territories of five associations of municipalities - the Association of
Municipalities of Tfebof, Vitoraz, Veselsko, Reéice and Jindfichiiv Hradec-Zapad. Tteboiisko LAG joined Veselsko
LAG in June 2007. The LAG territory Tieboiisko is mostly a rural area with predominant activities in agriculture, forestry
and fishing. There are a large number of historical and cultural sites. The entire territory around Tieboni is connected with
a long tradition of construction of ponds, which are intended for freshwater fish breeding (the ponds of Svét, Rozmberk).
Other economic activities include mining of gravel, peat, glass and brewing industry. Tiebon has the most powerful
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economic potential in its spa and health resorts. The LAG area is also covered by NATURA 2000, which represents a set
of protected areas of European significance.

Landscape of My Heart LAG (MAS Kirajina Srdce, z.s) consist of 46 municipalities, 40 of which are in the region
of South Bohemia (NUTS Il - Southwest) and six in the region of Central Bohemia (NUTS Il — Central Bohemia). At
present, 20 978 inhabitants live in municipalities involved in the area of interest, the area is 633.85 km? and the average
population density is only 33.1 inhabitants / 1 km? The territory has a rugged character; the Stfedoceska pahorkatina hills
passes into the Bohemian-Moravian Highlands. These two geological formations are separated by the distinctive ditch
structure called Blanick4 bréazda, which can be traced about 130 km from Cesky Brod through Sazava and the area of
interest (Sebifov - Mlad4 Vozice - Ratiboiské Hory) to the border with Austria.

In the LAG evaluation used by the Ministry of Agriculture, the maximum score was 200 and the minimum was 50
points. In the region of South Bohemia, the Landscape of My Heart LAG scored a total of 177, rated as A - a best
performing LAG, an example of good practice. LAG of Tteboiisko scored a total of 153, ranked as a well functioning
LAG, Table 3.

Table 3 Evaluation of the LAGs

Local action groups - - South Bohemian Region
Name of LAGs Score Category
Krajina Srdce (Landscape of My | 177 A
Heart)
LAG Strakonicko 177 A
Rozkvét zahrady Jiznich Cech (Flou- | 174 A
rishing Gardens of South Bohemia)
Sdruzeni Riize (Association of a Rose) | 171 A
Chance in Nature 169 A
Tieborisko 153 B
Vltava 147 B
Luznice 129 C
Blansky les - Netolicko 126 C
Hlubocko — Lisovsko 117 D
Pomalsi 116 D

Source: Ministry of Agriculture — own processing

The comparison of total RDP funds used by the LAGs, the LAG of Ttebonisko used 91% of the total allocation. Such
share is evaluated rather positively as there is an interest in obtaining grants for the projects and successful project imple-
mentation. This also indicates good work within the LAG. The calls were made for the fiches of interest. The applicants
were able to submit well-done projects. In the period 2007 - 2014, the LAG of Ttebonisko LAG implemented the LEADER
Strategic Plan called Kréinsko Tiebotisko 2007 - 2013, in which it supported a total of 106 projects with an allocation of
more than CZK 47 million.

Regarding the Landscape of My Heart LAG, 100% of the funds is used, indicating excellent cooperation within the
LAG together with excellent quality management. The calls were made for the fiches of interest and activities the region
needs. With the Strategic Plan for the Leader Program period of 2007-2013, was created the “Together — Clean, Make
Accessible and Refresh the Landscape” Plan, rated as the best strategic plan of the country by the Committee for evalua-
ting Leader Strategic Plans. Since then, Landscape of my Heart is managing the European Union Funds, distributing them
among farmers, entrepreneur’s, nonprofit organizations and its partners which are operating in our intervention area.

4 Conclusions

Rural regions deal with the issue of the lack of finance. They are also threatened by depopulation. Municipalities want to
improve living conditions to maintain the population and even attract new people (Coffey &.Polese, 2005). For this rea-
son, the municipalities become a part of a LAG. LAGs have the task of redistributing the funds through the Leader
approach. This approach is designed specifically for application in rural areas. The strategy is defined by the citizens
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who live in the area. This is a bottom-up approach. Each LAG has its own strategy and it is bound to stick to it. The
strategy identifies the main priorities to be funded. Based on the main priorities, the fiches are defined. The announced
fiches contain a precise description of the conditions that must be met by the applications and the projects that can use
the funds. These priorities are supported by funding from the state and the EU. As revealed by the case studies, it is
obvious that the impact of the LAG on the rural area is large.

Some LAGs were able to launch the calls for proposal and thus the support of projects. The impact can be judged by
the number of projects implemented. Each LAG has managed to implement a large number of projects to improve the
situation in rural areas.

The projects focused on different areas. The main objectives are similar for different LAGs. In particular, they include
the promotion of small enterprises, the restoration of historical sites and the improvement of the quality of civic amenities
in the municipalities. Such objectives were the most funded. The total subsidy amounts supporting the projects are certa-
inly not negligible. These are tens of millions of Czech crowns. In the small regions these resources are appreciable.

The LAGs were also evaluated by other indicators. The partial target of comparing selected LAGs regarding the
support gained from the Rural Development Programme was met. The recommendation for the sample LAGs is to focus
on other programmes such as the Environment Operational Programme, the Employment Operational Programme and
the IROP.
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Evaluation of Selected Indicators in the Social Dimension of Sustaina-
ble Development

Magdaléna Drastichova

Abstract: The social dimension and those aspects of it related to human health are crucial for sustainable development
(SD). By means of a Hierarchical Cluster Analysis (HCA), the European Union countries and another four developed
European countries were assessed firstly according to their performance achieved in Life expectancy at birth and Death
rate due to chronic diseases, and secondly according to these two indicators along with Current health care expenditure
(HCE) (Percentage of Gross Domestic Product (GDP)). The first cluster analysis was carried out for 32 countries (the
EU countries plus Iceland, Lichtenstein, Norway and Switzerland) and the second one for 30 countries (apart from Malta
and Switzerland). Within each of them three partial analyses were conducted, i.e. for 2014, 2015 and both years together.
In the analysis based on the first two indicators, four clusters were constructed and in the analysis based on all three
indicators, five clusters were constructed. Switzerland and Lichtenstein, showing both low death rates and high life ex-
pectancies, can be regarded as the best performing countries. Cluster 2, consisting of Bulgaria, Romania, Latvia, Lithu-
ania and Hungary in both analyses is the worst performing cluster. These countries showed the lowest life expectancies
and the highest death rates, while the HCE ratios of Romania and Latvia were lowest in the sample as well.

Key words: Hierarchical Cluster Analysis - Sustainable Development (SD) - Life expectancy at birth - Current health
care expenditure

JEL Classification: 110 - 115 - Q01

1 Introduction

Sustainable development (SD) and achieving SD goals have gained great importance worldwide. Since the World Com-
mission on Environment and Development (WCED) adopted the most quoted definition of the SD, a huge number of
measurement methods and indicators of the SD have been developed. According to this definition, SD is development
that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs
(WCED, 1987). SD has become an overarching objective of the European Union (EU) enshrined in its primary law,
governing all the EU's policies and activities (European Union, 2012). The EU Sustainable Development Strategy (EU
SDS) was adopted in 2001 and renewed in 2006. This strategy provided an EU-wide policy framework to deliver SD
(European Union, 2009). The Sustainable Development Indicators (SDIs) reflecting the key challenges of the EU SDS
and presented in ten themes were used to monitor the EU SDS. The United Nations (UN) adopted the 2030 Agenda for
Sustainable Development and its 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in September 2015. They have given a new
impetus to global efforts for achieving SD. The SDGs have provided a recent policy framework worldwide for the issues
that are crucial for the path of SD. The EU, in coordination with its Member States, has committed itself to support the
implementation of the 2030 Agenda. The EU's response to this Agenda is outlined in the 2016 European Commission's
Communication (European Commission, 2016). Accordingly, the EU Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) indicator set
replaced the EU SDS in 2017.

The three-pillar approach to SD is based on that view of SD which refers simultaneously to economic, social and
environmental systems, all of which must be sustainable at the same time. This is because each of these pillars is inde-
pendently crucial and the pillars are interlinked. Moreover, the institutional dimension is emphasized as the fourth pillar
of SD because of its necessity in supporting progress in the previous three pillars and in SD generally (United Nations et
al., 2003). Beyond that, the focus on the economic, environmental and social dimensions of SD needs to be extended, or
to be more precise, understood in such a way that it includes a human dimension. This point of view and aspects have
been considered in the Human Development Reports (HDR) of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP).
The human development approach is focused on expanding the richness of human life, rather than simply the richness of
the economy in which human beings live. This approach is focused on people and their opportunities and choices (see
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more in Drastichova (2018)). Three foundations for human development are to live a long, healthy and creative life, to be
knowledgeable, and to have access to resources necessary for a decent standard of living (UNDP, 2016). The World
Health Organisation (WHO) defines health as ““a state of complete physical, mental and social wellbeing and not merely
the absence of disease or infirmity” (WHO, 2018). Simultaneously, the aspects related to human health are important part
of the social dimension of SD.

Healthcare systems are organised and financed in different ways across the EU Member States (Eurostat, 2018b).
Halaskova et al. (2017) evaluated financing of long-term care based on the volume and structure of long-term care ex-
penditures (the sum of services of long-term health care and social services of long-term care) in the selected OECD
countries in 2008 and 2013. The authors showed that the Netherlands and Switzerland (where health care is financed from
mandatory public health insurance) and Sweden and Denmark (where health care is financed from taxes) reach the largest
volume of total expenditures on health care. These countries also allocated a larger volume of total expenditures on long-
term care. By contrast, the countries with low total expenditures on health care, such as Korea, Estonia, Czech Republic,
and Hungary, allocated a lower volume of total expenditures on long-term care.

The aim of the paper is to evaluate the performance of the 28 EU countries along with another four developed Euro-
pean countries in selected aspects of the social dimension of SD. A cluster analysis is applied to group the countries firstly
according to their performance achieved in Life expectancy at birth and Death rate due to chronic diseases, and secondly
according to these two indicators along with Current health care expenditure (HCE) (Percentage of GDP). The first cluster
analysis was carried out for all 32 countries and the second one for 30 countries. Within each of them three partial analyses
were carried out. The EU countries are included in both analyses, but the data on HCE were not available in Malta.
Moreover, Iceland, Lichtenstein, Norway and Switzerland are included, but the data on HCE are not available in Swit-
zerland in 2015. Malta and Switzerland are thus excluded from the HCA of all three indicators. However, the data on
HCE in Switzerland are evaluated, particularly those of 2014.

2 Methods

One of the more concrete ways of defining SD/sustainability is represented by the methods of their measurement. Despite
the ambiguity of the concept of SD, some attempts to define it, although implicit in many cases, use the form of indicators
(K